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PREFACE

Welcome to the eleventh edition of Financial Statement Analysss. This book is the
product of extensive market surveys, chapter reviews, and correspondence with
instructors and students. I am delighted that an overwhelming number of instructors,
students, practitioners, and organizations agree with my approach to analysis of finan-
cial statements. This book forges a unique path in financial statement analysis, one that
responds to the requests and demands of modern-day analysts. From the outset, a
main goal in writing this book has been to respond to these needs by providing the
most progressive, accessible, current, and user-driven textbook in the field. I am
pleased that the book’s reception in the United States and across the world has
exceeded expectations.

Analysis of financial statements is exciting and dynamic. This book reveals keys to
effective analysis to give readers a competitive advantage in an increasingly competi-
tive marketplace. I know financial statements are relevant to the decisions of many
individuals including investors, creditors, consultants, managers, auditors, directors,
analysts, regulators, and employees. This book equips these individuals with the ana-
lytical skills necessary to succeed in business. Yet experience in teaching this material
tells us that to engage readers we must demonstrate the relevance of analysis. This
book continually demonstrates that relevance with applications to real world compa-
nies. The book aims to benefit a broad readership, ranging from those with a simple
curiosity in financial markets to those with years of experience in accounting and
finance.

ORGANIZATION AND CONTENT

This book’s organization accommodates different teaching styles. While the book is
comprehensive, its layout allows instructors to choose topics and depth of coverage as
desired. Readers are told in Chapter 1 how the book’s topics are related to each other
and how they fit within the broad discipline of financial statement analysis. The book is
organized into three parts:

1. Analysis Overview.
2. Accounting Analysis.

3. Financial Analysis.

ANALYSIS OVERVIEW

Chapters 1 and 2 are an overview of financial statement analysis. I introduce financial
statement analysis as an integral part of the broader framework of business analysis. I
examine the role of financial statement analysis in different types of business analysis



such as equity analysis and credit analysis. I emphasize the understanding of business
activities—planning, financing, investing, and operating. I describe the strategies under-
lying business activities and their effects on financial statements. I also emphasize the
importance of accrual accounting for analysis and the relevance of conducting
accounting analysis to make appropriate adjustments to financial statements before
embarking on financial analysis. I apply several popular tools and techniques in analyz-
ing and interpreting financial statements. An important and unique feature is the use of
Colgate’s annual report as a means to immediately engage readers and to instill rele-
vance. The chapters are as follows:

e Chapter 1. 1 begin the analysis of financial statements by considering their rele-
vance to business decisions. This leads to a focus on users, including what they
need and how analysis serves them. I describe business activities and how they are
reflected in financial statements. I also discuss both debt and equity valuation.

o Chapter 2. This chapter explains the nature and purpose of financial accounting
and reporting, including the broader environment under which financial state-
ments are prepared and used. I highlight the importance of accrual accounting in
comparison to cash accounting. I also introduce the concept of income and
discuss issues relating to fair value accounting. The importance and limitations of
accounting data for analysis purposes are described along with the significance
of conducting accounting analysis for financial analysis.

ACCOUNTING ANALYSIS

To aid in accounting analysis, Chapters 3 through 6 explain and analyze the accounting
measurement and reporting practices underlying financial statements. I organize this
analysis around financing (liabilities and equity), investing (assets), and operating
(income) activities. I provide insights into income determination and asset and liability
measurement. Most important, I discuss procedures and clues for the analysis and
adjustment of financial statements to enhance their economic content for meaningful
financial analysis. The four chapters are:

e Chapter 3. Chapter 3 begins the detailed analysis of the numbers reflecting financ-
ing activities. The focus is on explaining, analyzing, interpreting, and adjusting
those reported numbers to better reflect financing activities. Crucial topics include
debt financing, leases, off-balance-sheet financing, and shareholders’ equity. We
discuss postretirement benefits in the chapter’s appendix.

e Chapter 4. This chapter extends the analysis to investing activities. I show how to
analyze and adjust (as necessary) numbers that reflect assets such as receivables,
inventories, property, equipment, and intangibles. I explain what those numbers
reveal about financial position and performance, including future performance.

o Chapter 5. Chapter 5 extends the analysis to special intercompany investing activ-
ities. I analyze intercorporate investments, including marketable securities, equity
method investments and investments in derivative securities, and business com-
binations. Also, in an appendix I examine international investments and their
reporting implications for financial statements.

e Chapter 6. This chapter focuses on analysis of operating activities and income. I
discuss the concept and measurement of income as distinct from cash flows. I
analyze accrual measures in yielding net income. I stress the difference between
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comprehensive income and earnings during a period. Understanding recognition
methods of both revenues and expenses is stressed. I analyze and adjust the income
statement and its components, including topics such as restructuring charges, asset
impairments, employee stock options, and accounting for income taxes.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Chapters 7 through 11 examine the processes and methods of financial analysis (including
prospective analysis). I stress the objectives of different users and describe analytical tools
and techniques to meet those objectives. The means of analysis range from computation
of ratio and cash flow measures to earnings prediction and equity valuation. I apply
analysis tools that enable one to reconstruct the economic reality embedded in financial
statements. I demonstrate how analysis tools and techniques enhance users’ decisions—
including company valuation and lending decisions. I show how financial statement
analysis reduces uncertainty and increases confidence in business decisions. This section
consists of five chapters and a Comprehensive Case:

Chapter 7. This chapter begins our study of the application and interpretation of
financial analysis tools. I analyze cash flow measures for insights into all business
activities, with special emphasis on operating activities. Attention is directed at
company and industry conditions when analyzing cash flows.

Chapter 8. Chapter 8 emphasizes return on invested capital and explains variations
in its measurement. Attention is directed at return on net operating assets and
return on equity. I disaggregate both return measures and describe their relevance.
I pay special attention to disaggregation of return on equity into operating and
nonoperating components, as well as differences in margins and turnover across
industries.

Chapter 9.1 describe forecasting and pro forma analysis of financial statements. I
present forecasting of the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash
flows with a detailed example. I then provide an example to link prospective
analysis to equity valuation.

Chapter 10. This chapter focuses on credit analysis, both liquidity and solvency.
[ first present analysis tools to assess liquidity—including accounting-based ratios,
turnover, and operating activity measures. Then I focus on capital structure and
its implications for solvency. I analyze the importance of financial leverage
and its effects on risk and return. Analytical adjustments are explained for tests
of liquidity and solvency. I describe earnings-coverage measures and their
interpretation.

Chapter 11. The final chapter emphasizes earnings-based analysis and equity valu-
ation. The earnings-based analysis focuses on earnings quality, earnings persis-
tence, and earning power. Attention is directed at techniques for measuring and
applying these concepts. Discussion of equity valuation focuses on forecasting
accounting numbers and estimating company value.

Comprehensive Case. This case is a comprehensive analysis of financial statements
and related notes. I describe steps in analyzing the statements and the essential
attributes of an analysis report. Analysis is organized around key components of
financial statement analysis: cash analysis, return on invested capital, asset utiliza-
tion, operating performance, profitability, forecasting, liquidity, capital structure,
and solvency.
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KEY CHANGES IN THIS EDITION

Many readers provided useful suggestions through chapter reviews, surveys, and corre-
spondence. I made several changes in response to their comments and suggestions.
The key changes to the eleventh edition are:

¢ Updating Accounting Pronouncements. I have updated the text to reflect the
latest standards and pronouncements of US GAAP. I have also adopted the new
codification system under US GAAP.

* Incorporating IFRS. IFRS has been growing in importance both in the United
States and around the world. While there are not too many differences between
IFRS and US GAAP, there do exist certain key differences. I have updated the text
so as to also include references to IFRS and highlight differences from US GAAP
when they occur. I have also added sections primarily devoted to certain items
where the treatment under IFRS is very different from that under US GAAP.

 Asset Revaluations under IFRS (Chapter 4). Unlike US GAAP, IFRS allows
upward revaluations of assets. I now include a separate section in Chapter 4 to
address this issue.

* Debt Financing (Chapter 3). Chapter 3 now has a detailed section on debt
financing, including accounting treatment, note disclosures, and analysis issues
related to debt financing.

* Restructuring Chapter 3. The chapter on financing activities has been restruc-
tured. First, the new section on debt financing has been included. Second, the
large section on postretirement benefits has now been moved to an appendix. This
allows the flexibility of allowing those instructors who wish to cover postretire-
ment benefits to do so, without burdening everyone with this complex topic.
Third, the section on shareholders’ equity has been updated and streamlined.

¢ Colgate Continues as Featured Company. I continue to use Colgate as our
feature company, but now use a more recent annual report. Colgate provides a sta-
ble consumer products company to illustrate the analysis; it is also used to explain
many business practices and is of interest to a broad audience. Campbell Soup is
retained as another company for illustrations and assignments.

¢ Streamlining and Updating the Text. Chapters 1 through 6 have been stream-
lined and updated to improve presentation and lucidity of the writing. Several
sections have been reorganized and rewritten to improve readability.

¢ EOC Material Streamlined and Updated. End-of-chapter material has been
streamlined and updated to reflect changes to the text. I have also added many
new problems and cases to respond to readers’ suggestions.

* Book Is Focused and Practical. I continue to emphasize a streamlined and con-
cise book with an abundance of practical applications and directions for analysis.

INNOVATIVE PEDAGOGY

People learn best when provided with motivation and structure. The pedagogical fea-
tures of this book facilitate those learning goals. Features include:

¢ Analysis Feature. An article featuring an actual company launches each chapter
to highlight the relevance of that chapter’s materials. In-chapter analysis is per-
formed on that company. Experience shows readers are motivated to learn when
their interests are piqued.
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* Analysis Objectives. Chapters open with key analysis objectives that highlight
important chapter goals.

* Analysis Linkages. Linkages launch each chapter to establish bridges between
topics and concepts in prior, current, and upcoming chapters. This roadmap—
titled .4 Look Back, A Look at This Chapter, and A Look Ahead—provides structure
for learning.

* Analysis Preview. A preview kicks off each chapter by describing its content and
importance.

* Analysis Viewpoint. Multiple role-playing scenarios in each chapter are a
unique feature that show the relevance of financial statement analysis to a wide as-
sortment of decision makers.

e Analysis Excerpt. Numerous excerpts from practice—including annual report
disclosures, newspaper clippings, and press releases—illustrate key points and
topics. Excerpts reinforce the relevance of the analysis and engage the reader.

* Analysis Research. Multiple short boxes in each chapter discuss current re-
search relevant to the analysis and interpretation of financial statements.

* Analysis Annetations. Each chapter includes marginal annotations. These are
aimed at relevant, interesting, and topical happenings from business that bear on
financial statement analysis.

* Analysis Feedback. End-of-chapter assignments include numerous traditional
and innovative assignments augmented by several cases that draw on actual
financial statements such as those from American Airlines, Best Buy, Campbell
Soup, Cendant, Citicorp, Coca-Cola, Colgate, Delta Airlines, Kimberly-Clark,
Kodak, Marsh Supermarkets, Merck, Microsoft, Newmont Mining, Philip Morris,
Quaker Oats, Sears, TYCO, Toys “R” Us, United Airlines, Walt Disney, and Wal-
Mart. Assignments are of four types: Questions, Exercises, Problems, and Cases. Each
assignment is titled to reflect its purpose—many require critical thinking, commu-
nication skills, interpretation, and decision making. This book stands out in both
its diversity and number of end-of-chapter assignments. Key check figures are
selectively printed in the margins.

e Analysis Focus Companies. Entire financial statements of two companies—
Colgate and Campbell Soup—are reproduced in the book and used in numerous
assignments. Experience shows that frequent use of annual reports heightens in-
terest and learning. These reports include notes and other financial information.

TARGET AUDIENCE

This best-selling book is targeted to readers of all business-related fields. Students and
professionals alike find the book beneficial in their careers as they are rewarded with an
understanding of both the techniques of analysis and the expertise to apply them. Re-
wards also include the skills to successfully recognize business opportunities and the
knowledge to capitalize on them.

The book accommodates courses extending over one quarter, one semester, or two
quarters. It is suitable for a wide range of courses focusing on analysis of financial state-
ments, including upper-level “capstone” courses. The book is used at both the under-
graduate and graduate levels, as well as in professional programs. It is the book of choice
in modern financial statement analysis education.
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SUPPLEMENT PACKAGE

This book is supported by a wide array of supplements aimed at the needs of both stu-
dents and instructors of financial statement analysis. They include:

* Book Website. [http://www.mhhe.com/subramanyam11e] The Web is increas-
ingly important for financial statement analysis. This book has its own dedicated
Online Learning Center, which is an excellent starting point for analysis resources.
The site includes links to key websites as well as support materials for both in-
structors and students.

¢ Instructor’s Solutions Manual. An Instructor’s Solutions Manual contains com-
plete solutions for assignments. It is carefully prepared, reviewed, and checked for
accuracy. The Manual contains chapter summaries, analysis objectives, and other
helpful materials. It has transition notes to instructors for ease in moving from the
tenth to the eleventh edition. It is available on the Online Learning Center.

e Test Bank. The Test Bank contains a variety of test materials with varying levels
of difficulty. All materials are carefully reviewed for consistency with the book and
thoroughly examined for accuracy. It is available on the Online Learning Center.

e Chapter Lecture Slides. A set of PowerPoint slides is available for each chapter.
They can be used to augment the instructor’s lecture materials or as an aid to stu-
dents in supplementing in-class lectures. It is available on the Online Learning
Center.

* Casebook Support. Some instructors augment the book with additional case ma-
terials. While practical illustrations and case materials are abundant in the text, more
are available. These include (1) Create custom case selection [www.mcgrawhillcreate
.com] and (2) Financial Shenanigans—1ISBN: 978-0-07-138626-5(0-07-138626-2).

* Customer Service. 1-800-331-5094 or access http://www.mhhe.com
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A LOOK AT THIS CHAPTER e
We begin our analysis of financial
statements by considering its
relevance in the broader context of
business analysis. We use Colgate
Palmolive Co. as an example to help us
illustrate the importance of assessing
financial performance in light of
industry and economic conditions.
This leads us to focus on financial
statement users, their information
needs, and how financial statement
analysis addresses those needs. We
describe major types of business
activities and how they are reflected
in financial statements. A preliminary
financial analysis illustrates these
important concepts.

A LOOK AHEAD >
Chapter 2 describes the financial
reporting environment and the
information included in financial
statements. Chapters 3 through 6
deal with accounting analysis, which
is the task of analyzing, adjusting,
and interpreting accounting numbers
that make up financial statements.
Chapters 7 through 11 focus on
mastering the tools of financial
statement analysis and valuation.

A comprehensive financial statement
analysis follows Chapter 11.

2

CHAPTER ONE

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENT ANALYSIS

ANALYSIS OBJECTIVES

e [Explain business analysis and its relation to financial statement
analysis.

e |dentify and discuss different types of business analysis.

e Describe component analyses that constitute business analysis.

® Explain business activities and their relation to financial
statements.

® Describe the purpose of each financial statement and linkages
between them.

e |dentify the relevant analysis information beyond financial
statements.

® Analyze and interpret financial statements as a preview to more
detailed analyses.

e Apply several basic financial statement analysis techniques.
e Define and formulate some basic valuation models.

e Explain the purpose of financial statement analysis in an
efficient market.



Analysis Feature

Something to Smile About?

Colgate has been creating smiles
the world over for the past 200
years. However, the smiles are not
limited to users of its immensely
popular toothpaste. Colgate’s
financial and stock price perfor-
mance during the past decade has
given plenty for its shareholders to
smile about. Stock price appreci-
ated 60% over this period, gener-
ating average returns for Colgate’s
stockholders to the tune of about
7% per year, many times higher
than that on the S&P 500 over a
comparable period. Earnings have
almost doubled during the past
decade, which has witnessed the
worst economic times since the
Great Depression of the 1930s.

One of the world’s oldest cor-
porations, Colgate today is a truly
global company, with a presence
in almost 200 countries and sales
revenues of about $17 billion. Its

Source: Company's 10-Ks.

brand name—most famously asso-
ciated with its toothpaste—is one
of the oldest and best recognized
brands in the world. In fact, the
brand has been so successful that
“Colgate” has become a generic
word for toothpaste in many
countries, spawning imitations
over which the company has been
engaged in bitter legal disputes.
Colgate leverages the popular-
ity ofits brand as well as its interna-
tional presence and implements a
business strategy that focuses on
attaining market leadership in cer-
tain key product categories and
markets where its strengths lie. For
example, Colgate controls almost a
third of the world’s toothpaste
market, where it has been gaining
market share in the recent past!
Such market leadership allows it
pricing power in the viciously
competitive consumer products

PREVIEW OF CHAPTER 1

Financial statement analysis is an integral and important part of the broader field
of business analysis. Business analysis is the process of evaluating a company’s eco-

nomic prospects and
risks. This includes an-
alyzing a company’s
business environment,
its strategies, and its

markets. A total consumer orienta-
tion, constant innovation, and re-
lentless quest for improving cost
efficiencies have been Colgate’s
hallmarks to success.

Another key feature in Col-
gate’s strategy has been its ex-
tremely generous dividend policy;
over the past ten years Colgate has
paid out almost $15 billion to its
shareholders through cash divi-
dends and stock buybacks, which
is significantly more than the
money it has raised from its share-
holders in its entire history! Col-
gate’s dividend policy reflects its
management philosophy of stay-
ing focused on generating superior
shareholder returns rather than
pursuing a strategy of misguided
growth. Small, in Colgate’s case,
has certainly been beautiful!

Overview of Financial Statement Analysis

financial position and

Financial

performance. Business
analysis is useful in a
wide range of busi-
ness decisions, such as
whether to invest in
equity or in debt se-
curities, whether to
extend credit through
short- or long-term

Business Analysis

Statements—
Basis of Analysis

Financial Statement
Analysis Preview

Textbook
Organization

Introduction to
business analysis

Types of business
analysis

Components of
business analysis

Business activities

Financial
statements and
business activities

Additional
information

Analysis tools

Basic valuation
models

Analysis in an
efficient market

Part 1: Overview

Part 2: Accounting
analysis

Part 3: Financial
analysis
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loans, how to value a business in an initial public offering (IPO), and how to evaluate
restructurings including mergers, acquisitions, and divestitures. Financial statement
analysis is the application of analytical tools and techniques to general-purpose finan-
cial statements and related data to derive estimates and inferences useful in business
analysis. Financial statement analysis reduces reliance on hunches, guesses, and intu-
ition for business decisions. It decreases the uncertainty of business analysis. It does not
lessen the need for expert judgment but, instead, provides a systematic and effective
basis for business analysis. This chapter describes business analysis and the role of
financial statement analysis. The chapter also introduces financial statements and
explains how they reflect underlying business activities. We introduce several tools and
techniques of financial statement analysis and apply them in a preliminary analysis of
Colgate. We also show how business analysis helps us understand Colgate’s prospects
and the role of business environment and strategy for financial statement analysis.

=ananasBUSINESS ANALYSIS

This section explains business analysis, describes its practical applications, identifies sep-
arate analyses that make up business analysis, and shows how it all fits in with financial
statement analysis.

Introduction to Business Analysis

Financial statement analysis is part of business analysis. Business analysis is the evalua-
tion of a company’s prospects and risks for the purpose of making business decisions.
These business decisions extend to equity and debt valuation, credit risk assessment,
earnings predictions, audit testing, compensation negotiations, and countless other
decisions. Business analysis aids in making informed decisions by helping structure the
decision task through an evaluation of a company’s business environment, its strategies,
and its financial position and performance.

To illustrate what business analysis entails we turn to Colgate. Much financial infor-
mation about Colgate—including its financial statements, explanatory notes, and
selected news about its past performance—is communicated in its annual report repro-
duced in Appendix A near the end of this book. The annual report also provides
qualitative information about Colgate’s strategies and future plans, typically in the
Management Discussion and Analysis, or MD&A, section.

An initial step in business analysis is to evaluate a company’s business environment
and strategies. We begin by studying Colgate’s business activities and learn that it is a lead-
ing global consumer products company. Colgate has several internationally well-known
brands that are primarily in the oral, personal, and home care markets. The company has
brands in markets as varied as dental care, soaps and cosmetics, household cleaning prod-
ucts, and pet care and nutrition. The other remarkable feature of Colgate is its compre-
hensive global presence. Almost 80% of Colgate’s revenues are derived from international
operations. The company operates in 200 countries around the world, with equal pres-
ence in every major continent! Exhibit 1.1 provides key financial details of Colgate’s op-
erating divisions.

Colgate’s strengths are the popularity of its brands and the highly diversified nature
of its operations. These strengths, together with the static nature of demand for con-
sumer products, give rise to Colgate’s financial stability, thereby reducing risk for its
equity and debt investors. For example, Colgate’s stock price weathered the bear mar-
ket of 2008-2009, when the S&P 500 shed half its value (see Exhibit 1.2). The static
nature of demand in the consumer products markets, however, is a double-edged
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Colgate’s Operating Divisions Exhibit 1.1

(2011 AMOUNTS IN $ MILLION)

Net Operating Total

Sales Profit Assets

Oral, personal, and home care
North America* ...................... $ 2,995 $ 791 $ 2,288
LatinAmerica ....................... 4778 1,414 3,636
Europe/South Pacific .................. 3,508 715 3,555
Greater Asia/Africa ................... 3,281 807 2,069
Total oral, personal, and home care ....... 14,562 3,727 11,548
Pet nutrition™ ........ ... . L 2,172 560 1,078
Corporate . ..o N/A (446) 98
Totalnetsales......................... $16,734 $3,841 $12,724

*Net sales in the United States for oral, personal, and home care were $2,567.
"Net sales in the United States for pet nutrition were $1,032.

Colgate Stock Price Growth versus the S&P 500 Exhibit 1.2
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sword: while reducing sales volatility, it also fosters fierce competition for market share.
Colgate has been able to thrive in this competitive environment by following a carefully
defined business strategy that develops and increases market leadership positions in cer-
tain key product categories and markets that are consistent with the company’s core
strengths and competencies and through relentless innovation. For example, the com-
pany uses its valuable consumer insights to develop successful new products regionally,
which are then rolled out on a global basis. Colgate also focuses on areas of the world
where economic development and increasing consumer spending provide opportuni-
ties for growth. Despite these strategic overtures, Colgate’s profit margins are continu-
ously squeezed by competition. The company was thus forced to initiate a major
restructuring program in 2004 to reduce costs by trimming its workforce by 12% and
shedding several unprofitable product lines.
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Colgate’s brand leadership together with its international diversification and sensible
business strategies have enabled it to become one of the most successful consumer
products companies in the world. In 2011, Colgate earned $2.43 billion on sales rev-
enues of $16.73 billion. During the past decade, Colgate’s operating profit margin has
averaged above 20% of sales, which translates to an average return on assets of almost
30%, suggesting that its business is extremely profitable. Colgate then uses its small eq-
uity base and significant amount of debt financing to leverage its return on equity to
above 100%, one of the highest of all publicly traded companies. The stock market has
richly rewarded Colgate’s excellent financial performance and low risk: the company’s
price-to-earnings and its price-to-book ratios are, respectively, 19 and 21, and its stock
price has significantly outperformed the broader market.

In our discussion here, we reference a number of financial performance measures,
such as operating profit margins, return on assets, and return on equity. We also refer to
certain valuation ratios such as price-to-earnings and price-to-book, which appear to
measure how the stock market rewards Colgate’s performance. Financial statements
provide a rich and reliable source of information for such financial analysis. The state-
ments reveal how a company obtains its resources (financing), where and how those re-
sources are deployed (investing), and how effectively those resources are deployed (op-
erating profitability). Many individuals and organizations use financial statements to
improve business decisions. Investors and creditors use them to assess company
prospects for investing and lending decisions. Boards of directors, as investor represen-
tatives, use them to monitor managers’ decisions and actions. Employees and unions use
financial statements in labor negotiations. Suppliers use financial statements in setting
credit terms. Investment advisors and information intermediaries use financial state-
ments in making buy-sell recommendations and in credit rating. Investment bankers use
financial statements in determining company value in an IPO, merger, or acquisition.

To show how financial statement information helps in business analysis, let’s turn to
the data in Exhibit 1.3. These data reveal that over the past ten years Colgate’s net
income increased by 89%. Much of this growth was fueled by a significant growth in

Exhibit 1.3 Colgate’s Summary Financial Data (in billions, except per share data)
EEEEEEN

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Continuing Operations
Netsales .................... $16.73  $15.56  $15.33  $1533  $13.79  $12.24  $11.40 $10.58 $9.90 $9.29
Gross profit .................. 9.59 9.20 9.01 9.01 8.22 121 6.62 6.15 5.75 5.35
Operating income ............. 3.84 3.49 3.62 3.33 2.96 2.57 2.37 2.20 2.14 2.02
Netincome .................. 243 2.20 2.29 1.96 1.74 1.35 1.35 1.33 1.42 1.29
Total assets .................. 12.72 11.17 11.13 9.98 10.11 9.14 8.51 8.67 748 7.09
Total liabilities ................ 10.18 8.36 1.88 71.94 1.72 1.62 7.05 121 6.38 6.53
Long-termdebt ............... 4.43 2.82 2.82 3.59 3.22 2.72 2.92 3.09 2.68 3.21
Shareholders’ equity ........... 2.38 2.68 3.12 1.92 2.29 1.41 1.35 1.25 0.89 0.35
Treasury stock at cost .......... 12.81 1131 10.48 9.70 8.90 8.07 1.58 6.97 6.50 6.15
Basic earnings per share . ....... 498 4.45 453 3.81 3.35 2.57 2.54 2.45 2.60 2.33
Cash dividends per share ....... 2.27 2.03 1.72 1.56 1.40 1.25 1.11 0.96 0.90 0.72
Closing stock price ............ 92.39 80.37 82.15 68.54 77.96 65.24 54.85 51.16 50.05 52.43
Shares outstanding (billions) .... 0.48 0.49 0.49 0.50 0.51 0.51 0.52 0.53 0.53 0.54
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revenues (80%). Colgate pays generous dividends: over the past 10 years it has paid
$7 billion in cash dividends and almost $8 billion through stock repurchases (see move-
ment in treasury stock). Therefore, Colgate has returned almost $15 billion to its share-
holders over the past decade, an amount which comprises most of its earnings during
this period. By paying out most of its earnings, Colgate has been able to maintain a
small equity base. A closer look suggests that most of the increase in Colgate share-
holders’ equity occurred during the financial crisis (2007-2009), when companies were
conserving cash because of uncertainty regarding credit availability. Since then, Colgate
has been decreasing its shareholders’ equity, which is consistent with its overall strategy
of leveraging high shareholder returns through a small equity base. Consequently,
Colgate’s return on equity is once again approaching the 100% mark (it was 96% in
2011). One downside of maintaining a small equity base is Colgate’s riskiness that arises
through its high financial leverage. For example, the company’s ratio of total liabilities
to equity is almost 5. However, the extremely stable nature of its operating performance
allows Colgate to leverage returns for its equity shareholders through having a high
proportion of debt in its capital structure.

Further examination of Exhibit 1.3 reveals that Colgate’s earnings growth over the
past decade has not occurred evenly. After dropping slightly in 2004, net income re-
mained stagnant for the next couple of years, and Colgate was able to achieve modest
growth in earnings per share over this period only by reducing its equity base. However,
this earnings stagnation is partly because of costs related to Colgate’s restructuring pro-
gram that commenced in 2004. Earnings before the restructuring charge actually grew
by 12% between 2004 and 2006. The restructuring program appears to have paid off
handsomely. Colgate’s earnings grew spectacularly during the next three years, at the
height of the financial crisis!

Is the summary financial information sufficient to use as a basis for deciding whether
or not to invest in Colgate’s stock or in making other business decisions? The answer is
clearly no. To make informed business decisions, it is important to evaluate Colgate’s
business activities in a more systematic and complete manner. For example, equity in-
vestors desire answers to the following types of questions before deciding to buy, hold,
or sell Colgate stock:

¢ What are Colgate’s future business prospects? Are Colgate’s markets expected to
grow? What are Colgate’s competitive strengths and weaknesses? What strategic FALLING STAR
initiatives has Colgate taken, or does it plan to take, in response to business op- Regulators slapped a fine
portunities and threats? on Merrill Lynch and

¢ What is Colgate’s earnings potential? What is its recent earnings performance?  banned one of its star
How sustainable are current earnings? What are the “drivers” of Colgate’s prof-  analysts from the securities
itability? What estimates can be made about earnings growth? industry for life for privately

e What is Colgate’s current financial condition? What risks and rewards does gfoiskt':?]'i:]fhaet;:]etﬁ?:&
Colgate’s financing structure portray? Are Colgate’s earnings vulnerable to vari-  pggsted it
ability? Does Colgate possess the financial strength to overcome a period of poor
profitability?

e How does Colgate compare with its competitors, both domestically and globally?

¢ What is a reasonable price for Colgate’s stock?

Creditors and lenders also desire answers to important questions before entering into
lending agreements with Colgate. Their questions include the following:

e What are Colgate’s business plans and prospects? What are Colgate’s needs for
future financing?



RATINGS INFO

One can find company
debt ratings at
standardandpoors.com,
moodys.com, and
fitchratings.com.

BOND FINANCING
As of 2009, the size of the
worldwide bond market
(total debt outstanding) is
an estimated $82.2 trillion,
of which the size of the
outstanding U.S. bond
market debt was $31.2
trillion according to

Bank for International
Settlements (BIS), or
alternatively $35.2 trillion
as of Q2 2011 according to
Securities Industry and
Financial Markets
Association (SIFMA).
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e What are Colgate’s likely sources for payment of interest and principal? How
much cushion does Colgate have in its earnings and cash flows to pay interest and
principal?

e What is the likelihood Colgate will be unable to meet its financial obligations?
How volatile are Colgate’s earnings and cash flows? Does Colgate have the finan-
cial strength to pay its commitments in a period of poor profitability?

Answers to these and other questions about company prospects and risks require analy-
sis of both qualitative information about a company’s business plans and quantitative
information about its financial position and performance. Proper analysis and interpre-
tation of information is crucial to good business analysis. This is the role of financial
statement analysis. Through it, an analyst will better understand and interpret both
qualitative and quantitative financial information so that reliable inferences are drawn
about company prospects and risks.

Types of Business Analysis

Financial statement analysis is an important and integral part of business analysis. The
goal of business analysis is to improve business decisions by evaluating available infor-
mation about a company’s financial situation, its management, its plans and strategies,
and its business environment. Business analysis is applied in many forms and is an
important part of the decisions of security analysts, investment advisors, fund managers,
investment bankers, credit raters, corporate bankers, and individual investors. This
section considers major types of business analysis.

Credit Analysis

Creditors lend funds to a company in return for a promise of repayment with interest.
This type of financing is temporary since creditors expect repayment of their funds with
interest. Creditors lend funds in many forms and for a variety of purposes. Trade
(or operating) creditors deliver goods or services to a company and expect payment
within a reasonable period, often determined by industry norms. Most trade credit is
short term, ranging from 30 to 60 days, with cash discounts often granted for early pay-
ment. Trade creditors do not usually receive (explicit) interest for an extension of credit.
Instead, trade creditors earn a return from the profit margins on the business transacted.
Nontrade creditors (or debtholders) provide financing to a company in return for a
promise, usually in writing, of repayment with interest (explicit or implicit) on specific
future dates. This type of financing can be either short or long term and arises in a vari-
ety of transactions.

In pure credit financing, an important element is the fixed nature of benefits to cred-
itors. That is, should a company prosper, creditors’ benefits are limited to the debt con-
tract’s rate of interest or to the profit margins on goods or services delivered. However,
creditors bear the 7z5% of default. This means a creditor’s interest and principal are jeop-
ardized when a borrower encounters financial difficulties. This asymmetric relation of a
creditor’s risk and return has a major impact on the creditor’s perspective, including the
manner and objectives of credit analysis.

Credit analysis is the evaluation of the creditworthiness of a company. Creditworthiness
is the ability of a company to honor its credit obligations. Stated differently, it is the abil-
ity of a company to pay its bills. Accordingly, the main focus of credit analysis is on risk,
not profitability. Variability in profits, especially the sensitivity of profits to downturns
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in business, is more important than profit levels. Profit levels are important only to the
extent they reflect the margin of safety for a company in meeting its obligations.

Credit analysis focuses on downside risk instead of upside potential. This includes
analysis of both liquidity and solvency. Liquidity is a company’s ability to raise cash in
the short term to meet its obligations. Liquidity depends on a company’s cash flows and
the makeup of its current assets and current liabilities. Solvency is a company’s long-
run viability and ability to pay long-term obligations. It depends on both a company’s
long-term profitability and its capital (financing) structure.

The tools of credit analysis and their criteria for evaluation vary with the term
(maturity), type, and purpose of the debt contract. With short-term credit, creditors are
concerned with current financial conditions, cash flows, and the liquidity of current
assets. With long-term credit, including bond valuation, creditors require more detailed
and forward-looking analysis. Long-term credit analysis includes projections of cash
flows and evaluation of extended profitability (also called sustainable earning power).
Extended profitability is a main source of assurance of a company’s ability to meet long-
term interest and principal payments.

Equity Analysis GREATEST

Equity investors provide funds to a company in return for the risks and rewards of ~ [NVESTORS
ownership. Equity investors are major providers of company financing. Equity financ-  The “top five” greatest
ing, also called eguzty or share capital, offers a cushion or safeguard for all other forms of ~ equity investors of the.
financing that are senior to it. This means equity investors are entitled to the distribu- 20th Centu.ry, as compiled
tions of a company’s assets only after the claims of all other senior claimants are met, 1 8 SUey:

. . .. .. . 1. Warren Buffett,
including interest and preferred dividends. As a result, equity investors are said to hold Berkshire Hathaway

a residual interest. This implies equity investors are the first to absorb losses when a com- 2. Peter Lynch,

pany liquidates, although their losses are usually limited to the amount invested. How- Fidelity Funds

ever, when a company prospers, equity investors share in the gains with unlimited 3. John Templeton,

upside potential. Thus, unlike credit analysis, equity analysis is symmetric in that it must i E:Eemt?nn ;;Oh”apm N

assess both downside risks and upside potential. Because equity investors are affected " David Dodd,

by all aspects of a company’s financial condition and performance, their analysis needs professors

are among the most demanding and comprehensive of all users. 5. George Soros,
Individuals who apply active investment strategies primarily use technical analysis, Soros Fund

fundamental analysis, or a combination. Technical analysis, or charting, searches for
patterns in the price or volume history of a stock to predict future price movements.
Fundamental analysis, which is more widely accepted and applied, is the process of
determining the value of a company by analyzing and interpreting key factors for the
economy, the industry, and the company. A main part of fundamental analysis is
evaluation of a company’s financial position and performance.

A major goal of fundamental analysis is to determine intrinsic value, also called
Jundamental value. Intrinsic value is the value of a company (or its stock) determined
through fundamental analysis without reference to its market value (or stock price).
While a company’s market value can equal or approximate its intrinsic value, this is not
necessary. An investor’s strategy with fundamental analysis is straightforward: buy
when a stock’s intrinsic value exceeds its market value, sell when a stock’s market value
exceeds its intrinsic value, and hold when a stock’s intrinsic value approximates its
market value.

To determine intrinsic value, an analyst must forecast a company’s earnings or cash
flows and determine its risk. This is achieved through a comprehensive, in-depth analy-
sis of a company’s business prospects and its financial statements. Once a company’s
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MERGER BOOM
Nearly $4 trillion worth

of mergers occurred during
the dot-com era—more
than in the entire preceding
30 years.

NEW DEALS

Experts say the defining
deals for the next decade
will be the alliance, the
joint venture, and the
partnership. Such deals
will be more common

in industries with

rapid change.

PROFIT TAKERS
Microsoft’s profitability
levels encouraged recent
antitrust actions against it.
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future profitability and risk are estimated, the analyst uses a valuation model to convert
these estimates into a measure of intrinsic value. Intrinsic value is used in many con-
texts, including equity investment and stock selection, initial public offerings, private
placements of equity, mergers and acquisitions, and the purchase/sale of companies
without traded securities.

Other Uses of Business Analysis

Business analysis and financial statement analysis are important in a number of other
contexts.

e Managers. Analysis of financial statements can provide managers with clues to
strategic changes in operating, investing, and financing activities. Managers also
analyze the businesses and financial statements of competing companies to
evaluate a competitor’s profitability and risk. Such analysis allows for zuferfirm
comparisons, both to evaluate relative strengths and weaknesses and to benchmark
performance.

* Mergers, acquisitions, and divestitures. Business analysis is performed when-
ever a company restructures its operations, through mergers, acquisitions, divesti-
tures, and spin-offs. Investment bankers need to identify potential targets and
determine their values, and security analysts need to determine whether and how
much additional value is created by the merger for both the acquiring and the target
companies.

* Financial management. Managers must evaluate the impact of financing
decisions and dividend policy on company value. Business analysis helps assess the
impact of financing decisions on both future profitability and risk.

* Directors. As elected representatives of the shareholders, directors are responsi-
ble for protecting the shareholders’ interests by vigilantly overseeing the company’s
activities. Both business analysis and financial statement analysis aid directors in
fulfilling their oversight responsibilities.

* Regulators. The Internal Revenue Service applies tools of financial statement
analysis to audit tax returns and check the reasonableness of reported amounts.

e Labor unions. Techniques of financial statement analysis are useful to labor
unions in collective bargaining negotiations.

* Customers. Analysis techniques are used to determine the profitability (or staying
power) of suppliers along with estimating the suppliers’ profits from their mutual
transactions.

Components of Business Analysis

Business analysis encompasses several interrelated processes. Exhibit 1.4 identifies these
processes in the context of estimating company value—one of the many important ap-
plications of business analysis. Company value, or intrinsic value, is estimated using a
valuation model. Inputs to the valuation model include estimates of future payoffs
(prospective cash flows or earnings) and the cost of capital. The process of forecasting
tuture payofts is called prospective analysis. To accurately forecast future payoffs, it is im-
portant to evaluate both the company’s business prospects and its financial statements.
Evaluation of business prospects is a major goal of business environment and strategy
analysis. A company’s financial status is assessed from its financial statements using
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Component Processes of Business Analysis
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Strategy Analysis\
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Industry Analysis
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Accounting
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Financial
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Exhibit 1.4

y Financial
Statement
Analysis

1

Analysis of Cash Risk
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1

1

. Profitability
Analysis

Cost of

Capital Estimate Ll el

Jinancial analysss. In turn, the quality of financial analysis depends on the reliability and
economic content of the financial statements. This requires accounting analysss of finan-
cial statements. Financial statement analysis involves all of these component processes—
accounting, financial, and prospective analyses. This section discusses each of these
component processes in the context of business analysis.

Business Environment and Strategy Analysis

Analysis of a company’s future prospects is one of the most important aims of business
analysis. It also is a subjective and complex task. To effectively accomplish this task we
must adopt an interdisciplinary perspective. This includes attention to analysis of the
business environment and strategy. Analysis of the business environment seeks to iden-
tify and assess a company’s economic and industry circumstances. This includes analy-
sis of its product, labor, and capital markets within its economic and regulatory setting.
Analysis of business strategy seeks to identify and assess a company’s competitive
strengths and weaknesses along with its opportunities and threats.

Business environment and strategy analysis consists of two parts—industry analysis
and strategy analysis. Industry analysis is the usual first step since the prospects and
structure of its industry largely drive a company’s profitability. Industry analysis is often
done using the framework proposed by Porter (1980, 1985) or value chain analysis.
Under this framework, an industry is viewed as a collection of competitors that jockey
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for bargaining power with consumers and suppliers and that actively compete among
themselves and face threats from new entrants and substitute products. Industry analy-
sis must assess both the industry prospects and the degree of actual and potential
competition facing a company. Strategy analysis is the evaluation of both a com-
pany’s business decisions and its success at establishing a competitive advantage. This
includes assessing a company’s expected strategic responses to its business environment
and the impact of these responses on its future success and growth. Strategy analysis
requires scrutiny of a company’s competitive strategy for its product mix and cost

structure.
EEEEEE® Business environment and strategy analysis requires knowledge of both economic
BOARDROOM and industry forces. It also requires knowledge of strategic management, business policy,
ETHICS production, logistics management, marketing, and managerial economics. Because of'its
NYSE rules require that broad, multidisciplinary nature, it is beyond the scope of this book to cover all of these

":] ier?;ntgzr;tl (:;z;tgzmgh areas in the context of business environment and strategy analysis and how they relate

to the company be to financial statements. Still, this analysis is necessary for meaningful business decisions
appointed to selected hoard and is implicit, if not explicit, in all analyses in this book.

committees.

Accounting Analysis
EmmmEEEE Accounting analysis is a process of evaluating the extent to which a company’s
BOARDROOM accounting reflects economic reality. This is done by studying a company’s transac-
CONTROL tions and events, assessing the effects of its accounting policies on financial state-
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act ments, and adjusting the statements to both better reflect the underlying economics

requires companies to
maintain an effective
system of internal controls.

and make them more amenable to analysis. Financial statements are the primary
source of information for financial analysis. This means the quality of financial
analysis depends on the reliability of financial statements that in turn depends on the
quality of accounting analysis. Accounting analysis is especially important for com-
parative analysis.

We must remember that accounting is a process involving judgment guided by fun-
damental principles. While accounting principles are governed by standards, the com-
plexity of business transactions and events makes it impossible to adopt a uniform set of
accounting rules for all companies and all time periods. Moreover, most accounting

standards evolve as part of a political process to satisfy the needs of diverse individuals
In a survey, nearly 20% of . . .. . L. .
CFO respondents aditted and their sometimes conflicting interests. These individuals include users such as
that CEOs pressured them investors, creditors, and analysts; preparers such as corporations, partnerships, and
to misrepresent results. proprietorships; regulators such as the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
Financial Accounting Standards Board; and still others such as auditors, lawyers, and
educators. Accordingly, accounting standards sometimes fail to meet the needs of
specific individuals. Another factor potentially impeding the reliability of financial
statements is error from accounting estimates that can yield incomplete or imprecise
information.

These accounting limitations affect the usefulness of financial statements and can
yield at least two problems in analysis. First, lack of uniformity in accounting leads to
comparability problems. Comparability problems arise when different companies
adopt different accounting for similar transactions or events. Comparability problems
also arise when a company changes its accounting across time, leading to difficulties
with temporal comparability.

Second, discretion and imprecision in accounting can distort financial statement
information. Accounting distortions are deviations of accounting information from the
underlying economics. These distortions occur in at least three forms. (1) Managerial

NUMBERS CRUNCH
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estimates can be subject to honest errors or omissions. This estzmation erroris a major ~®®===E=

cause of accounting distortions. (2) Managers might use their discretion in accounting ~ ANALYSIS SNITCH
to manipulate or window-dress financial statements. This ezrnings management can tFrlllemSgE?) Ci:rSapslalgrtllmzhat
cause accounting distortions. (3) Accounting standards can give rise to accounting dis- www.sec.gov.yE-maiI the
tortions from a failure to capture economic reality. These three types of accounting  sgc with details of the

distortions create accounting risk in financial statement analysis. Accounting risk is  suspected scam. Include
the uncertainty in financial statement analysis due to accounting distortions. A major ~ Website, newsgroup, and
goal of accounting analysis is to evaluate and reduce accounting risk and to improve the ~ &™Mall addresses; names

. . . . . .- . . of companies or people
economic content of financial statements, including their comparability. Meeting this . ed: and any

goal usually requires restatement and reclassification of financial statements to improve  ipformation that can
their economic content and comparability. The type and extent of adjustments depend ~ help the SEC track those
on the analysis. For example, adjustments for equity analysis can differ from those for  involved. Your name,

address, and phone

credit analysis. .
number are optional.

Accounting analysis includes evaluation of a company’s earnings quality or, more
broadly, its accounting quality. Evaluation of earnings quality requires analysis of factors
such as a company’s business, its accounting policies, the quantity and quality of
information disclosed, the performance and reputation of management, and the oppor-
tunities and incentives for earnings management. Accounting analysis also includes
evaluation of earnings persistence, sometimes called sustaznable earning power. We
explain analysis of both earnings quality and persistence in Chapters 2, 6, and 11.

Accounting analysis is often the least understood, appreciated, and effectively ap-
plied process in business analysis. Part of the reason might be that accounting analy-
sis requires accounting knowledge. Analysts that lack this knowledge have a tendency
to brush accounting analysis under the rug and take financial statements as reported.
This is a dangerous practice because accounting analysis is crucial to any successful
business or financial analysis. Chapters 3-6 of this book are devoted to accounting
analysis.

Financial Analysis

Financial analysis is the use of financial statements to analyze a company’s financial
position and performance, and to assess future financial performance. Several questions
can help focus financial analysis. One set of questions is future oriented. For example,
does a company have the resources to succeed and grow? Does it have resources to in-
vest in new projects? What are its sources of profitability? What is the company’s future
earning power? A second set involves questions that assess a company’s track record
and its ability to deliver on expected financial performance. For example, how strong is
the company’s financial position? How profitable is the company? Did earnings meet
analyst forecasts? This includes an analysis of why a company might have fallen short
of (or exceeded) expectations.

Financial analysis consists of three broad areas—profitability analysis, risk analysis,  _ _ . . 2 » u
and analysis of sources and uses of funds. Profitability analysis is the evaluation of a ANALYSTS’
company’s return on investment. It focuses on a company’s sources and levels of  poNFLICTS
profits and involves identifying and measuring the impact of various profitability driv-  Regylators wrung a
ers. It also includes evaluation of the two major sources of profitability—margins (the  $100 million penalty from
portion of sales not offset by costs) and turnover (capital utilization). Profitability ~ Merill Lynch after revealing
analysis also focuses on reasons for changes in profitability and the sustainability of ~ Memal e-mails in which

. ... . oo . . . . analysts privately

earnings. The topic is discussed in detail in Chapter 8. Risk analysis is the evaluation disparaged as “junk’
of a company’s ability to meet its commitments. Risk analysis involves assessing the  and “crap” stocks they
solvency and liquidity of a company along with its earnings variability. Because risk  were pushing to the public.
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KNOW-NOTHING
CEOs

The know-nothing defense
of CEOs such as MCI's
Bernie Ebbers was
shattered by novel legal
moves. Investigators
proved that CEOs knew the
internal picture was
materially different than
the external picture
presented to shareholders.
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is of foremost concern to creditors, risk analysis is often discussed in the context of
credit analysis. Still, risk analysis is important to equity analysis, both to evaluate the
reliability and sustainability of company performance and to estimate a company’s
cost of capital. We explain risk analysis along with credit analysis in Chapter 10.
Analysis of cash flows is the evaluation of how a company is obtaining and deploying
its funds. This analysis provides insights into a company’s future financing implica-
tions. For example, a company that funds new projects from internally generated cash
(profits) is likely to achieve better future performance than a company that either
borrows heavily to finance its projects or, worse, borrows to meet current losses. We
explain analysis of cash flows in Chapter 7.

Prospective Analysis

Prospective analysis is the forecasting of future payoffs—typically earnings, cash flows,
or both. This analysis draws on accounting analysis, financial analysis, and business
environment and strategy analysis. The output of prospective analysis is a set of
expected future payofls used to estimate company value.

While quantitative tools help improve forecast accuracy, prospective analysis remains
a relatively subjective process. This is why prospective analysis is sometimes referred to
as an art, not a science. Still, there are many tools we can draw on to help enhance this
analysis. We explain prospective analysis in detail in Chapter 9.

Valuation

Valuation is a main objective of many types of business analysis. Valuation refers to the
process of converting forecasts of future payofls into an estimate of company value. To
determine company value, an analyst must select a valuation model and must also esti-
mate the company’s cost of capital. While most valuation models require forecasts of
future payofls, there are certain ad hoc approaches that use current financial informa-
tion. We examine valuation in a preliminary manner later in this chapter and again in
Chapter 11.

Financial Statement Analysis and Business Analysis

Exhibit 1.4 and its discussion emphasizes that financial statement analysis is a collection
of analytical processes that are part of business analysis. These separate processes share
a common bond in that they all use financial statement information, to varying degrees,
for analysis purposes. While financial statements do contain information on a com-
pany’s business plans, analysis of a company’s business environment and strategy is
sometimes viewed outside of conventional financial statement analysis. Also, prospec-
tive analysis pushes the frontier of conventional financial statement analysis. Yet most
agree that an important part of financial statement analysis is analyzing a company’s
business environment and strategy. Most also agree that valuation, which requires fore-
casts, is part of financial statement analysis. Therefore, financial statement analysis
should be, and is, viewed as an important and integral part of business analysis and all
of its component analyses. At the same time, it is important to understand the scope of
financial statement analysis. Specifically, this book focuses on financial statement analy-
sis and not on aspects of business analysis apart from those involving analysis of finan-
cial statements.
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sunnunaF INANCIAL STATEMENTS —
BASIS OF ANALYSIS

Business Activities

A company pursues a number of activities in a desire to provide a salable product or
service and to yield a satisfactory return on investment. Its financial statements and
related disclosures inform us about the four major activities of the company: planning,
financing, investing, and operating. It is important to understand each of these major
business activities before we can effectively analyze a company’s financial statements.

Planning Activities

A company exists to implement specific goals and objectives. For example, Colgate as-
pires to remain a powerful force in oral, personal, and home care products. A company’s
goals and objectives are captured in a business plan that describes the company’s pur-
pose, strategy, and tactics for its activities. A business plan assists managers in focusing
their efforts and identifying expected opportunities and obstacles. Insight into the busi-
ness plan considerably aids our analysis of a company’s current and future prospects
and is part of the analysis of business environment and strategy. We look for informa-
tion on company objectives and tactics, market demands, competitive analysis, sales
strategies (pricing, promotion, distribution), management performance, and financial
projections. Information of this type, in varying forms, is often revealed in financial
statements. It is also available through less formal means such as press releases, indus-
try publications, analysts’ newsletters, and the financial press.

Two important sources of information on a company’s business plan are the Letter
to Shareholders (or Chairperson’s Letter) and Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A). Colgate, in the Business Strategy section of its 10-K filing with the SEC (its
annual report), discusses various business opportunities and plans as reproduced here:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Executive Overview. Colgate-Palmolive Company seeks to deliver strong, consistent
business results and superior shareholder returns by providing consumers, on a global
basis, with products that make their lives healthier and more enjoyable. To this end, the
Company is tightly focused on two product segments: Oral, Personal, and Home Care;
and Pet Nutrition.

The Company competes in more than 200 countries and territories worldwide, with
established businesses in all regions contributing to the Company’s sales and prof-
itability. This geographic diversity and balance helps to reduce the Company’s expo-
sure to business and other risks in any one country or part of the world.

To achieve its financial objectives, the Company focuses the organization on initia-
tives to drive growth and to fund growth. The Company seeks to capture significant
opportunities for growth by identifying and meeting consumer needs within its core
categories, in particular by deploying valuable consumer and shopper insights in the
development of successful new products regionally which are then rolled out on a
global basis. Growth opportunities are enhanced in those areas of the world in which
economic development and rising consumer incomes expand the size and number of
markets for the Company’s products.

The investments needed to fund this growth are developed through continuous,
corporate-wide initiatives to lower costs and increase effective asset utilization. The
Company also continues to prioritize its investments toward its higher-margin busi-
nesses, specifically Oral Care, Personal Care, and Pet Nutrition.
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Additional discussion appears in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of
Colgate’s annual report. These two sources are excellent starting points in constructing a
company’s business plan and in performing a business environment and strategy analysis.

EEEEEE® It is important to stress that business planning is not cast in stone and is fraught with
SERIAL ACQUIRERS uncertainty. Can Colgate be certain of future consumer tastes and preferences? Can
CEOs who built up their Colgate be certain its raw material costs will not increase? Can Colgate be sure how
companies with a blitz of competitors will react? These and other questions add risk to our analysis. While all

deals include GE's Jack actions involve risk, some actions involve more risk than others. Financial statement
Welch, who did 534 deals,

and AutoNation's H. Wayne analysis helps us estimate the degree of risk, and yields more informed and better deci-
Huizenga, with 114 deals. sions. While information taken from financial statements does not provide irrefutable
answers, it does help us to gauge the soundness of a company’s business opportunities
and strategies and to better understand its financing, investing, and operating activities.

Financing Activities

A company requires financing to carry out its business plan. Colgate needs financing for
purchasing raw materials for production, paying its employees, implementing market-
ing campaigns, and research and development. Financing activities refer to methods
that companies use to raise the money to pay for these needs. Because of their magni-
tude and their potential for determining the success or failure of a venture, companies
take care in acquiring and managing financial resources.

There are two main sources of external financing—equity investors (also called owners
or shareholders) and creditors (lenders). Decisions concerning the composition of fi-
nancing activities depend on conditions existing in financial markets. Financial markets

are potential sources of financing. In looking to financial

Total Financing markets, a company considers several issues, including
50 the amount of financing necessary, sources of financing
45 (owners or creditors), timing of repayment, and structure
40 of financing agreements. Decisions on these issues deter-
@ 2(5) mine a company’s organizational structure, affect its
£ 25 growth, influence its exposure to risk, and determine the
220 power of outsiders in business decisions. The chart in the
%g (] margin shows the makeup of total financing for selected

5 I I companies.
0 : . : Equity investors are a major source of financing. Col-
SuperValu Target Colgate FedEx gate’s balance sheet shows it raised $2.07 billion by issu-

ing stock to equity investors. Investors provide financing
in a desire for a return on their investment, after consid-
ering both expected return and risk. Return is the equity
investor’s share of company earnings in the form of either earnings distribution or earn-
ings reinvestment. Earnings distribution is the payment of dividends to shareholders.
Dividends can be paid directly in the form of cash or stock dividend, or indirectly
through stock repurchase. Dividend payout refers to the proportion of earnings dis-
tributed. It is often expressed as a ratio or a percentage of net earnings. Earnings re-
investment (or earnings retention) refers to retaining earnings within the company for
use in its business; this is also called znternal financing. Earnings reinvestment is often
measured by a retention ratio. The earnings retention ratio, reflecting the proportion
of earnings retained, is defined as one less the dividend payout ratio.

Equity financing can be in cash or any asset or service contributed to a company in
exchange for equity shares. Private offerings of shares usually involve selling shares to one

| O Equity [ Creditor M Total |
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or more individuals or organizations. Public offerings in-
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Equity Financing

volve selling shares to the public. There are significant 20
costs with public offerings of shares, including govern- 15 —
ment regulatory filings, stock exchange listing require- 10
ments, and brokerage fees to selling agents. The main & 5
benefit of public offerings of shares is the potential to & 0 - = LN
raise substantial funds for business activities. Many % -5
corporations offer their shares for trading on organized -10 L
exchanges like the New York, Tokyo, Singapore, and -15 .
SuperValu Target Colgate FedEx

London stock markets. Colgate’s common stock

trades on NYSE under the symbol CL. The chart in the

| [ Contributed [ Reinvested M Total

margin above shows the makeup of equity financing for
selected companies. Negative amounts of contributed
capital for Colgate indicate that repurchases of common stock (called treasury stock) have
exceeded capital contributions.

Companies also obtain financing from creditors. Creditors are of two types: (1) debt
creditors, who directly lend money to the company, and (2) operating creditors, to whom
the company owes money as part of its operations. Debt financing often occurs through
loans or through issuance of securities such as bonds. Debt financers include organiza-
tions like banks, savings and loans, and other financial or nonfinancial institutions. Oper-
ating creditors include suppliers, employees, the government, and any other entity to
whom the company owes money. Even employees who are paid periodically, say weekly
or monthly, are implicitly providing a form of credit financing until they are paid for their
efforts. Colgate’s balance sheet shows total creditor financing of $10.18 billion in 2011,
which comprises 80% of its total financing. Of this amount, around $4.81 billion is debt
financing, while the remaining $5.37 billion is operating creditor financing.

Creditor financing is different from equity financing in that an agreement, or con-
tract, is usually established that requires repayment of the loan with interest at specific
dates. While interest is not always expressly stated in these contracts, it is always
implicit. Loan periods are variable and depend on the desires of both creditors and
companies. Loans can be as long as 50 years or more, or as short as a week or less.

Like equity investors, creditors are concerned with

SCAM SOURCING
According to regulators, the
five most common ways
investors get duped are
(1) unlicensed securities
dealers, (2) unscrupulous
stockbrokers, (3) research
analyst conflicts,

(4) fraudulent

promissory notes, and

(5) prime bank schemes.

Creditor Financing

return and risk. Unlike equity investors, creditors’ re- 35

turns are usually specified in loan contracts. For exam- 30

ple, a 20-year, 10%, fixed-rate loan means that creditors o5

receive a 10% annual return on their investment for é 20

20 years. The returns of equity investors are not guaran- § 15

teed and depend on the level of future earnings. Risk for ¢ ;4 |

creditors is the possibility a business will default in re- 5 -

paying its loans and interest. In this situation, creditors 0 : :

might not receive their money due, and bankruptcy Supervalu  Target Colgate FedEx

or other legal remedies could ensue. Such remedies

impose costs on creditors. | [ Operating debt [ Debt M Total
ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE CREDITOR

Colgate requests a $500 million loan from your bank. How does the composition of
Colgate’s financing sources (creditor and equity) affect your loan decision? Do you have
any reluctance making the loan to Colgate given its current financing composition?
[Note: Solutions to Viewpoints are at the end of each chapter.]
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Investing Activities

Investing activities refer to a company’s acquisition and maintenance of investments
for purposes of selling products and providing services, and for the purpose of investing
excess cash. Investments in land, buildings, equipment, legal rights (patents, licenses,

copyrights), inventories, human capital (managers and

Operating and Financing Assets employees), information systems, and similar assets are
50 for the purpose of conducting the company’s business
45 operations. Such assets are called operating assets.
40 Also, companies often temporarily or permanently in-
35 vest excess cash in securities such as other companies’
2 30 equity stock, corporate and government bonds, and
2 25 money market funds. Such assets are called financial
& 20 assets. Colgate’s balance sheet shows its 2011 asset base
15 is $12.72 billion, of which predominantly everything is
10 operating assets, but for $878 million in cash and cash
5 1 1 equivalents. The chart in the margin shows the operat-

0 = = - ing and financial assets of selected companies.
SuperValu Target Colgate FedEx Information on both financing and investing activi-
| B Financing assets D] Operating assets B Tota | ties assists us in evaluating business performance. Note
the value of investments always equals the value of fi-
nancing obtained. Any excess financing not invested is
simply reported as cash (or some other noncash asset). Companies differ in the amount
and composition of their investments. Many companies demand huge investments in
acquiring, developing, and selling their products, while others require little investment.
Size of investment does not necessarily determine company success. It is the efficiency
and effectiveness with which a company carries out its operations that determine earn-

ings and returns to owners.
Investing decisions involve several factors such as type
Current and Noncurrent Assets of investment necessary (including technological and
50 labor intensity), amount required, acquisition timing,
45 asset location, and contractual agreement (purchase,
40 rent, and lease). Like financing activities, decisions on
35 investing activities determine a company’s organiza-
2 30 tional structure (centralized or decentralized), affect
=25 growth, and influence riskiness of operations. Invest-
o 20 ments in short-term assets are called current assets.
15 ] These assets are expected to be converted to cash in the
10 short term. Investments in long-term assets are called
5 noncurrent assets. Colgate invests $4.40 billion in cur-
0 I I I rent assts (35% of total assets) and $3.67 billion in plant
SuperValu Target Colgate FedEx

and machinery (29% of total assets). Its remaining assets
include almost $4 billion (31%) of intangible assets, in-
cluding goodwill.

| [ Current assets [ Noncurrent assets [l Total |

Operating Activities

One of the more important areas in analyzing a company is operating activities.
Operating activities represent the “carrying out” of the business plan given its
financing and investing activities. Operating activities involve at least five possible
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components: research and development, procurement, Revenues, Expenses, and Net Income

production, marketing, and administration. A proper 80

mix of the components of operating activities depends 70 —

on the type of business, its plans, and its input and 60

output markets. Management decides on the most efi- 50

cient and effective mix for the company’s competitive S 40 =

advantage. & 30 —
Operating activities are a company’s primary source ¥ 20 —

of earnings. Earnings reflect a company’s success in buy- 10 —

ing from input markets and selling in output markets. 0

How well a company does in devising business plans -10 : : :

and strategies, and deciding the mix of operating activi- SuperValu  Target Colgate FedEx

ties, determines its success or failure. Analysis of earn-
ings figures, and their component parts, reflects a com-
pany’s success in efficiently and effectively managing
business activities.

Colgate earned $2.43 billion in 2011. This number by itself is not very meaningful.
Instead, it must be compared with the level of investment used to generate these earn-
ings. Colgate’s return on average total assets of $11.95 billion is 20.3% ($2.43 billion -+
$11.95 billion), a superior return by any standard, and especially so when considering
the highly competitive nature of the consumer products industry.

| [l Net income [ Expenses

Financial Statements Reflect Business Activities

At the end of a period—typically a quarter or a year—financial statements are prepared
to report on financing and investing activities at that point in time, and to summarize
operating activities for the preceding period. This is the role of financial statements and
the object of analysis. It is important to recognize that financial statements report on
financing and investing activities at a point in time, whereas they report on operating
activities for a period of time.

Balance Sheet

The accounting equation (also called the balance sheet identity) is the basis of the
accounting system: Assets = Liabilities + Equity. The left-hand side of this equation
relates to the resources

controlled by a company, Colgate’s Assets and Liabilities
or assets. These resources Assets Liabilities and Equity
are investments that are  giper Stockholders’
expected to generate fu- assets equity
20%

ture earnings through op-  36%
erating  activities.  To

. K . Current Other Current
engage I operating activi- assets  long-term liabilities
ties, a company needs fi- 35% liabilities 29%

nancing to fund them. The 16%
right-hand side of this
equation identifies funding
sources. Liabilities are o

. . Land, building,
funding from creditors and and equipment

represent obligations of a 29%

Long-term
debt
35%
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PRO FORMA MESS
Some companies have
convinced investors that
they should measure

performance not by earnings

but by pro forma earnings.
Pro forma earnings adjust
GAAP income by adding

back certain expense items.

One example is the popular
EBITDA, which adds

back depreciation and
amortization expense. Pro
forma earnings shelter
companies from the harsh
judgment of a net income
calculation. For example,
the S&P 500's pro forma
earnings were 77% higher
than GAAP netincome for a
recent year.
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company or, alternatively, claims of creditors on assets. Equity (or shareholders’ equity)
is the total of (1) funding invested or contributed by owners (contributed capital) and
(2) accumulated earnings in excess of distributions to owners (retained earnings) since
inception of the company. From the owners’, or shareholders’, point of view, equity rep-
resents their claim on company assets. A slightly different way to describe the accounting
equation is in terms of sources and uses of funds. That is, the right-hand side represents
sources of funds (either from creditors or shareholders, or internally generated) and the
left-hand side represents uses of funds.

Assets and liabilities are separated into current and noncurrent amounts. Current
assets are expected to be converted to cash or used in operations within one year or the
operating cycle, whichever is longer. Current liabilities are obligations the company
is expected to settle within one year or the operating cycle, whichever is longer. The
difference between current assets and current liabilities is called working capital.

It is revealing to rewrite the accounting equation in terms of business activities,
namely, investing and financing activities: Total investing = Total financing; or alterna-
tively, Total investing = Creditor financing + Owner financing.

Remember the accounting equation is a balance sheet identity reflecting a posnt in
time. Operating activities arise over a period of time and are not reflected in this
identity. However, operating activities can affect both sides of this equation. That is, if
a company is profitable, both investing (assets) and financing (equity) levels increase.
Similarly, when a company is unprofitable, both investing and financing decline.

The balance sheet of Colgate is reproduced in Exhibit 1.5. Colgate’s total assets on
December 31, 2011, are $12.72 billion. These assets are financed by $10.18 billion of
external or creditor financing (represented by total liabilities) and $2.54 of internal or
equity financing (represented by total shareholder’s equity).

Income Statement

An income statement measures a company’s financial performance over a period of
time, typically a year or a quarter. It is a financial representation of the operating activ-
ities of a company during the period. Typically, the bottom line is net income, which
purports to measure the amount that the company earned during the period. The line
items of the income statement provide details of revenues, expenses, gains, and losses in
a bid to explain how a company earned its net income. In addition to signaling earning
power, income is also supposed to measure the net change in shareholder’s equity dur-
ing a period from nonowner sources—that is, before considering distributions to and
contributions from equity holders. The measure of income that serves this role is called
comprehensive income and is reported by most companies (including Colgate) in its
statement of shareholders’ equity. Income statements often include several other in-
terim measures of income. Income from continuing operations represents earnings
from continuing operations before the provision for income tax. Operating earnings
does not have a fixed definition, but refers to the difference between sales revenues and
all operating expenses. Gross profit (or gross margin) is the difference between sales
and cost of goods sold, and measures the ability of a company to cover its product costs.
Chapter 6 discusses these alternative earnings definitions in detail.

Earnings are determined using the accrual basis of accounting. Under accrual
accounting, revenues are recognized when a company sells goods or renders services,
regardless of when it receives cash. Similarly, expenses are matched to these recognized
revenues, regardless of when it pays cash. The income statement of Colgate, titled
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Colgate’s Consolidated Balance Sheet (in millions, except per share amounts) Exhibit 1.5
EEEEEERN
As of December 31, 2011 2010
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cashequivalents ................ ... .................. $ 878 $ 490
Receivables (net of allowances of $49 and $53, respectively) ............ 1,675 1,610
INVENTOMIES .« . o oo 1,327 1,222
Othercurrent @ssets ...t 522 408
Total current assets ......... ... 4,402 3,730
Property, plant and equipment, net ......... .. ... ... L. 3,668 3,693
Goodwill, NBt ... 2,657 2,362
Other intangible assets, net . .......... ... i 1,341 831
Deferred inCOME taxXes .. ... ... 115 84
Other aSSBS . .o 541 472
TOtal @SSEES . . . oo $12,724 $ 11,172

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Notes and loans payable ............ ... it $ 34 $ 43
Current portion of long-termdebt ........... ... ... .. ... ... ... ..., 346 561
Accounts payable ........ ... ... 1,244 1,165
Accrued inCOME TAXES ...\t 392 272
Otheraccruals . ... .. ... i 1,700 1,682
Total current liabilities . .......... .. . . . 3,716 3,728
Long-termdebt ... ... ... ... 4,430 2,815
Deferred income taxes . ........couiii i 252 108
Other liabilities . ...... ... 1,785 1,704
Total liabilities ......... ... . i 10,183 8,355
Commitments and contingent liabilities .............................. — —
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, $1 par value
(2,000,000,000 shares authorized, 732,853,180 shares issued) ....... 133 733
Additional paid-incapital .......... ... ... .. 1,336 1,132
Retained earnings ... ... 15,649 14,329
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ..................... (2,475) (2,115)
15,243 14,079
Unearned compensation ............ ...t (60) (99)
Treasury stock, at cost . ......... ... (12,808) (11,305)
Total Colgate-Palmolive Company shareholders’ equity .............. 2,375 2,675
Noncontrolling interests ....... ... i 166 142
Total shareholders’ equity ............. . o 2,541 2,817

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ......................... $12,724 $ 11,172
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Consolidated Statements of Income, for the preceding three years is shown in Ex-
hibit 1.6. Colgate’s 2011 revenues totaled $16.73 billion. Costs of operations and other
expenses amounted to $14.30 billion, yielding net income of $2.43 billion.

Exhibit 1.6 Colgate’s Consolidated Statements of Income (in millions, except per share amounts)
EEEEEENR
For the years ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009
Net SaleS ..o $16,734 $15,564 $15,327
Costofsales ............oiiiuiii.. 1,144 6,360 6,319
Grossprofit ........ ... 9,590 9,204 9,008
Selling, general, and administrative expenses .. ... ... 5,158 5,414 5,282
Other (income) expense, net ...................... (9) 301 111
Operating profit ........... ... ... ... .. .... 3,841 3,489 3,615
Interest expense, net ......... ... ..l 52 59 77
Income before incometaxes.................... 3,789 3,430 3,538
Provision for income taxes .............. ... ...... 1,235 1,117 1,141
Net income including noncontrolling interests .. .. .. 2,554 2,313 2,397
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 123 110 106
Net income attributable to Colgate-Palmolive Company ~ $ 2,431 $ 2,203 $ 2,291
Earnings per common share, basic ................ $ 4.98 $ 4.45 $ 453
Earnings per common share, diluted ............... $ 4.94 $ 431 $ 437

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

The statements of retained earnings, comprehensive income, and changes in capital
accounts are often called the statements of changes in shareholders’ equity. (In this
section, we will use the title statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.) This state-
ment is useful in identifying reasons for changes in equity holders’ claims on the assets
of a company. Colgate’s statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for the most re-
cent year is shown in Exhibit 1.7. During this period, shareholders’ equity changes were
due mainly to issuing stock (mainly related to employee stock options), repurchasing
stock (treasury shares) and reinvesting earnings. Colgate details these changes under
five columns: Common Stock, Additional Paid-In Capital, Treasury Stock, Retained
Earnings, and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). Common Stock and
Additional Paid-In Capital together represent Contributed Capital and are often collec-
tively called share capital (many analysts also net Treasury Stock in the computation
of share capital). The change in Colgate’s retained earnings is especially important
because this account links consecutive balance sheets through the income statement.
For example, consider Colgate’s collective retained earnings increase from $14.33 bil-
lion in 2010 to $15.65 billion in 2011. This increase of $1.32 billion is explained by net
earnings of $2.43 billion minus dividends of $1.11 billion. Because dividends almost
always are distributed from retained earnings, the retained earnings balance often
represents an upper limit on the amount of potential dividend distributions.

Colgate includes a separate column titled “Accumulated Other Comprehensive

”

Income (Loss)” Comprehensive income is a measure of the ultimate “bottom line”
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Colgate’s Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings, Comprehensive Income,
and Changes in Capital Accounts (in millions)

Exhibit 1.7

Accumulated Other

Common Additional Paid- Unearned Treasury Retained Comprehensive  Noncontrolling
Stock In Capital Compensation Stock  Earnings Income (Loss) Interests
Balance, December 31,2010 ............. $733 $1,132 $(99) $(11,305) $14,329 $(2,115) $142
Netincome ........................... 2,431 123
Other comprehensive income, net of tax . . . (360) (7)
Dividends ........... ... .l (1,111) (92)
Stock-based compensation expense . ... .. 122
Shares issued for stock options ......... 88 251
Shares issued for restricted stock awards . . (53) 53
Treasury stock acquired . ................. (1,806)
Other ... 47 39 o
Balance, December 31,2011 ............. $733 $1,336 $(60) $(12,808) $15,649 $(2,475) $166

income—that is, all changes to shareholders’ equity excluding transactions involving
exchanges with shareholders. In addition to net income, comprehensive income in-
cludes certain adjustments that are collectively called other comprehensive income.
The other comprehensive income is accumulated over time and shown on the balance
sheet as a separate part of shareholder’s equity called accumulated other compre-
hensive income. In 2011, Colgate’s other comprehensive income totaled to negative
$360 million. This was added to an opening balance of negative $2,115 million, to give
a closing balance of negative $2,475 million, which is included in the 2011 balance sheet.
(Note that a negative amount refers to something that reduces shareholders’ equity.) We
discuss comprehensive income in detail in Chapter 6.

The fourth heading in the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity shows details
of treasury stock. Treasury stock is discussed in Chapter 3. For now, it is sufficient to
view the treasury stock amount as the difference between cash paid for share repur-
chases and the proceeds from reselling those shares, if they are resold at all. The treasury
stock amount reduces equity. Colgate’s treasury stock at the end of 2011 is $12.8 billion,
which is almost 80% of its shareholders’ equity before treasury stock ($15.24 billion).
Much of the treasury stock amount is attributable to stock repurchases—in 2011 alone
Colgate repurchased $1.80 billion of its stock.

Statement of Cash Flows

Earnings do not typically equal net cash flows, except over the life of a company.
Because accrual accounting yields numbers different from cash flow accounting, and
we know that cash flows are important in business decisions, there is a need for re-
porting on cash inflows and outflows. For example, analyses involving reconstruction
and interpretation of business transactions often require the statement of cash flows.
Also, certain valuation models use cash flows. The statement of cash flows reports cash
inflows and outflows separately for a company’s operating, investing, and financing
activities over a period of time.
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Exhibit 1.8

Colgate’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in millions,
except per share amounts)

For the years ended December 31, 2011 2010 2009
Operating Activities
Net income including noncontrolling interests ........................ $ 2,554 $ 2,313 $ 2,397

Adjustments to reconcile net income including noncontrolling interests
to net cash provided by operations:

Depreciation and amortization . .............. ... .. ... . L an 376 351
Restructuring and termination benefits, netofcash ................. 103 86 (18)
Venezuela hyperinflationary transitioncharge ...................... 271
Gain before tax on sales of noncore product lines ................... (207) (50) (5
Stock-based compensation expense . ... 122 121 117
Deferred incometaxes ...t 88 29 (23)
Cash effects of changes in:
Receivables ....... ... i (130) 40 57
INVeNtories . ... (130) (10) 44
Accounts payable and other accruals .......................... 199 (65) 294
Other noncurrent assets and liabilities ......................... 54 135 136
Net cash provided by operations . ........................... 2,896 3,211 3,271
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures .. ....... ...t (537) (550) (575)
Sale of property and noncore product lines .......................... 263 42 17
Purchases of marketable securities and investments .................. (356) (308) (289)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities and investments ............ 423 167 —
Payment for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ....................... (966) — —
OENEr (40) (9) 6
Net cash used in investing activities ........................ (1,213) (658) (841)
Financing Activities
Principal paymentsondebt ........... ... ... (4,429) (4,719) (3,950)
Proceeds from issuance ofdebt ........ ... ... . ... 5,843 5,015 3,424
Dividends paid . ...... ...t (1,203) (1,142) (981)
Purchases of treasury shares ............. ... . . i (1,806) (2,020) (1,063)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and excess tax benefits .......... 353 242 300
Net cash used in financing activities ........................ (1,242) (2,624) (2,270)
Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents .......... (53) (39) (121)
Net increase (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents ................. 388 (110) 45
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ofyear ...................... 490 600 555
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ........................... $ 818 $ 490 $ 600

Colgate’s statement of cash flows is reproduced in Exhibit 1.8. In 2011, Colgate’s
cash balance increased by $388 million. This net change in cash balance is explained
through Colgate’s operating activities providing $2.896 billion, and its investing and fi-
nancing activities using $1.213 billion and $1.242 billion, respectively. Overall, the cash
flows depict a highly profitable company that is investing for future growth but still
managing to use a significant amount of cash for reducing its capital base.
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Links between Financial Statements

Financial statements are linked at points in time and across time. These links are
portrayed in Exhibit 1.9 using Colgate’s financial statements. Colgate began 2011 with
the investing and financing amounts reported in the balance sheet on the left side of
Exhibit 1.9. Its investments in assets, comprising both cash ($0.49 billion) and noncash
assets ($10.68 billion), total $11.17 billion. These investments are financed by both cred-
itors ($8.36 billion) and equity investors ($2.82 billion), the latter comprising equity
share capital ($1.87 billion) and retained earnings ($14.32 billion), less accumulated
other comprehensive income ($2.12 billion) and treasury stock ($11.31 billion).
Colgate’s operating activities are shown in the middle column of Exhibit 1.9. The state-
ment of cash flows explains how operating, investing, and financing activities increase
Colgate’s cash balance from $0.49 billion at the beginning of the year to $0.88 billion at
year end. This end-of-year cash amount is reported in the year-end balance sheet on the
right side of Exhibit 1.9. Colgate’s net income of $2.43 billion, computed as revenues
less cost of sales and expenses, is reported in the income statement. Net income less
dividends paid explains the movement in retained earnings reported in the statement of
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Financial Statement Links—Colgate ($ million)

A

Balance Sheet
Dec. 31, 2010
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 490
Noncash assets 10,682
Total $11,172
Liabilities and Equity
Total liabilities $ 8,355
Equity
Share capital 1,865
Retained earnings 14,329

Accumulated other comp inc (2,115)
Other 43
Treasury stock, at cost (11,305)
Total shareholders’ equity 2,817
Total $11,172

Statement of Cash Flows
For Year Ended Dec. 31, 2011

Operating cash flows $ 2,896
Investing cash flows (1,213)
Financing cash flows (1,242)

Exchange rate changes on cash

Exhibit 1.9

Balance Sheet
Dec. 31, 2011
Assets

and cash equivalents (53)
Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents $ 388
Cash Jan. 1, 2011 __ 490
Cash Dec. 31, 2011 $ 878 —T >
Income Statement
For Year Ended Dec. 31, 2011
Net sales $ 16,734
Cost of sales and expenses (14,303) g
Net income $ 2,431 :

Cash and cash equivalents $ 878
Noncash assets 11,846
Total assets $ 12,724
Liabilities and Equity
Total liabilities $ 10,183
Equity
Share capital 2,069
Retained earnings 15,649

Accumulated other comp inc (2,475)

Point in time

Y

\/

\

Statement of Shareholders’ Equity

Balance, Dec. 31, 2010 1,865
Shares issued for stock options 339
Stock-based compensation 122
Change in preference shares 0
Other (257)
Balance, Dec. 31, 2011 _ 2,069

Retained earnings, Dec. 31, 2010 14,329

Add: Net income 2,431

Less: Dividends (1,111)

Retained earnings, Dec. 31, 15,649
2011

Acc compr inc. Dec. 31, 2010 (2,115)

Other comprehensive income (360)

Acc compr inc. Dec. 31, 2011 (2,475)

Treasury stock, Dec. 31, 2010 (11,305)
Treasury stock issued 304
Treasury stock repurchased (1,807)
Treasury stock, Dec. 31, 2011 (12,808)

Period of time

Other 106

Treasury stock, at cost (12,808)
Total shareholder’s equity 2,541
Total liabilities and e

shareholder’s equity $ 12,724

A
Point in time

\
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shareholders’ equity. In addition, movement in accumulated comprehensive income is
explained by other comprehensive income during the year. Finally, movement in trea-
sury stock arises both from the issue and repurchase of treasury stock.

To recap, Colgate’s balance sheet is a listing of its investing and financing activities
at a point in time. The three statements that report on (1) cash flows, (2) income, and
(3) shareholders’ equity explain changes (typically from operating activities) over a
period of time for Colgate’s investing and financing activities. Every transaction captured
in these three latter statements impacts the balance sheet. Examples are (1) revenues
and expenses affecting earnings and their subsequent reporting in retained earnings,
(2) cash transactions in the statement of cash flows that are summarized in the cash bal-
ance on the balance sheet, and (3) all revenue and expense accounts that affect one or
more balance sheet accounts. In sum, financial statements are linked by design: the
period-of-time statements (income statement, statement of cash flows, and statement of
shareholders’ equity) explain point-in-time balance sheets. This is known as the arzicu-
lation of financial statements.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE INVESTOR

You are considering buying Colgate stock. As part of your preliminary review of Colgate,
you examine its financial statements. What information are you attempting to obtain
from each of these statements to aid in your decision?

Additional Information

Financial statements are not the sole output of a financial reporting system. Additional
information about a company is also communicated. A thorough financial statement
analysis involves examining this additional information.

EDGAR WHO?

EDGAR is the database

of documents that public
companies are required

to file electronically with
the SEC. Several websites
offer easy-to-use interfaces

* Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). Companies with publicly
traded debt and equity securities are required by the Securities and Exchange
Commission to file a Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). Manage-

(most are free), making it
a snap to find most public
info on a company—see
www.freeedgar.com or
www.edgar-online.com.

ment must highlight any favorable or unfavorable trends and identify significant
events and uncertainties that affect a company’s liquidity, capital resources, and
results of operations. They must also disclose prospective information involving
material events and uncertainties known to cause reported financial information
to be less indicative of future operating activities or financial condition. The
MD&A for Colgate shown in Appendix A includes a year-by-year analysis along
with an evaluation of its liquidity and capital resources by business activities.

e Management Report. The purposes of this report are to reinforce: (1) senior
management’s responsibilities for the company’s financial and internal control
system, and (2) the shared roles of management, directors, and the auditor in
preparing financial statements. Colgate’s report, titled Report of Management, dis-
cusses its policies and procedures to enhance the reliability of its financial records.
Its report also highlights the role of its audit committee of the board of directors in
providing added assurance for the reliability of financial statements.

 Auditor Report. An external auditor is an independent certified public accountant
hired by management to provide an opinion on whether or not the company’s fi-
nancial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. Financial statement analysis requires a review of the auditor’s report to as-
certain whether the company received an unqualified opinion. Anything less than an
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unqualified opinion increases the risk of analysis. Colgate’s Report of Independent
Accountants, prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers, is reproduced in Appendix A.
Colgate received an unqualified opinion. EEEEEEE

¢ Explanatory Notes. Explanatory notes that accompany financial reports play an DOUBLE TROUBLE
integral part in financial statement analysis. Notes are a means of communicating  PricewaterhouseCoopers
additional information regarding items included or excluded from the body of the ~ eamed $13 million from
statements. The technical nature of notes creates a need for a certain level of ac- 2t fees and $18 million

. . from tax fees it charged
counting knowledge on the part of financial statement analysts. Explanatory notes 4 c.andal-ridden Ty%o

include information on (1) accounting principles and methods employed, (2) de- International Ltd. in 2001.
tailed disclosures regarding individual financial statement items, (3) commitments  The Sarbanes-Oxley Act
and contingencies, (4) business combinations, (5) transactions with related parties, ~ now limits the consulting

work that may be
performed by a company’s
auditors.

(6) stock option plans, (7) legal proceedings, and (8) significant customers. The
notes for Colgate follow its financial statements in Appendix A.

¢ Supplementary Information. Supplemental schedules to the financial statement
notes include information on (1) business segment data, (2) export sales, (3) mar-
ketable securities, (4) valuation accounts, (5) short-term borrowings, and (6) quar-
terly financial data. Several supplemental schedules appear in the annual report of
Colgate. An example is the information on segment operations included as note 14
in Colgate’s annual report.

* Proxy Statements. Sharcholder votes are solicited for the election of directors
and for corporate actions such as mergers, acquisitions, and authorization of sect- L o e mm ==
rities. A proxy is a means whereby a shareholder authorizes another person toact  ppren
for him or her at a meeting of shareholders. A proxy statement contains infor-  REPORT CARD
mation necessary for shareholders in voting on matters for which the proxy is  95% of the 250 largest
solicited. Proxy statements contain a wealth of information regarding a company  global companies produce
including the identity of shareholders owning 5% or more of outstanding shares, ~ corporate responsibility
biographical information on the board of directors, compensation arrangements reports.
with officers and directors, employee benefit plans, and certain transactions with
officers and directors. Proxy statements are not typically part of the annual report.

sananasFINANCIAL STATEMENT
ANALYSIS PREVIEW

A variety of tools designed to fit specific needs are available to help users analyze
financial statements. In this section, we introduce some basic tools of financial analysis
and apply them to Colgate’s annual report. Specifically, we apply comparative financial
statement analysis, common-size financial statement analysis, and ratio analysis. We
also briefly describe cash flow analysis. This preview to financial analysis is mainly lim-
ited to some common analysis tools, especially as pertaining to ratio analysis. Later
chapters describe more advanced, state-of-the-art techniques, including accounting
analysis, that considerably enhance financial statement analysis. This section concludes
with an introduction to valuation models.

Analysis Tools

This section gives preliminary exposure to five important sets of tools for financial
analysis:

1. Comparative financial statement analysis
2. Common-size financial statement analysis
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3. Ratio analysis
4. Cash flow analysis
5. Valuation

Comparative Financial Statement Analysis

Individuals conduct comparative financial statement analysis by reviewing consecu-
tive balance sheets, income statements, or statements of cash flows from period to
period. This usually involves a review of changes in individual account balances on a
year-to-year or multiyear basis. The most important information often revealed from
comparative financial statement analysis is trend. A comparison of statements over sev-
eral periods can reveal the direction, speed, and extent of a trend. Comparative analysis
also compares trends in related items. For example, a year-to-year 10% sales increase
accompanied by a 20% increase in freight-out costs requires investigation and explana-
tion. Similarly, a 15% increase in accounts receivable along with a sales increase of only
5% calls for investigation. In both cases we look for reasons behind differences in these
interrelated rates and any implications for our analysis. Comparative financial statement
analysis also is referred to as Aorizontal analysis given the left-right (or right-left) analysis
of account balances as we review comparative statements. Two techniques of compara-
tive analysis are especially popular: year-to-year change analysis and index-number
trend analysis.

Year-to-Year Change Analysis. Comparing financial statements over relatively short
time periods—two to three years—is usually performed with analysis of year-to-year
changes in individual accounts. A year-to-year change analysis for short time periods is
manageable and understandable. It has the advantage of presenting changes in absolute
dollar amounts as well as in percentages. Change analyses in both amounts and percent-
ages are relevant since different dollar bases in computing percentage changes can yield
large changes inconsistent with their actual importance. For example, a 50% change from
a base amount of $1,000 is usually less significant than the same percentage change from
a base of $100,000. Reference to dollar amounts is necessary to retain a proper perspec-
tive and to make valid inferences on the relative importance of changes.

Computation of year-to-year changes is straightforward. Still, a few rules should be
noted. When a negative amount appears in the base and a positive amount in the next
period (or vice versa), we cannot compute a meaningful percentage change. Also, when
there is no amount for the base period, no percentage change is computable. Similarly,
when the base period amount is small, a percentage change can be computed but the
number must be interpreted with caution. This is because it can signal a large change
merely because of the small base amount used in computing the change. Also, when an
item has a value in the base period and none in the next period, the decrease is 100%.
These points are underscored in Illustration 1.1.

Comparative financial statement analysis typically reports both the cumulative total
for the period under analysis and the average (or median) for the period. Comparing
yearly amounts with an average, or median, computed over a number of periods helps
highlight unusual fluctuations.

Exhibit 1.10 shows a year-to-year comparative analysis using Colgate’s income state-
ments. This analysis reveals several items of note. First, net sales increased by 7.5% and
cost of sales increased by 12.3%, leading to an increase in Colgate’s gross profit of 4.2%,
which is lower than its revenue increase. This suggests that Colgate is operating with
increasing production costs, which are lowering Colgate’s gross profit margin on each
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Complications in comparative analysis and how we confront them are depicted in the following

five cases:
CHANGE ANALYSIS
Item (in millions) Period 1 Period 2 Amount Percent
Net income (loss) ....... $(4,500) $1,500 $ 6,000 —
Tax expense ............ 2,000 (1,000) (3,000) —
Cash ................. 10 2,010 2,000 20,000%
Notes payable .......... — 8,000 8,000 —
Notes receivable ........ 10,000 — (10,000) (100%)

ILLUSTRATION 1.1

sale. Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased by 6.4%. In its MD&A
section, Colgate management notes that while selling, general, and administrative costs
have increased over the year, this increase is lower than the increase in revenue, which
serves to increase its profit margin on sales. Colgate attributes this shift in selling, gen-
eral, and administrative costs to slightly higher advertising spending that is partially off-
set by cost saving initiatives. Colgate’s R&D increased slightly since 2009, indicating a
stable amount of investment in R&D. Pretax income increased by 10.5% and income
tax expense increased at nearly the same rate by 10.6%, thereby leading to an increase
in net income of 10.4%. In sum, Colgate is performing well in a tough competitive
environment.

Index-Number Trend Analysis. Using year-to-year change analysis to compare finan-
cial statements that cover more than two or three periods is sometimes cumbersome.
A useful tool for long-term trend comparisons is zzdex-number trend analysss. Analyzing

Colgate’s Comparative Income Statements

($ MILLION)

2011 2010 Change % Change

Netsales. ... $16,734 $15,564 $1,170 7.5%
Costofsales .............cooiiiiiii it 7,144 6,360 784 12.3%
Grossprofit ........ ... 9,590 9,204 386 4.2%
Selling, general, and administrative expenses ............ 5,758 5,414 344 6.4%
Other (income) expense, net ...............c.ove... 9) 301 (310) (103.0%)
Operating profit ........ .. ... ... ... ... 3,841 3,489 352 10.1%
Interest expense, net . ......... .. 52 59 (7) (11.9%)
Income before incometaxes ............ ... . ... ... 3,789 3,430 359 10.5%
Provision for incometaxes ............... ... ......... 1,235 1,117 118 10.6%
Net income including noncontrolling interests .......... 2,554 2,313 241 10.4%
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests . . .. 123 110 13 11.8%
Net income attributable to Colgate-Palmolive Company ... $ 2,431 $ 2,203 $ 228 10.3%

Exhibit 1.10
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data using index-number trend analysis requires choosing a base period, for all items,
with a preselected index number usually set to 100. Because the base period is a frame
of reference for all comparisons, it is best to choose a normal year with regard to busi-
ness conditions. As with computing year-to-year percentage changes, certain changes,
like those from negative amounts to positive amounts, cannot be expressed by means of
index numbers.

When using index numbers, we compute percentage changes by reference to the
base period as shown in Illustration 1.2.

ILLUSTRATION 1.2 CenTech’s cash balance (in thousands) at December 31, Year 1 (the base period), is $12,000. Its
EEEEEESR cash balance at December 31, Year 2, is $18,000. Using 100 as the index number for Year 1, the
index number for Year 2 equals 150 and is computed as:

Current year balance _ $18,000
Base year balance  $12,000

X 100 = 150

The cash balance of CenTech at December 31, Year 3, is $9,000. The index for Year 3 is 75 and is
computed as:

$9,000

X 100 = 7
$12,000 00=17

The change in cash balance between Year 1 and Year 2 for this illustration is 50%
(150 — 100), and is easily inferred from the index numbers. However, the change from
Year 2 to Year 3 is not 75% (150 — 75), as a direct comparison might suggest. Instead,
it is 50%, computed as $9,000/$18,000. This involves computing the Year 2 to Year 3
change by reference to the Year 2 balance. The percentage change is, however, com-
putable using index numbers only. For example, in computing this change, we take
75/150 = 0.50, or a change of 50%.

For index-number trend analysis, we need not analyze every item in financial state-
ments. Instead, we want to focus on significant items. We also must exercise care in
using index-number trend comparisons where changes might be due to economy or
industry factors. Moreover, interpretation of percentage changes, including those using
index-number trend series, must be made with an awareness of potentially inconsistent
applications of accounting principles over time. When possible, we adjust for these in-
consistencies. Also, the longer the time period for comparison, the more distortive are
effects of any price-level changes. One outcome of trend analysis is its power to convey
insight into managers’ philosophies, policies, and motivations. The more diverse the
environments constituting the period of analysis, the better is our picture of how man-
agers deal with adversity and take advantage of opportunities.

Results of index-number trend analysis on selected financial statement items for
Colgate are reported in Exhibit 1.11. Sales increased over the period from 2006 to 2011,
but this increase in sales slowed over the 2008-2010 period. Over this period, Colgate
was able to slow the increase in operating expenses to maintain growth in net income
over the period.
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Exhibit 1.11

Common-Size Financial Statement Analysis

Financial statement analysis can benefit from knowing what proportion of a group or
subgroup is made up of a particular account. Specifically, in analyzing a balance sheet,
it is common to express total assets (or liabilities plus equity) as 100%. Then, accounts
within these groupings are expressed as a percentage of their respective total. In ana-
lyzing an income statement, sales are often set at 100% with the remaining income
statement accounts expressed as a percentage of sales. Because the sum of individual
accounts within groups is 100%, this analysis is said to yield common-size financial
statements. This procedure also is called vertzcal analysis given the up-down
(or down-up) evaluation of accounts in common-size statements. Common-size finan-
cial statement analysis is useful in understanding the internal makeup of financial state-
ments. For example, in analyzing a balance sheet, a common-size analysis stresses
two factors:

1. Sources of financing—including the distribution of financing across current liabili-
ties, noncurrent liabilities, and equity.

2. Composition of assets—including amounts for individual current and noncurrent
assets.

Common-size analysis of a balance sheet is often extended to examine the accounts that
make up specific subgroups. For example, in assessing liquidity of current assets, it is
often important to know what proportion of current assets is composed of inventories,
and not simply what proportion inventories are of total assets. Common-size analysis
of an income statement is equally important. An income statement readily lends itself
to common-size analysis, where each item is related to a key amount such as sales.
To varying degrees, sales impact nearly all expenses, and it is useful to know what per-
centage of sales is represented by each expense item. An exception is income taxes,
which are related to pre-tax income and not sales.

Temporal (time) comparisons of a company’s common-size statements are useful in
revealing any proportionate changes in accounts within groups of assets, liabilities,
expenses, and other categories. Still, we must exercise care in interpreting changes and
trends as shown in [llustration 1.3.
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ILLUSTRATION 1.3 The recent three years’ account balances for both Patents and Total Assets of Meade Co. are:
EEEEEER

2011 2010 2009
Patents ................ $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000
Total assets ............. $1,000,000 $750,000 $500,000
Patents/Total assets ...... 5% 6.67% 10%

While the dollar amount for patents remains unchanged for this period, increases in total assets
progressively reduce patents as a percentage of total assets. Since this percent varies with both the
change in the absolute dollar amount of an item and the change in the total balance for its cate-
gory, interpretation of common-size analysis requires examination of both the amounts for the
accounts under analysis and the bases for their computations.

Common-size statements are especially useful for intercompany comparisons be-
cause financial statements of different companies are recast in common-size format.
Comparisons of a company’s common-size statements with those of competitors, or
with industry averages, can highlight differences in account makeup and distribution.
Reasons for such differences should be explored and understood. One key limitation of
common-size statements for intercompany analysis is their failure to reflect the rela-
tive sizes of the companies under analysis. A comparison of selected accounts using
common-size statements along with industry statistics is part of the comprehensive case
following Chapter 11.

Colgate’s common-size income statements are shown in Exhibit 1.12. In 2011,
Colgate earned 14.5 cents per dollar of sales compared with 11.1 cents in 2006, an
increase of 3.4 cents per dollar of sales. This increase masks some important trends in

Exhibit 1.12 Colgate’s Common-Size Income Statements
EEEEEENR
Common size 201 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Netsales ..........coiiiiiiiiii it 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
Costofsales ...............coiiiiiiii.. 4269 4086 4123 41.20 4041 41.08
Gross profit ........... .. 57.31  59.14 5877 5880  59.59 5892
Selling, general and administrative expenses ......... 3441 3479 3446 3484 3570 3521
Other (income) expense, net ....................... (0.05) 1.93 0.72 3.61 4.04 5.49
Operating profit ............ ... ... ... ... ..., 2295 2242 2359 2035 19.84 18.22
Interest expense, net ......... ... ... 0.31 0.38 0.50 0.75 1.25 1.39
Income before incometaxes ..................... 2264 2204 23.08 1960 1859 16.83
Provision for incometaxes ........................ 7.38 7.18 71.44 6.31 5.50 5.30
Net income including noncontrolling interests . ... ... 1526 1486 1564 13.29 13.08 11.53
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests ...  0.74 0.71 0.69 0.52 0.49 0.47
Net income attributable to Colgate-Palmolive Company .. 14.53  14.15 1495 1277 12.60 11.06
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Colgate’s income statement accounts. Examining Colgate’s gross profit indicates that
Colgate earned 57.3 cents after cost of sales in 2011, in contrast to 58.9 cents in 2006,
a decrease of 1.8 cents per dollar of sales. This decrease in gross profit margin reflects
the difficult competitive environment that Colgate faces in the consumer products in-
dustry. What accounts for the increase in profit margin despite the decreasing gross
profit margin? First, selling, general, and administrative expenses have dropped as a
percentage of sales from 35.2 to 34.4 cents per dollar of sales over the 2006-2011 pe-
riod. Second, other expenses have dropped from 5.5 cents per dollar of sales in 2006 to
—0.1 cents in 2011. Items in other expenses include asset impairments, termination
benefits, and other one-time charges that are partially related to Colgate’s restructur-
ing efforts initiated in 2004. As Colgate’s charges from its 2004 restructuring effort
have declined, the amount of other expenses recognized by Colgate has similarly de-
clined. Together, these cost saving efforts explain the increase in net income despite
the slight decline in gross profit margin for Colgate over the period.

Common-size analysis of Colgate’s balance sheets is in Exhibit 1.13. Because Colgate
is a manufacturing company, PP&E constitutes 29% of its total assets. The share of
PP&E has remained fairly steady at around 30% of total assets since 2006. Intangible as-
sets and goodwill account for 31.4% of its assets, indicating significant acquisitions in
the past. In comparison, 34.6% of Colgate’s assets are current, down slightly from 36.1%
in 2006. Most of this decrease comes from a decrease in receivables as the largest
component of current assets. Receivables decreased as a percent of total assets from
16.7% in 2006 to 13.2% in 2011. An increase in cash holdings by Colgate from 5.4% in
2006 to 6.9% in 2011 partially offsets this decrease in receivables. Current liabilities are
29.2% of assets, which is lower than its current assets. Current portion of long-term
debt constitutes 2.7% of its current liabilities.

Colgate’s operating working capital (operating current assets less operating current
liabilities) is 8% of its assets, suggesting that Colgate has not tied up much money in its
working capital. A lion’s share of Colgate’s financing is debt: total liabilities are 80% of
assets, of which more than 37% is long-term debt (including current portion). Colgate’s
shareholders’ equity makes interesting reading. Just 16.3% of Colgate’s assets have been
financed by equity share capital, retained earnings (net of accumulated comprehensive
income) are 103.5% of assets, and a whopping 100.7% of its assets are treasury stock,
which suggests significant stock repurchases. Because of the significant stock repur-
chase activity, Colgate’s share of net equity financing is just 20% of assets. For most
companies, such a small share of equity financing may be cause for concern, but in
Colgate’s case it just reflects its generous payouts to shareholders.

Ratio Analysis

Ratio analysis is among the most popular and widely used tools of financial analysis.
Yet its role is often misunderstood and, consequently, its importance often overrated.
A ratio expresses a mathematical relation between two quantities. A ratio of 200 to
100 is expressed as 2:1, or simply 2. While computation of a ratio is a simple arithmetic
operation, its interpretation is more complex. To be meaningful, a ratio must refer to
an economically important relation. For example, there is a direct and crucial relation
between an item’s sales price and its cost. Accordingly, the ratio of cost of goods sold
to sales is important. In contrast, there is no obvious relation between freight costs
and the balance of marketable securities. The example in Illustration 1.4 highlights
this point.
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Exhibit 1.13 Colgate’s Common-Size Balance Sheets
EEEEEEN

201 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ................ 6.9 4.4 5.4 5.6 4.2 5.4
Receivables ................... ... 132 14.4 14.6 16.0 16.6 16.7
Inventories ................. .l 10.4 10.9 10.9 12.0 11.6 11.0
Other currentassets ..................... 4.1 3.7 34 3.7 33 3.1
Total current assets ................... 34.6 334 34.2 37.2 35.8 36.1
Property, plant and equipment, net ............ 28.8 33.1 31.6 31.3 29.8 29.5
Goodwill,net .............. ..., 20.9 21.1 20.7 21.6 22.5 22.8
Other intangible assets, net ............... 10.5 1.4 1.4 8.4 8.4 9.1
Deferred income taxes . ................... 0.9 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Otherassets .................ocoii.t. 4.3 4.2 6.2 1.6 3.6 2.5
Totalassets ......................... 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0  100.0

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Notes and loans payable .................. 0.3 0.4 0.3 1.1 1.5 1.9
Current portion of long-term debt ........... 2.7 5.0 3.2 2.0 2.9 10.4
Accounts payable ....................... 9.8 10.4 10.5 10.6 10.5 114
Accrued incometaxes .................... 3.1 2.4 3.5 2.7 2.6 1.8
Otheraccruals.......................... 134 15.1 14.8 13.2 13.7 12.5
Total current liabilities ................. 29.2 334 32.3 29.6 31.3 38.0
Long-termdebt ............. ... ... 34.8 25.2 25.3 35.9 319 29.8
Deferred income taxes . ................... 2.0 1.0 0.7 0.8 2.6 34
Other liabilities ......................... 14.0 15.3 12.3 13.2 10.6 12.2
Total liabilities ....................... 80.0 74.8 70.7 79.5 76.3 83.3
Shareholders’ equity
Preference stock ........................ 0.0 0.0 1.5 1.8 2.0 2.4
Common stock, $1 parvalue ............... 5.8 6.6 6.6 7.3 1.2 8.0
Additional paid-in capital ................. 10.5 10.1 15.8 16.1 15.0 133
Retained earnings ....................... 123.0 128.3 118.2 117.8 105.1  105.5
Accumulated othercomprehensiveincome (loss) . (19.5) (18.9) (18.8) (24.8)  (16.5)  (22.8)
Unearned compensation .................... (0.5) (0.9) (1.2) (1.9) (2.2) (2.8)
Treasury stock, atcost ...................... 100.7 101.2 (94.1) (97.2)  (88.1)  (88.4)
Total Colgate-Palmolive Company
shareholders’ equity ................... 18.7 23.9 28.0 19.3 22.6 154
Noncontrolling interests . .................... 1.3 1.3 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total shareholders’ equity . .............. 20.0 25.2 29.3 193 22.6 15.4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.... 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0  100.0
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Consider interpreting the ratio of gasoline consumption to miles driven, referred to as miles per gal- ILLUSTRATION 1.4
lon (mpg). On the basis of the ratio of gas consumption to miles driven, person X claims to have the EEEEEEEN
superior performer, that is, 28 mpg compared to person Y’s 20 mpg. Is person X’s vehicle superior

in minimizing gas consumption? To answer that question there are several factors affecting gas con-

sumption that require analysis before we can properly interpret these results and identify the supe-

rior performer. These factors include: (1) weight load, (2) type of terrain, (3) city or highway driving,

(4) grade of fuel, and (5) travel speed. Numerous as the factors influencing gas consumption are,

evaluating a gas consumption ratio is a simpler analysis than evaluating financial statement ratios.

This is because of the interrelations in business variables and the complexity of factors affecting

them.

We must remember that ratios are tools to provide us with insights into underlying
conditions. They are one of the starting points of analysis, not an end point. Ratios,
properly interpreted, identify areas requiring further investigation. Analysis of a ratio
can reveal important relations and bases of comparison in uncovering conditions and
trends difficult to detect by inspecting the individual components that make up the
ratio. Still, like other analysis tools, ratios often are most useful when they are future ori-
ented. This means we often adjust the factors affecting a ratio for their probable future
trend and magnitude. We also must assess factors potentially influencing future ratios.
Therefore, the usefulness of ratios depends on our skillful application and interpretation
of them, and these are the most challenging aspects of ratio analysis.

Factors Affecting Ratios. Beyond the internal operating activities that affect a com-
pany’s ratios, we must be aware of the effects of economic events, industry factors, man-
agement policies, and accounting methods. Our discussion of accounting analysis later
in the book highlights the influence of these factors on the measurements underlying
ratios. Any limitations in accounting measurements impact the effectiveness of ratios.

Prior to computing ratios, or similar measures like trend indices or percent relations, wssmmmm
we use accounting analysis to make sure the numbers underlying ratio computations  SEC CHARGES
are appropriate. For example, when inventories are valued using LIFO (see Chapter 4)  The SEC has charged
and prices are increasing, the current ratio is understated because LIFO inventories (the ~ numerous individuals
numerator) are understated. Similarly, certain lease liabilities are often unrecorded and ~ @"d companies with
disclosed in notes only (see Chapter 3). We usually want to recognize lease liabilities fraud and/or abuses

of financial reporting.
when computing ratios like debt to equity. We also need to remember that the useful- ¢ SEC chairman said,
ness of ratios depends on the reliability of the numbers. When a company’s internal ac-  “Our enforcement team
counting controls or other governance and monitoring mechanisms are less reliable in  Will continue to root out

generating credible figures, the resulting ratios are equally less reliable. and aggressively act on
abuses of the financial

Ratio Interpretation. Ratios must be interpreted with care because factors affecting  reporting process.”
the numerator can correlate with those affecting the denominator. For instance, com-
panies can improve the ratio of operating expenses to sales by reducing costs that stim-
ulate sales (such as advertising). However, reducing these types of costs is likely to yield
long-term declines in sales or market share. Thus, a seemingly short-term improvement
in profitability can damage a company’s future prospects. We must interpret such
changes appropriately. Many ratios have important variables in common with other
ratios. Accordingly, it is not necessary to compute all possible ratios to analyze a situa-
tion. Ratios, like most techniques in financial analysis, are not relevant in isolation.
Instead, they are usefully interpreted in comparison with (1) prior ratios, (2) predeter-
mined standards, and (3) ratios of competitors. Finally, the variability of a ratio across
time is often as important as its trend.
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Illustration of Ratio Analysis. We can compute numerous ratios using a company’s
financial statements. Some ratios have general application in financial analysis, while
others are unique to specific circumstances or industries. This section presents ratio
analysis as applied to three important areas of financial statement analysis:

1. Credit (Risk) Analysis
a. Liquidity. To evaluate the ability to meet short-term obligations.
4. Capital structure and solvency. To assess the ability to meet long-term
obligations.
2. Profitability Analysis
a. Return on investment. To assess financial rewards to the suppliers of equity
and debt financing.
4. Operating performance. To evaluate profit margins from operating activities.
¢. Asset utilization. To assess effectiveness and intensity of assets in generating
sales, also called zurnover.
3. Valuation
a. 'To estimate the intrinsic value of a company (stock).

Exhibit 1.14 reports results for selected ratios having applicability to most compa-
nies. A more complete listing of ratios is located on the book’s inside cover. Data used
in this illustration are from Colgate’s annual report in Appendix A, although most ratios
can be computed from informations in the financial statements presented in Exhibits 1.5

through 1.8.
Exhibit 1.14 Financial Statement Ratios for Colgate (2011)
EEEEEENR

Liquidity

Current assets _ $4,402 _

Current liabilities — $3716 118

Current ratio =

Cash and cash equivalents + Marketable securities + Accounts receivable

Acid-test ratio = Current liabilities

_ $878 + $1,675

=0.69
$3,716
) . Average accounts receivable  ($1,675 + $1,610)/2
Collection period = = = 35.34 days
P Sales,/360 $16,734/360 g
Average inventor +
Days to sell inventory = 8 y _ 81,327 + $1202)/2 = 64.22 days

Cost of sales/360  $7,144/360
Capital Structure and Solvency

Total liabilities _ $10,183 _

Shareholder's equity  $2541 4ol

Total debt to equity =

Long-term liabilities  $6,467

Shareholders’ equity ~ $2,541 =25

Long-term debt to equity =

Income before income taxes and interest expense  $3,789 + §52

Interest expense §52 =7387

Times interest earned =

(continued)
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Financial Statement Ratios for Colgate (concluded)
EEEEEEN
Return on Investment

Net income + interest expense X (1 — Tax rate)
Average total assets

$2,431 + $54(1 — 0.35)

T ($12,724 + $11,172)/2

Net income _ $2,431

Return on assets =

= 20.63%

Return on common equity = Average shareholders’ equily (52,541 + $2817) =4537%
Operating Performance
Gross profit margin = Sales — Cost of sales _ $16,734 — §7,144 =57.31%
Sales $16,734
) ) ) Income from operations  $3,841
Operating profit margin (pretax) = = =22.95%
p gp gin(p ) Sales $16.734
Net profit margin = Net income _ $2,431 = 14.53%
Sales $16,734
Asset Utilization
Cash turnover = Sales - = $16,734 = 24.46
Average cash and equivalents  ($878 + $490)/2
Accounts receivable turnover = Sales - = $16,734 =10.19
Average accounts receivable  ($1,675 + $1,610)/2
| __ Costofsales $7,144 B
nventory turnover = - = =5
Average inventory  ($1,327 + $1,222)/2
Sales _ $16,734

48.65

Working capital turnover = 2 — = =
gcap Average working capital  [($4,402 — $3,716) + ($3,730 — $3,728)]/2

Sales $16,734
PPE turnover = = =455
Average PPE  ($3,668 + $3,693)/2
Sales $16,734

Average total assets ($12,724 + $11,172)/2 T

Total asset turnover =

Market Measures

Market price per share $92.39

Price-to-earnings = Earnings pershare $4.98 =18.55
) . FEarnings per share $4.98 . o
arnings yield = Market price per share ~ $92.39 5.39%
Cash dividends per share .
Dividend yield = P _ 3231 )iy

Market price per share $92.39

Cash dividends per share  $2.27

Earnings per share  $4.98 = 45.58%

Dividend payout rate =

Market price per share  $92.39

Book value per share  $542 17.05

Price-to-book =
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Credit Analysis. First, we focus on ZAguidizy. Liquidity refers to the ability of an en-
terprise to meet its short-term financial obligations. An important liquidity ratio is the
current ratio, which measures current assets available to satisfy current liabilities.
Colgate’s current ratio of 1.18 implies that there are 118 cents of current assets avail-
able to meet each $1 of currently maturing obligations. A more stringent test of
short-term liquidity, based on the aczd-test ratio, uses only the most liquid current as-
sets: cash, short-term investments, and accounts receivable. Colgate has 69 cents of
such liquid assets to cover each $1 of current liabilities. The acid-test ratio suggests
that Colgate’s liquidity situation is cause for concern. Still, we need more information
to draw definite conclusions about liquidity. The length of time needed for conver-
sion of receivables and inventories to cash also provides useful information regarding
liquidity. Colgate’s collection period for receivables is approximately 35 days, and its
days to sell inventory is 64. Neither of these indicates any liquidity problems. However,
these measures are more useful when compared over time (i.e., changes in these mea-
sures are more informative about liquidity problems than levels). Overall, our brief
analysis of liquidity suggests that while Colgate’s composition of current assets and
current liabilities indicate only moderate liquidity, its receivables and inventory peri-
ods coupled with its excellent cash flow from operations (see later discussion) indi-
cate that there is not much cause for concern.

EEEEEEE Analysis of Solvency. Solvency refers to the ability of an enterprise to meet its long-
DEBT TRIGGER term financial obligations. To assess Colgate’s long-term financing structure and credit
GM's bloated pension risk, we examine its capital structure and solvency. Its total debt-to-equity ratro of 4.01 indi-

obligations and poor
earnings resulted
in a downgrade of its

cates that for each $1 of equity financing, $4.01 of financing is provided by creditors. Its
long-term debt-to-equity ratio is 2.55, revealing $2.55 of long-term debt financing to each

$300 billion in debt. This $1 of equity. Both these ratios are extremely high for a manufacturing company; such
reflects a higher probability ~ high ratios are more typical for a financial institution! On their own, they do raise con-
of default. Debt-rating cerns about Colgate’s ability to service its debt and remain solvent in the long run.

downgrades usually result However, these ratios do not consider Colgate’s excellent profitability. Another ratio
in higher interest rates for

the borrower and can that also considers profitability in addition to capital structure is the zzmes interest earned

trigger bond default. ratio (or interest coverage ratio), which is the ratio of a company’s earnings before inter-
est to its interest payment. Colgate’s 2011 earnings are 73.87 times its fixed (interest)
commitments. This ratio indicates that Colgate will have no problem meeting its fixed-
charge commitments. In sum, given Colgate’s high (and stable) profitability, its solvency
risk is low.

Profitability Analysis. We begin by assessing different aspects of return on investment.
Colgate’s return on assets of 20.63% implies that a $1 asset investment generates
20.63 cents of annual earnings prior to subtracting after-tax interest. Equity holders are
especially interested in management’s performance based on equity financing, so we
also look at the return on equity. Colgate’s 7efurn on common equity (or more commonly
termed as 7efurn on equity) of 45.37% suggests it earns 45.73 cents annually for each $1
of equity investment. Both of these ratios are significantly higher than the average for
publicly traded companies of approximately 7% and 12%, respectively. Colgate’s return
on equity, in particular, is probably one of the highest among U.S. companies.
Another part of profitability analysis is evaluation of operating performance. This is
done by examining ratios that typically link income statement line items to sales. These
ratios are often referred to as profit margins, for example, gross profit margin (or more
concisely gross margin). These ratios are comparable to results from common-size
income statement analysis. The operating performance ratios for Colgate in Exhibit 1.14
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reflect a remarkable operating performance in the face of a highly competitive environ-
ment and recent economic downturn. Colgate’s gross profit margin of 57.31% reflects its
inherent ability to sell well above its cost of production, despite the intensely competi-
tive consumer products’ markets. Its pre-tax operating profit margin of 22.95% and zet
profit margin of 14.53% are well above average for U.S. companies. In sum, Colgate’s pric-
ing power and superior control of production costs make it a very profitable company.

Asset utilization analysis is closely linked with profitability analysis. Asset utilization
ratios, which relate sales to different asset categories, are important determinants of re-
turn on investment. These ratios for Colgate indicate above average performance. For
example, Colgate’s total asset turnover of 1.40 is higher than the average for all publicly
traded companies in the United States. Also Colgate’s working capital turnover is very
large at 48.65, because Colgate maintains a small investment in working capital relative
to its sales. This indicates that Colgate has not invested substantial amounts in working
capital.

Valuation. Exhibit 1.14 also includes five valuation measures. Colgate’s price-to-earnings
ratio of 18.55 and price-to-book of 17.05 are high and reflect the market’s favorable per-
ception of Colgate as a solid performer. Colgate’s dividend payout rate of 45.58% is high,
indicating that Colgate chooses to pay out a large proportion of its profits.

Ratio analysis yields many valuable insights as is apparent from our preliminary analy-
sis of Colgate. We must, however, keep in mind that these computations are based on
numbers reported in Colgate’s financial statements. We stress in this book that our abil-
ity to draw useful insights and make valid intercompany comparisons is enhanced by
our adjustments to reported numbers prior to their inclusion in these analyses. We also
must keep in mind that ratio analysis is only one part of financial analysis. An analyst
must dig deeper to understand the underlying factors driving ratios and to eftectively in-
tegrate different ratios to evaluate a company’s financial position and performance.

Cash Flow Analysis

Cash flow analysis is primarily used as a tool to evaluate the sources and uses of funds.
Cash flow analysis provides insights into how a company is obtaining its financing and
deploying its resources. It also is used in cash flow forecasting and as part of liquidity
analysis.

Colgate’s statement of cash flows reproduced in Exhibit 1.8 is a useful starting point
for cash flow analysis. Colgate generated $2.896 billion from operating activities. It then
used $1.213 billion for investing activities, primarily for capital expenditure and payment
for acquisitions. Colgate also paid $4.429 billion for debt retirement, which it financed by
issuing fresh debt to the tune of $5.843 billion. The remaining cash flow was primarily re-
turned to its shareholders, in the form of common dividends ($1.203 billion) and repur-
chase of common stock ($1.806 billion). Overall, Colgate’s financing activities resulted in
a net cash outflow to the tune of $1.242 billion. After accounting for foreign currency ex-
change rate fluctuations, Colgate’s cash position increased by $388 million during 2011.

This preliminary analysis shows that Colgate generated copious cash flows from its
operations. After using some of it for capital expenditure and acquisitions, the rest of the
generated cash was paid back to shareholders through dividends and stock repurchases.
While this simple analysis of the statement of cash flows conveys much information
about the sources and uses of funds at Colgate, it is important to analyze cash flows in
more detail for a more thorough investigation of Colgate’s business and financial activ-
ities. We return to cash flow analysis in Chapter 7.
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IPO MISDEALS
Investment banking
institutions have recently
been investigated for
allegedly allocating hot-
selling IPO shares to
favored executives to cut
more investment-banking
deals instead of selling
them to the highest
bidders.

MUTUAL FUNDS

The mutual-fund industry
has more than $6 trillion in
equity, bond, and money-
market funds.

Financial Statement Analysis

Valuation Models

Valuation is an important outcome of many types of business and financial statement
analysis. Valuation normally refers to estimating the intrinsic value of a company or its
stock. The basis of valuation is present value theory. This theory states the value of a
debt or equity security (or for that matter, any asset) is equal to the sum of all expected
future payoffs from the security that are discounted to the present at an appropriate
discount rate. Present value theory uses the concept of #zme value of money—it simply states
an entity prefers present consumption more than future consumption. Accordingly, to
value a security an investor needs two pieces of information: (1) expected future payoffs
over the life of the security and (2) a discount rate. For example, future payoffs from
bonds are principal and interest payments. Future payofts from stocks are dividends and
capital appreciation. The discount rate in the case of a bond is the prevailing interest
rate (or more precisely, the yzld to maturity), while in the case of a stock it is the risk-
adjusted cosz of capital (also called the expected rate of return).

This section begins with a discussion of valuation techniques as applied to debt secu-
rities. Because of its simplicity, debt valuation provides an ideal setting to grasp key valu-
ation concepts. We then conclude this section with a discussion of equity valuation.

Debt Valuation

The value of a security is equal to the present value of its future payoffs discounted at an
appropriate rate. The future payofts from a debt security are its interest and principal pay-
ments. A bond contract precisely specifies its future payoffs along with the investment
horizon. The value of a bond at time £ or B,, is computed using the following formula:

It+ 1 It+ 2 IH— 3 Iz+ n F
Bt = + + el 4
A+ A+ A+r] A+ A+7r)

where I, , is the interest payment in period 7 + 7, F is the principal payment (usually
the debt’s face value), and 7 is the investor’s required interest rate, or yield to maturity.
When valuing bonds, we determine the expected (or desired) yield based on factors
such as current interest rates, expected inflation, and risk of default. Illustration 1.5 offers
an example of debt valuation.

ILLUSTRATION 1.5

On January 1, Year 1, a company issues $100 of eight-year bonds with a year-end interest
(coupon) payment of 8% per annum. On January 1, Year 6, we are asked to compute the value of
this bond when the yield to maturity on these bonds is 6% per annum.

Solution: These bonds will be redeemed on December 31, Year 8. This means the remaining
term to maturity is three years. Each year-end interest payment on these bonds is $8, computed
as 8% X $100, and the end of Year 8 principal payment is $100. The value of these bonds as of
January 1, Year 6, is computed as:

$8/(1.06) + $8/(1.06)> + $8/(1.06)° + $100/(1.06)> = $105.35

Equity Valuation

Basis of Equity Valuation. The basis of equity valuation, like debt valuation, is the
present value of future payoffs discounted at an appropriate rate. Equity valuation,
however, is more complex than debt valuation. This is because, with a bond, the future
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payofls are specified. With equity, the investor has no claim on predetermined payoffs. === ®===

Instead, the equity investor looks for two main (uncertain) payoffs—dividend payments ~ DECIMAL PRICING
and capital appreciation. Capital appreciation denotes change in equity value, which in ~ Wall Street long counted

. . .. . . . money in the same units
turn is determined by future dividends, so we can simplify this task to state that the that 17th-century pirates

value of an equity security at time # or V,, equals the sum of the present values of all fu- seq—pieces of eight. But
ture expected dividends: fractional pricing—pricing
stocks in eighths,
_EM;)  EMD.;,) ED.s) sixteenths, and the
AR A+ A+ AP e occasional thirty-secondth

of a dollar—went the way
of Spanish doubloons;
stock and options markets
now use decimal pricing.

where D, , is the dividend in period # + 7, and % is the cost of capital. This model is
called the dividend discount model. This equity valuation formula is in terms of
expected dividends rather than acfual dividends. We use expectations instead of actual
dividends because, unlike interest and principal repayments in the case of a bond, future
dividends are neither specified nor determinable with certainty. This means our analy-
sis must use forecasts of future dividends to get an estimate of value.

Alternatively, we might define value as the present value of future cash flows. This
definition is problematic for at least two reasons. First, the term cas/ flowos is vague.
There are many different types of cash flows: operating cash flows, investing cash flows,
financing cash flows, and net cash flows (change in cash balance). Hence, which type of
cash flows should one use? Second, while we can rewrite the equity valuation formula
in terms of one type of cash flows, called free cash flowvs, it is incorrect to define value in
terms of cash flows. This is because dividends are the actual payofts to equity investors
and, therefore, the only appropriate valuation attribute. Any other formula is merely
a derived form of this fundamental formula. While the free cash flow formula is
technically exact, it is simply one derived formula from among several. One can also de-
rive an exact valuation formula using accounting variables independent of cash flows.

Practical Considerations in Valuation. The dividend discount model faces practical
obstacles. One main problem is that of infinite horizon. Practical valuation techniques
must compute value using a finite forecast horizon. However, forecasting dividends is
difficult in a finite horizon. This is because dividend payments are discretionary, and dif-
ferent companies adopt different dividend payment policies. For example, some com-
panies prefer to pay out a large portion of earnings as dividends, while other companies
choose to reinvest earnings. This means actual dividend payouts are not indicative of
company value except in the very long run. The result is that valuation models often
replace dividends with earnings or cash flows. This section introduces two such valua-
tion models—the free cash flow model and the residual income model.

The free cash flow to equity model computes equity value at time 7 by replacing
expected dividends with expected free cash flows to equity:

_ B(FCFE,.) B(FCFE,,) B(FCFE,y)
T+ A 1+ 4)? 1+ A»®

where FCFE,, , is free cash flow to equity in period # + 7, and % is cost of capital. Free
cash flows to equity are defined as cash flows from operations less capital expenditures plus
increases (minus decreases) in debt. They are cash flows that are free to be paid to equity
investors and, therefore, are an appropriate measure of equity investors’ payoffs.

Free cash flows also can be defined for the en#ire firm. Specifically, free cash flows to
the firm (or simply free cas flows) equal operating cash flows (adjusted for interest expense
and revenue) less investments in operating assets. Then, the value of the entire firm equals
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the discounted expected future free cash flows using the weighted average cost of capital.
(Note, the value of equity equals the value of the entire firm less the value of debt.)

The residual income model computes value using accounting variables. It defines
equity value at time #as the sum of current book value and the present value of all future
expected residual income:

E(th+1) i E(RItJrQ) " E(th+3)
A+ A+A A+AP

V,=BV,+

where BV, is book value at the end of period ¢ RI,, , is residual income in period ¢ + 7,
and £ is cost of capital. Residual income at time 7 is defined as comprehensive net
income minus a charge on beginning book value, that is, RI, = NI, — (£ X BV,_)).

While both of these models overcome some problems in using dividends, they still
are defined in terms of an infinite horizon. To derive value using a finite horizon (say,
5 or 10 years), we must replace the present value of future dividends beyond a particu-
lar future date by an estimate of continuing value (also called terminal value).
Unlike forecasts of payoffs for the finite period that often are derived using detailed
prospective analysis, a forecast of continuing value is usually based on simplifying
assumptions for growth in payoffs. While forecasting continuing value often is a source
of much error, its estimation is required in equity valuation.

Note that all three models—dividend discount, free cash flow to equity, and residual
income—are identical and exact in an infinite horizon. Therefore, choosing a valuation
model is based on practical considerations in a finite horizon setting. Moreover, an im-
portant criterion is to choose a valuation model least dependent on continuing value.
While the free cash flow to equity and dividend discount models work well under cer-
tain circumstances in finite horizons, the residual income model usually outperforms
both. [llustration 1.6 shows the mechanics of applying the dividend discount model, the
free cash to equity model, and the residual income model. Still, a complete understand-
ing of these valuation models, the implications of finite horizons, and the practical con-
siderations of alternative models is beyond the scope of this chapter. We return to these
issues in Chapter 11.

ILLUSTRATION 1.6 At the end of year 2010, Pitbull Co. owns 51% of the equity of Labrador, an entirely equity-

EEEEEEN financed company. By agreement with Labrador’s shareholders, Pitbull agrees to acquire the
remaining 49% of Labrador shares at the end of year 2015 at a price of $25 per share. Labrador
also agrees to maintain annual cash dividends at $1 per share through 2015. An analyst makes the
following projections for Labrador:

(in $ per share) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Dividends ............... — $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00
Operating cash flows ...... — 1.25 1.50 1.50 2.00 2.25
Capital expenditures . .. .... — — — 1.00 1.00 —
Increase (decrease) in

long-term debt ......... — (0.25) (0.50) 0.50 — (1.25)
Net income .............. — 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.65

Bookvalue .............. $5.00 — — _ _ _
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At this same time (end of year 2010), we wish to compute the intrinsic value of the remain-
ing 49% of Labrador’s shares using the alternative valuation models (assume a cost of capital
of 10%).

Solution: Since Pitbull will acquire Labrador at the end of 2015 for $25 per share, the terminal
value is set—this spares us the task of estimating continuing (or terminal) value. Using the
dividend discount model, we determine intrinsic value at the end of year 2010 as

$1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $25

insi = + + + + + = 19.
Intrinsic value an T T an Tan T Ty 19.31

Next, to apply the free cash flow to equity model, we compute the following amounts for

Labrador:

(in $ per share) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Operating cash flows* ................. $1.25 $1.50 $1.50 $2.00 $2.25

—  Capital expenditures® .................. — — (1.00) (1.00) —

+/— Debt increase (decrease) ............... (0.25) (0.50) 0.50 — (1.25)

= Freecashflowtoequity ................ $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00

*Amounts taken from analyst’s projections.

The excess cash flows not needed for the payment of dividends are used to reduce long-term
debt. The free cash flows to equity, then, are the cash flows available to pay the dividend
requirement of $1. Then, using the free cash flows to equity model, we determine the value of the
firm as

$1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $25

FCFE value = REN 4 RRL 4 L1F 4F R + @17 4 117 = 1931

The free cash flows to equity model values the cash flows generated by the firm, whether or not
paid out as dividends.

Finally, to apply the residual income model, we compute the following amounts for Labrador:

(in $ per share) 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Netincome* ............ccoiiiiiiin... $1.20 $1.30 $1.40 $1.50 $ 1.65
— Capital charge (10% of beg. book value*) .. ... (0.50) (0.52) (0.55) (0.59) (0.64)
= Residual income ......................... $0.70 $0.78 $0.85 $0.91 $ 1.01
+ Gain on sale of equity to Pitbull (terminal value) $17.95

*Amounts taken from analyst’s projections.
1$25 — $7.05.

Using the residual income model, we compute intrinsic value at the end of year 2010 as

.. _ $0.70 . $0.78 $0.85 $0.91  $1.01  $1795
Intrinsic value = $5.00 + L) + (L17 + L1} + 117 + L1F + i $19.31

All three models yield the same intrinsic value.
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Analysis in an Efficient Market

BEATING THE Market Efficiency
hattinpusef The efficient market hypothesis, or EMH for short, deals with the reaction of mar-
An article in Journal of ket prices to financial and other information. There are three common forms of EMH.

Business ooks at the The weatk form EMH asserts that prices reflect fully the information contained in his-
efficiency of the pro

football—betting market. torical price movements. The semzstrong form EMH asserts that prices reflect fully all
Efficiency tests are applied publicly available information. The strong form EMH asserts that prices reflect @// infor-
to movements in point mation including inside information. There is considerable research on EMH. Early
spreads. Results show it's evidence so strongly supported both weak and semistrong form EMH that efficiency of
possible to make some capital markets became a generally accepted hypothesis. More recent research, how-

money by adopting a . N . .

contrarian strategy— ever, questions the. ger.lerahty of EMH. A number of StOCl.{ price anomal%es have be.en
that is, waiting till the uncovered suggesting investors can earn excess returns using simple trading strategies.
last minute and then Nevertheless, as a first approximation, current stock price is a reasonable estimate of
betting against point- company value.

spread shifts. But such a
strategy is only marginally
profitable after accounting

frthecasinosfee. Tatis, —— Market Efficiency Implications for Analysis
the football-betting market

appears inefficient, but not EMH assumes the existence of competent and well-informed analysts using tools of
enough forinvestors tocapi- ~ analysis like those described in this book. It also assumes analysts are continually eval-
talize on its inefficiencies. uating and acting on the stream of information entering the marketplace. Extreme pro-

ponents of EMH claim that if all information is instantly reflected in prices, attempts to
reap consistent rewards through financial statement analysis are futile. This extreme po-
sition presents a paradox. On one hand, financial statement analysts are assumed capa-
ble of keeping markets efficient, yet these same analysts are assumed as unable to earn
excess returns from their efforts. Moreover, if analysts presume their efforts in this
regard are futile, the efficiency of the market ceases.

Several factors might explain this apparent paradox. Foremost among them is that
EMH is built on aggregate, rather than individual, investor behavior. Focusing on
aggregate behavior highlights average performance and ignores or masks individual
performance based on ability, determination, and ingenuity, as well as superior individ-
ual timing in acting on information. Most believe that relevant information travels fast,
encouraged by the magnitude of the financial stakes. Most also believe markets are
rapid processors of information. Indeed, we contend the speed and efficiency of the
market are evidence of analysts at work, motivated by personal rewards.

EMH’s alleged implication regarding the futility of financial statement analysis fails
to recognize an essential difference between information and its proper interpretation.
That is, even if all information available at a given point in time is incorporated in price,
this price does not necessarily reflect value. A security can be under- or overvalued, de-
pending on the extent of an incorrect interpretation or faulty evaluation of available in-
formation by the aggregate market. Market efficiency depends not only on availability
of information but also on its correct interpretation. Financial statement analysis is
complex and demanding. The spectrum of financial statement users varies from an insti-
tutional analyst who concentrates on but a few companies in one industry to an unso-
phisticated chaser of rumors. All act on information, but surely not with the same
insight and competence. A competent analysis of information entering the marketplace
requires a sound analytical knowledge base and an information mosaic—one to fit new
information to aid in evaluation and interpretation of a company’s financial position
and performance. Not all individuals possess the ability and determination to expend
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Analysis Research
EEEEEEN

The efficient markets hypothesis
(EMH) has driven many investment
strategies for the past three decades.
While Wall Street has not embraced
EMH as wholeheartedly as the aca-
demic community, it has won many
converts. While no one maintains
that markets are strong form efficient,
there is a wealth of evidence suggest-
ing that the stock markets (at least in
the United States) are both wea# form
and semistrong form efficient. That is,
stock prices are serially uncor-
related—meaning there are no pre-
dictable patterns in prices. Stock
markets seemingly respond rapidly to
information, such as earnings an-
nouncements and dividend changes.
The markets also seem to filter infor-
mation, making it difficult to fool the
market with cosmetic accounting
changes. For example, the markets
seem to understand the implications
of alternative accounting choices,
such as LIFO and FIFO. Probably
the strongest evidence in favor of
market efficiency is the dismal per-
formance of investment managers. A
majority of investment funds under-
perform market indexes such as the
S&P 500. Moreover, even those man-
agers who outperform the indexes
show little consistency over time.
Further evidence that Wall Street has
embraced EMH is the popularity of

buy-and-hold (which assumes you
can’t time the market) and zndexing
(which assumes you can’t identify
winning stocks) strategies.

Still, there is growing evidence
suggesting the market is not as ef-
ficient as presumed. This evidence
on market efficiency, called anom-
alies by EMH believers, began sur-
facing in the past decade. Consider
some of the more intriguing bits of
evidence. First, stock markets exhibit
some weak form inefficiency. For
example, the market exhibits sys-
tematic “calendar” patterns. The
well-known January ¢ffect, where
stock prices (especially those of
small companies) increase abnor-
mally in the month of January, is the
best known example. Another ex-
ample is that the average return on
the Dow Jones Industrial Average
for the six months from November
through April is more than four
times the return for the other six-
month period. Still another is that
stock returns show patterns based
on the day of the week—Monday is
the worst day, while Wednesday and
Friday are best. Second, there is evi-
dence of semistrong form inefficiency.
The P/E anomaly and the price-to-
book effects—where stocks with low
price-to-earnings or price-to-book
ratios outperform those with high

IS THE STOCK MARKET EFFICIENT?

ratios—suggest the potential of
value-based strategies to beat the
market. Also, there are a number of
accounting-based market anomalies.
The best known is the post-earnings
announcement drift, where stock
prices of companies with good (bad)
earnings news continue to drift
upward (downward) for months
after the earnings announcements.
Recent evidence also suggests that
managers might be able to “fool” the
market with accrual manipulations—
a strategy of buying stocks with low
accruals and selling stocks with high
accruals beats the market. Further-
more, evidence suggests the residual
income valuation model can identify
over- and undervalued stocks (as
well as over- and undervaluation of
the market as a whole). Evidence
also suggests that investment strate-
gies using analysts’ consensus ratings
can beat the market.

These findings of market inef-
ficiency give rise to an alternative
paradigm, called besavioral finance,
suggesting that markets are prone to
irrationalities and emotion. While
the proliferation of evidence sug-
gesting inefficiency does not neces-
sarily imply that markets are irra-
tional and chaotic, it does suggest
that blind faith in market efficiency
is misplaced.

the efforts and resources to create an information mosaic. Also, timing is crucial in the
market.
Movement of new information, and its proper interpretation, flows from the well-

SELLING SHORT

informed and proficient segment of users to less-informed and ineflicient users. This is
consistent with a gradual pattern of processing new information. Resources necessary for
competent analysis of a company are considerable and imply that certain market seg-
ments are more efficient than others. Securities markets for larger companies are more
efficient (informed) because of a greater following by analysts due to potential rewards
from information search and analysis compared to following smaller, less-prominent
companies. Extreme proponents of EMH must take care in making sweeping general-
izations. In the annual report of Berkshire Hathaway, its chairman and famed investor

A short-seller sells shares
that are borrowed, either
from an institutional
investor or from a retail
brokerage firm, and then
hopes to replace the
borrowed shares at a
lower price, pocketing
the difference.
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Warren Buffett expresses amazement that EMH is still embraced by some scholars and
analysts. This, Buffett maintains, is because by observing correctly that the market is fre-
quently efficient, they conclude incorrectly it is a/zvays efficient. Buffett declares, “The dif-

ference between these propositions is night and day”

Analysis Research
EEEEEER

If the market’s reaction to the sink-
ing of the Titanic in 1912 is any
guide, investors were pretty sharp
even in the pre-“efficient market”
era. The Titanic was owned by
White Star Line, a subsidiary of

Source: BusinessWeek (1998)

TITANIC EFFICIENCY

International Mercantile Marine
(IMM) that was traded on the
NYSE. The ship cost $75 million
and was insured by Lloyd’s for
$5 million, so the net loss to IMM
was about $2.5 million. The two-day

market-adjusted returns on IMM'’s
stock (covering the day the news of
the tragedy broke and the day after)
reflect a decline of $2.6 million in the
value of IMM-uncannily close to
the $2.5 million actual net loss.

=ansaasBOOK ORGANIZATION

This book is organized into 11 chapters in three parts; see Exhibit 1.15. Part I, covering
Chapters 1-2, introduces financial statement analysis. Chapter 1 examines business
analysis and provides a preview of selected financial statement analysis techniques.
Chapter 2 focuses on financial accounting—its objectives and its primary characteristics.
It also explains the importance of accrual accounting, its superiority over cash flow
accounting, and provides an overview of accounting analysis. Part II, covering

Exhibit 1.15

Organization of the Book

| Financial Statement Analysis |

] ] Y
Part 1 P
] <« — > art 2 <« — > Part 3
Introduction and Accounting Analysis Financial Analysis

Overview I I

Chapter 1: Overview
of Financial
Statement Analysis

Chapter 3: Analyzing
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Chapter 7: Cash Flow
Analysis

Chapter 4: Analyzing
Investing Activities

Chapter 8: Return on
Invested Capital and

Chapter 2: Financial Profitability Analysis

Reporting and Chapter 5: Analyzing

Analysis Investing Activities: Chapter 9: Prospective
Intercorporate Analysis
Investments

Chapter 10: Credit
Chapter 6: Analyzing Analysis

Operating Activities

Chapter 11: Equity
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Chapters 3-6, emphasizes accounting analysis. It describes accounting analysis for fi-
nancing, investing, and operating activities. Part III, covering Chapters 7-11, focuses
on financial analysis. Chapter 7 explains the analysis of cash flows, while Chapter 8 de-
scribes profitability analysis. Chapter 9 discusses forecasting and pro forma analysis,
and Chapters 10-11 highlight two major applications of financial statement analysis—
credit analysis and equity analysis.

The book concludes with a comprehensive case analysis of the financial statements
of Campbell Soup Company. We apply and interpret many of the analysis techniques
described in the book using this case. Appendix A reproduces annual report excerpts
from two companies that are often referred to in the book: Colgate and Campbell Soup.
Throughout this book, the relation of new material to topics covered in earlier chapters
is described to reinforce how the material fits together in an integrated structure for

financial statement analysis.

GUIDANCE ANSWERS TO ANALYSIS VIEWPOINTS

CREDITOR A creditor (or banker) is con-
cerned about Colgate’s ability to satisfy its loan
obligations. Interest and principal payments
must be paid, whereas dividends to owners
(shareholders) are optional. Colgate has $4.01
of creditor financing for every dollar of equity
financing. Moreover, more than half of the
creditor financing is interest-bearing debt.
Prima facie, therefore, there is some concern
about Colgate’s ability to pay interest and
principal. However, Colgate’s superior prof-
itability suggests that such a concern is un-
warranted: Colgate’s earnings before interest
and taxes are $3.79 billion, which is more than
73 times its interest bill of $52 million.
Additionally, Colgate’s income over the past
10 years has been very stable, which makes it

QUESTIONS

more likely that Colgate will be able to meet
interest and principal payments on its debt.

INVESTOR As a potential investor, your
review of financial statements focuses on
Colgate’s ability to create and sustain net in-
come. Each of the statements is important in
this review. The income statement is espe-
cially important as it reveals management’s
current and past success in creating and sus-
taining income. The cash flow statement is
important in assessing management’s ability
to meet cash payments and the company’s
cash availability. The balance sheet shows the
asset base from which future income is gener-
ated, and it reports on liabilities and their
due dates.

1-1. Describe business analysis and identify its objectives.

1-2. Explain the claim: Financial statement analysis is an integral part of business analysis.

1-3. Describe the different types of business analysis. ldentify the category of users of financial statements
that applies to each different type of business analysis.

1-4. What are the main differences between credit analysis and equity analysis? How do these impact the
financial statement information that is important for each type of analysis?

1-5. What is fundamental analysis? What is its main objective?

1-6. What are the various component processes in business analysis? Explain with reference to equity analysis.

1-7. Describe the importance of accounting analysis for financial analysis.

1-8. Describe financial statement analysis and identify its objectives.

1-9. Identify at least five different internal and external users of financial statements.
1-10.
1-11.
1-12.

Identify and discuss the four major activities of a business enterprise.
Explain how financial statements reflect the business activities of a company.
Identify and discuss the four primary financial statements of a business.



EXERCISE 1-1
Discretion in
Comparative Financial
Statement Analysis

Financial Statement Analysis

1-13. Explain why financial statements are important to the decision-making process in financial analysis. Also,
identify and discuss some of their limitations for analysis purposes.

1-14. Identify at least seven additional sources of financial reporting information (beyond financial statements)
that are useful for analysis.

1-15. Identify and discuss at least two areas of financial analysis.
1-16. Identify and describe at least four categories of financial analysis tools.

1-17. Comparative analysis is an important tool in financial analysis.
a. Explain the usefulness of comparative financial statement analysis.
b. Describe how financial statement comparisons are effectively made.
c. Discuss the necessary precautions an analyst should take in performing comparative analysis.

1-18. s past trend a good predictor of future trend? Justify your response.

1-19. Compare the “absolute amount of change” with the percent change as an indicator of change. Which is
better for analysis?

1-20. Identify conditions that prevent computation of a valid percent change. Provide an example.
1-21. Describe criteria in selecting a base year for index-number trend analysis.
1-22. Explain what useful information is derived from index-number trend analysis.

1-23. Common-size analysis is an important tool in financial analysis.
a. Describe a common-size financial statement. Explain how one is prepared.
b. Explain what a common-size financial statement report communicates about a company.

1-24. What is a necessary condition for usefulness of a ratio of financial numbers? Explain.
1-25. Identify and describe limitations of ratio analysis.

1-26. Ratio analysis is an important tool in financial analysis. Identify at least four ratios using:
a. Balance sheet data exclusively.
b. Income statement data exclusively.
c. Both balance sheet and income statement data.

1-27. Identify four specialized financial analysis tools.
1-28. What is meant by “time value of money”? Explain the role of this concept in valuation.

1-29. Explain the following claim: While we theoretically use the effective interest rate to compute a bond’s
present value, in practice it is the other way around.

1-30. What is amiss with the claim: The value of a stock is the discounted value of expected future cash flows?
1-31. Identify and describe a technique to compute equity value only using accounting variables.

1-32. Explain how the efficient market hypothesis (EMH) depicts the reaction of market prices to financial and
other data.

1-33. Discuss implications of the efficient market hypothesis (EMH) for financial statement analysis.

EXERCISES

The preparation and analysis of comparative balance sheets and income statements are
commonly applied tools of financial statement analysis and interpretation.

Required:

a. Discuss the inherent limitations of analyzing and interpreting financial statements for a single year. Include in
your discussion the extent that these limitations are overcome by use of comparative financial statements com-
puted over more than one year.

b. A year-to-year analysis of comparative balance sheets and income statements is a useful analysis tool. Still,
without proper care, such analysis can be misleading. Discuss factors or conditions that contribute to such a
possibility. How can additional information and supplementary data (beyond financial statements) help prevent
this possibility?
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Express the following income statement information in common-size percents and assess EXERCISE 1-2
whether this company’s situation is favorable or unfavorable. Computing Common-Size
Percents

HARBISON CORPORATION
Comparative Income Statement
For Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006 2005
Sales ................. $720,000 $535,000
Cost of goods sold ....... 475,200 280,340
Gross profit............. 244,800 254,660
Operating expenses ...... 151,200 103,790
Net income ............. $ 93,600 $150,870

Mixon Company’s year-end balance sheets show the following: EXERCISE 1-3
Evaluating Short-Term
2006 2005 2004 Liguidity
Cash ... $ 30,800 $ 35,625 $ 36,300
Accounts receivable, net ............. 88,500 62,500 49,200
Merchandise inventory ............... 111,500 82,500 53,000
Prepaid expenses ................... 9,700 9,375 4,000
Plant assets, net ................... 277,500 255,000 229,500
Totalassets ....................... $518,000 $445,000 $372,500
Accounts payable ................... $128,900 $ 75,250 $ 49,250
Long-term notes payable secured
by mortgages on plant assets ....... 97,500 102,500 82,500
Common stock, $10 parvalue ......... 162,500 162,500 162,500
Retained earnings .................. 129,100 104,750 78,250
Total liabilities and equity ............ $518,000 $445,000 $372,500
Required:

Compare the year-end short-term liquidity position of this company at the end of 2006, 2005,
and 2004 by computing the: (2) current ratio and () acid-test ratio. Comment on the ratio
results.

Refer to Mixon Company’s balance sheets in Exercise 1-3. Express the balance sheets in EXERCISE 1-4
common-size percents. Round to the nearest one-tenth of a percent. Common-Size Percents
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EXERCISE 1-5 Refer to the information in Exercise 1-3 about Mixon Company. The company’s income state-
FEvaluating Short-Term ments for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 show the following:
Liguidity 2006 2005
Sales ... $672,500 $530,000
Cost of goods sold ............ $410,225 $344 500
Other operating expenses . ..... 208,550 133,980
Interest expense ............. 11,100 12,300
Income taxes ................ 8,525 7,845
Total costs and expenses ................... (638,400) (498,625)
Netincome ........ ... $ 34,100 $ 31,375
Earnings pershare ....................... $ 210 $ 193
Required:
For the years ended December 31,2006 and 2005, assume all sales are on credit and then compute
the following: () collection period, (4) accounts receivable turnover, (¢) inventory turnover, and
(d) days’ sales in inventory. Comment on the changes in the ratios from 2005 to 2006.
EXERCISE 1-6 Refer to the information in Exercises 1-3 and 1-5 about Mixon Company. Compare the long-term
FEovaluating Risk and risk and capital structure positions of the company at the end of 2006 and 2005 by computing the
Capital Structure following ratios: (@) total debt ratio and () times interest earned. Comment on these ratio results.
EXERCISE 1-7 Refer to the financial statements of Mixon Company in Exercises 1-3 and 1-5. Evaluate the effi-
FEvaluating Efficiency ciency and profitability of the company by computing the following: (2) net profit margin,
and Profitability (&) total asset turnover, and (¢) return on total assets. Comment on these ratio results.
EXERCISE 1-8 Refer to the financial statements of Mixon Company in Exercises 1-3 and 1-5. The following

Evaluating Profitability

additional information about the company is known:

Common stock market price, December 31,2006 ...... $15.00
Common stock market price, December 31,2005 ...... 14.00
Annual cash dividends per share in 2006 ............ 0.60
Annual cash dividends per share in 2005 ............ 0.30

To help evaluate the profitability of the company, compute the following for 2006 and 2005:
(@) return on common stockholders’ equity, (4) price-earnings ratio on December 31, and (¢) divi-
dend yield.

EXERCISE 1-9

Determining Income
Effects from Common-
Stze and Trend Percents

Common-size and trend percents for JBC Company’s sales, cost of goods sold, and expenses follow:

COMMON-SIZE PERCENTS TREND PERCENTS
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Sales ................ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 104.4% 103.2% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold ... ... 62.4 60.9 58.1 112.1 108.2 100.0
Expenses ............. 14.3 13.8 14.1 105.9 101.0 100.0

Determine whether net income increased, decreased, or remained unchanged in this three-year
period.
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Huff Company and Mesa Company are similar firms that operate in the same industry. The
following information is available:

HUFF MESA
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Currentratio................. 1.6 1.7 2.0 3.1 2.6 1.8
Acid-testratio ............... 0.9 1.0 1.1 2.7 2.4 1.5
Accounts receivable turnover .... 29.5 24.2 28.2 154 14.2 15.0
Inventory turnover . ............ 23.2 20.9 16.1 13.5 12.0 11.6
Working capital .............. $60,000 $48,000 $42,000 $121,000 $93,000 $68,000

Write a one-half page report comparing Huff and Mesa using the available information. Your
discussion should include their ability to meet current obligations and to use current assets
efficiently.

EXERCISE 1-10
Analyzing Short-Term
Financial Conditions

Compute index-number trend percents for the following accounts, using Year 1 as the base year.
State whether the situation as revealed by the trends appears to be favorable or unfavorable.

Year 5 Year 4 Year 3 Year 2 Year 1
Sales .................. $283,880 $271,800 $253,680 $235,560 $151,000
Cost of goods sold .. ...... 129,200 123,080 116,280 107,440 68,000
Accounts receivable ... ... 19,100 18,300 17,400 16,200 10,000

EXERCISE 1-11
Computing Trend
Percents

Compute the percent of increase or decrease for each of the following account balances:

Year 2 Year 1
Short-term investments .. .. .. $217,800 $165,000
Accounts receivable ......... 42,120 48,000
Notes payable .............. 57,000 0

EXERCISE 1-12
Computing Percent
Changes

Compute the present value for each of the following bonds:
a. Priced at the end of its fifth year, a 10-year bond with a face value of $100 and a contract (coupon) rate of 10%
per annum (payable at the end of each year) with an effective (required) interest rate of 14% per annum.

b. Priced at the beginning of its 10th year, a 14-year bond with a face value of $1,000 and a contract (coupon) rate
of 8% per annum (payable at the end of each year) with an effective (required) interest rate of 6% per annum.

c. What is the answer to b if bond interest is payable in equal semiannual amounts?

EXERCISE 1-13
Debt Valuation
(annual interest)

OnJanuary 1, Year 1, you are considering the purchase of $10,000 of Colin Company’s 8% bonds. The
bonds are due in 10 years, with interest payable semiannually on June 30 and effective December 31.
Based on your analysis of Colin, you determine that a 6% (required) interest rate is appropriate.
Required:

a. Computethe priceyou will pay for the bonds using the present value model (round the answer to the nearest dollar).
b. Recompute the price in a if your required rate of return is 10%.

c. Describe risk and explain how it is reflected in your required rate of return.

EXERCISE 1-14
Valuation of Bonds
(semtannual interest)
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EXERCISE 1-15

Restdual Income
Equity Valuation

On January 1, Year 1, you are considering the purchase of Nico Enterprises’ common stock. Based
on your analysis of Nico Enterprises, you determine the following:

. Book value at January 1, Year 1, is $50 per share.

. Predicted net income per share for Year 1 through Year 5 is $8, $11, $20, $40, and $30, respectively.

. For Year 6 and continuing for all years after, predicted residual income is $0.

. Nico is not expected to pay dividends.

g d W N -

. Required rate of return (cost of capital) is 20%.

Required:

Determine the purchase price per share of Nico Enterprises’ common stock as of January 1,
Year 1, using the residual income valuation model (round your answer to the nearest cent).
Comment on the strengths and limitations of this model for investment decisions.

PROBLEMS

PROBLEM 1-1 Kampa Company and Arbor Company are similar firms that operate in the same industry. Arbor

Analyzing Efficiency began operations in 2001 and Kampa in 1995. In 2006, both companies pay 7% interest on their

and Financial Leverage debt to creditors. The following additional information is available:

KAMPA COMPANY ARBOR COMPANY
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Total asset turnover ...... 3.0 2.7 2.9 16 14 11
Return on total assets .... 8.9% 9.5% 8.7% 5.8% 5.5% 5.2%
Profit margin ........... 2.3% 2.4% 2.2% 2.7% 2.9% 2.8%
Sales ................. $400,000 $370,000 $386,000 $200,000  $160,000 $100,000
Write a one-half page report comparing Kampa and Arbor using the available information. Your
discussion should include their ability to use assets efficiently to produce profits. Also comment
on their success in employing financial leverage in 2006.

PROBLEM 1-2 Selected comparative financial statements of Cohorn Company follow:

Calculation and Analysis

of Trend Percents COHORN COMPANY

Comparative Income Statement ($000)
For Years Ended December 31, 2000-2006

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Sales................ $1,594 $1,396 $1,270 $1,164 $1,086 $1,010 $828
Cost of goods sold ... .. 1,146 932 802 702 652 610 4_86
Gross profit ........... 448 464 468 462 434 400 342
Operating expenses .... 340 266 244 180 156 154 ﬂ
Netincome ........... $ 108 § 198 $ 224 $ 282 $ 278 $ 246 $214
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COHORN COMPANY

Comparative Balance Sheet ($000)

December 31, 2000-2006

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Assets
Cash .................... $ 68 $ 8 $ 92 $ 94 $ 98 § 9% $ 99
Accounts receivable, net ... .. 430 504 456 350 308 292 206
Merchandise inventory ...... 1,738 1,264 1,104 932 836 710 515
Other current assets ........ 46 42 24 44 38 38 19
Long-term investments . ... .. 0 0 0 136 136 136 136
Plant and equipment, net .... 2,120 2,114 1,852 1,044 1,078 960 825
Total assets............... $4,452  $4012  $3528  $2,600  $2,494  $2.232  $1,800
Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities .......... $1,120 $ 942 $ 618 $ 514 § 446 $ 422 § 272
Long-term liabilities ........ 1,194 1,040 1,012 470 480 520 390
Common stock ............ 1,000 1,000 1,000 840 840 640 640
Other contributed capital .... 250 250 250 180 180 160 160
Retained earnings.......... 888 780 648 596 548 490 338
Total liabilities and equity . . .. $4,452  $4.012  $3,528  $2,600  $2494  $2232  $1.800

Required:

a. Compute trend percents for the individual items of both statements using 2000 as the base year.

b. Analyze and comment on the financial statements and trend percents from part a.

CHECK
2006, total assets
trend, 247.3%

Perform a comparative analysis of Eastman Corporation by completing the analysis below.

Describe and comment on any significant findings in your comparative analysis.

EASTMAN CORPORATION

Income Statement ($ millions)

For Years Ended December 31

Average
Cumulative Annual
Year 6 Year 5 Year 4 Amount Amount
Netsales ............... $ $3,490 $2,860 $ $
Cost of goods sold . . ... ... 3,210 2,610
Gross profit ............. 3,670 680 1,050 1,800
Operating expenses. .. .. ..
Income before taxes ...... 2,740 215 105
Net income ............. $1,485 $ 145 $ 58

PROBLEM 1-3
Comparative Income
Statement Analysis

CHECK
Average net income, $563

Compute increases (decreases) in percents for both Years 6 and 7 by entering all the missing
data in the table below. Analyze and interpret any significant results revealed from this trend

analysis.

PROBLEM 1-4
Index-Number
Trend Analysis



CHECK
Year 6 net income
percent, 33.3%
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YEAR 7 YEAR 6 YEAR 5

Index Change in Index  Change in Index
Statement Item No. Percent No. Percent No.
Netsales .............. 29% 100 % 90
Cost of goods sold ... .... 139 100 85
Gross profit............. 126 100 80
Operating expenses ...... 20 100 65
Income before tax ........ 14 100 70
Net income ............. 129 100 75

PROBLEM 1-5
Understanding Financial
Statement Relations:
Balance Sheet
Construction

CHECK
Total assets, $422,500

Assume you are an analyst evaluating Mesco Company. The following data are available in your
financial analysis (unless otherwise indicated, all data are as of December 31, Year 5):

Retained earnings, December 31, Year4 ... .. $98,000 Days’ sales in receivables ............ 18 days
Gross profit marginratio ................. 25% Shareholders’ equity to total debt ... ... 4to1
Acid-testratio .......... .. ... ... ..... 25101 Sales (alloncredit) ................. $920,000
Noncurrent assets ..............oeiuin.. $280,000  Common stock: $15 par value; 10,000 shares issued
Days’ salesininventory .................. 45 days and outstanding; issued at $21 per share
Required:

Using these data, construct the December 31, Year 5, balance sheet for your analysis. Operating
expenses (excluding taxes and cost of goods sold for Year 5) are $180,000. The tax rate is 40%.
Assume a 360-day year in ratio computations. No cash dividends are paid in either Year 4 or
Year 5. Current assets consist of cash, accounts receivable, and inventories.

PROBLEM 1-6
Understanding Financial
Statement Relations:
Balance Sheet

Construction

CHECK
Total assets, $500,000

You are an analyst reviewing Foxx Company. The following data are available for your financial
analysis (unless otherwise indicated, all data are as of December 31, Year 2):

Currentratio ....................... 2 Days’ salesininventory ................ 36 days
Accounts receivable turnover .......... 16 Gross profit marginratio ............... 50%
Beginning accounts receivable .. ... . ... $50,000 Expenses (excluding cost of goods sold) ... $450,000
Return on end-of-year common equity ... 20% Total debt to equityratio ............... 1

Sales (all oncredit) ................. $1,000,000  Noncurrent assets .................... $300,000
Required:

Using these data, construct the December 31, Year 2, balance sheet for your analysis. Current as-
sets consist of cash, accounts receivable, and inventory. Balance sheet classifications include cash,
accounts receivable, inventory, total noncurrent assets, total current assets, total current liabilities,
total noncurrent liabilities, and equity.

PROBLEM 1-7
Understanding Financial
Statement Relations:
Drvidend and Balance
Sheet Construction

You are planning to analyze Voltek Company’s December 31, Year 6, balance sheet. The
following information is available:

—_

. Beginning and ending balances are identical for both accounts receivable and inventory.

. Net income is $1,300.

. Times interest earned is 5 (income taxes are zero). Company has 5% bonds outstanding and issued at par.
. Net profit margin is 10%. Gross profit margin is 30%. Inventory turnover is 5.

. Days’ sales in receivables is 72 days.

. Sales to end-of-year working capital is 4. Current ratio is 1.5.

. Acid-test ratio is 1.0 (excludes prepaid expenses).

. Plant and equipment (net) is $6,000. It is one-third depreciated.

. Dividends paid on 8% nonparticipating preferred stock are $40. There is no change in common shares
outstanding during Year 6. Preferred shares were issued two years ago at par.

O 0 NO Ol b W
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10. Earnings per common share are $3.75.
11. Common stock has a $5 par value and was issued at par.
12. Retained earnings at January 1, Year 6, are $350.

Required:

a. Given the information available, prepare this company’s balance sheet as of December 31, Year 6 (include the
following account classifications: cash, accounts receivable, inventory, prepaid expenses, plant and equipment
(net), current liabilities, bonds payable, and stockholders’ equity).

b. Determine the amount of dividends paid on common stock in Year 6.

CHECK
Total assets, $15,750

The balance sheet and income statement for Chico Electronics are reproduced below (tax rate
is 40%6).

CHICO ELECTRONICS
Balance Sheet ($ thousands)

As of December 31
Year 4 Year 5
Assets

Current assets
CaSh $ 683 $ 325
Accounts receivable . ....... ... .. 1,490 3,599
IVENTOMIES . . ot 1,415 2,423
Prepaid eXpenses ... ... 15 13
Total current assets . ... 3,603 6,360
Property, plant and equipment, net ......... ... .. ... ... ... .. ... 1,066 1,541
Other @SSBtS . ..ottt 123 157
Total @SSELS . ...ttt $4,792 $8,058

Current liabilities

Notes payabletobank ........... .. ... ... .. .. ... (I $ 875
Current portion of long-termdebt ................ ... ... ... .. ... 38 116
Accounts payable . ........ . 485 933
Estimated income tax liability ............ ... ... ... 588 472
ACCrued BXPENSES ...\ttt 576 586
Customer advance payments ........... ... ... ... 34 963
Total current liabilities ........... .. . 1,721 3,945
Long-termdebt ... ... .. .. . . 122 179
Other liabilities . ........ ... i 8l 3l
Total liabilities ........... .o 1,924 4,255

Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, $1.00 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized;

550,000 and 829,000 outstanding, respectively . ................. 550 829
Preferred stock, Series A 10%; $25 par value; 25,000 authorized;

20,000 and 18,000 outstanding, respectively .................... 500 450
Additional paid-incapital ........ ... ... . 450 575
Retained earnings ...ttt 1,368 1,949
Total shareholders’ equity ............. .o i 2,868 3,803

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ............................ $4,792 $8,058

PROBLEM 1-8
Financial Statement

Ratio Analysis



CHECK
(d) EPS, $1.77
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CHICO ELECTRONICS
Income Statement ($ thousands)
For Years Ending December 31

Year 4 Year 5

NetsaleS..........ccoovnen... $7,570 $12,065
Other income, net ............... 261 345

Total revenues ............... 7,831 12,410
Cost of goods sold .............. 4,850 8,048
General, administrative, and

marketing expense ............ 1,531 2,025
Interest expense ................ 22 18

Total costs and expenses . ...... 6,403 10,151
Net income beforetax ............ 1,428 2,259
Incometax .................... 628 994
Netincome .................... $ 800 $ 1,265

Required:

Compute and interpret the following financial ratios of the company for Year 5:
Acid-test ratio

. Return on assets

Return on common equity

. Earnings per share

Gross profit margin ratio

Times interest earned

Days to sell inventory

S T S S W SR <

. Long-term debt to equity ratio
/. Total debt to equity
J. Sales to end-of-year working capital

(CFA Adapted)

PROBLEM 1-9
Financial Statement
Ratio Computation and
Interpretation

As a consultant to MCR Company, you are told it is considering the acquisition of Lakeland
Corporation. MCR Company requests that you prepare certain financial statistics and analysis for
Year 5 and Year 4 using Lakeland’s financial statements that follow:
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LAKELAND CORPORATION
Balance Sheet
December 31, Year 5 and Year 4

Year 5 Year 4
Assets
Current assets
Cash oo $ 1,610,000 $ 1,387,000
Marketable securities ............ .. 510,000 —
Accounts receivable, less allowance for bad debts

Year 5, $125,000; Year 4, $110,000 ......................... 4,075,000 3,669,000
Inventories, at lower of cost ormarket ......................... 7,250,000 7,050,000
Prepaid eXpenses ... ... 125,000 218,000
Total current assets ........... .. . 13,570,000 12,324,000

Plant and equipment, at cost
Land and buildings . ... 13,500,000 13,500,000
Machinery and equipment . ........ ... ... 9,250,000 8,520,000
Total plant and equipment ........... . ... . .. ... 22,750,000 22,020,000
Less: Accumulated depreciation .............. ... ... ... ..., 13,470,000 12,549,000
Total plant and equipment—mnet ........... ... .. ... ... ... .... 9,280,000 9,471,000
Long-term receivables . ... ... ... 250,000 250,000
Deferred charges . ... ...t 25,000 75,000
Total @SSets . ...t $23,125,000 $22,120,000
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable . ........ ... $ 2,950,000 $ 3,426,000
ACCTUBH BXPENSES . o'ttt t ettt ettt e e e 1,575,000 1,644,000
Federal taxes payable ......... ... ... ... ... ... 875,000 750,000
Current maturities on long-termdebt .......................... 500,000 500,000
Total current liabilities . ........... ... ... .. .. 5,900,000 6,320,000
Other liabilities
5% sinking fund debentures, due January 1,

Year 16 ($500,000 redeemable annually) .. ................... 5,000,000 5,500,000
Deferred taxes on income, due to depreciation ................... 350,000 210,000
Total other liabilities ............. ... . 5,350,000 5,710,000

Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $1 cumulative, $20 par, preference

on liquidation $100 per share (authorized: 100,000 shares;

issued and outstanding: 50,000 shares) ..................... 1,000,000 1,000,000
Common stock, $1 par (authorized: 900,000 shares;

issued and outstanding: Year 5, 550,000 shares;

Year 4, 500,000 shares) ...t 550,000 500,000
Capital in excess of par value on common stock . ................. 3,075,000 625,000
Retained earnings . . ...t 7,250,000 7,965,000
Total shareholders  equity ............. ... i 11,875,000 10,090,000

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . ......................... $23,125,000 $22,120,000
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LAKELAND CORPORATION
Statement of Income and Retained Earnings
For Years Ended December 31, Year 5 and Year 4

Year 5 Year 4
Revenues
Netsales ..........cccooiviiiiiioini.. $48,400,000 $41,700,000
Royalties . ...t 70,000 25,000
Interest . ... .. 30,000 —
Total revenues .............oooeiriiiin.. $48,500,000 $41,725,000
Costs and expenses
CostofsaleS . .....oovvvre $31,460,000 $29,190,000
Selling, general, and administrative ......... 12,090,000 8,785,000
Interest on 5% sinking fund debentures . ..... 275,000 300,000
Provision for federal income taxes ........... 2,315,000 1,695,000
Total costs and expenses .................. $46,140,000 $39,970,000
Netincome ............oiieiiiiiiian... $ 2,360,000 $ 1,755,000
Retained earnings, beginning of year ........... 7,965,000 6,760,000
Subtotal ........ ... $10,325,000 $ 8,515,000
Dividends paid
Preferred stock, $1.00 per share incash ... ... 50,000 50,000
Common stock
Cash—$1.00 pershare ................. 525,000 500,000
Stock—(10%)—50,000 shares at
market value of $50 per share . ......... 2,500,000 —
Total dividends paid . ................... $ 3,075,000 $ 550,000
Retained earnings, end of year ................ $ 7,250,000 $ 7,965,000

Additional Information:

1. Inventory at January 1, Year 4, is $6,850,000.
2. Market prices of common stock at December 31, Year 5 and Year 4, are $73.50 and $47.75, respectively.

3. Cash dividends for both preferred and common stock are declared and paid in June and December of each year.
The stock dividend on common stock is declared and distributed in August of Year 5.

4. Plant and equipment disposals during Year 5 and Year 4 are $375,000 and $425,000, respectively. Related
accumulated depreciation is $215,000 in Year 5 and $335,000 in Year 4. At December 31, Year 3, the plant and
equipment asset balance is $21,470,000, and its related accumulated depreciation is $11,650,000.

Required:
Compute the following financial ratios and figures for both Year 5 and Year 4. Identify and discuss
any significant year-to-year changes.
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At December 31: For year ended December 31:
a. Current ratio. d. Gross profit margin ratio.

b. Acid-test ratio. e. Days to sell inventory.

c. Book value per common share. f. Times interest earned.

g. Common stock price-to-earnings ratio (end-of-year value).
h. Gross capital expenditures.

(AICPA Adapted)

CHECK
(g) Year 5PE, 17.5

Selected ratios for three different companies that operate in three different industries (merchan-
dising, pharmaceuticals, utilities) are reported in the table below:

Ratio Co.A Co.B Co.C
Gross profit marginratio............... 18% 53% n.a.
Net profit marginratio ................ 2% 14% 8%
Research and development to sales ... ... 0% 17% 0.1%
Advertisingtosales................... 1% 4% 0.1%
Interest expensetosales ............... 1% 1% 15%
Returnonassets ..................... 11% 12% 1%
Accounts receivable turnover ........... 95 times 5 times 11 times
Inventory turnover .................... 9 times 3 times n.a.
Long-term debt toequity ............... 64% 45% 89%

n.a. = not applicable

Required:
Identify the industry that each of the companies, A, B, and C, operate in. Give at least two reasons
supporting each of your selections.

PROBLEM 1-10
Identifying Industries
from Financial
Statement Data

The Tristar Mutual Fund manager is considering an investment in the stock of Best Computer and
asks for your opinion regarding the company. Best Computer is a computer hardware sales and
service company. Approximately 50% of the company’s revenues come from the sale of computer
hardware. The rest of the company’s revenues come from hardware service and repair contracts.
Below are financial ratios for Best Computer and comparative ratios for Best Computer’s indus-
try. The ratios for Best Computer are computed using information from its financial statements.

Best Computer Industry Average

Liquidity ratios
Currentratio .................... 3.45 3.10
Acid-testratio ................... 2.58 1.85
Collection period ................. 42.19 36.60
Days to sell inventory ............. 18.38 18.29
Capital structure and solvency
Total debt toequity ............... 0.674 0.690
Long-term debt to equity ........... 0.368 0.400
Times interestearned ............. 9.20 9.89
Return on investment
Returnonassets ................. 31.4% 30.0%

Return on common equity .......... 52.6% 50.0%

PROBLEM 1-11
Ratio Interpretation—
Industry Comparisons



CHECK
Acct. recble., Above norm
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Best Computer Industry Average
Operating performance
Gross profit margin ............... 36.0% 34.3%
Operating profit margin ........... 16.7% 15.9%
Pre-tax profit margin.............. 14.9% 14.45%
Net profit margin................. 8.2% 8.0%
Asset utilization
Cashturnover ................... 40.8 38.9
Accounts receivable turnover . ...... 6.90 8.15
Salestoinventory ................ 29.9 28.7
Working capital turnover ........... 8.50 9.71
Fixed asset turnover .............. 15.30 15.55
Total assets turnover . ............. 3.94 3.99
Market measures
Price-to-earnings ratio ............ 27.8 29.0
Earningsyield ................... 8.1% 1.9%
Dividend yield ................... 0% 0.5%
Dividend payoutrate .............. 0% 2%
Price-to-hook . ................... 8.8 9.0

Required:

a. Interpret the ratios of Best Computer and draw inferences about the company’s financial performance and
financial condition—ignore the industry ratios.

b. Repeat the analysis in (a) with full knowledge of the industry ratios.

c. Indicate which ratios you consider to deviate from industry norms. For each Best Computer ratio that deviates
from industry norms, suggest two possible explanations.

PROBLEM 1-12
Equity Valuation

CHECK
(b) Value using R, $8.32

Ace Co. is to be taken over by Beta Ltd. at the end of year 2007. Beta agrees to pay the share-
holders of Ace the book value per share at the time of the takeover. A reliable analyst makes the
following projections for Ace (assume cost of capital is 10% per annum):

($ per share) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Dividends ................ — $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.00
Operating cash flows ....... — 2.00 1.50 1.00 0.75 0.50
Capital expenditures ....... — — — 1.00 1.00 —
Debt increase (decrease) .... — (1.00) (0.50) 1.00 1.25 0.50
Net income ............... — 1.45 1.10 0.60 0.25 (0.10)
Bookvalue ............... 9.00 9.45 9.55 9.15 8.40 7.30

Required:

a. Estimate Ace Co.’s value per share at the end of year 2002 using the dividend discount model.
b. Estimate Ace Co.’s value per share at the end of year 2002 using the residual income model.
c. Attempt to estimate the value of Ace Co. at the end of year 2002 using the free cash flow to equity model.
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CASES

Key comparative figures ($ millions) for both NIKE and Reebok follow: NIKE
Key Figures NIKE Reehok Reebok
Financing (liabilities + equity) ...... $5,397.4 $1,756.1
Net income (profit) ................ 399.6 135.1
Revenues (sales) ................. 9,553.1 3,637.4

Required:

a. What is the total amount of assets invested in (a) NIKE and (b) Reebok?

b. What is the return on investment for (a) NIKE and (b) Reebok? NIKE's beginning assets equal $5,361.2 (in
millions) and Reebok’s beginning assets equal $1,786.2 (in millions).

c. How much are expenses for (a) NIKE and (b) Reebok?
d. Is return on investment satisfactory for (a) NIKE and (b) Reebok (assume competitors average a 4% return)?
e. What can you conclude about NIKE and Reebok from these computations?

CASE 1-1
Comparative Analysis:
Return on

Invested Capital

CHECK
Nike ROI, 7.4%

Key comparative figures ($ millions) for both NIKE and Reebok follow: NIKE CASE 1-2
Reebok Comparative Analysis:

Key Figures NIKE Reehok Key Figures NIKE Reehok Comparison of

Balance Sheet and

Cash and equivalents . . ... .. $ 1086 $ 209.8 Income taxes ........... $ 2534 $ 125 Income Statement

Accounts receivable ........ 1,674.4 561.7 Revenues (Nike) ......... 9,553.1 —

Inventories ............... 1,396.6 563.7 Net sales (Reebok) . . ... .. — 3,643.6

Retained earnings ......... 3,043.4 1,145.3 Total assets ............ 5,397.4 1,756.1

Costsof sales ............. 6,065.5 2,294.0

Required:

a. Compute common-size percents for both companies using the data provided.

b. Which company incurs a higher percent of their revenues (net sales) in income taxes?

c. Which company retains a higher portion of cumulative net income in the company?

d. Which company has a higher gross margin ratio on sales?

e. Which company holds a higher percent of its total assets as inventory?

Two companies competing in the same industry are being evaluated by a bank that can lend CASE 1-3

money to only one of them. Summary information from the financial statements of the two Comparative Analysis:

companies follows: Credit and Equity

Datatech  Sigma Datatech  Sigma Analysis

Company Company Company Company

Data from the current year-end balance sheet: Data from the current year’s income statement:

Assets ................... Sales ..., $660,000 $780,200
Cash .................... $ 18,500 § 33,000 Costof goodssold ......... 485,100 532,500
Accounts receivable, net .. ... 36,400 56,400 Interestexpense .......... 6,900 11,000
Notes receivable (trade) ... .. 8,100 6,200  Income tax expense ........ 12,800 19,300
Merchandise inventory .. .... 83,440 131,500 Netincome .............. 67,770 105,000
Prepaid expenses .......... 4,000 5,950  Basic earnings per share .. .. 1.94 2.56
Plant and equipment, net .... 284,000 303,400

Total assets ............... $434.440 $536,450
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Datatech  Sigma Datatech  Sigma
Company Company Company Company

Beginning-of-year data:

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity Accounts receivable, net ... $ 28,800 $ 53,200
Current liabilities . ........... $ 60,340 $ 92,300 Notes receivable (trade) .. ... .. 0 0
Long-term notes payable ... 79,800 100,000 worchandise inventory . .. ... .. 54,600 106,400
Common stock, $5 parvalue ... 175,000 205,000 g gssgts ... 388,000 372,500
Retained earnings ... 118,300 139150 common stock, $5 par value ... 175,000 205,000
Total liabilities and equity .. ... $434 440  $536,450  Retained earnings ........... 94,300 90,600
Required:

CHECK a. Compute the current ratio, acid-test ratio, accounts (including notes) receivable turnover, inventory turnover,

Accounts receivable days’ sales in inventory, and days’ sales in receivables for both companies. Identify the company that you

turnover, Sigma, 13.5 times consider to be the better short-term credit risk and explain why.

b. Compute the net profit margin, total asset turnover, return on total assets, and return on common stockholders’
equity for both companies. Assuming that each company paid cash dividends of $1.50 per share and each
company’s stock can be purchased at $25 per share, compute their price-earnings ratios and dividend yields.
Identify which company’s stock you would recommend as the better investment and explain why.

CASE 1-4 Jose Sanchez owns and operates Western Gear, a small merchandiser in outdoor recreational
Business Decisions equipment. You are hired to review the three most recent years of operations for Western Gear.
Using Financial Ratios Your financial statement analysis reveals the following results:
2006 2005 2004

Sales index-numbertrend ........... 137.0 125.0 100.0

Selling expenses to net sales ........ 9.8% 13.7% 15.3%

Salesto plantassets .............. 35101 33t01 3.0to1

Currentratio ..................... 26101 24101 21101

Acid-testratio .............. .. ... 08to1l Lltol 1.2t01

Merchandise inventory turnover ... ... 7.5 times 8.7 times 9.9 times

Accounts receivable turnover ........ 6.7 times 7.4 times 8.2 times

Total asset turnover ............... 2.6 times 2.6 times 3.0 times

Return on total assets.............. 8.8% 9.4% 10.1%

Return on owner's equity . ........... 9.75% 11.50% 12.25%

Net profit margin ................. 3.3% 3.5% 3.7%

Required:

Use these data to answer each of the following questions with explanations:

a. Is it becoming easier for the company to meet its current debts on time and to take advantage of cash
discounts?

. Is the company collecting its accounts receivable more rapidly over time?
Is the company’s investment in accounts receivable decreasing?
. Are dollars invested in inventory increasing?

CHECK
Plant assets are increasing

Is the company’s investment in plant assets increasing?
Is the owner’s investment becoming more profitable?
Is the company using its assets efficiently?

SR -0 Qo T

. Did the dollar amount of selling expenses decrease during the three-year period?
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Refer to Campbell Soup Company’s financial

statements in Appendix A.
Required:

Compute the following ratios for Year 11.
Liquidity ratios:

a. Current ratio

b. Acid-test ratio

¢. Days to sell inventory

d. Collection period
Capital structure and solvency ratios:
e. Total debt to total equity

f. Long-term debt to equity

g. Times interest earned
Return on investment ratios:

h. Return on total assets

i. Return on common equity
Operating performance ratios:

J. Gross profit margin ratio

k. Operating profit margin ratio

|. Pretax profit margin ratio
m. Net profit margin ratio

Campbell Soup

Asset utilization ratios:*

n. Cash turnover

0. Accounts receivable turnover
p. Inventory turnover

g. Working capital turnover

r. Fixed assets turnover

s. Total assets turnover
Market measures (Campbell’s stock price per share is
$46.73 for Year 11):

t. Price-to-earnings ratio

u. Earnings yield

v. Dividend yield

w. Dividend payout rate

X. Price-to-book ratio

*For simplicity in computing utilization ratios, use end-of-year values and not average values.

CASE 1-5

Financial Statement
Ratio Computation

Explain and interpret the major business activities—namely, planning, financing, investing, and CASE 1-6
operating. Aim your report at a general audience such as shareholders and employees. Include Describe and Interpret
concrete examples for each of the business activities. Business Activities
As controller of Tallman Company, you are responsible for keeping the board of directors CASE 1-7
informed about the company’s financial activities. At the recent board meeting, you presented the Ethics Challenge
following financial data:

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Sales trend percent..........ccccoeeunn. 147.0%  135.0% 100.0% Accounts receivable turnover...... 7.0 times 7.7 times 8.5 times
Selling expenses to net sales........ 10.1% 14.0% 15.6% Total asset turnover .................... 2.9times  2.9times 3.3 times
Sales to plant assets .......cccevuune 38t01 36to1l 33t01 Return on total assets ............... 9.1% 9.7% 10.4%
Current ratio ......oocveeeveevenerceenne 29t01 2.7t01 24%01 Return on stockholders’ equity.... 9.75% 11.50% 12.25%
Acid-test ratio......c.cccovveeverrrerennnes 1.1to1l l4to1 1.5t01 Profit margin.......ccooeeveeveveveerennns 3.6% 3.8% 4.0%
Merchandise inventory turnover.... 7.8 times 9.0 times  10.2 times

After the meeting, the company’s CEO held a press conference with analysts in which she

mentions the following ratios:

2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004
Sales trend percent...........ccooeeenee 147.0% 135.0% 100.0% Sales to plant assets ......... 3.8t01 36t01 33101
Selling expenses to net sales.......... 10.1% 14.0% 15.6% Current ratio .......coevvevnneee 29t01 2.7t01 24%01

Required:

a. Why do you think the CEQ decided to report these 4 ratios instead of the 11 ratios that you prepared?
b. Comment on the possible consequences of the CEQ’s reporting decision.
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CASE 1-8 Kimberly-Clark is a household products com- - Colgate and Kimberly-Clark
Comparative Analysis pany that produces and sells various paper

products under popular brand names such as Kleenex and Scott. In many respects, Kimberly-
Clark is similar to Colgate: both are mature and profitable consumer products companies that are
of similar size. Therefore, Kimberly-Clark is a good company with which to compare Colgate’s
financial performance. The tables below provide summary financial information for both Colgate
and Kimberly-Clark over the 2001-2011 period.

COLGATE'S SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA
(In hillions, except per share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net sales 16.73 1556 1533 1533 1379 1224 1140 10.58 9.90 9.29 9.43
Gross profit 9.59 9.20 9.01 9.01 8.22 121 6.62 6.15 5.75 5.35 5.46
Operating income 3.84 3.49 3.62 3.33 2.96 2.57 2.37 2.20 2.14 2.02 1.86
Net income 2.43 2.20 2.29 1.96 1.74 1.35 1.35 1.33 1.42 1.29 1.15
Restructuring charge (after tax) 0.00 0.06 0.00 0.11 0.18 0.29 0.15 0.06 0.04 0.00 0.00
Net income before restructuring 243 2.26 2.29 2.07 1.92 1.64 1.50 1.39 1.46 1.29 1.15
Op income before restructuring 3.84 3.55 3.62 3.44 3.14 2.86 2.52 2.26 2.18 2.02 1.86
Total assets 1272 11.17 1113 9.98 10.11 9.14 8.51 8.67 7.48 7.09 6.98
Total liabilities 10.18 8.36 7.88 7.94 1.12 1.62 7.05 7.21 6.38 6.53 5.93
Long-term debt 4.43 2.82 2.82 3.59 3.22 2.12 2.92 3.09 2.68 321 2.81
Shareholders’ equity 2.07 2.68 3.12 1.92 2.29 141 1.35 1.25 0.89 0.35 0.85
Treasury stock at cost 12.81 1131 10.48 9.70 8.90 8.07 7.58 6.97 6.50 6.15 5.20
Basic earnings per share 498 4.45 453 3.81 3.35 2.57 2.54 2.45 2.60 2.33 2.02
Cash dividends per share 2.27 2.03 1.72 1.56 1.40 1.25 1.11 0.96 0.90 0.72 0.68
Closing stock price 9239 80.37 8215 6854 7796 65.24 5485 51.16 50.05 5243 57.75
Shares outstanding (billions) 0.48 0.49 0.49 0.50 0.51 0.51 0.52 0.53 0.53 0.54 0.55

KIMBERLEY-CLARK'S SUMMARY FINANCIAL DATA
(In billions, except per share data) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net sales 2085 19.75 19.12 1942 1827 1675 1590 15.08 1435 1357 14.52
Gross profit 6.15 7.38 1.27 6.68 6.60 6.36 6.12 591 5.66 5.55 6.71
Operating income 2.44 2.90 3.07 2.64 2.75 2.61 2.57 2.59 2.52 2.58 2.60
Net income 1.59 1.84 1.88 1.69 1.82 1.50 1.57 1.80 1.69 1.67 1.61
Restructuring charge (after tax) 0.29 0.00 0.09 0.05 0.10 0.31 0.17 0.01 0.00 0.00 0.04
Net income before restructuring 1.88 1.84 1.98 1.74 1.92 1.81 1.74 1.81 1.69 1.67 1.65
Op income before restructuring 2.73 2.90 3.16 2.69 2.84 2.92 2.73 2.60 2.52 2.58 2.64
Total assets 19.37 198 19.21 1809 1844 17.07 1630 17.02 1678 1559 15.01
Total liabilities 13.84 1312 1247 1280 11.73 9.75 9.59 9.30 9.15 9.13 8.51
Long-term debt 543 5.12 479 4.88 439 2.28 2.59 2.30 2.73 2.84 2.42
Shareholders’ equity 5.53 5.92 5.41 3.88 522 6.10 5.56 6.63 6.77 5.65 5.65
Treasury stock at cost 2.11 473 4.09 429 3.81 1.39 6.38 5.05 3.82 3.35 2.75
Basic earnings per share 4.02 447 4.53 4.08 4.13 3.27 3.33 3.58 3.34 3.26 3.04
Cash dividends per share 2.76 2.58 2.38 2.27 2.08 1.92 1.75 1.54 1.32 1.18 111
Closing stock price 7356 63.04 6371 5274 6934 6795 59.65 6581 59.09 4747 59.80

Shares outstanding (billions) 0.40 0.41 0.42 0.41 0.42 0.46 046 048 0.50 0.51 0.52




Chapter One | Overview of Financial Statement Analysis

Required:

Conduct a detailed comparative analysis of Colgate and Kimberly-Clark's financial performance over the
2001-2011 period.

Specifically:

a.

b.

Conduct an index-number trend analysis separately for every item reported in the table (e.g., net sales, gross
profit, etc.). Use 2001 as the base year (i.e., set 2001 numbers equal to 100).

Calculate the following ratios for every year for each company: return on investment (return on assets, return on
common equity), operating performance (gross profit margin, operating profit margin), asset utilization (total
asset turnover), capital structure (total debt to equity, long-term debt to equity), dividend payout rate, and mar-
ket measures (price-to-earnings, price-to-book).

Conduct an index-number trend analysis separately for every one of the ratios that you computed in (b). Once
again use 2001 as the base year.

. For analysis in (a), (b), and (c) that involves net income or operating income, it is important to also examine

these numbers after removing the costs relating to restructuring activities. The tables calculate net income and
operating income after adding the pretax cost of restructuring (e.g., net income before restructuring). Compute
all trends and ratios using these adjusted income numbers in addition to those using the reported numbers.

Finally, we need to determine the stock price performance of the two companies over this period. To do that, we
need to determine cum-dividend return. Cum-dividend return is the return on a stock including cash dividends.
Colgate’s compounded annualized cum-dividend return over the 2002—2011 period is 6.9% compared to 5.3%
for Kimberly-Clark (note the period is 2002—2011 and not 2001-2011). Verify these numbers are true. (Hint: This
is advanced analysis that covers material from finance outside the scope of this chapter and should be at-
tempted only by those who are conversant with finance techniques. Cum-dividend return is determined by the
following formula: Cum-dividend return for a year = [(Closing stock price + Cash dividend paid during the
year)/Opening stock price] — 1. Using this formula, determine the cum-dividend return for each company for
every year. Then determine the compounded annualized return over the entire period).

Examine all of the previous analyses and provide a commentary that compares the performance of Colgate and
Kimberly-Clark over the 2002—2011 period.

Note: This case involves extensive data analysis and should be done using Excel (or similar software). To facilitate the analysis
in Excel, the data in the tables above are available in Excel format and can be downloaded from the book’s website.



A LOOK BACK <
We began our study of financial
statement analysis with an overview
in Chapter 1. We saw how financial
statements reflect business
activities—financing, investing, and
operating. We also performed a
preliminary analysis of Colgate.

A LOOK AT THIS

CHAPTER

This chapter focuses on financial
reporting and its analysis. We describe
the financial reporting environment,
including the principles underlying
accounting. The advantages and
disadvantages of accrual versus cash
flow measures are discussed. We also
explain the need for accounting
analysis and introduce its techniques.

A LOOK AHEAD >
Chapters 3 through 6 of this book

are devoted to accounting analysis.
Chapter 3 focuses on financing
activities. Chapters 4 and 5 extend this
to investing activities. Each of these
chapters describes adjustments of
accounting numbers that are useful for
financial statement analysis.
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CHAPTER TWO

FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ANALYSIS

ANALYSIS OBJECTIVES

e Explain the financial reporting and analysis environment.

e |dentify what constitutes generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP).

e Describe the objectives of financial accounting; identify
qualities of accounting information and principles and
conventions that determine accounting rules.

e Describe the relevance of accounting information to business
analysis and valuation, and identify its limitations.

e Explain the importance of accrual accounting and its strengths
and limitations.

e Understand economic concepts of income, and distinguish
it from cash flows and reported income; learn to make
adjustments to reported income to meet analysis objectives.

e Explain fair value accounting and its differences from the
historical cost model; identify the merits and demerits of fair
value accounting and its implications for analysis.

e Describe the need for and techniques of accounting analysis.

® Analyze and measure earnings quality and its determinants
(Appendix 2A).



Analysis Feature

Cash Is King . . . without Clothes

Bentonville, AR—There is a chil-
dren’s fable about the king who
was deceived into believing he
wore clothes made of special fabric
when in actuality he was naked.
All of his subjects were afraid to tell
him and, instead, praised the king
on his magnificent clothes. All,
that is, except a child who dared to
speak the truth. The king was
quick to recognize the reality of
the child’s words and, eventually,
rewarded him handsomely.

Cash is the king—without
clothes (accruals)—in this chil-
dren’s fable. Experts know cash
alone is incomplete, but many too
often mindlessly act as if it is suffi-
cient. Just as the dressing of robes,
crown, and staft better reflects the
reality of the king, so does the
dressing of accruals better reflect
the reality of a company’s financial
position and performance.

Yet we too often witness the
naive use of accruals. Accounting
analysis overcomes this failing. As
with the king, if the clothes of
accruals fail to reflect reality, the
aim of accounting analysis is to
adjust those clothes to better
reflect reality.

. . . cash and accruals
play supporting roles . . .

The upshot is that neither cash
nor accruals is king. Instead, both
cash and accruals play supporting
roles, where adjusted or recasted
information from accounting and
financial analyses plays the lead
role. As in the fable, recognition
of this reality is richly rewarded.

This chapter takes data from
two retailers, Kmart and Wal-Mart,

PREVIEW OF CHAPTER 2

to explore the relative importance
of cash and accruals in explaining
stock prices. Findings show the
power of accrual income in ex-
plaining stock prices.

We also link the relative ex-
planatory power of cash and in-
come to a company’s life cycle.
This linkage highlights different
roles that each play at different
times. This knowledge provides
an advantage in analyzing infor-
mation for business decisions.

We must learn from the king in
the fable and not be deceived into
believing cash or income is an all-
encompassing, idyllic measure of
financial performance. Otherwise,
we are destined to be caught with
our pants down.

Chapter 1 introduced financial statements and discussed their importance for busi-
ness analysis. Financial statements are the products of a financial reporting process
governed by accounting rules and standards, managerial incentives, and enforcement
and monitoring mechanisms. It is important for us to understand the financial reporting
environment along with the objectives and concepts underlying the accounting in-
formation presented in financial statements. This knowledge enables us to better infer
the reality of a company’s financial position and performance. In this chapter we discuss
the concepts underlying financial reporting, with special emphasis on accounting rules.
We begin by describing the financial reporting environment. Then we discuss the pur-
pose of financial reporting—its objectives and how these objectives determine both the
quality of the accounting information and the principles and conventions that underlie
accounting rules. We also examine the relevance of accounting information for business
analysis and valuation, and we identify limitations of accounting information. We
conclude with a discussion of accruals—the cornerstone of modern accounting. This
includes an appraisal of accrual accounting in comparison with cash flow accounting
and the implications for financial statement analysis.
67
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Financial Statement Analysis

Financial Reporting and Analysis

Nature and Accruals— Introduction to
Reporting Purpose Cornerstone of The Concept of Fair Value Accounting
Environment of Accounting Accounting Income Accounting Analysis
Statutory financial Desirable qualities An illustration Economic concepts Understanding fair Need for
reports of accounting of income value accounting accounting
information Accrual analysis
Factors affecting accounting Accounting Measurement
statutory financial Principles of framework concept considerations Earnings
reports accounting of income management
Relevance and Analysis
Relevance and limitations of Analysis implications Process of
limitations of accrual implications accounting
accounting accounting analysis
Analysis
implications

»ausansREPORTING ENVIRONMENT

Statutory financial reports—primarily the financial statements—are the most important
product of the financial reporting environment. Information in financial statements is
judged relative to (1) the information needs of financial statement users and (2) alternative
sources of information such as economic and industry data, analyst reports, and voluntary
disclosures by managers. It is important to understand the factors that affect the nature and
content of financial reports to appreciate the financial accounting information reported in
them. The primary factors are accounting rules (GAAP), manager motivations, monitoring and
enforcement mechanisms, regulators, industry practices, and other information sources. We exam-
ine these and other components of the financial reporting environment in this section.

Statutory Financial Reports

Statutory financial reports are the most important part of the financial reporting
process. While we are familiar with financial statements—especially the annual report—
there are other important statutory financial reports that an analyst needs to review. We
examine three categories of these reports in this section: financial statements, earnings
announcements, and other statutory reports.

Financial Statements

We described the components of an annual report in Chapter 1. Strictly speaking, the an-
nual report is not a statutory document. It often serves to publicize a company’s products,
services, and achievements to its shareholders and others. The statutory equivalent to the
annual report is the Form 10-K, which public companies must file with the SEC. The
annual report includes most of the information in the Form 10-K. Still, because the Form
10-K usually contains relevant information beyond that in the annual report, it is good
practice to regularly procure a copy ofit. Both current and past Form 10-Ks—as well as other
regulatory filings—are downloadable from EDGAR at the SEC website [www.sec.gov].
Companies are also required to file a Form 10-Q quarterly with the SEC to report se-
lected financial information. It is important to refer to Form 10-Q for #mely information.
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Unfortunately, most companies release very condensed quarterly information, which limits
its value. When analyzing quarterly information, we need to recognize two crucial factors:

1. Seasonality. When examining trends, we must consider effects of seasonality.
For example, retail companies make much of their revenues and profits in the
fourth quarter of the calendar year. This means analysts often make comparisons
with the same quarter of the prior year.
2. Year-end adjustments. Companies often make adjustments (for example, ®ssssm=®=
inventory write-offs) in the final quarter. Many of these adjustments relate to the ~ AUDIT PRESS

entire year. This renders quarterly information less reliable for analysis purposes. A survey of CFOs found that
auditors challenged the
Earnings Annau”cements company’s financial results

in less than 40% of audits.
Annual and quarterly financial statements are made available to the public only after the ~ 0f the CFOs challenged,
financial statements are prepared and audited. This time lag usually spans one to six ~ Mostrefused toback
. . . . down—specifically, 25%

weeks. Yet companies almost always release key summary information to the public oersuaded the auditor to
earlier through an earnings announcement. An earnings announcement is made ;g0 to the practice in
available to traders on the stock exchange through the broad tape and is often reported  question, and 32%
in the financial press such as 7%e Wall Street Journal. Earnings announcements provide  convinced the auditor
key summary information about company position and performance for both quarterly ~that the results were
and annual periods. :T']nangztcea::ggg?oﬁf

While financial statements provide detailed information that is useful in analysis,  tpg augitor's approval.
research shows that much of the immediate stock price reaction to quarterly financial
information (at least earnings) occurs on the day of the earnings announcement instead
of when the full financial statements are released. This means an investor is unlikelyto === m= ==
profit by using summary information that was previously released. The detailed infor- ~ EARLY BIRDS
mation in financial statements can be analyzed to provide insights about a company’s ~ More companies are
performance and future prospects that are not available from summary information in ~ 'SStN¢ awarmingor
earnings announcements. earnings preaniounceinent

to avoid nasty negative

Recently, companies have focused investors’ attention on pro forma earnings in  gyrises when they report
their earnings announcements. Beginning with GAAP income from continuing opera-  bad-news eamings.
tions (excluding discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and changes in account-
ing principles), the additional transitory items (most notably, restructuring charges)
remaining in income from continuing operations are now routinely excluded in comput-
ing pro forma income. In addition, companies are also excluding expenses arising from
acquisitions, compensation expense in the form of stock options, income (losses) from
equity method investees, research and development expenditures, and others. Compa-
nies view the objective of this reformulation as providing the analyst community with an
earnings figure closer to “core” earnings, purged of transitory and nonoperating charges,
which should have the highest relevance for determining stock price.

Significant differences between GAAP and pro forma earnings are not uncommon.
For example, for the first three quarters of 2001, the 100 companies that make up the
NASDAQ 100 reported $82.3 billion in combined /sses to the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). For the same period, these companies reported $19.1 billion in
combined pryfits to shareholders via headline, “pro forma” earnings reports—a difference
0f $101.4 billion or more than $1 billion per company. (Source: John J. May, SmartStock
Investor.com, January 21, 2002.)

It is generally acknowledged that additional disclosures by management can help in-
vestors understand the core drivers of shareholder value. These provide insight into the
way companies analyze themselves and can be useful in identifying trends and predict-
ing future operating results. The general effect of pro forma earnings is purportedly to
eliminate transitory items to enhance year-to-year comparability. Although this might
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be justified on the basis that the resulting earnings have greater predictive ability, im-
portant information has been lost in the process. Accounting is beneficial in reporting
how effective management has been in its stewardship of invested capital. Asset write-
offs, liability accruals, and other charges that are eliminated in this process may reflect
the outcomes of poor investment decisions or poor management of corporate invested
capital. Investors should not blindly eliminate the information contained in nonrecur-
ring, or “noncore,” items by focusing solely on pro forma earnings. A systematic defini-
tion of operating earnings and a standard income statement format might offer helpful
clarification, but it should not be a substitute for the due diligence and thorough exam-
ination of the footnotes that constitute comprehensive financial statement analysis.

Other Statutory Reports

Beyond the financial statements, companies must file other reports with the SEC. Some
of the more important reports are the proxy statement, which must be sent along with
the notice of the annual shareholders’ meeting; Form 8-K, which must be filed to
report unusual circumstances such as an auditor change; and the prospectus, which
must accompany an application for an equity offering. Exhibit 2.1 lists many of the key
statutory reports and their content.

Exhibit 2.1 Key SEC Filings
EEEEEENR
Title Description Important Contents from Analysis Perspective
Form 10-K Annual report Audited annual financial statements and management
discussion and analysis.
Form 10-Q Quarterly report Quarterly financial statements and management
discussion and analysis.
Form 20-F Registration statement or annual ~ Reconciliation of reports using non-U.S. GAAP to one
report by foreign issuers using U.S. GAAP.
Form 8-K Current report Report filed within 15 days of the following events:

(1) change in management control; (2) acquisition
or disposition of major assets; (3) bankruptcy or
receivership; (4) auditor change; (5) director

resignation.
Regulation 14-A  Proxy statement Details of board of directors, managerial ownership,
managerial remuneration, and employee stock options.
Prospectus Audited financial statements, information about

proposed project or share issue.

Factors Affecting Statutory Financial Reports

The main component of financial statements (and many other statutory reports) is
financial accounting information. While much of financial accounting information is
determined by GAAP, other determinants are preparers (managers) and the monitor-
ing and enforcement mechanisms that ensure its quality and integrity.

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)

Financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which are the rules and
guidelines of financial accounting. These rules determine measurement and recognition
policies such as how assets are measured, when liabilities are incurred, when revenues
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and gains are recognized, and when expenses and losses are incurred. They also dictate
what information must be provided in the notes. Knowledge of these accounting prin-
ciples is essential for effective financial statement analysis.

In this book we will refer to two sets of GAAP: (1) the US GAAP, which refers to
rules and practices that are currently in use in the United States; and (2) IFRS, which
refers to rules and principles that are laid down by the International Accounting Standards
Board and adopted by the most of the countries outside the United States. There is a
great deal in common between these two forms of GAAP, but some significant differ-
ences do exist. Also, while US GAAP is very detailed with a many specific rules and reg-
ulations, IFRS tends to be more principle oriented with less detailed guidance.

US GAAP. Accounting standard setting in the United States is mainly the responsibility
of the private sector, with close ties to the accounting profession. The Financial Account-
ing Standards Board (FASB) currently serves as the standard-setting body in accounting.
The rules and guidelines issued by FASB are called Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SEAS). These standards, together with standards issued by standard-setting
bodies that existed before FASB, are the basis on which US GAAP is determined. In
addition to these standards, US GAAP also involves other pronouncements, opinions,
interpretations, and practice guidelines. Other bodies such as the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) also help define US GAAP. The FASB has recently codified accounting standards ~ FASB RAP

by topic area so that all the latest rules for a particular topic are available at one place. In Ehe_rap on F/|\S(I13 fmlln ‘
this book, we will sometimes refer to these codes and rarely to a particular SFAS. muasr:;ecsosstllr;crﬂleezh( a[)] ggz

The FASB has seven full-time members, who represent various zzzerest groups such as  (2) unrealistic and
investors, managers, accountants, and analysts. Before issuing a standard, the FASB is- confusing rules, (3) bias
sues a discussion memorandum for public comment. Written comments are filed with ~toward investors, not
the board, and oral comments can be voiced at public hearings that generally precede fmgig'te:n:e”tdo
the issuance of an Exposure Draft of the proposed standard. After further exposure and g0/ tandargs.
comment, the FASB usually issues a final version of an SE4S. It also sometimes issues
interpretations of pronouncements. Standard setting by the FASB is a political process,
with increasing participation by financial statement users. From an analysis viewpoint,
this political process often results in standards that are compromise solutions that fall
short of requiring the most relevant information.

While FASB determines the accounting standards, it has no legal authority to en-
force these standards. The legal authority to enforce US GAAP resides with the SEC. ~ CHIEF PAY
The SEC is an independent government agency that administers the Securities Acts of ~ "e annual salary of
1933 and 1934. These acts pertain to disclosures related to public security offerings. The 2:022\338 g})%rgtz)eoro
SEC plays a crucial role both in regulating information disclosure by companies with o
publicly traded securities and in monitoring and enforcing compliance with accepted
practices. The SEC can override, modify, or introduce accounting reporting and disclo-
sure requirements. It can be viewed as the final authority on financial reporting in the
United States. However, the SEC respects the accounting profession and understands
the difficulties in developing accepted accounting standards. Consequently, it has rarely i "
used its regulatory authority. However, it has become increasingly aggressive in modi- BuffIZttI\r:vnr]itSe[s);r?‘XTyﬁe Sa;_rgn
fying FASB standards. should be shamed by the

SHAME ON SEC

. . . . . . . . fact that they have long
International Financial Reporting Standards. International Financial Reporting Stan- let themselves be muscled

dards (IFRS) determine the GAAP in most countries outside the United States. These  py pysiness executives.”
standards are formulated by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Based in London, UK, the IASB is private sector body representing accountants and
other interested parties from different countries. Even though IFRS is not currently
mandated in the United States, we need to be aware of the growing influence of the
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RISKY MANAGERS
An executive-search firm
conducted profiles of more
than 1,400 managers of
large companies. The
results indicated that one
out of eight execs can be
termed high risk—they
believe the rules do not
apply to them, lack concern
for others, and rarely
possess feelings of guilt.

HOT SEAT

It's been a difficult

period for auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
and its clients—

some examples: Tyco
International Ltd.’s CEO
Dennis Kozlowski and CFO
Mark Swartz allegedly
looted millions from the
company. Software maker
MicroStrategy settled an
SEC suit alleging it had
violated accounting rules
and overstated its results.
Telecom giant Lucent
Technologies has been
under scrutiny for

its accounting practices.

Financial Statement Analysis

IFRS outside the United States. Financial analysts in the United States must have
knowledge of IFRS because of the increased internationalization of capital markets.

Unlike the US GAAP, the IFRS tends to be more principles based. This means that
IFRS tends to be more conceptual and provides less of a “cookbook” approach to im-
plementing accounting rules. The IFRS rules are not very different from US GAAP,
with a few exceptions. Also the FASB is currently involved in a joint project with the
IASB that aims to eventually eliminate all differences between the two sets of standards.
Even then, it is important for a financial analyst to understand key differences between
the two sets of GAAPs.

Like US GAAP, IFRS is also ruled by a set of pronouncements. These pronounce-
ments fall into two categories, those issued earlier by the International Accounting
Standards Board (prefixed with IASB) and later standards that are part of the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (prefixed with IFRS). We will occasionally refer to
these pronouncements.

Managers

Primary responsibility for fair and accurate financial reporting rests with managers.
Managers have ultimate control over the integrity of the accounting system and the
financial records that make up financial statements. Recognizing this fact, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 requires the CEO to personally certify the accuracy and the veracity
of the financial statements.

We know judgment is necessary in determining financial statement numbers. While
accounting standards reduce subjectivity and arbitrariness in these judgments, they do
not eliminate it. The exercise of managerial judgment arises both because accounting
standards often allow managers to choose among alternative accounting methods and
because of the estimation involved in arriving at accounting numbers.

Judgment in financial accounting involves managerial discretion. 1deally, this discre-
tion improves the economic content of accounting numbers by allowing managers to
exercise their skilled judgment and to communicate their private information through
their accounting choices and estimates. For example, a manager could decrease the
allowance for bad debts based on inside information such as the improved financial
status of a major customer. Still, in practice, too many managers abuse this discretion
to manage earnings and window-dress financial statements. This eznings management
can reduce the economic content of financial statements and can reduce confidence in
the reporting process. Identifying earnings management and making proper adjust-
ments to reported numbers are important tasks in financial statement analysis.

Managers also can indirectly affect financial reports through their collective influ-
ence on the standard-setting process. Managers are a powerful force in determining
accounting standards. Managers also provide a balancing force to the demands of users
in standard setting. While users focus on the benefits of a new standard or disclosure,
managers focus on its costs. Typically, managers oppose a standard that (1) decreases
reported earnings, (2) increases earnings volatility, or (3) discloses competitive informa-
tion about segments, products, or plans.

Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms

Monitoring and enforcement mechanisms ensure the reliability and integrity of finan-
cial reports. Some of these, such as the SEC, are set by fiat. Other mechanisms, such as
auditing, evolve over time. The importance of these mechanisms for the credibility and
survival of financial reporting cannot be overemphasized.
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Auditors. External auditing is an important mechanism to help ensure the quality and
reliability of financial statements. All public companies’ financial statements must be
audited by an independent certified public accountant (CPA). The product of an audit
is the auditor’s report, which is an integral part of financial statements. The centerpiece
of an audit report is the audit opinion. An auditor can (1) issue a clean opinion,
(2) issue one or more types of qualified opinions, or (3) disclaim expressing any opinion.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE AUDITOR

Your audit firm accepts a new audit engagement. How can you use financial statement
analysis in the audit of this new client?

Corporate Governance. Another important monitor of financial reports is corporate = mmmmu =
governance mechanisms within a company. Financial statements need approval by a ~ TWISTED BOARDS
company’s board of directors. Many companies appoint an audrt committee—a subcommit-  Some boards don't get it.
tee of the board—to oversee the financial reporting process. An audit committee is ~After all the recent concern
appointed by the board and is represented by both managers and outsiders. Audit com- mctehbzgrrzog?tgoi(;\;ig@tcheé
mittees are often entrusted with wide-ranging powers and responsibilities relating to financial services giant—
many aspects of the reporting process. This includes oversight of accounting methods,  gave an $8 million bonus
internal control procedures, and internal audits. Many believe that an independent and ~ to CEO Gary Wendt even
powerful audit committee is a crucial corporate governance feature that contributes ~ though he presided over
substantially to the quality of financial reports. Most companies also perform wzernal ?:Ity;]gnperé)vr;flljt:?vl\z(;léz[tser
audits, which are another defense against fraud and misrepresentation of financial '
records.

Securities and Exchange Commission. The SEC plays an active role in monitoring ®® === ==
and enforcing accounting standards. All public companies must file audited financial =~ TOP BOARDS
statements (10-Ks and 10-Qs) with the SEC. The SEC staff checks these reports to en-  Attributes of a good
sure compliance with statutory requirements, including adherence to accounting stan- ?oard include:

. . . ndependence—CEQ
dards. The SEC has brought enforcement actions against hundreds of companies over /& W e
the years for accounting violations. These violations range from misinterpretation of insiders and cross-
standards to outright fraud and falsification of accounts. Enforcement actions against directorships.
companies and their managers range from restatement of financial statements to fines ~ duality—Mestings include

and imprisonment. Recently, the SEC has been actively attempting to curb earnings 62 open debate. Appoint
directors familiar with

management. managers and the
Litigation. Another important monitor of managers (and auditors) is the threat of business.
Accountability—Directors

litigation. The amount of damages relating to accounting irregularities paid by com- q stakes in the company
panies, managers, and auditors in the past decade is estimated in the billions of dollars. and are willing to challenge
The threat of litigation influences managers to adopt more responsible reporting prac-  the CEO.

tices both for statutory and voluntary disclosures.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE DIRECTOR

You are named a director of a major company. Your lawyer warns you about litigation
risk and the need to constantly monitor both management and the financial health of
the company. How can financial statement analysis assist you in performing your
director duties?
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Alternative Information Sources

Financial statements have long been regarded as a major source of information for
users. However, financial statements increasingly compete with alternative sources of
information. One major source of alternative information is analysts’ forecasts and
recommendations. Another source is economic, industry, and company-specific news.
With continued development of the Internet, information availability for investors
will increase. In this section we discuss some of the major alternative information
sources: (1) economy, industry, and company news; (2) voluntary disclosures; and
(3) information intermediaries (analysts).

Economic, Industry, and Company Information. Investors use economic and industry
information to update company forecasts. Examples of macroeconomic news that
affects the entire stock market include data on economic growth, employment, foreign
trade, interest rates, and currency exchanges. The effects of economic information vary
across industries and companies based on the perceived exposure of an industry’s or a
company’s profits and risks to that news. Investors also respond to industry news
such as commodity price changes, industry sales data, changes in competitive position,
and government regulation. Moreover, company-specific information impacts user
behavior—examples are news of acquisitions, divestitures, management changes, and
auditor changes.

Voluntary Disclosure. Voluntary disclosure by managers is an increasingly important
source of information. One important catalyst for voluntary disclosure is the Safe
Harbor Rules. Those rules provide legal protection against genuine mistakes by man-
agers who make voluntary disclosures.

There are several motivations for voluntary disclosure. Probably the most impor-
tant motivation is /ega/ liability. Managers who voluntarily disclose important news,
especially of an adverse nature, have a lower probability of being sued by investors.
Another motivation is that of expectations adjustment. It suggests managers have
incentives to disclose information when they believe the market’s expectations are suf-
ficiently different from their own. Still another motivation is that of signaling, where
managers are said to disclose good news to increase their company’s stock price. A
more recent motivation advanced for voluntary disclosures is the intent to manage

[ expectations. Specifically, managers are said to manage market expectations of company
ANALYST REPORT performance so that they can regularly “beat” market expectations.

Supervisory analysts and Inf tion Int diari Inf . . diari I | .
compliance officers scour nrormation Iintermediaries. Information intermediaries, or analysts, play an important

every word of a Wall Street and unique role in financial reporting. On one hand, they represent a sophisticated and
investment research report. ~ active group of users. On the other hand, they constitute the single most important
source of alternative information. As such, standard setters usually respond to analysts’

- demands as well as the threat they pose as a competing source of information.

ANALYST BIAS? Information intermediaries represent an industry involved in collecting, processing,
Fvidence is mixed on interpreting, and disseminating information about the financial prospects of companies.
whether analysts’ forecasts This industry includes security analysts, investment newsletters, investment advisers,
tend to overestimate or and debt raters. Security analysts constitute the largest segment of information inter-
underestimate earnings. mediaries, which include both buy-side analysts and sell-side analysts. Buy-side analysts

I they overestimate, they are usually employed by investment companies or pension funds such as 7L4A4-CREFE,
risk alienating a company

and losing access. Ifthey %mgfwmi or Fz:zz’eIzZy. These analysts'do their analysi§ for in-house use. Sell-side analys:ts
underestimate, a company provide analysis and recommendations to the public for a fee (for example, /zlue Line
comes out looking good. and Standard & Poors) or privately to their clients (for example, analysts at Salomon
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Smith Barney and Charles Schwab). In short, sell-side analysts’ reports are used by
outsiders while buy-side analysts’ reports are used internally. Another large component
of information intermediaries includes investment newsletters such as Dow Theory
Forecasts and Smart Money. Credit rating agencies such as Moody’s also are information
intermediaries whose services are aimed at credit agencies.

Information intermediaries are not directly involved in making investment and
credit decisions. Instead, their objective is to provide information useful for those
decisions. Their outputs, or products, are forecasts, recommendations, and research
reports. Their inputs are financial statements, voluntary disclosures, and economic,
industry, and company news. Information intermediaries create value by processing
and synthesizing raw and diverse information about a company and output it in a form
useful for business decisions. They are viewed as performing one or more of at least
four functions:

1. Information gathering. This involves researching and gathering information
about companies that is not readily available.

2. Information interpretation. A crucial task of an intermediary is the interpre-
tation of information in an economically meaningful manner.

3. Prospective analysis. This is the final and most visible task of an information
intermediary—involving both business analysis and financial statement analysis.
The output includes earnings and cash flow forecasts.

4. Recommendation. Analysts also often make specific recommendations, such
as buy/hold/sell recommendations for stocks and bonds.

By providing timely information that is often of a prospective nature and readily
amenable to investment decision making, investment intermediaries perform an
important service. Arguably, the growth of information intermediaries has reduced the
importance of financial statements to capital markets. Still, information intermediaries
depend significantly on financial statements, while at the same time they view financial
statements as a competing information source.

NATURE AND PURPOSE OF
FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING

In this section we discuss the desirable qualities, principles, and conventions underlying

financial accounting. With this insight, we can evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of

accounting and its relevance to effective analysis and decision making.

Desirable Qualities of Accounting Information

Relevance is the capacity of information to affect a decision and is the first of two
primary qualities of accounting information. This implies that zzmeliness is a desirable
characteristic of accounting information. Interim (quarterly) financial reports are largely
motivated by timeliness.

Reliability is a second important quality of financial information. For information to
be reliable it must be verifiable, representationally faithful, and neutral. Versfiability
means the information is confirmable. Representational faithfulness means the informa-
tion reflects reality, and zeutrality means it is truthful and unbiased.

Accounting information often demands a trade-oft between relevance and reliability.
For example, reporting forecasts increase relevance but reduce reliability. Also, while

75

PHONY INFO
Regulators allege

that Merrill Lynch and
Citigroup’s Smith Barney
issued upbeat research to
win investment-banking
clients. Also under
investigation were CSFB
and Morgan Stanley.

EARNINGS SEER
According to a recent study,
1,025 of 6,000 companies
beat analysts’ earnings
forecasts in at least 9 of
the past 12 quarters.
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analysts’ forecasts are relevant, they are less reliable than actual figures based on histor-
ical data. Standard setters often struggle with this trade-off.

Comparability and consistency are secondary qualities of accounting information.
Comparability implies that information is measured in a similar manner across companies.
Consistency implies the same method is used for similar transactions across time. Both
comparability and consistency are required for information to be relevant and reliable.

Important Principles of Accounting

The desirable qualities of accounting information serve as conceptual criteria for
accounting principles. Skillful use of accounting numbers for financial analysis requires
an understanding of the accounting framework underlying their computation. This
includes the principles governing measurement of assets, liabilities, equity, revenues,
expenses, gains, and losses.

Accrual Accounting

Modern accounting adopts the accrual basis over the more primitive cash flow basis.
Under accrual accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses when
incurred, regardless of the receipt or payment of cash. The accrual basis is arguably the
most important, but also controversial, feature of modern accounting. We focus on
accrual accounting later in this chapter.

Historical Cost and Fair Value

Traditionally, accounting has used the /zszorical cost concept for measuring and record-
ing the value of assets and liabilities. Historical costs are values from actual transactions
that have occurred in the past, so historical cost accounting is also referred to as
transactions-based accounting. The advantage of historical cost accounting is that the
value of an asset determined through arm’s-length bargaining is usually fair and objec-
tive. However, when asset (or liability) values subsequently change, continuing to
record value at the historical cost—that is, at the value at which the asset was originally
purchased—impairs the usefulness of the financial statements, in particular the balance
sheet.

Recognizing the limitations of historical cost accounting, standard setters are in-
creasingly moving to an alternative form of recording asset (or liability) values based on
the concept of fz:r value. Broadly, fair values are estimates of the curvent economic value
of an asset or liability. If a market exists for the asset, it is the current market value of the
asset. Fair value accounting is currently being used to record the value of many financial
assets, such as marketable securities. However, the FASB has recognized the conceptual
superiority of the fair value concept and has, in principle, decided to eventually move to
a model where all asset and liability values are recorded at fair value. For the purposes
of analysis, it is crucially important to understand the exact nature of fair value
accounting, its current status and where it is heading, and also its advantages and limi-
tations both for credit and equity analysis. Acknowledging its importance, we devote an
entire section to fair value accounting later in this chapter.

Materiality

Materiality, according to the FASB, is “the magnitude of an omission or misstatement of
accounting information that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it possi-
ble that the judgment of a reasonable person relying on the information would be
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changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement.” One problem with materiality
is a concern that some preparers of financial statements and their auditors use it to
avoid unwanted disclosures. This is compounded by the fact there is no set criteria
guiding either the preparer or user of information in distinguishing between material
and nonmaterial items.

H EEEEEEN
Conservatism -
Conservatism involves reporting the least optimistic view when faced with uncertainty in - Recording revenues early
measurement. The most common occurrence of this concept is that gains are not rec- inflates short-run sales

ognized until they are realized (for example, appreciation in the value of land) whereas ~ and eamings. Industries
losses are recognized immediately. Conservatism reduces both the reliability and rele- /M SO:‘Nare sales and
vance of accounting information in at least two ways. First, conservatism understates zs:]\;lriiistsv;nzri;;\gg:s
both net assets and net income. A second point is that conservatism results in selec-  ¢an stretch revenue out
tively delayed recognition of good news in financial statements, while immediately  for years, are especially
recognizing bad news. Conservatism has important implications for analysis. If the  vulnerable to manipulation.
purpose of analysis is equity valuation, it is important to estimate the conservative bias
in financial reports and make suitable adjustments so that net assets and net income are
better measured. In the case of credit analysis, conservatism provides an additional mar-
gin of safety. Conservatism also is a determinant of earnings quality. While conservative
financial statements reduce earnings quality, many users (such as Warren Buffett) view
conservative accounting as a sign of superior earnings quality. This apparent contradic-
tion is explained by conservative accounting reflecting on the responsibility, depend-
ability, and credibility of management.
Academic research distinguishes between two types of conservatism. Unconditional
conservatism is a form of conservative accounting that is applied across the board in a
consistent manner. It leads to a perpetual understatement of asset values. An example of
unconditional conservatism is the accounting for R&D: R&D expenditures are written
off when incurred, regardless of their economic potential. Because of this, the net assets
of R&D-intensive companies are always understated. Conditional conservatism refers to
the adage of “recognize all losses immediately but recognize gains only after they are
realized” Examples of conditional conservatism are writing down assets—such as PP&E
or goodwill-when there has been an economic impairment in their value, that is,
reduction in their future cash-flow potential. In contrast, if the future cash flow poten-
tial of these assets increases, accountants do not immediately write up their values—the
financial statements only gradually reflect the increased cash flow potential over time as
and when the cash flows are realized. Of the two forms of conservative accounting,
unconditional conservatism is clearly more valuable to an analyst—especially a credit
analyst—because it conveys timely information about adverse changes in the company’s
underlying economic situation.

Relevance and Limitations of Accounting
Relevance of Financial Accounting Information

Accounting for business activities is imperfect and has limitations. It is easy to focus on
these imperfections and limitations. However, there is no comparable substitute. Finan-
cial accounting is and remains the only relevant and reliable system for recording, clas-
sifying, and summarizing business activities. Improvement rests with refinements in this
time-tested system. It is incumbent on anyone who desires to perform effective financial
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Analysis Research
EEEEEERN

Do summary accounting numbers
such as earnings (net income) ex-
plain a company’s stock prices and
returns? The answer is yes. Evi-
dence from research shows a defi-
nite link between the type of zews
or surprise conveyed in earnings
and a company’s stock returns.
Good earnings news (positive sur-
prise) is accompanied by positive
stock returns, whereas bad earnings
news (negative surprise) is associ-
ated with negative returns. The
more good or bad the earnings
news (ie., the greater the magni-
tude of the earnings surprise), the
greater is the accompanying stock
price reaction.

A substantial portion of the stock
returns associated with earnings
news occurs prior to the earnings
announcement, indicating that the

ACCOUNTING

AND STOCK PRICES

stock market is able to infer much of
the earnings news well before it is
announced. This evidence suggests
that accounting information, to a
large extent, plays a feedback role
wherein it confirms prior beliefs of
the market. Interestingly, stock re-
turns after the earnings announce-
ment also appear to be associated
with the earnings news. This phe-
nomenon, called the post-earnings
announcement drify, is arguably a form
of stock market inefficiency and is
exploited by several momentum-
based investing strategies.

Research shows us that many
factors influence the relationship be-
tween accounting earnings and
stock prices. These include company
factors such as risk, size, leverage,
and variability that decrease the in-
fluence of earnings on stock prices,

INFORMATION

and factors such as earnings growth
and persistence that increase their
impact. Our analysis must recognize
those influences that impact the rel-
evance of accounting numbers for
security analysis.

Research also shows the impor-
tance of earnings information to the
market has declined over time,
especially in the past two decades.
Some of the suggested reasons for
this decline are increased reporting
of losses, increased magnitude of
one-time charges and other special
items, and increased importance of
R&D and intangible assets. How-
ever, research reveals that while
the ability of earnings to explain
prices has declined over time, this
has been offset to a large extent
by the increasing importance of
book value.

analysis to understand accounting, its terminology, and its practices, including its
imperfections and limitations.

Exactly how relevant is financial accounting information for analysis? One way to
answer this question is to examine how well financial accounting numbers reflect or
explain stock prices. Exhibit 2.2 tracks the ability of earnings and book value to explain
stock prices, both separately and in combination, for a large cross-section of companies
over a recent 40-year period. The exhibit shows that earnings and book value
(combined) are able to explain between 50% and 75% of stock price behavior (except
for the late 1990s period—the dot-com bubble—when the explanatory power was quite

Exhibit 2.2

Relation between Accounting Numbers and Stock Prices*
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*Graphs depict the R-squared from a regression of stock price on earnings per share and/or book value for all firms available on
the Industrial, Full Coverage, and Research Compustat databases.
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low). This occurs even though the analysis stacks the deck against accounting numbers
in several ways. First, we do not control for many other factors that affect stock prices
such as interest rates. Second, we consider only two summary numbers—arguably the
two most important—from the wealth of information available in financial statements.
Finally, we impose an identical relation between accounting numbers and stock prices
across all companies—that is, we do not consider differences across companies such as
industry effects and expected growth rates.

Exhibit 2.2 does not establish causation. That is, we cannot establish the extent to
which accounting numbers directly determine stock prices. This is because of the pres-
ence of alternative information such as analyst forecasts and economic statistics used in
setting stock prices. Still, recall that one element of the relevance of accounting infor-
mation is feedback value for revising or confirming investor beliefs. At a minimum, this
analysis supports the feedback value of accounting information by revealing the strong
link between accounting numbers and stock prices.

Limitations of Financial Statement Information

Analyst forecasts, reports, and recommendations along with other alternative informa-
tion sources are a major competitor for accounting information. What are the advan-
tages offered by these alternative sources? We can identify at least three:

1. Timeliness. Financial statements are prepared as often as every quarter and are
typically released from three to six weeks after the quarter-end. In contrast, ana-
lysts update their forecasts and recommendations on a nearly real-time basis—as
soon as information about the company is available to them. Other alternative
information sources, such as economic, industry, or company news, are also
readily available in many forms including via the Internet.

2. Frequency. Closely linked to timeliness is frequency. Financial statements are
prepared periodically, typically each quarter. However, alternative information
sources, including analysts’ reports, are released to the market whenever busi-
ness events demand their revision.

3. Forward-looking. Alternative information sources, particularly analysts’ reports
and forecasts, use much forward-looking information. Financial statements con-
tain limited forecasts. Further, historical-cost-based accounting (and conser-
vatism) usually yields recognition lags, where certain business activities are
recorded at a lag. To illustrate, consider a company that signs a long-term con-
tract with a customer. An analyst will estimate the impact of this contract on
future earnings and firm value as soon as news about the signing is available.
Financial statements only recognize this contract in future periods when the
goods or services are delivered.

Despite these drawbacks, financial statements continue to be an important source of
information to financial markets.

=unsnssACCRUALS—CORNERSTONE
OF ACCOUNTING

Financial statements are primarily prepared on an accrual basis. Supporters strongly
believe that accrual accounting is superior to cash accounting, both for measuring per-
formance and financial condition. Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. I states
that “information about enterprise earnings based on accrual accounting generally
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provides a better indication of enterprises’ present and continuing ability to generate cash
flows than information limited to the financial aspects of cash receipts and payments.”

Accrual accounting invokes a similarly strong response from its detractors. For de-
tractors, accrual accounting is a medley of complex and imperfect rules that obscure
the purpose of financial statements—providing information about cash flows and cash-
generating capacity. For extreme critics, accrual accounting is a diversion, a red herring,
that undermines the process of information dissemination. These critics claim the
purpose of financial analysis is to remove the veil of accrual accounting and get to the
underlying cash flows. They are troubled by the intricacy of accruals and their suscep-
tibility to manipulation by managers.

This section presents a critical evaluation of accrual accounting. We discuss the rele-
vance and importance of accruals, their drawbacks and limitations, and the implications
of the accruals-versus-cash-flow debate for financial statement analysis. Our aim is not
to take sides in this debate. We believe that cash flows and accruals serve different
purposes and that both are important for financial analysis. Yet we caution against a
disregard of accruals. It is crucial for an analyst to understand accrual accounting for
effective financial analysis.

Accrual Accounting—An lllustration

We explain accrual accounting, and its differences from cash accounting, with an illus-
tration. Assume you decide to sell printed T-shirts for $10 each. Your research suggests
you can buy plain T-shirts for $5 apiece. Printing would entail a front-end, fixed fee of
$100 for the screen and another $0.75 per printed T-shirt. Your initial advertisement
yields orders for 100 T-shirts. You then invest $700 in the venture, purchase plain
T-shirts and the screen, and get the T-shirts printed (suppliers require you pay for all ex-
penses in cash). By the end of your first week in business, all T-shirts are ready for sale.
Customers with orders totaling 50 T-shirts pick up their T-shirts in that first week. But,
of the 50 T-shirts picked up, only 25 are paid for in cash. For the other 25, you agree to
accept payment next week. To evaluate the financial performance of your venture, you
prepare cash accounting records at the end of this first week.

Statement of Cash Flows Balance Sheet (Cash Basis)
Receipts Assets

T-shirt sales $250 Cash @
Payments

T-shirt purchases $500

Screen purchase 100 Equity

Printing charges 75 Beginning equity $700
Total payments (675) Less net cash outflow (425)
Net cash outflow $(425) Total equity $275

The cash accounting records indicate you lost money. This surprises you. Yet your cash
balance confirms the $425 cash loss. That is, you began with $700 and now have $275
cash—obviously, a net cash outflow of $425 occurred. Consequently, you reassess your
decision to pursue this venture. Namely, you had estimated cost per T-shirt as (assum-
ing sales of 100 T-shirts): $5 for plain T-shirt, $1 for the screen, and $0.75 cents for print-
ing. This yields your total cost of $6.75 per T-shirt. At a price of $10, you expected a
profit of $3.25 per T-shirt. Yet your accounts indicate you lost money.
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How can this be? After further analysis, you find the following problems with the
cash basis income statement and balance sheet:

1. You have not recognized any revenues from the 25 shirts that have been sold on
account (e.g., for which you have an account receivable).

2. You have treated all of the T-shirts purchased as an expense. Shouldn’t this cost
be matched with the revenues those T-shirts will produce when they are sold?

3. Likewise, you have treated all of the screen purchase and the T-shirt printing
charges as an expense. Shouldn’t this cost be matched ratably with the revenues
that the screen will help generate when those revenues are recognized?

Taking these factors into consideration reveals that you have actually made a profit of
$162.50 in your first week:

Income Statement Balance Sheet (Accrual Basis)

Revenues Assets

T-shirt sales $500.00 Cash $275.00
T-shirt inventory 337.50
Receivables 250.00

Expenses Total assets $862.50

T-shirt costs $250.00

Screen depreciation 50.00 Equity

Printing charges 37.50 Beginning equity $700.00

Total expenses (337.50) Add net income 162.50

Net income $162.50 Total equity $862.50

Your revenues now reflect all the T-shirt sales, even those for which payment has not
yet been made. In addition, since only one-half of the T-shirts have been sold, only the
cost of making the T-shirts sold is reflected as an expense, including the $250 of fabric
costs, $37.50 of printing costs, and $50 of the cost of the screen (even that may be too
high a percentage if we expect the screen to produce more than 100 T-shirts). Given the
profit we have recognized, equity also increases, suggesting that you could eventually
take away more than what you invested in the venture.

Both the accrual income statement and balance sheet make more sense to you than
recording under cash accounting. Nevertheless, you feel uncertain about the accrual num-
bers. They are less concrete than cash flows—that is, they depend on assumptions. For ex-
ample, you assumed that everyone who bought a T-shirt on credit is eventually going to
pay for them. If some customers don’t pay, then your net income (and balance sheet num-
bers) will change. Another assumption is that unsold T-shirts in inventory are worth their
cost. What is the basis for this assumption? If you can’t sell them, they are probably worth-
less. But if you sell them, they are worth $10 apiece. While the $6.75 cost per T-shirt seems
a reasonable compromise, you still are uncertain about this number’s reliability. Yet over-
all, while the accrual numbers are more “soft,” they make more sense than cash flows.

Accrual Accounting Framework
Accrual Concept

An appealing feature about cash flows is simplicity. Cash flows are easy to understand
and straightforward to compute. There also is something tangible and certain about
cash flows. They seem like the real thing—not the creation of accounting methods. But
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unfortunately, when it comes to measuring cash-generating capacity of a company,
cash flows are of limited use.

Most business transactions are on credit. Further, companies invest billions of dollars
in inventories and long-term assets, the benefits of which occur over many future
periods. In these scenarios, cash flow accounting (no matter how reliable it is) fails to
provide a relevant picture of a company’s financial condition and performance.

Accrual accounting aims to inform users about the consequences of business activities
for a company’s future cash flows as soon as possible with a reasonable level of certainty.
This is achieved by recognizing revenue earned and expenses incurred, regardless of
whether or not cash flows occur contemporaneously. This separation of revenue and
expense recognition from cash flows is facilitated with accrual adjustments, which adjust
cash inflows and cash outflows to yield revenues and expenses. Accrual adjustments are
recorded after making reasonable assumptions and estimates, without materially sacri-
ficing the reliability of accounting information. Accordingly, judgment is a key part of ac-
crual accounting, and rules and institutional mechanisms exist to ensure reliability.

The next section begins by defining the exact relationship between accruals and cash
flows. We show that accrual and cash accounting differ primarily because of timing dif-
ferences in recognizing cash flow consequences of business activities and events. We
then explain the accrual process of revenue and expense recognition and discuss two
types of accruals, short term and long term.

Accruals and Cash Flows. To explore the relation between accruals and cash flows to
the firm, it is important to recognize alternative types of cash flows. Operating cash flow
refers to cash from a company’s ongoing operating activities. Free cash flow to the firm re-
flects the added effects of investments and divestments in operating assets. The appeal of
the free cash flow to the firm concept is that it represents cash that is free to be paid to
both debt and equity holders. Free cash flow to equity, which we introduced in Chapter 1,
adds changes in the firm’s debt levels to free cash flow to the firm and, thereby, yields the
cash flows that are available for equity holders. When economists refer to cash flow, they
are usually referring to one of these free cash flow definitions, a convention we adopt in
this book. Bottom line cash flow is zef cash flow, the change in the cash account balance
(note that cash includes cash equivalents for all these definitions).

Strictly defined, accruals are the sum of accounting adjustments that make net in-
come different from net cash flow. These adjustments include those that affect income
when there is no cash flow impact (e.g., credit sales) and those that isolate cash flow
effects from income (e.g., asset purchases). Because of double entry, accruals affect the
balance sheet by either increasing or decreasing asset or liability accounts by an equal
amount. Namely, an accrual that increases (decreases) income will also either increase
(decrease) an asset or decrease (increase) a liability.

What is included in accruals depends on the definition of cash flow. The most com-
mon meaning of accruals is accounting adjustments that convert operating cash flow to
net income. This yields the following identity: Net income = Operating cash flow +
Accruals. Under this definition, accruals are of two types: short-term accruals, which are
related to working capital items, and long-term accruals, such as depreciation and amor-
tization. We discuss these two types of accruals later in this chapter. Note that this defini-
tion of accruals does not include accruals that arise through the process of capitalization
of costs related to property, plant, and equipment (PP&E) as long-term assets.

Accrual Accounting Reduces Timing and Matching Problems. The difference between
accrual accounting and cash accounting is one of timing and matching. Accrual



Chapter Two | Financial Reporting and Analysis (K]

accounting overcomes both the timing and the matching problems that are inherent in
cash accounting. Timing problems refer to cash flows that do not occur contemporane-
ously with the business activities yielding the cash flows. For example, a sale occurs in
the first quarter, but cash from the sale arrives in the second quarter. Mazching problems
refer to cash inflows and cash outflows that occur from a business activity but are not
matched in time with each other, such as fees received from consulting that are not
linked in time to wages paid to consultants working on the project.

Timing and matching problems with cash flows arise for at least two reasons. First,
our credit economy necessitates that transactions, more often than not, do not involve
immediate transfer of cash. Credit transactions reduce the ability of cash flows to track
business activities in a timely manner. Second, costs often are incurred before their ben-
efits are realized, especially when costs involve investments in plant and equipment.
Thus, measuring costs when cash outflows occur often fails to reflect financial condition
and performance.

Note that over the life of a company, cash flows and accrual income are equal. This is
because once all business activities are concluded, the timing and matching problems are
resolved. Yet, as economist John Maynard Keynes once remarked, “In the long run we
are all dead” This is meant to stress the importance of measuring financial condition and
performance in the short run, typically at periodic points over the life of a company. The
shorter these intervals, the more evident are the limitations of cash flow accounting.

Accrual Process—Revenue Recognition and Expense Matching. Accrual accounting is
comprised of two fundamental principles, revenue recognition and expense matching,
which guide companies on when to recognize revenues and expenses:

1. Revenue recognition. Revenues are recognized when both earned and either

realized or realizable. Revenues are earned when the company delivers its
products or services. This means the company has carried out its part of the deal.
Revenues are realized when cash is acquired for products or services delivered.
Revenues are realizable when the company receives an asset for products or
services delivered (often receivables) that is convertible to cash. Deciding when
revenues are recognized is sometimes difficult. While revenues are usually recog-
nized at point-of-sale (when delivered), they also can be recognized, depending on
the circumstances, when a product or service is being readied, when it is complete,
or when cash is received. We further discuss revenue recognition in Chapter 6.

2. Expense matching. Accrual accounting dictates that expenses are matched mmmmmm=
with their corresponding revenues. This matching process is different for two ~ SALES SCAM
major types of expenses. Expenses that arise in production of a product or ser-  McKesson HBOC's stock
vice, called product costs, are recognized when the product or service is delivered. price fell by nearly half
All product costs remain on the balance sheet as inventory until the products are men” ézzdr::;ltﬁf:l':ore
sold, at which time they are transferred into the income statement as cost of goods a0 o0

sold (COGS). The other type of expenses is called period costs. Some period costs ot in fact, realized. One

relate to marketing the product or service and are matched with revenues when warning sign: Operating
the revenues to which they relate are recognized. Other period costs, such as ad-  cash flow fell early and
ministrative expenses, do not directly relate to production or sale of products or !l below earings.
services. They are expensed in the period they occur, which is not necessarily

when cash outflows occur. We further discuss matching criteria in Chapter 6.

Short- and Long-Term Accruals. Short-term accruals refer to short-term timing differ-
ences between income and cash flow. These accruals generate working capital items in
the balance sheet (current assets and current liabilities) and are also called working
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capital accruals. Short-term accruals arise primarily from inventories and credit transac-
tions that give rise to all types of receivables and payables such as trade debtors and
creditors, prepaid expenses, and advances received. Long-term accruals arise from capi-
talization. Asset caprtalization is the process of deferring costs incurred in the current
period whose benefits are expected in future periods. This process generates long-term
assets such as plant, machinery, and goodwill. Costs of these assets are allocated over
their benefit periods and make up a large part of long-term accruals—we provide further
discussion in Chapter 4. Accounting for long-term accruals is more complex and sub-
jective than that for short-term accruals (with the possible exception of inventories).
Cash flow implications of short-term accruals are more direct and readily determinable.
Accordingly, analysis research finds short-term accruals more useful in company valua-
tion (see Dechow, 1994).

Relevance and Limitations of Accrual Accounting

This section gives a critical appraisal of the effects accrual accounting has on financial
statements. We then discuss the conceptual and empirical strengths and weaknesses of
accrual accounting relative to cash accounting for measuring performance and predict-
ing future cash flows.

Relevance of Accrual Accounting

Conceptual Relevance of Accrual Accounting. The conceptual superiority of accrual
accounting over cash flows arises because the accrual-based income statement
(and balance sheet) is more relevant for measuring a company’s present and future
cash-generating capacity. Both short-term and long-term accruals are important for
the relevance of income vis-a-vis cash flows as described here:

* Relevance of short-term accruals. Short-term accruals improve the relevance
of accounting by helping record revenues when earned and expenses when
incurred. These accruals yield an income number that better reflects profitability
and also creates current assets and current liabilities that provide useful informa-
tion about financial condition.

* Relevance of long-term accruals. To see the import of long-term accruals, note
that free cash flow to the firm is computed by subtracting investments in long-term
operating assets from operating cash flow. Such investments pose problems for free
cash flow. First, these investments are usually large and occur infrequently. This in-
duces volatility in free cash flow. Second, free cash flow treats capital growth and
capital replacement synonymously. Investments in new projects often bode well
for a company and the market usually reacts positively to such capital expendi-
tures. Yet all capital expenditures reduce free cash flow. This problem with free
cash flow is evident from typical patterns of operating and investing cash flows,
and their sum, free cash flows to the firm, over a company’s life cycle as shown in
Exhibit 2.3. Investing cash flows are negative until late maturity, and these outflows
dominate operating cash inflows during most of the growth phase. This means free
cash flow tends to be negative until the company’s business matures. In late matu-
rity and decline, a company divests its assets, generating positive investing cash
flows and, hence, positive free cash flow. This means free cash flow is negative in
the growth stage but positive in the decline stage, sending a reverse message about
a company’s prospects. Operating cash flows are not affected by operating invest-
ments as they ignore them.
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Cash Flows and Income over a Company’s Life Cycle

Free Cash Flows

Operating to the Firm

Cash Flows

........

Investing Cash Flows

Exhibit 2.3

Accrual accounting overcomes these limitations in free cash flow by capitalizing
investments in long-term assets and allocating their costs over future benefit periods.
This process of capitalization and allocation improves the relevance of income both
by reducing its volatility and by matching costs of long-term investments to their bene-
fits. The superiority of accruals in providing relevant information about a company’s
financial performance and condition, and for predicting future cash flows, is explained
as follows:

¢ Financial performance. Revenue recognition and expense matching yields an in-
come number superior to cash flows for evaluating financial performance. Revenue
recognition ensures all revenues earned in a period are accounted for. Matching en-
sures that only expenses attributable to revenues earned in a period are recorded.

¢ Financial condition. Accrual accounting produces a balance sheet that more
accurately reflects the level of resources available to the company to generate
future cash flows.

¢ Predicting future cash flows. Accrual income is a superior predictor of future
cash flows than are current cash flows for at least two reasons. First, through rev-
enue recognition, it reflects future cash flow consequences. For example, a credit
sale today forecasts cash to be received from the customer in the future. Second,
accrual accounting better aligns inflows and outflows over time through the
matching process. This means income is a more stable and dependable predictor
of cash flows.

Empirical Relevance of Accrual Accounting. Critics of accrual accounting decry its
lower reliability and prefer reliable cash flows. Supporters assert the added relevance of
accrual accounting compensates for lower reliability. They also point to institutional
mechanisms, such as GAAP and auditing, that ensure at least a minimum acceptable
reliability. To see whether accrual accounting works, let’s examine how well accrual
income and cash flows measure a company’s financial performance.

To examine this question, consider these two retailers, Wal-Mart and Kmart.
Exhibit 2.4 shows split-adjusted per-share stock price, net income, and free cash flow
numbers for both companies over the 10-year period 1989-1998. Wal-Mart and Kmart

SALES WATCH

If accounts receivables are
rising faster than sales,
special scrutiny is
warranted.

CASH WATCH

A company posting strong
income growth but negative
or low operating cash flow
warrants special scrutiny.
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Exhibit 2.4 Comparison of Stock Price, Net Income, and Free Cash Flow—Wal-Mart and Kmart

Fiscal year 1989 1980 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

Wal-Mart

Stock price 4.22 5.33 8.25 1347 1628 1325 11.44 10.19 11.87 19.91
Net income 0.18 0.24 0.28 0.35 0.44 0.51 0.58 0.60 0.67 0.78
Free cash flow 0.04  (0.01) (0.05) (0.17) (0.48) (0.50) (0.19) (0.21) 0.84  0.60
Kmart

Stock price 1894 16.62 1550 2450 2325 19.63 13.63 588 11.13 11.00
Net income 2.00 0.81 1.89 2.02 207 (213) 0.64 (1.24) (0.45) 0.51

Free cash flow 176 (226) 020 (0.47) (2.15) 1.29 2.71 0.48 061 1.35

All figures are split-adjusted dollars per share from Compustat.

present an interesting contrast for this period. Wal-Mart is a growth company that has
seen its market capitalization grow fivefold in this period. Kmart is arguably in decline
and has experienced a 60% fall in market capitalization from 1994 to 1998. Since 1994,
Kmart has struggled to restructure and focus its business, mainly through divesting
unprofitable divisions.

Wal-Mart’s income pattern is striking—the company’s net income per share has
grown fourfold in these 10 years, with a minimum growth of 10% each year. This
growth pattern in net income is consistent with Wal-Mart’s underlying business perfor-
mance as reflected in its stock price. In contrast, Kmart’s net income per share peaked
in 1993 and has declined since. The net income pattern reflects the underlying eco-
nomics of Kmart’s business, especially the reversal of fortunes since 1994.

Unlike net income, free cash flow is not informative about either company’s activi-
ties. Wal-Mart’s free cash flow is markedly negative between 1990 and 1996, a period
when its market capitalization doubled. From 1997, however, its free cash flow in-
creased. The free cash flow of Kmart reveals an even more perverse relation between its
performance and stock prices. Kmart’s free cash flow is negative in three out of four years
from 1990 to 1993, a period in which Kmart’s stock increased almost 50%. However,
since 1994, Kmart’s free cash flow is consistently positive, while its market capitalization
decreased 60%. Free cash flow appears to be a reverse indicator of performance: when
free cash flow is negative, Kmart is profitable and growing; but when free cash flow
turns positive, Kmart is in decline or growth is slowing.

What drives the reverse relation between free cash flow and performance for both
Wal-Mart and Kmart? For an answer we need to look back at Exhibit 2.3 and the related
discussion on cash flow patterns over a company’s life cycle. Wal-Mart is probably near-
ing the end of'its growth cycle and is entering maturity. Until recently, it generated neg-
ative free cash flow as it consistently spent more cash on growth than it was earning
from operations. Wal-Mart’s free cash flow surged in recent years both because its
growth cooled and because its earlier investments are now yielding operating cash
flows. Notice that Wal-Mart’s cash flow patterns are consistent with the life-cycle
model for a company transitioning from growth to maturity. In contrast, Kmart is prob-
ably in decline. As predicted by the life-cycle model. Kmart’s investing cash flows since
1994 are positive, reflecting its downsizing as it sells assets. Cash flows generated from
Kmart’s divestments yield large positive free cash flow, even though its operating cash
flows decline during this period.
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To appreciate the limitation of free cash flow and the power of accrual income to
measure financial performance, try to predict the performance of both Wal-Mart and
Kmart using the pattern in net income and free cash flow for this period. For Wal-Mart,
free cash flow portrays a dismal company-one that, until recently, bled cash. On the
other hand, Wal-Mart’s net income series shows a picture of consistent growth and
profitability. Turning to Kmart, free cash flow reveals a marked upturn in business with
positive free cash flow since 1994. Yet Kmart’s net income series suggests looming
financial difficulties for the past five years. Which measure, accrual income or free cash
flow, better reflects reality? Which measure would have been more useful to you as an
equity investor in predicting stock prices? To answer these questions, compare these
performance measures to the companies’ actual stock prices over this period. This
comparison shows the power of net income in tracking stock prices relative to free
cash flow.

While this example is dated and Kmart is no longer a retail company, this example
adequately serves to illustrate the advantages of accrual-based income numbers.

One case does not make a rule. Could the Kmart and Wal-Mart cases be unique in
that free cash flow is otherwise superior to net income as a value indicator? To pursue
this question, let’s look at the relation between alternative income and cash flow
measures with stock prices for a large sample of firms for a recent 10-year period. This
evidence is shown in Exhibit 2.5. Here we see measures of R-squared that reflect the
ability of performance measures in explaining stock prices. Note that both income
measures (NI and NIBX) are better than either operating cash flow (OCF) or free cash
flow (FCF) in explaining stock prices. Also, net cash flow (change in cash balance) is
entirely uninformative.
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Relation between Stock Prices and Various Income and Cash Flow Measures
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Analysis using 7,338 firms for the period 1993-2003 from Compustat. Graph depicts R-squared of regressions between end-of-
period price and various cash flow and income measures. NIBX = Net income before extraordinary items and discontinued
operations; NI = Net income; OCF = Operating cash flow; FCF = Free cash flow; NCF = Net cash flow (change in cash).

Exhibit 2.5

A main difference between accrual accounting and cash flow accounting is timeli-
ness in recognizing business activities. Accrual income recognizes the effects of most
business activities in a more timely manner. For evidence of this, let’s look at the rela-
tion between stock returns, net income, and operating cash flow over different time
horizons. If we assume stock prices impound the effects of business activities in a timely
manner, then the relation between stock returns and alternative performance measures
reflects on the timeliness of these measures. Exhibit 2.6 shows evidence of the ability of
net income and operating cash flow to explain stock returns over quarterly, annual, and
four-year horizons. Net income dominates operating cash flows over all horizons.
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Exhibit 2.6

Relation between Stock Returns and Both Net Income (NI) and Operating Cash Flow
(OCF) for Different Time Horizons
45
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Source: Dechow, P. M., Journal of Accounting and Economics 18, 1994.

While net income’s timeliness is less impressive for shorter horizons, its superiority over
operating cash flow is maintained. Operating cash flow’s ability to explain stock returns
over short horizons (quarterly and annual) is especially poor. This evidence supports
the notion that accrual income reflects the effects of business activities in a more timely
manner than do cash flows.

Analysis Implications of Accrual Accounting

Accrual accounting is ingrained in modern business. Wall Street focuses on accrual in-
come, not cash flows. We know that accrual accounting is superior to cash accounting
in measuring performance and financial condition, and in forecasting future cash flows.
Still, accrual accounting has limitations. Consequently, should accrual accounting num-
bers always be used in business analysis and valuation, or should they sometimes be
abandoned in favor of hard cash flows? If accrual accounting is used, how does one deal
with its limitations? What is the role of cash flows in a world of accrual accounting?
This section provides some answers to these questions. We begin with the myths and
truths of both accrual and cash accounting. Then we discuss the role of accruals and
cash flows in financial statement analysis.

Myths and Truths about Accruals and Cash Flows

Several assertions exist regarding accruals and cash flows—both positive and negative.
It is important for an analyst to know which assertions are true and which are not.

Accruals and Cash Flows—Myths. There are several myths and misconceptions about
accrual accounting, income, and cash flow:

o Myth: Because company value depends on_future cash flows, only current cash_flows are
relevant for valuation. Even if we accept that company value depends only on future
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cash flows, there is no reason to necessarily link current cash flows with future cash
flows. We already showed that current income is a better predictor of future cash
flows than is current cash flow. We also showed that income better explains stock
prices than does cash flow.

o Myth: A/ cash flows are value relevant. Many types of cash flows do not affect com-
pany value—for example, cash collected from customers on account. Also, certain
types of cash flows are negatively related to company value—for example, capital
expenditures reduce free cash flow but usually increase company value. Exhibit 2.7
provides additional examples.
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Effects of Transactions on Income, Free Cash Flow, and Company Value Exhibit 2.7
EEEEEENR
Income Free Cash Company Value Effect
Transaction Effect Flow Effect (Present Value of Future Dividends)
Sales on credit Increase Nil Increase
Cash collections on credit sales Nil Increase Nil
Inventory markdowns Decrease Nil Decrease
Change depreciation from
straight-line to declining balance Decrease Nil Nil
Cash purchase of plant asset Nil Decrease Nil*

*If the plant asset produces a return on investment in excess of the cost of capital it will increase company value.

o Myth: A/ accrual accounting adjustments are value irrelevant. It is true that “cosmetic”
accounting adjustments such as alternative accounting methods for the same un-
derlying business activity do not yield different valuations. However, not all ac-
counting adjustments are cosmetic. A main goal of accrual accounting is to make
adjustments for transactions that have future cash flow implications, even when no
cash inflows or cash outflows occur contemporaneously—an example is a credit sale
as shown in Exhibit 2.7.

* Myth: Cash flows cannot be manipulated. Not only is this statement false, it is proba-
bly easier to manipulate cash flow than to manipulate income. For example, cash
flows can be increased by delaying either capital expenditures or the payment of
expenses, or by accelerating cash collections from customers.

o Myth: Al income s manipulated. Some managers do manage income, and the
frequency of this practice may be increasing. However, SEC enforcement actions
targeted at fraudulent financial reporting and restatements of previously issued
financial statements affect a small percentage of publicly traded companies.

o Myth: I# 5 impossible to consistently manage income upward in the long run. Some users
assert it is impossible to manage income upward year after year because accounting
rules dictate that accruals eventually reverse; that is, accrual accounting and cash
accounting coincide in the long run. Still, most companies can aggressively manage
income upward for several years at a time. Further, a growth company can manage
income upward for an even longer period because current period upward adjust-
ments likely exceed the reversal of smaller adjustments from prior years. Also, some
companies take a “big bath” when they experience a bad period to recognize delayed
expenses or aggressively record future expenses. This enables a company to more
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Analysis Research
EEEEEEN

RELATIVE PERFORMANCE OF

CASH FLOWS AND ACCRUALS

The relative ability of cash flows and
accruals in providing value-relevant
information is the focus of much
research. One line of research ad-
dresses this issue by examining the
relative ability of cash flows and ac-
cruals in explaining stock returns,
under the assumption that stock
price is the best indicator of a com-
pany’s intrinsic value. Evidence re-
veals that both operating cash flows
and accruals provide incremental
value-relevant information. Yet net
income (which is the sum of accru-
als and operating cash flows) is
superior to operating cash flows in
explaining stock returns. The superi-
ority of income is especially evident
for short horizons; recall that the dif-
ference between income and cash
flows is mainly timing and, thus,
over long horizons—say, five or more
years—income and operating cash
flows tend to converge. Operating
cash flows tend to perform poorly

for companies where the timing and
matching problems of cash flows are
more pronounced.

The use of stock price as an indi-
cator of intrinsic value is questioned
by recent evidence that the market
might be attaching more weight
than warranted to the accrual com-
ponent of income, possibly because
of a_fixation on bottom line income.
This evidence indicates that operat-
ing cash flows are more persistent
than accruals and that the market
overestimates the ability of accruals
to predict future profitability. That
is, abnormal returns can be earned
from a strategy of buying stocks of
companies with the lowest accruals
and shorting those with the highest
accruals.

Research also shows income is
superior to operating cash flow in
predicting future income. However,
evidence relating to the relative abil-
ity of income and operating cash

flow in predicting future cash flow
is mixed. While operating cash flow
is superior to income in predicting
operating cash flow, especially over
the short run, both income and
operating cash flow are useful in
this task. This research also reveals
the usefulness of investing and
financing cash flows for prediction
purposes.

In sum, while the preponderance
of research shows the superiority of
accruals over cash flows in provid-
ing value-relevant information, bot/
accruals and cash flows are incre-
mentally useful. This suggests that
accruals income and cash flow
should be viewed as complements
rather than substitutes. Research
also shows that the relative impor-
tance of accruals and cash flows
depends on characteristics such as
industry membership, operating
cycle, and the point in a company’s
life cycle.

easily manage income upward in future periods because of fewer reversals from prior
accruals.

Accruals and Cash Flows—Truths. Logic and evidence point to several notable truths
about accrual accounting, income, and cash flow:

o Truth: Accrual accounting (income) is more relevant than cash flow. Both conceptually
and practically, accrual income is more relevant than cash flow in measuring
financial condition and performance and in valuation. Note that this statement
does not challenge the obvious relevance of future cash flows. Instead, it points out
that curvent cash flow is less relevant than current income.

o Truth: Cash_flows are more reliable than accruals. This statement is true and it sug-
gests cash flows can and do play an important complementary role with accruals.
However, extreme statements, such as “cash flows cannot be manipulated,” are
untrue. When analyzing cash flows, we also must remember they are more volatile
than income.

o Truth: Accrual accounting numbers are subject to accounting distortions. The existence
of alternative accounting methods along with earnings management reduces
both comparability and consistency of accrual accounting numbers. Also, arbitrary
accounting rules and estimation errors can yield accounting distortions. A financial
analysis or valuation that ignores these facts, and accounting adjustments, is likely
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to produce erroneous results. For example, a valuation method that simply uses
price-to-earnings ratios computed using reported income is less effective.

o Truth: Company value can be determined by using accrual accounting numbers. Some in-
dividuals wrongly state that value is determined oz/y on the basis of discounted
cash flows. Chapter 1 showed that we also can determine value as the sum of
current book value and discounted future residual income.

Should We Forsake Accruals for Cash Flows?

Some advocate abandoning valuation models based on accrual income in favor of a
cash flow model. Often underlying this position is an attitude that accrual accounting
is unscientific and irrelevant. Cash, as they say, is king. Yet this is an attitude of
extremism.

We know accrual accounting is imperfect, and that arbitrary rules, estimation errors,
and earnings management distort its usefulness. We also know that accrual accounting
is better than cash flows in many respects—it is conceptually superior and works practi-
cally. Consequently, abandoning accrual accounting because of its limitations and fo-
cusing only on cash flows is throwing the baby out with the bath water. There is an
enormous amount of valuable information in accrual accounting numbers.

This book takes a constructive view toward accrual accounting. That is, despite its
quirks, it is useful and important for financial analysis. Our approach to analysis is to
be aware of the limitations in accrual accounting and to evaluate and adjust reported
numbers in financial statements through a process of accounting analysis. By this
process an analyst is able to exploit the richness of accrual accounting and, at the same
time, reduce its distortions and limitations. Cash flows also are important for analysis.
They provide a reliability check on accrual accounting—income that consistently devi-
ates from cash flows is usually of lower quality. Also, as we note in Chapter 1, analy-
sis of the sources and uses of funds (or cash flows) is crucial for effective financial
analysis.

«ausuasGCONCEPT OF INCOME

The previous section explained accrual accounting and its superiority to cash-basis ac-
counting. Crucial to accrual accounting is the concept of income and its distinction from
cash flow. Income (also referred to as earnings or profit) summarizes, in financial
terms, the net effects of a business’s operations during a given time period. It is the most
demanded piece of company information by the financial markets. Determining and ex-
plaining a business’s income for a period is the main purpose of the income statement.
Conceptually, income purports to provide both a measure of the change in stockhold-
ers’ wealth during a period and an estimate of a business’s current profitability, that is,
the extent to which the business is able to cover its costs of operations and earn a return
for its shareholders. Understanding this dual role of income is important for analysis. In
particular the latter role of income, that is, indicator of firm profitability, is of crucial im-
portance to an analyst because it aids in estimating the future earning potential of the
business, which arguably is one of the most important tasks in business analysis.
Accounting, or reported, income is different from economic income. This is because
accountants use different criteria to determine income. To illustrate this point, consider
a company with $100,000 in cash. This company uses the $100,000 to buy a condo-
minium, which it rents out for $12,000 per year. At the end of the first year the



92 Financial Statement Analysis

company still owns the condo, which is valued at $125,000. Let’s begin our analysis by
determining various cash flow measures. Free cash flow for the year is $(88,000), while
operating cash flow is $12,000. Does either of these measures indicate how much the
shareholders earned during the period? No. For that we need to determine income.
First, let us compute economic income. Economic income measures the change in share-
holders’ wealth during a period. Obviously the $12,000 in rental income increased
shareholders’ wealth. In addition, the condo appreciated by $25,000 during the year,
which also increased shareholders’ wealth. Therefore, economic income for the year is
$37,000 (rental income, $12,000, plus holding gain, $25,000). Accounting income, which
is based on accrual accounting, depends on the depreciation policy for the condo-
minium. Namely, if the condominium’s useful life is 50 years and its salvage value is
$75,000, then yearly straight-line depreciation for the year is $500 [computed as
($100,000 — $75,000)/50 years]. This yields an accounting income of $11,500 (rental
income of $12,000 less $500 depreciation) for the year. This illustration shows that
economic income differs from accounting income, and both differ from the cash flow
measures.

We might also notice that the $37,000 economic income is probably not sustainable.
That is, we can’t count on a 25% annual appreciation in the condominium’s value year
after year. This implies the economic income of $37,000 is less useful for forecasting fu-
ture earnings. Accounting income of $11,500—at least in this case—is probably closer to
permanent or sustainable income, which would help us estimate future earnings. How-
ever, while the $25,000 holding gain cannot be sustained, note that it is not entirely
useless for forecasting future income; if the $25,000 increase in the condo value is per-
manent (ie., the condominium value is not expected to immediately revert back to
$100,000), then it is reasonable to assume that returns from owning the condo (i.e.,
rental income) might increase in the future.

Understanding alternative income concepts and relating these concepts to account-
ing income is helpful in business analysis. A major task in financial statement analysis is
evaluating and making necessary adjustments to income to improve its ability to reflect
business performance and forecast future earnings. In this section, we discuss alternative
concepts of income, in particular, permanent income and economic income. Then
we discuss accounting income, relate it to the alternative income concepts, and describe
the analysis implications.

Economic Concepts of Income
Economic Income

Economic income is typically determined as cash flow during the period plus the
change in the present value of expected future cash flows, typically represented by
the change in the market value of the business’s net assets. Under this definition, income
includes both realized (cash flow) and unrealized (holding gain or loss) components.
This concept of income is similar to how we measure the return on a security or a
portfolio of securities—that is, return includes both dividends and capital appreciation.
Economic income measures ¢zange in shareholder value. As such, economic income is
useful when the objective of analysis is determining the exact return to the shareholder
for the period. In a sense, economic income is the bottom-line indicator of company
performance—measuring the financial effects of all events for the period in a compre-
hensive manner. However, because of its comprehensive nature, economic income
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includes both recurring and nonrecurring components and is therefore less useful for
forecasting future earnings potential.

Permanent Income

Permanent income (also called sustainable income or recurring income) is the stable av-
erage income that a business is expected to earn over its life, given the current state of
its business conditions. Permanent income reflects a long-term focus. Because of this,
permanent income is conceptually similar to sustaznable earning power, which is an im-
portant concept for both equity valuation and credit analysis. Benjamin Graham, the
mentor of investing guru Warren Buffett and the father of fundamental analysis, main-
tained that the single most important indicator of a company’s value is its sustainable
earning power. Unlike economic income, which measures c4ange in company value,
permanent income is directly proportional to company value. In particular, for a going
concern, company value can be expressed by dividing permanent income by the cost of
capital. Because of this relation, determining a company’s permanent income is a major
quest for many analysts. However, although permanent income has a long-term con-
notation, it can change whenever the long-term earnings prospects of a company are
altered.

Operating Income

An alternative concept is that of operating income, which refers to income that arises
from a company’s operating activities. Finance textbooks often refer to this income
measure as zet operating profit after tax (NOPAT). The key feature of operating income
is that it excludes all expenses (or income) that arises from the business’s financing ac-
trvitzes (i.e., the treasury function), such interest expense and investment income, which
collectively are called nonoperating income. Operating income is an important con-
cept in valuation its importance arises from the goal of corporate finance to separate the
operating activities of the business from the financing (or treasury) activities. Concep-
tually, operating income is a distinctly different concept to that of permanent income;
operating income may include certain nonrecurring components such as restructuring
charges, while recurring components such as interest expense are excluded from oper-
ating income.

Accounting Concept of Income

Accounting income (or reported income) is based on the concept of accrual ac-
counting. While accounting income does reflect aspects of both economic income and
permanent income, it does not purport to measure either income concept. Also, ac-
counting income suffers from measurement problems that reduce its ability to reflect
economic reality. Consequently, a major task in financial statement analysis is adjusting
accounting income to better reflect alternative economic concepts of income. This sec-
tion describes the process by which accountants determine income. It then discusses
analysis implications, including conceptual approaches to adjusting income for analysis
purposes.

Revenue Recognition and Matching

A main purpose of accrual accounting is income measurement. The two major
processes in income measurement are revenue recognition and expense matching.
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Revenue recognition is the starting point of income measurement. The two necessary
conditions for recognition are that revenues must be:

* Realized or realizable. For revenue to be recognized, a company should have
received cash or a reliable commitment to remit cash, such as a valid receivable.

e Earned. The company must have completed all of its obligations to the buyer;
that is, the earning process must be complete.

Once revenues are recognized, related costs are matched with recognized revenues to
yield income. Note that an expense is incurred when the related economic event occurs,
not necessarily when the cash outflow occurs.

Accounting versus Economic Income

Conceptually, accrual accounting converts cash flow to a measure of income. Recall
that economic income differs from cash flow because it includes not only current cash
flows but also changes in the present value of future cash flows. Similarly, recall that ac-
crual accounting attempts to obtain an income measure that considers not only current
cash flow but also future cash flow implications of current transactions. For example,
accrual accounting recognizes future cash flows of credit sales by reporting revenue
when the sale is consummated and before cash is received. In some respects, therefore,
there is some similarity between accounting measures of income and economic income.
However, accounting income does not purport to measure either economic or perma-
nent income. Rather, it is based on a set of rules that have evolved over a long period of
time to cater to several, often conflicting, objectives. It is a product of the financial
reporting environment that involves accounting standards, enforcement mechanisms,
and managers’ incentives. It is governed by accounting rules, many of which are eco-
nomically appealing and some of which are not. These rules often require estimates,
giving rise to differential treatment of similar economic transactions and allowing
opportunities for managers to window-dress numbers for personal gain. For all these
reasons, accounting income can diverge from economic income concepts.
Some reasons accounting income differs from economic income include:

¢ Alternative income concepts. The concept of economic income is very differ-
ent from the concept of permanent income. Accounting standard setters are faced
with a dilemma involving which concept to emphasize. While this problem is
partially resolved by reporting alternative measures of income (which we discuss
subsequently in Chapter 6), this dilemma sometimes results in inconsistent
measurement of accounting income. Some standards, for example, SE4S 87 on
pensions, adopt the permanent income concept, while other standards, for exam-
ple, SEAS 115 on marketable securities, adopt the economic income concept.
Historical cost. The historical cost basis of income measurement introduces di-
vergence between accounting and economic income. The use of historical cost af-
fects income in two ways: (1) the current cost of sales is not reflected in the income
statement, such as under the FIFO inventory method, and (2) unrealized gains and
losses on are not recognized.
Transaction basis. Accounting income usually reflects effects of transactions.
Economic effects unaccompanied by an arm’s-length transaction often are not
considered. For example, purchase contracts are not recognized in the financial
statements until the transactions occur.
* Conservatism. Conservatism results in recognizing income-decreasing events im-
mediately, even if there is no transaction to back it up—for example, inventory
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write-downs. However, the effect of an income-increasing event is delayed until
realized. This creates a conservative (income decreasing) bias in accounting
income.

¢ Earnings management. Earnings management causes distortions in accounting
income that has little to do with economic reality. However, one form of earnings
management—income smoothing—may, under some conditions, improve the abil-
ity of accounting income to reflect permanent income.

As noted earlier, accounting standards are moving away from historical cost and trans-
action basis toward a model of fair value accounting. This move is significant because it
brings bottom-line income (called comprehensive income) closer to the concept of eco-
nomic income.

Permanent, Transitory, and Value Irrelevant Components

We note that accounting income attempts to capture elements of both permanent in-
come and economic income, but with measurement error. Accordingly, it is useful to
view accounting income as consisting of three components:

1. Permanent component. The permanent (or recurring) component of account-
ing income is expected to persist indefinitely. It has characteristics identical to
the economic concept of permanent income. For a going concern, each dollar of
the permanent component is equal to 1/7dollar of company value, where 7is the
cost of capital.

2. Transitory component. The transitory (or nonrecurring) component of ac-
counting income is not expected to recur—it is a one-time event. It has a dollar-
for-dollar effect on company value. The concept of economic income includes
both permanent and transitory components.

3. Value irrelevant component. Value irrelevant components have no economic
content—they are accounting distortions. They arise from the imperfections in
accounting. Value irrelevant components have zero effect on company value.

Analysis Implications

Adjusting accounting income is an important task in financial analysis. Before making
any adjustments, it is necessary to specify the analysis objectives. In particular, it is im-
portant to determine whether the objective is determining economic income or perma-
nent income of the company. This determination is crucial because economic income
and permanent income differ in both nature and purpose, and accordingly, the adjust-
ments necessary to determine each measure can differ substantially. We briefly discuss
some conceptual issues relating to adjusting income in this section. Refer to Chapter 6
for a more detailed discussion of income measurement issues.

Adjustments for Permanent Income

We already noted that determining a company’s permanent income (sustainable earning
power) is a major quest in analysis. For this purpose, an analyst needs to first determine the
permanent (or recurring) component of the current period’s accounting income by iden-
tifying and appropriately excluding, or smoothing, transitory (nonrecurring) components
of accounting income. For example, an analyst may exclude gain on sale of a major busi-
ness segment when determining the permanent component of earnings. Such adjusted
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earnings are often referred to as core earnings by practicing analysts. Determining the
current period’s core earnings is useful for interpreting a company’s P/E ratio. It is also
useful for valuation techniques using earnings’ multiples. Further, determining core
earnings is also useful when forecasting earnings or cash flows by giving a meaningful
“starting point” for the forecasting exercise and in helping derive assumptions used in
forecasting.

However, we caution that the current period’s core earnings are not always a good
estimate of the company’s permanent income. To represent permanent income, a com-
pany’s core earnings must reflect the long-term earning power of the company. Current
period’s core earnings may not reflect a company’s long-term earnings prospects for two
reasons. First, although core earnings exclude components of income that are clearly
identified as being transitory, there is no guarantee that the components included in de-
termining core earnings are necessarily permanent in nature. This is especially true if the
company’s performance in the current period is unusual for any reason. For example, the
company’s sales and earnings in a year may be unusually low because of protracted
labor unrest at its principal production facility. Second, an analyst must consider any
long-term changes to the company’s business conditions that are reflected in the non-
recurring earnings’ components. For example, a company may have written down fixed
assets because of adverse business conditions in one of its divisions. Such an asset write-
down is transitory and should not be included in core earnings for the period. However,
the asset write-down does reflect the diminished future earnings prospects for a division
of the company, and this information must be factored by the analyst when determin-
ing permanent income. These caveats notwithstanding, determining core earnings is an
important first step in estimating a company’s permanent income.

Adjustments for Economic Income

To adjust accounting income for determining economic income, we need to adopt an
inclusive approach whereby we include all income components whether recurring or
nonrecurring. One way to view economic income is the net change in shareholders’
wealth that arises from nonowner sources; hence it includes everything that changes
the net wealth of shareholders. When we make adjustments to obtain economic in-
come, we need to realize the adjusted numbers are not faithful representations of eco-
nomic income because we cannot determine the change in the value of fixed assets,
which are recorded at historical cost. It is also more difficult to justify the need for mak-
ing adjustments to determine economic income than for determining permanent in-
come. However, economic income serves as a comprehensive measure of change in
shareholder wealth and is thus useful as the bottom-line indicator of economic perfor-
mance for the period.

Adjustment for Operating Income

When determining operating earnings, practicing analysts often start off with core
earnings from which they exclude nonoperating income components such as interest ex-
pense. However, as we note earlier, operating earnings includes all revenue and expense
components that pertain to the company’s operating business, regardless of whether
they are recurring or nonrecurring. Whether operating income should include or ex-
clude nonrecurring items is a debatable point and will depend on the analysis objectives.

For the purpose of consistency, in this book we refer to operating income strictly
with reference to where the income was generated—that is, the operating business
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activities rather than the treasury function, without regard to whether it is recurring or
nonrecurring. Therefore, we shall view the operating/nonoperating and the recurring/
nonrecurring dimensions for classifying income as independent or mutually exclusive.

=sussnsFAIR VALUE ACCOUNTING

For more than 400 years, financial accounting has been primarily based on the /Azstorical
cost model. Under the historical cost model, asset and liability values are determined on
the basis of prices obtained from actual transactions that have occurred in the past. For
example, the reported value of land on the balance sheet is based on the price at which
it was originally purchased, and the reported value of finished goods inventory is typi-
cally determined by the cost of production based on the actual prices paid for inputs
used. Income is determined primarily by recognizing revenue that was earned and real-
ized during the period and matching costs with recognized revenues. Some deviations
from historical costs are permitted primarily on a conservative basis. For example, in-
ventories are valued using the lower-of-cost-or-market-value (LORCOM) rule.

An alternative to the historical cost model is fz:r value accounting. Under the fair
value accounting model, asset and liability values are determined on the basis of their
fair values (typically market prices) on the measurement date (i.e., approximately the date
of the financial statements). For example, under this model, the reported value of land
on the balance sheet would represent its market price on the date of the balance sheet,
and the reported value of finished goods inventory would represent its estimated cur-
rent sales price less any direct costs of selling. Income, under this model, simply repre-
sents the net change in the fair values of assets and liabilities during the period.

Accounting is slowly but inexorably moving toward the fair value accounting model.
While fair value accounting has been applied on a selective basis during the past
20 years, there has recently been significant progress toward its widespread adoption.
SEAS 157 provides basic guidelines for adopting the fair value accounting model and
SEAS 159 recommends its voluntary adoption for a wide class of assets and liabilities.
While the use of fair value accounting is still limited primarily to financial assets and
liabilities (such as marketable securities or debt instruments), there are indications that
a comprehensive adoption of fair value accounting for all assets and liabilities (including
operating assets and liabilities) is possible in the future.

The adoption of fair value accounting constitutes a revolution in financial account-
ing. For better or worse, the adoption of fair value accounting will fundamentally alter
the nature of the financial statements. It is therefore crucial for an analyst to understand
how fair value accounting affects the financial statements and to appreciate its implica-
tions for financial statement analysis. Accordingly, in this section we will provide a
broad conceptual discussion of fair value accounting and its implications for analysis.
More detailed discussion of SEAS 157 and SEAS 159 along with actual disclosures under
these standards will be discussed in Chapter 5.

Understanding Fair Value Accounting
An Example

To understand how fair value accounting works and how it relates to the traditional his-
torical cost accounting model, we go back to the example with the real estate company
presented in the previous section with some minor modifications. Specifically, a company
starts Year 1 raising $100,000 in cash; $50,000 from issuing equity and $50,000 from is-
suing 6% bonds (at par). This company uses the $100,000 raised to buy a condominium
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on that day, which it rents out for $12,000 per year. At the end of Year 1, the company
still owns the condo, which is valued at $125,000. Also, the market value of the bonds
has fallen to $48,000. Now also assume that during Year 2, the company earns rental in-
come of $12,500, the condo is valued at $110,000 at year-end, and the market value of
the bonds has increased to $50,500. Assume the condo’s useful life is 50 years and its
salvage value is $75,000 at the end of that period. Also assume that rental income
(interest on bonds) is received (paid) in cash on the last day of the year.

Exhibit 2.8 presents the balance sheets and income statements for this example
based on the historical cost and the fair value accounting models. Obviously, balance
sheets under both models are identical at the beginning of Year 1. The two models start
diverging after that. At the end of Year 1, the historical cost model values the condo at
$99,500, which is equal to its purchase price ($100,000) less accumulated depreciation
($500). The fair value model, on the other hand, values the condo at its market value at
the end of Year 1 (i.e., its fair value) of $125,000. The cash balance at the end of Year 1
is $9,000, which is equal to the rental income received ($12,000) less interest paid on
bonds ($3,000); both models report the identical amount of cash balance. Turning to
the liabilities side of the balance sheet, we note that the historical cost model continues
to report the bonds at the issue price of $50,000, whereas the fair value accounting
model values the bonds at its current market value of $48,000.

Exhibit 2.8 Historical Cost versus Fair Value Example
E EEEEER
Balance Sheet Year 1 (Opening) Year 1 (Closing) Year 2 (Closing)
Historical Historical Historical
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Assets
Cash $ 9,000 $ 9,000 $ 18,500 $ 18,500
Condominium $100,000 $100,000 99,500 125,000 99,000 110,000
$100,000 $100,000 $108,500 $134,000 $117,500 $128,500
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Long-term debt $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,000 $ 48,000 $ 50,000 $ 50,500
Shareholders’ equity 50,000 50,000 58,500 86,000 67,500 78,000
$100,000 $100,000 $108,500 $134,000 $117,500 $128,500
Income Statement Year 1 Year 2
Historical Historical
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Rental income $12,000 $12,000 $12,500 $12,500
Depreciation (500) (500)
Interest expense (3,000) (3,000) (3,000) (3,000)
Unrealized gain/loss on condo 25,000 (15,000)
Unrealized gain/loss on debt 2,000 (2,500)
Income (loss) $ 8,500 $36,000 $ 9,000 ($ 8,000)

We next turn to the income statement. Both rental income ($12,000) and interest
expense ($3,000) are recognized similarly under the two alternative models. In addition,
the historical cost model recognizes depreciation of $500 [$(100,000 — 75,000) + 50],
resulting in income during Year 1 of $8,500. The fair value model does not recognize
depreciation. In contrast, this model recognizes an unrealized gain of $25,000 to record
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the appreciation in the condo’s value during the year. In addition, the fair value model
also recognizes an unrealized gain of $2,000, which is related to the decrease in the mar-
ket value of the bonds. Therefore, income under the fair value accounting model for
Year 1 is $36,000. Shareholders’ equity at the end of Year 1 is equal to opening share-
holders’ equity plus income.

To understand how fair value accounting evolves over time, we also examine Year 2.
Income, in Year 2, under the historical cost model is $9,000; the increase of $500 over
Year 1 reflects the increase in rental income. The fair value model, however, reports a loss
of $8,000, arising because of unrealized losses on account of the $15,000 decline in the
condo’s market value and increase of $2,500 in the market value of bonds. The balance
sheet under the historical cost model reports the condo at its depreciated value ($99,000)
and the bonds at their par value ($50,000). The fair value model, in contrast, reports both
the condo ($110,000) and the bonds ($50,500) at their current market values.

Contrasting Historical Cost and Fair Value Models

Our example shows how the balance sheet and income statements evolve over time
under the historical cost and the fair value models. We see that there are considerable
differences in the financial statements prepared under these models. What causes these
differences? What is the underlying logic behind these two models of accounting? We
list here some of the fundamental differences between the two models with the objec-
tive of answering these questions:

¢ Transaction versus current valuation. Under historical cost accounting, asset
and liability values are largely determined by a business entity’s actual transactions
in the past; the valuation need not reflect current economic circumstances. In con-
trast, under the fair value model, asset or liability amounts are determined by the
most current value using market assumptions; the valuation need not be based on
an actual transaction. In our example, the condo is valued at the original $100,000—
adjusted for wear and tear through depreciation—in the historical cost model be-
cause that is the original transacted price of the condo. In contrast, the fair value
model updates the condo’s value every period to reflect its current value, even
though there has been no explicit transaction—that is, sale or purchase of the condo.

* Cost versus market based. Historical cost valuation is primarily determined by
the costs incurred by the business, while under the fair value model it is based on
market valuation (or market-based assumptions). For example, finished goods in-
ventory under the historical cost model will primarily reflect the cost of producing
the goods, while under the fair value model it will reflect its net selling price, that
is, the value that the market is willing to pay for the goods.

¢ Alternative income approaches. Under the historical cost model, income is de-
termined by matching costs to recognized revenues, which have to be realized and
earned. Under the fair value model, income is determined merely by the net
change in fair value of assets and liabilities. The manner in which income is deter-
mined under the two models for Year 1 of our example is illustrated here:

Historical Cost Model Fair Value Model

Revenue (rental income) $12,000 Change in net asset value:

Less matched costs: Increase in cash $ 9,000
Depreciation 500 Increase in condo value 25,000
Interest expense 3,000 Decrease in debt value 2,000

Income $ 8,500 Income $36,000
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The alternative approaches for income determination under the two models are
extremely important for analysis. Income under historical cost accounting is a dis-
tinct construct that attempts to measure the current period’s profitability, that is,
ability of a business to generate revenues in excess of costs. In our example, we rec-
ognized revenue of $12,000 to which we matched the following costs: depreciation
$500 (which is Year 1’s share of the long-term cost of using the condo) and inter-
est $3,000 (which is Year 1’s share of the cost of financing the condo). Under this
approach, asset (or liability) balances are often determined by how income is mea-
sured; for example, the depreciated value of the condo on the balance sheet is de-
termined by the depreciation expense charged against income. In contrast, income
under the fair value model is not separate from the valuation of the business’s as-
sets and liabilities; it is merely a measure of the net change in the value of assets
and liabilities. For example, as shown above, Year 1’s fair value income of $36,000
is determined by a $9,000 increase in cash, a $25,000 increase in the condo’s fair
value and a $2,000 decrease in the fair value of debt. Therefore, one could argue
that the income statement is superfluous under the fair value accounting model.

It is important to conceptually understand what income under the two models
represents. Under the fair value model, accounting income approximates economic
income (see earlier section for definition of economic income). Income under the
historical cost model seeks to measure the current profitability of the business.
While it may appear to approximate permanent tncome in our example, that is not
necessarily the case.

Considerations in Measuring Fair Value
Defining Fair Value

Before providing the formal definition of fzzr value, let us try to understand the intuitive
meaning of this term. Broadly, fair value means market value. The terminology of “fair
value” was coined (instead of merely using “market value”) because even if a primary
market does not exist for an asset or liability from which market prices could be readily
determined, one could still estimate its “fair value” by reference to secondary markets or
through the use of valuation techniques. The idea behind fair value, however, is to get
as close to market value as possible. Therefore, conceptually, fair value is no different
from market value because it reflects current market participant (e.g., investor) assump-
tions about the present value of expected future cash inflows or outflows arising from
an asset or a liability.

Formally, SEAS 157 defines fair value as exchange price, that is, the price that would be
received from selling an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction be-
tween market participants on the measurement date. There are five aspects of this
definition that need to be noted:

* On the measurement date. The asset or liability’s fair value is determined as of
the measurement date—that is, the date of the balance sheet-rather than the date
when the asset was originally purchased (or the liability originally assumed).

* Hypothetical transaction. The transaction that forms the basis of valuation is
hypothetical. No actual sale of the asset (or transfer of liability) needs to occur. In
other words, fair values are determined “as if” the asset were sold on the measure-
ment date.

¢ Orderly transaction. The notion of an “orderly” transaction eliminates exchanges
occurring under unusual circumstances, such as under duress. This ensures that the
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fair value represents the exchange price under normal circumstances, such as the
market price in an active (i.e., frequently traded) market.

¢ Market-based measurement. Fair values are market-based measurements, not
entity-spectfic measurements. What does this mean? This means that fair value of an
asset should reflect the price that market participants would pay for the asset (or de-
mand for the liability), rather than the value generated through unique use of the
asset in a specific business. To illustrate, consider a highly lucrative cab company that
owns a single automobile. Because of excellent business prospects, the present value
of future net receipts from the use of this automobile over its estimated life is ex-
pected to be $65,000. However, the market value of the automobile (based on its
blue-book price) is just $15,000. The fair value of the automobile is $15,000 (i.e., its
market-based exchange price) and not $65,000 (i.e., its entity-specific unique value).

* Exit prices. The fair value of an asset is the hypothetical price at which a business
can se// the asset (exit price). It is not the price that needs to be paid to duy the asset
(entry price). Similarly, for a liability, fair value is the price at which a business can
transfer the liability to a third party, not the price it will get to assume the liability.

Hierarchy of Inputs

Note that fair value can be estimated for assets (or liabilities) even when active primary
markets do not exist from which prices can be directly ascertained. Obviously fair value
estimates that are not derived from direct market prices are less reliable. Realizing this,
standard setters have established a hierarchy of fair value inputs (i.e., assumptions that
form the basis for deriving fair value estimates). At the outset, two types of inputs are
recognized: (1) observable inputs, where market prices are obtainable from sources inde-
pendent of the reporting company—for example, from quoted market prices of traded
securities—and (2) unobservable inputs, where fair values are determined through as-
sumptions provided by the reporting company because the asset or liability is not
traded. Observable inputs are further classified based on whether the prices are from
primary or secondary markets. This gives rise to the following three-step hierarchy of
inputs (see Exhibit 2.9):
¢ Level 1 inputs. These inputs are quoted prices in active markets for the exact
asset or liability that is being valued, preferably available on the measurement date.
These are the most reliable inputs and should be used in determining fair value
whenever they are available.
 Level 2 inputs. These inputs are either (1) quoted prices from active markets for
similar, but not identical, assets or liabilities, or (2) quoted prices for identical assets
or liabilities from markets that are not active (i.e., not frequently traded). Therefore,
while these inputs are indeed market prices, the prices may be for assets (or liabil-
ities) that are not identical to those being valued or the quotes may not be for cur-
rent prices because of infrequent trading.
¢ Level 3 inputs. These are unobservable inputs and are used when the asset or li-
ability is not traded or when traded substitutes cannot be identified. Level 3 inputs
reflect manager’s own assumptions regarding valuation, including internal data
from within the company.

The hierarchy of inputs is extremely important. As the pyramid in Exhibit 2.9 sug-
gests, Level 1 inputs must be most commonly used and Level 3 inputs must be used spar-
ingly. Also, SEAS 157 prescribes footnote disclosures where information about the level
of inputs used for determining fair values must be reported. An analyst can use this infor-
mation to evaluate the reliability of the fair value amounts recognized. Finally, it must be
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Exhibit 2.9

Hierarchy of Fair Value Inputs

Unobservable
inputs that reflect
management’s own
assumptions about the
assumptions market
participants would make.

Level 3

Directly or indirectly observable prices in
active markets for similar assets or liabilities;
quoted prices for identical or similar items in
markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted
prices (e.g., interest rates, yield curves, credit risks,

Level 2 volatilities); or “market corroborated inputs.”

Quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability
to access at the reporting date, for identical assets or liabilities. Prices are
not adjusted for the effects, if any, of the reporting entity holding a large
block relative to the overall trading volume (referred to as a “blockage factor”).

Level 1

appreciated that while Level 1 and Level 2 inputs will be available for valuing financial
assets and liabilities, most operating assets and liabilities may need to use Level 3 inputs.

Valuation Techniques

The appropriate valuation technique depends on the availability of input data. Once a
technique is chosen, it must be used consistently, unless there is some change in cir-
cumstances that allows a more accurate determination of fair value. Three basic ap-
proaches to valuation are specified:

e Market approach. As the name implies, this approach directly or indirectly uses
prices from actual market transactions. Sometimes, market prices may need to be
transformed in some manner in determining fair value. This is approach is
applicable to most of the Level 1 or Level 2 inputs.

* Income approach. Under this approach fair values are measured by discounting
future cash flow (or earnings) expectations to the current period. Current market
expectations need to be used to the extent possible in determining these dis-
counted values. Examples of such an approach include valuing intangible assets
based on expected future cash flow potential or using option pricing techniques
(such as the Black-Scholes model) for valuing employee stock options.

¢ Cost approach. Cost approaches are used for determining the current replace-
ment cost of an asset, that is, determining the cost of replacing an asset’s remaining
service capacity. Under this approach, fair value is determined as the current cost
to a market participant (i.e., buyer) to acquire or construct a substitute asset that
generates comparable utility after adjusting for technological improvements, nat-
ural wear and tear, and economic obsolescence.
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When determining discounted values (i.e., present values), it may be necessary to
make adjustments for risk. In the case of a liability, the risk adjustment will need to con-
sider the reporting entity’s own credit risk. This will give rise to a peculiar situation, where
deterioration in the creditworthiness of a company can result in a decrease in its liabilities.

Analysis Implications

The adoption of fair value accounting has significant implications for financial state-
ment analysis. In this section, we discuss the advantages and disadvantages of fair value
accounting and issues that an analyst must consider when analyzing financial state-
ments prepared under fair value accounting. Finally, we discuss the current status of fair
value accounting and future initiatives of the FASB in this direction.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Fair Value Accounting

The move toward fair value accounting has engendered intense debate. Both supporters
and detractors of fair value accounting have been equally vocal in airing their views.
The major advantages of fair value accounting are as follows:

* Reflects current information. There is no denying that fair value accounting re-
flects current information regarding the value of assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet. In contrast, historical cost information can be outdated, giving rise to what
may be termed “hidden” assets or liabilities. For example, the assets of many man-
ufacturing companies are seriously understated because the current market value
of their real estate holdings is not reflected on the balance sheet. This is obviously
the most important advantage of fair value accounting over the historical cost
model. By reflecting more current information, fair value accounting is argued to
be more relevant for decision making.

¢ Consistent measurement criteria. Another advantage that the standard setters
stress is that fair value accounting provides the only conceptually consistent mea-
surement criteria for assets and liabilities. At present, financial accounting follows
a mish-mash of approaches that is termed the mzxed attribute model. For example,
fixed assets such as land and building are measured using historical cost, but finan-
cial assets such as marketable securities are recorded at current market prices. Even
for the same item, inconsistent criteria are used because of conservatism; for
example, inventory is usually valued at cost unless market value drops below cost,
in which case it gets measured at market value. Under fair value accounting, it is
hoped that all assets and liabilities will be measured using a consistent and
conceptually appealing criterion.

¢ Comparability. Because of consistency in the manner in which assets and liabili-
ties are measured, it is argued that fair value accounting will improve comparability,
that is, the ability to compare financial statements of different firms.

¢ No conservative bias. Fair value accounting is expected to eliminate the conser-
vative bias that currently exists in accounting. Eliminating conservatism is expected
to improve reliability because of neutrality, that is, reporting information without
any bias.

* More useful for equity analysis. One complaint of traditional accounting is that
it is largely oriented to provide information useful for credit analysis. For example,
the use of conservative historical costs is more designed to provide an estimate of
a business’s downside risk than evaluate its upside potential. Many argue that
adopting the fair value model will make accounting more useful for equity analysis.
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The major disadvantages of fair value accounting include the following:

* Lower objectivity. The major criticism against fair value accounting is that it is
less reliable because it often lacks objectivity. This issue is crucially linked to the
type of inputs that are used. While nobody can question the objectivity of Level 1
inputs, the same cannot be said about Level 3 inputs. Because Level 3 inputs are
unobservable and based on assumptions made by managers, many fear that the
extensive use of Level 3 inputs—especially for operating assets and liabilities—will
lower the reliability of financial statement information.

* Susceptibility to manipulation. Closely linked to lower objectivity is the con-
cern that fair value accounting would considerably increase the ability of managers
to manipulate financial statements. Again, this issue is closely linked to the use of
Level 3 inputs—it is more difficult to manipulate fair values when Level 1 or Level 2
inputs are used.

 Use of Level 3 inputs. Because Level 3 inputs are less objective, a crucial issue
that will determine the reliability of fair value accounting is the extent to which
Level 3 inputs will need to be used. The recent credit crisis in the United States has
shown that even for financial assets or liabilities, many companies have had to
resort to extensively using Level 3 inputs because of poor liquidity in the credit
markets. The need to use Level 3 inputs is obviously expected to be greater for
operating assets and liabilities. If Level 3 inputs are widely used, then many believe
that the fair value accounting model will reduce the reliability of the financial
statements.

* Lack of conservatism. There are many academics and practitioners who prefer
conservative accounting. The two main advantages of conservatism are that (1) it
naturally offsets the optimistic bias on the part of management to report higher in-
come or higher net assets, and (2) it is important for credit analysis and debt con-
tracting because creditors prefer financial statements that highlight downside risk.
These supporters of conservative accounting are alarmed that adopting the fair
value model—which purports to be unbiased—will cause financial statements to be
prepared aggressively, therefore reducing its usefulness to creditors, who are one of
the most important set of users of financial information.

* Excessive income volatility. One of the most serious concerns from adopting
the fair value model is that of excessive income volatility. As we noted earlier,
under the fair value accounting model income is simply the net change in value of
assets and liabilities. Because assets (or liabilities) are typically large in relation to
income and because fair values can change significantly across time, changes in fair
values of assets can cause reported income to become excessively volatile. Much of
this volatility is attributable to swings in the fair value of assets and liabilities rather
than changes in the underlying profitability of the business’s operations, so it is
feared that income will become less useful for analysis. Standard setters are aware
of this problem and have embarked on a project for changing financial statement
presentation, which will consider also reporting intermediate income measures
that reflect the firms operations.

Implications for Analysis

Because of the profound effect that fair value accounting will have on the financial state-
ments, it will influence the manner in which financial statement analysis is conducted.
We note some of the important issues that will need consideration when analyzing



Chapter Two | Financial Reporting and Analysis 105

financial statements prepared under the fair value model:

* Focus on the balance sheet. Currently, the income statement is arguably the
most important statement for analysis. In particular, equity analysts tend to pay
scant attention to the balance sheet. Part of the reason for ignoring the balance
sheet is that it is not particularly informative under the historical cost model. This
will change with the advent of fair value accounting. The balance sheet will be-
come an important—if not the most important—statement for analysis. In contrast,
the income statement will lose some of its importance because bottom-line income
will merely measure net changes in assets and liabilities. Accordingly, the focus of
financial statement analysis will need to shift toward the balance sheet.

* Restating income. Analyzing and restating income will become an even more
crucial task for the analyst. The bottom-line income under the fair value accounting
model merely measures the net change in the fair values of assets and liabilities.
This income measure is conceptually closer to economic income and is therefore
less useful for analyzing current period’s profitability or forecasting future earnings.
An analyst needs to carefully analyze income to separate the effect of current
operations from unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair values of
assets and liabilities.

* Analyzing use of inputs. As noted earlier, Level 3 inputs are less reliable and
more susceptible to manipulation. Therefore, a major task in financial statement
analysis—when using fair value accounting information—is analyzing the levels of
inputs that have been used in determining asset and liability values. In particular, it
is important to identify and quantify the extent to which Level 3 inputs have been
used in determining fair values. The widespread use of Level 3 inputs is an impor-
tant indicator of the quality—or lack thereof—of the financial statements. Fortu-
nately, companies are required to provide detailed footnote disclosure regarding
the assumptions underlying their fair value estimates, including the type of inputs
used. This information will be crucial for evaluating the quality of the financial
statement information.

* Analyzing financial liabilities. Fair values of debt securities decline with a decrease
in the creditworthiness of the borrower. This creates a counterintuitive situation with
respect to the valuation of a business’s financial liabilities (e.g., debt obligations). A de-
crease in the business’s creditworthiness will result in a decrease in the fair value of the
debt obligation. The decrease in fair value of the debt obligation will result in recog-
nizing an unrealized gain, which will artificially inflate income during the period. The
rationale for this accounting treatment is that when the entire balance sheet is pre-
pared on a fair value basis, a reduction in fair value of debt is unlikely to occur without
a corresponding (and probably greater) decrease in the fair value of assets. Therefore,
when taken together there is unlikely to be an artificial increase in equity.

While the explanation is logical, there is still an issue with how this accounting
treatment will affect the debt equity ratio. When determining the debt equity ratio,
we recommend that the face value of the outstanding debt should be used, rather
than its fair value. This will provide a better indication of the ability of a business
to meet its_fzxed commitments.

Current Status of Fair Value Adoption

In this section, we discussed conceptual issues relating to fair value accounting. Our
discussions were couched under the assumption that fair value accounting was adopted
for all assets and liabilities on the financial statements. While such a scenario could
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become reality in the future, it is important to note that fair value accounting is
currently not applicable to all assets and liabilities.

At present, fair value accounting is applicable primarily to assets and liabilities that
can be broadly termed as financial in nature. These include marketable securities, in-
vestments, financial instruments, and debt obligations. SE4S 157 does not specify any
new assets or liabilities that must use the fair value model. However, more recently
SEAS 159 allows companies to voluntarily adopt fair value accounting for individual
financial assets and obligations. We discuss these issues in more detail in Chapter 5.

In addition to financial assets and liabilities, recently assets and liabilities relating to
pensions and other postretirement benefits are required to be valued on a fair value
basis on the balance sheet (SE4S 158). However, unrealized gains and losses arising
from changes in these assets and liabilities are not recognized in net income. We discuss
SEAS 158 in detail in Chapter 3.

The FASB (and the IASB) are currently involved in examining how a more com-
prehensive adoption of the fair value accounting model can be undertaken, which in-
cludes using the fair value model for operating assets and liabilities. Concurrently, the
FASB is considering a project that radically changes the presentation of the financial
statements. These changes will have important implications for financial statement
analysis.

=ausuaal NTRODUCTION TO
ACCOUNTING ANALYSIS

Accounting analysis is the process of evaluating the extent to which a company’s
accounting numbers reflect economic reality. Accounting analysis involves a number of
different tasks, such as evaluating a company’s accounting risk and earnings quality,
estimating earning power, and making necessary adjustments to financial statements to
both better reflect economic reality and assist in financial analysis.

Accounting analysis is an important precondition for effective financial analysis. This
is because the quality of financial analysis, and the inferences drawn, depends on the
quality of the underlying accounting information, the raw material for analysis. While
accrual accounting provides insights about a company’s financial performance and con-
dition that is unavailable from cash accounting, its imperfections can distort the eco-
nomic content of financial reports. Accounting analysis is the process an analyst uses to
identify and assess accounting distortions in a company’s financial statements. It also
includes the necessary adjustments to financial statements that reduce distortions and
make the statements amenable to financial analysis.

In this section, we explain the need for accounting analysis, including identifying the
sources of accounting distortions. Then we discuss earnings management, its moti-
vations and strategies, and its implications for analysis. We conclude by examining
accounting analysis methods and processes.

Need for Accounting Analysis

The need for accounting analysis arises for two reasons. First, accrual accounting im-
proves upon cash accounting by reflecting business activities in a more timely manner.
But accrual accounting yields some accounting distortions that need to be identified
and adjusted so accounting information better reflects business activities. Second,
financial statements are prepared for a diverse set of users and information needs. This
means accounting information usually requires adjustments to meet the analysis
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objectives of a particular user. We examine each of these factors and their implications
to financial statement analysis in this section.

Accounting Distortions

Accounting distortions are deviations of reported information in financial statements from
the underlying business reality. These distortions arise from the nature of accrual
accounting—this includes its standards, errors in estimation, the trade-oft between rele-
vance and reliability, and the latitude in application. We separately discuss each of these
sources of distortion.

Accounting Standards. Accounting standards are sometimes responsible for distor-
tions. At least three sources of this distortion are identifiable. First, accounting standards
are the output of a political process. Difterent user groups lobby to protect their inter-
ests. In this process, standards sometimes fail to require the most relevant information.
One example is accounting for employee stock options (ESOs).

A second source of distortion from accounting standards arises from certain ac-
counting principles. For example, the historical cost principle can reduce the relevance
of the balance sheet by not reflecting current market values of assets and liabilities. Also,
the transaction basis of accounting results in inconsistent goodwill accounting wherein
purchased goodwill is recorded as an asset but internally developed goodwill is not.
Additionally, double entry implies that the balance sheet articulates with the income
statement—meaning that many transactions affect both statements. However, an
accounting rule that improves one statement often does so to the detriment of the
other. For example, FIFO inventory rules ensure the inventory account in the balance
sheet reflects current costs of unsold inventory. Yet LIFO inventory rules better reflect
current costs of sales in the income statement.

A third source of distortion is conservatism. For example, accountants often write
down or write off the value of impaired assets, but very rarely will they write up asset
values. Conservatism leads to a pessimistic bias in financial statements that is sometimes
desirable for credit analysis but problematic for equity analysis.

Estimation Errors. Accrual accounting requires forecasts and other estimates about
future cash flow consequences. Use of these estimates improves the ability of account-
ing numbers to reflect business transactions in a timely manner. Still, these estimates
yield errors that can distort the relevance of accrual accounting numbers. To illustrate,
consider credit sales. Whenever goods or services are sold on credit, there is a possibil-
ity the customer will default on payment. There are two approaches to confront this un-
certainty. One approach is to adopt cash accounting that records revenue only when
cash is eventually collected from the customer. The other approach, followed by accrual
accounting, is to record credit sales as revenue when they are earned and then make an
allowance for bad debts based on collection history, customers’ credit ratings, and other
facts. While accrual accounting is more relevant, it is subject to distortions from errors
in estimation of bad debts.

Reliability versus Relevance. Accounting standards trade off reliability and relevance.
An emphasis on reliability often precludes recognizing the effects of certain business
events and transactions in financial statements until their cash flow consequences can
be reasonably estimated. One example is loss contingencies. Before a loss contingency
is recorded as a loss, it must be reasonably estimable. Because of this criterion, many
loss contingencies are not reported in financial statements even several years after their
existence is established beyond reasonable doubt. Another example of distortion due to
the reliability emphasis is accounting for research and development costs. While R&D
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is an investment, current accounting standards require writing it off as an expense
because payofls from R&D are less certain than payofts from investments in, say, plant
and equipment.

EEEmEEE Earnings Management. Earnings management is probably the most troubling out-
SUNBEAM ME UP come of accrual accounting. Use of judgment and estimation in accrual accounting al-
Sunbeam’s former CEO lows managers to draw on their inside information and experience to enhance the use-

Albert “Chainsaw Al”
Dunlap and former CFO
Russell Kersh received

fulness of accounting numbers. However, some managers exercise this discretion to
manage accounting numbers, particularly income, for personal gain, thereby reducing

lifetime bans from serving their quality. Earnings management occurs for several reasons, such as to increase com-
as officers or directors of pensation, avoid debt covenants, meet analyst forecasts, and impact stock prices. Earn-
any public companies. ings management can take two forms: (1) changing accounting methods, which is a vis-

Dunlap and Kersh are
alleged to have used
accounting hocus-pocus

ible form of earnings management, and (2) changing accounting estimates and policies
that determine accounting numbers, which is a hidden form of earnings management.

to hide the true financial Earnings management is a reality that most users reluctantly accept as part of accrual
state of Sunbeam accounting. While it is important we recognize that earnings management is not as
from investors. widespread as the financial press leads us to believe, there is no doubt it hurts the

credibility of accounting information. The next section includes an in-depth discussion
of earnings management.

Earnings Management

Earnings management can be defined as the “purposeful intervention by management
in the earnings determination process, usually to satisfy selfish objectives” (Schipper,
1989). It often involves window-dressing financial statements, especially the bottom
line earnings number. Earnings management can be cosmetic, where managers manipu-
late accruals without any cash flow consequences. It also can be 7¢4/ where managers
take actions with cash flow consequences for purposes of managing earnings.

Cosmetic earnings management is a potential outcome of the latitude in applying
accrual accounting. Accounting standards and monitoring mechanisms reduce this
latitude. Yet it is impossible to eliminate this latitude given the complexity and variation
in business activities. Moreover, accrual accounting requires estimates and judgments.
This yields some managerial discretion in determining accounting numbers. While this
discretion provides an opportunity for managers to reveal a more informative picture of
a company’s business activities, it also allows them to window-dress financial state-
ments and manage earnings.

Managers also take actions with cash flow consequences, often adverse, for purposes
of managing earnings. For example, managers sometimes use the FIFO method of in-
ventory valuation to report higher income even when use of the LIFO method could
yield tax savings. Earnings management incentives also influence investing and financ-
ing decisions of managers. Such real earnings management is more troubling than cos-
metic earnings management because it reflects business decisions that often reduce
shareholder wealth.

This section focuses on cosmetic earnings management because accounting analysis
can overcome many of the distortions it causes. Distortions from real earnings manage-
ment usually cannot be overcome by accounting analysis alone.

Earnings Management Strategies

There are three typical strategies to earnings management. (1) Managers increase
current period income. (2) Managers take a big bath by markedly reducing current pe-
riod income. (3) Managers reduce earnings volatility by income smoothing. Managers
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sometimes apply these strategies in combination or singly at different points in time to
achieve long-term earnings management objectives.

Increasing Income. One earnings management strategy is to increase a period’s
reported income to portray a company more favorably. It is possible to increase income
in this manner over several periods. In a growth scenario, the accrual reversals are
smaller than current accruals that increase income. This leads to a case where a com-
pany can report higher income from aggressive earnings management over long peri-
ods of time. Also, companies can manage earnings upward for several years and then
reverse accruals all at once with a one-time charge. This one-time charge is often
reported “below the line” (i.e., below the income from continuing operations line in the
income statement) and, therefore, might be perceived as less relevant.

Big Bath. A “big bath strategy” involves taking as many write-offs as possible in one =~ ®®® === ®
period. The period chosen is usually one with markedly poor performance (often ina ~ BATH BUSTER
recession when most other companies also report poor earnings) or one with unusual fgnccfn'lzzrzzzmgly
events such as a management change, a merger, or a restructuring. The big bath strat- | ¢-bath write-offs
egy also is often used in conjunction with an income-increasing strategy for other years.  gych as Motorola’s
Because of the unusual and nonrecurring nature of a big bath, users tend to discount its ~ $1.98 billion
financial effect. This affords an opportunity to write off all past sins and also clears the  restructuring charge.

deck for future earnings increases.

Income Smoothing. Income smoothing is a common form of earnings management.
Under this strategy, managers decrease or increase reported income so as to reduce its
volatility. Income smoothing involves not reporting a portion of earnings in good years
through creating reserves or earnings “banks,” and then reporting these earnings in bad
years. Many companies use this form of earnings management.

Motivations for Earnings Management

There are several reasons for managing earnings, including increasing manager
compensation tied to reported earnings, increasing stock price, and lobbying for gov-
ernment subsidies. We identify the major incentives for earnings management in this
section.

Contracting Incentives. Many contracts use accounting numbers. For example, man- === mms=
agerial compensation contracts often include bonuses based on earnings. Typical bonus ~ NUMBER CRUNCH
contracts have a lower and an upper bound, meaning that managers are not given a  Bausch & Lomb execs
bonus if earnings fall below the lower bound and cannot earn any additional bonus Ziﬁg?;td?:t'::!l”;i ’
when earnings exceed the upper bound. This means managers have incentives to in- eamings growth in the '90s
crease or decrease earnings based on the wzmanaged earnings level in relation to the a5 all-important, creating
upper and lower bounds. When unmanaged earnings are within the upper and lower  pressures that led to
bounds, managers have an incentive to increase earnings. When earnings are above the ~ unethical behavior in
maximum bound or below the minimum bound, managers have an incentive to de- reporting earnings.
crease earnings and create reserves for future bonuses. Another example of a contrac-

tual incentive is debt covenants that often are based on ratios using accounting numbers

such as earnings. Since violations of debt covenants are costly for managers, they will

manage earnings (usually upward) to avoid them.

Stock Price Effects. Another incentive for earnings management is the potential
impact on stock price. For example, managers may increase earnings to temporarily
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boost company stock price for events such as a forthcoming merger or security
offering, or plans to sell stock or exercise options. Managers also smooth income
to lower market perceptions of risk and to decrease the cost of capital. Still another
related incentive for earnings management is to beat market expectations. This
strategy often takes the following form: managers lower market expectations
through pessimistic voluntary disclosures (preannouncements) and then manage
earnings upward to beat market expectations. The growing importance of momen-
tum investors and their ability to brutally punish stocks that don’t meet expectations
has created increasing pressure on managers to use all available means to beat
market expectations.

Other Incentives. There are several other reasons for managing earnings. Earnings
sometimes are managed downward to reduce political costs and scrutiny from govern-
ment agencies such as antitrust regulators and the IRS. In addition, companies may
manage earnings downward to gain favors from the government, including subsidies
and protection from foreign competition. Companies also decrease earnings to combat
labor union demands. Another common incentive for earnings management is a change
in management. This usually results in a big bath for several reasons. First, it can
be blamed on incumbent managers. Second, it signals that the new managers will make
tough decisions to improve the company. Third, and probably most important, it clears
the deck for future earnings increases. One of the largest big baths occurred when Louis
Gerstner became CEO at IBM. Gerstner wrote off nearly $4 billion in the year he took
charge. While a large part of this charge comprised expenses related to the turnaround,
it also included many items that were future business expenses. Analysts estimate that
the earnings increases reported by IBM in subsequent years were in large part attributed
to this big bath.

Mechanics of Earnings Management

This section explains the mechanics of earnings management. Areas that offer maxi-
mum opportunities for earnings management include revenue recognition, inventory
valuation, estimates of provisions such as bad debts expense and deferred taxes, and
one-time charges such as restructuring and asset impairments. This section does not
provide examples of every conceivable method of managing earnings. Many additional
details and examples of earnings management are discussed in Chapters 3-6. In this
section, we describe two major methods of earnings management—income shifting and
classificatory earnings management.

Income Shifting. Income shifting is the process of managing earnings by moving in-
come from one period to another. Income shifting is achieved by accelerating or delay-
ing the recognition of revenues or expenses. This form of earnings management usually
results in a reversal of the effect in one or more future periods, often in the next period.
For this reason, income shifting is most useful for income smoothing. Examples of in-
come shifting include the following:

e Accelerating revenue recognition by persuading dealers or wholesalers to
purchase excess products near the end of the fiscal year. This practice, called
channel loading, is common in industries such as automobile manufacturing and
cigarettes.
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¢ Delaying expense recognition by capitalizing expenses and amortizing them over
future periods. Examples include interest capitalization and capitalization of
software development costs.

* Shifting expenses to later periods by adopting certain accounting methods. For ex-
ample, adopting the FIFO method for inventory valuation (versus LIFO) and the
straight-line depreciation (versus accelerated) can delay expense recognition.

e Taking large one-time charges such as asset impairments and restructuring charges
on an intermittent basis. This allows companies to accelerate expense recognition
and, thus, make subsequent earnings look better.

Classificatory Earnings Management. Earnings are also managed by selectively classi-
fying expenses (and revenues) in certain parts of the income statement. The most com-
mon form of this classificatory earnings management is to move expenses below the
line, meaning report them along with unusual and nonrecurring items that usually are
given less importance by analysts. Managers attempt to classify expenses in the non-
recurring parts of the income statement as these examples illustrate:

e When a company discontinues a business segment, the income from that segment
must be separately reported as income (loss) from discontinued operations. This
item is properly ignored in analysis because it pertains to a business unit that no
longer impacts the company. But some companies load a larger portion of
common costs (such as corporate overhead) to the discontinued segment, thereby
increasing income for the rest of the company.

* Use of special charges such as asset impairments and restructuring charges has sky-
rocketed (almost 40% of companies report at least one such charge). The motiva- ~ KODAK MOMENT
tion for this practice arises from the habit of many analysts to ignore special charges " the 90s, Kodak took six
because of their unusual and nonrecurring nature. By taking special charges peri- f:g?&r;'g:gmltsn()ffs
odically and including operating expenses in these charges, companies cause : i

) ‘ which is more than its net
analysts to ignore a portion of operating expenses. eamings for that decade.

Analysis Implications of Earnings Management

Because earnings management distorts financial statements, identifying and making
adjustments for it is an important task in financial statement analysis. Still, despite the
alarming increase in earnings management, it is less widespread than presumed. The
financial press likes to focus on cases of earnings management because it makes inter-
esting reading. This gives many users the incorrect impression that earnings are man-
aged all the time.

Before concluding a company is managing earnings, an analyst needs to check the
following:

¢ Incentives for earnings management. Earnings will not be managed unless
there are incentives for managing them. We have discussed some of the incentives,
and an analysis should consider them.

* Management reputation and history. It is important to assess management
reputation and integrity. Perusal of past financial statements, SEC enforcements,
audit reports, auditor change history, and the financial press provides useful infor-
mation for this task.

* Consistent pattern. The aim of earnings management is to influence a summary
bottom line number such as earnings or key ratios such as the debt-to-equity or
interest coverage. It is important to verify whether different components of income
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(or the balance sheet) are consistently managed in a certain direction. For example,
if a company appears to be inflating earnings through, say, revenue recognition
policies while simultaneously decreasing earnings through an inventory method
change, it is less likely the company is managing earnings.

e Earnings management opportunities. The nature of business activities deter-
mines the extent to which earnings can be managed. When the nature of business
activities calls for considerable judgment in determining financial statement num-
bers, greater opportunities exist to manage earnings.

Process of Accounting Analysis

Accounting analysis involves several interrelated processes and tasks. We discuss
accounting analysis under two broad areas—evaluating earnings quality and adjusting
financial statements. Although separately discussed, the two tasks are interrelated and
complementary. We also discuss earnings quality in more detail in Appendix 2A and
adjustments to financial statements throughout Chapters 3-6.

Evaluating Earnings Quality

Earnings quality (or more precisely, accounting quality) means different things to dif-
ferent people. Many analysts define earnings quality as the extent of conservatism
adopted by the company—a company with higher earnings quality is expected to have
a higher price-to-earnings ratio than one with lower earnings quality. An alternative
definition of earnings quality is in terms of accounting distortions—a company has high
earnings quality if its financial statement information accurately depicts its business
activities. Whatever its definition, evaluating earnings quality is an important task of
accounting analysis. We briefly describe the steps in evaluating earnings quality in this
section.

Steps in Evaluating Earnings Quality. Evaluating earnings quality involves the follow-
ing steps:

¢ Identify and assess key accounting policies. An important step in evaluating
earnings quality is identifying key accounting policies adopted by the company.
Are the policies reasonable or aggressive? s the set of policies adopted consistent
with industry norms? What impact will the accounting policies have on reported
numbers in financial statements?

* Evaluate extent of accounting flexibility. It is important to evaluate the extent
of flexibility available in preparing financial statements. The extent of accounting
flexibility is greater in some industries than others. For example, the accounting for
industries that have more intangible assets, greater volatility in business operations,
a larger portion of its production costs incurred prior to production, and unusual
revenue recognition methods requires more judgments and estimates. Generally,
earnings quality is lower in such industries than in industries where the accounting
is more straightforward.

* Determine the reporting strategy. Identify the accounting strategy adopted by
the company. Is the company adopting aggressive reporting practices? Does the
company have a clean audit report? Has there been a history of accounting prob-
lems? Does management have a reputation for integrity, or are they known to cut
corners? It is also necessary to examine incentives for earnings management and
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look for consistent patterns indicative of it. Analysts need to evaluate the quality
of a company’s disclosures. While disclosures are not substitutes for good quality
financial statements, forthcoming and detailed disclosures can mitigate weaknesses
in financial statements.

¢ Identify and assess red flags. One useful step in evaluating earnings quality is to
beware of red flags. Red flags are items that alert analysts to potentially more
serious problems. Some examples of red flags are:

Poor financial performance—desperate companies are prone to desperate means.
Reported earnings consistently higher than operating cash flows.

Reported pretax earnings consistently higher than taxable income.

Qualified audit report.

Auditor resignation or a nonroutine auditor change.

Unexplained or frequent changes in accounting policies.

Sudden increase in inventories in comparison to sales.

Use of mechanisms to circumvent accounting rules, such as operating leases and
receivables securitization.

Frequent one-time charges and big baths.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE BOARD MEMBER

You are a new member of the board of directors of a merchandiser. You are preparing
for your first meeting with the company’s independent auditor. A stockholder writes
you a letter raising concerns about earnings quality. What are some questions or issues
that you can raise with the auditor to address these concerns and fulfill your fiduciary
responsibilities to shareholders?

Adjusting Financial Statements

The final and most involved task in accounting analysis is making appropriate ad-
justments to financial statements, especially the income statement and balance sheet.
As discussed earlier, the need for these adjustments arises both because of distor-
tions in the reported numbers and because of specific analysis objectives. The main
emphasis of the next four chapters of this book is the proper identification and ad-
justment of accounting numbers. Some common adjustments to financial statements
include:

e Capitalization of long-term operating leases, with adjustments to both the balance
sheet and income statement.

¢ Recognition of ESO expense for income determination.

 Adjustments for one-time charges such as asset impairments and restructuring costs.

 Recognition of the economic (funded) status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans on the balance sheet.

¢ Removal of the effects of selected deferred income tax liabilities and assets from the
balance sheet.

113
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-«.:«APPENDIX 2A: EARNINGS QUALITY

Earnings quality refers to the relevance of earnings in measuring company performance.
Its determinants include a company’s business environment and its selection and appli-
cation of accounting principles. This appendix focuses on measuring earnings quality,
describing income statement and balance sheet analysis of earnings quality, and
explaining how external factors impact earnings quality.

Determinants of Earnings Quality

We know earnings (income) measurement and recognition involve estimation and
interpretation of business transactions and events. Our prior analysis of earnings
emphasized that accounting earnings is not a unique amount but depends on the
assumptions used and principles applied.

The need for estimation and interpretation in accrual accounting has led some indi-
viduals to question the reliability of #// accrual measures. This is an extreme and unwise
reaction because of the considerable wealth of relevant information communicated in
accrual measures.

We know accrual accounting consists of adjusting cash flows to reflect universally ac-
cepted concepts: earned revenue and incurred expenses. What our analysis must focus
on are the assumptions and principles applied, and the adjustments appropriate for our
analysis objectives. We should use the information in accruals to our competitive ad-
vantage and to help us better understand current and future company performance. We
must also be aware of both accounting and audit risks to rely on earnings. Improvements
in both accounting and auditing have decreased the incidence of fraud and misinter-
pretation in financial statements. Nevertheless, management fraud and misrepre-
sentation is far from eliminated, and audit failures do occur (e.g., Enron, WorldCom,
and Xerox). Our analysis must always evaluate accounting and audit risk, including the
FRAUD ALERT character and propensities of management, in assessing earnings.

';"ri nsyp:{]tizctl)?flsgiuﬁ(iellers Measuring earnings quality arose out of a need to compare earnings of different com-

long before regulators and panies and a desire to recognize differences in quality for valuation purposes. There is

the press pick them up. not complete agreement on what constitutes earnings quality. This section considers
three factors typically identified as determinants of earnings quality and some examples
of their assessment.

1. Accounting principles. One determinant of earnings quality is the discretion of
management in selecting accepted accounting principles. This discretion can be ag-
gressive (optimistic) or conservative. The quality of conservatively determined
earnings is perceived to be higher because they are less likely to overstate current
and future performance expectations compared with those determined in an ag-
gressive manner. Conservatism reduces the likelihood of earnings overstatement
and retrospective changes. However, excessive conservatism, while contributing
temporarily to earnings quality, reduces the reliability and relevance of earnings in
the longer run. Examining the accounting principles selected can provide clues to
management’s propensities and attitudes.

2. Accounting application. Another determinant of earnings quality is manage-
ment’s discretion in applying accepted accounting principles. Management has
discretion over the amount of earnings through their application of accounting
principles determining revenues and expenses. Discretionary expenses like
advertising, marketing, repairs, maintenance, research, and development can be
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timed to manage the level of reported earnings (or loss). Earnings reflecting timing
elements unrelated to operating or business conditions can detract from earnings
quality. Our analysis task is to identify the implications of management’s
accounting application and assess its motivations.

3. Business risk. A third determinant of earnings quality is the relation between
earnings and business risk. It includes the effect of cyclical and other business
forces on earnings level, stability, sources, and variability. For example, earnings
variability is generally undesirable and its increase harms earnings quality. Higher
earnings quality is linked with companies more insulated from business risk.
While business risk is not primarily a result of management’s discretionary
actions, this risk can be lowered by skillful management strategies.

INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS
OF EARNINGS QUALITY

Important determinants of earnings quality are management’s selection and application
of accounting principles. This section focuses on several important discretionary
accounting expenditures to help us to assess earnings quality. Dsscretionary expenditures
are outlays that management can vary across periods to conserve resources and/or
influence reported earnings. For this reason, they deserve special attention in our analy-
sis. These expenditures are often reported in the income statement or its notes, and
hence, evaluation of these items is referred to as an income statement analysis of earn-
ings quality. Two important examples are:

1. Advertising expense. A major portion of advertising outlays has effects beyond
the current period. This yields a weak relation between advertising outlays and
short-term performance. This also implies management can in certain cases cut
advertising costs with no immediate effects on sales. However, long-run sales
are likely to suffer. Analysis must look at year-to-year variations in advertising
expenses to assess their impact on future sales and earnings quality.

2. Research and development expense. Research and development costs are
among the most difficult expenditures in financial statements to analyze and
interpret. Yet they are important, not necessarily because of their amount but
because of their effect on future performance. Interestingly, research and develop-
ment costs have acquired an aura of productive potential in analysis exceeding what
is often warranted by experience. There exist numerous cases of successful re-
search and development activities in areas like genetics, chemistry, electronics,
photography, and biology. But for each successful project there are countless failures.
These research failures represent vast sums expensed or written off without measur-
able benefits. Our intent is to determine the amount of current research and devel-
opment costs having future benefits. These benefits are often measured by relating
research and development outlays to sales growth and new product development.

Analysis of Other Discretionary Costs

There are other discretionary future-directed outlays. Examples are costs of training,
selling, managerial development, and repairs and maintenance. While these costs are
usually expensed in the period incurred, they often have future utility. To the extent that
these costs are separately disclosed in the income statement or the notes to the finan-
cial statements, analysis should recognize their effects in assessing current earnings and
future prospects.
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BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS
OF EARNINGS QUALITY

Conservatism in Reported Assets

The relevance of reported asset values is linked (with few exceptions like cash, held-to-
maturity investments, and land) with their ultimate recognition as reported expenses.
We can state this as a general proposition:

When assets are overstated, camulative earnings are overstated.

This is true because earnings are relieved of charges necessary to bring these assets
down to realizable values. Examples include the delay in recognizing impaired assets,
such as obsolete inventories or unproductive plant and equipment, and the under-
statement of allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable. The converse is also
true: when assets are understated, camulative earnings are understated. An example is
the unrecognized appreciation on an acquired business that is recorded at original
purchase price.

Conservatism in Reported Provisions and Liabilities

Our analysis must be alert to the proposition relating provisions and liability values to
earnings. In general,

When provisions and liabilities are understated, camulative earnings are overstated.

This is true because earnings are relieved of charges necessary to bring the provisions
or liabilities up to their market values. Examples are understatements in provisions for
product warranties and environmental liabilities that yield overstatement in cumulative
earnings. Conversely, an gverprovision for current and future liabilities or losses yields an
understatement of earnings (or overstatement of losses). An example is overestimation of
severance costs of a planned restructuring.

We will describe in Chapter 6 how provisions for future costs and losses that are ex-
cessive shift the burden of costs and expenses from future income statements to the cur-
rent period. Bearing in mind our propositions regarding the earnings effects from
reported values of assets and liabilities, the critical analysis of these values represents
an important factor in assessing earnings quality.

EXTERNAL FACTORS
AND EARNINGS QUALITY

Earnings quality is affected by factors external to a company. These external fac-
tors make earnings more or less reliable. One factor is the quality of foreign
earnings. Foreign earnings quality is affected by the difficulties and uncertainties in
repatriation of funds, currency fluctuations, political and social conditions, and local
customs and regulation. In certain countries, companies lack flexibility in dismissing
personnel, which essentially converts labor into a fixed cost. Another factor affect-
ing earnings quality is regulation. For example, the regulatory environment confronting
a public utility affects its earnings quality. An unsympathetic or hostile regulatory en-
vironment can affect costs and selling prices and thereby diminish earnings quality due
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to increased uncertainty of future profits. Also, the stability and reliability of earnings
sources aftfect earnings quality. Government defense-related revenues are dependable in
times of high international tensions, but affected by political events in peacetime.
Changing price levels affect earnings quality. When price levels are rising, “inventory
profits” or understatements in expenses like depreciation lower earnings quality. Fi-
nally, because of uncertainties due to complexities of operations, earnings of certain con-

glomerates are considered of lower quality.

GUIDANCE ANSWERS TO ANALYSIS VIEWPOINTS

AUDITOR

An auditor’s main objective is an expression of
an opinion on the fairness of financial state-
ments according to generally accepted ac-
counting principles. As auditor, you desire
assurance on the absence of errors and irregu-
larities in financial statements. Financial state-
ment analysis can help identify any errors and
irregularities affecting the statements. Also, this
analysis compels our auditor to understand the
company’s operations and its performance in
light of prevailing economic and industry con-
ditions. Application of financial statement
analysis is especially useful as a preliminary
audit tool, directing the auditor to areas of
greatest change and unexplained performance.

DIRECTOR

Asamember of acompany’s board of directors,
you are responsible for oversight of manage-
ment and the safeguarding of shareholders’
interests. Accordingly, a director’s interest in
the company is broad and risky. To reduce risk,
a director uses financial statement analysis to
monitor management and assess company
profitability, growth, and financial condition.
Because of a director’s unique position, there is

QUESTIONS

near unlimited access to internal financial and
other records. Analysis of financial statements
assists our director in (1) recognizing causal
relationships among business activities and
events, (2) helping directors focus on the com-
pany and not on a maze of financial details, and
(3) encouraging proactive and not reactive
measures in confronting changing financial
conditions.

BOARD MEMBER

Your concern with earnings quality is to ensure
earnings accurately reflect the company’s return
and risk characteristics. Low earnings quality
implies szflated earnings (returns) and/or deflated
risk not reflecting actual return or risk charac-
teristics. Regarding inflated earnings (returns),
you can ask the auditor for evidence of man-
agement’s use of liberal accounting principles or
applications, aggressive behavior in discre-
tionary accruals, asset overstatements, and lia-
bility understatements. Regarding deflated risk,
you can ask about earnings sources, stability,
variability, and trend. Additional risk-related
questions can focus on the character or propen-
sities of management, the regulatory environ-
ment, and overall business risk.

[Superscript 4 denotes assignments based on Appendix 2A.]

2-1. Describe the U.S. financial reporting environment including the following:
a. Forces that impact the content of statutory financial reports
b. Rule-making bodies and regulatory agencies that formulate GAAP used in financial reports
c. Users of financial information and what alternative sources of information are available beyond

statutory financial reports

d. Enforcement and monitoring mechanisms to improve the integrity of statutory financial reports

2-2. Why are earnings announcements made in advance of the release of financial statements? What infor-
mation do they contain and how are they different from financial statements?

2-3. Describe the content and purpose of at least four financial reports that must be filed with the SEC.

2-4. What constitutes contemporary GAAP?

2-5. Explain how accounting standards are established.
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2-6.
2-7.
. Describe forces that serve to limit the ability of management to manage financial statements.
2-9.

2-10.
2-11.

2-12.
2-13.
2-14.

2-15.
2-16.

2-17.
2-18.
2-19.
2-20.
2-21.
2-22.

2-23.

2-24.
2-25.
2-26.

2-27.
2-28.
2-29.

2-30.
2-31.

2-32.
2-33.

2-34.
2-35.

2-36.
2-37.
2-38.

Who has the main responsibility for ensuring fair and accurate financial reporting by a company?
Describe factors that bring about managerial discretion for preparing financial statements.

Describe alternative information sources beyond statutory financial reports that are available to investors
and creditors.

Describe tasks that financial intermediaries perform on behalf of financial statement users.

Explain historical cost and fair value models of accounting. What explains the move toward fair value
accounting?

What is conservatism? What are its advantages?
What are the two types of conservatism? Which type of conservatism is more useful for analysis?

Describe empirical evidence showing that financial accounting information is relevant for decision
making.

Describe at least four major limitations of financial statement information.

It is difficult to measure the business performance of a company in the short run using only cash flow
measures because of timing and matching problems. Describe each of these problems and cite at least
one example for each.

Describe the criteria necessary for a business to record revenue.

Explain when costs should be recognized as expenses.

Distinguish between short-term and long-term accruals.

Explain why cash flow measures of performance are less useful than accrual-based measures.
What factors give rise to the superiority of accrual accounting over cash accounting? Explain.

Accrual accounting information is conceptually more relevant than cash flows. Describe empirical
findings that support this superiority of accrual accounting.

Accrual accounting information, cash flow information, and analysts’ forecasts are information for
investors. Compare and contrast each of these sources in terms of relevance and reliability.

Define income. Distinguish income from cash flow.
What are the two basic economic concepts of income? What implications do they have for analysis?

Economic income measures change in value while permanent income is proportional to value itself.
Explain this statement.

Explain how accountants measure income.
Accounting income has elements of both permanent income and economic income. Explain this statement.

Distinguish between the permanent and transitory components of income. Cite an example of each, and
discuss how each component affects analysis.

Define and cite an example of a value irrelevant component of income.

Determining core income is an important first step to estimating permanent income. Explain. What
adjustments to net income should be made for estimating core income?

What adjustments would you make to net income to determine economic income?

Explain how accounting principles can, in certain cases, create differences between financial statement
information and economic reality.

What are the key differences between the historical cost and the fair value models of accounting?

Describe what income purports to represent under the historical cost and the fair value accounting
models. How is income determined under either model?

Provide a formal definition for fair value. What are the key elements of this definition?
Fair values are market-based measurements not entity-specific measurements. Explain with an example.

Explain the hierarchy of inputs used in determining fair values. The use of which level of input lowers the
reliability of fair value estimates?
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2-39. Which types of assets/liabilities lend themselves more easily to fair value measurements: financial or
operating? Explain with reference to the hierarchy of inputs.

2-40. Describe the three basic valuation approaches for estimating fair values. Relate the valuation
approaches to hierarchy of inputs.

2-41. Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of fair value accounting.

2-42. In your opinion does historical cost or fair value model generate more (&) relevant and (b) reliable
accounting information? Argue your case.

2-43. What are the major issues that an analyst needs to consider when analyzing financial statements
prepared under the fair value accounting model?

2-44. Explain how estimates and judgments of financial statement preparers can create differences between
financial statement information and economic reality.

2-45. What is accounting analysis? Explain.

2-46. What is the process to carry out an accounting analysis?
2-47. What gives rise to accounting distortions? Explain.

2-48. Why do managers sometimes manage earnings?

2-49. What are popular earnings management strategies? Explain.

2-50. Explain what is meant by the term earnings management and what incentives managers have to engage
in earnings management.

2-51. Describe the role that accrual accounting information and cash flow information play in your own models
of company valuation.

2-52. Explain how accounting concepts and standards, and the financial statements based on them, are
subject to the pervasive influence of individual judgments and incentives.

2-53. Would you be willing to pay more or less for a stock, on average, when the accounting information provided
to you about the firm is unaudited? Explain.

2-547, What is meant by earnings quality? Why do users assess earnings quality? What major factors determine
earnings quality?

2-557, What are discretionary expenses? What is the importance of discretionary expenses for analysis of
earnings quality?

2-56". What is the relation between the reported value of assets and reported earnings? What is the relation
between the reported values of liabilities, including provisions, and reported earnings?

2-57". How does a balance sheet analysis provide a check on the validity and quality of earnings?
2-58". What is the effect of external factors on earnings quality?

2-59A, Explain how earnings management affects earnings quality. How is earnings management distinguished
from fraudulent reporting?

2—-607. Identify and explain three types of earnings management that can reduce earnings quality.

2-61A. What factors and incentives motivate companies (management) to engage in earnings management?
What are the implications of these incentives for financial statement analysis?

EXERCISES

Some financial statement users maintain that despite its intrinsic intellectual appeal, uniformity EXERCISE 2-1
in accounting seems unworkable in a complex modern society that relies, at least in part, on Uniformity in Accounting
economic market forces.

Required:

a. Discuss at least three disadvantages of national or international accounting uniformity.
b. Explain whether uniformity in accounting necessarily implies comparability.

(CFA Adapted)
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EXERCISE 2-2 Announcements of good news or bad news earnings for the recently completed fiscal quarter usu-
Earnings ally create fairly small abnormal stock price changes on the day of the announcement.
Announcements and
Market Reactions Required:
a. Discuss how stock price changes over the preceding days or weeks help explain this phenomenon.
b. Discuss the types of information that the market might have received in advance of the earnings announcement.
c. How does the relatively small price reaction at the time of the earnings announcement relate to the price
changes that are observed in the days or weeks prior to the announcement?
EXERCISE 2-3 Some financial statement users criticize the timeliness of annual financial statements.
Timeliness of
Financial Statements Required:
a. Explain why summary information in the income statement is not new information when the annual report is
issued.
b. Describe the types of information in the income statement that are new information to financial statement users
when the annual report is issued.
EXERCISE 24 The SEC requires companies to submit statutory financial reports on both a quarterly and an
Reliability of annual basis. The quarterly report is called the 10-Q.
Quarterly Reports )
Required:
What are two factors about quarterly financial reports that can be misleading if the analyst does
not consider them when performing analysis of quarterly reports?
EXERCISE 2-5 The SEC requires various statutory reports from companies with publicly traded securities.
Information in
SEC Reports Required:
Identify which SEC report is the best place to find the following information.
a. Management’s discussion of the financial results for the fiscal year.
b. Terms of the CEQ’s compensation and the total compensation paid to the CEQ in the prior fiscal year.
c. Who is on the board of directors and are they from within or outside of the company?
d. How much are the directors paid for their services?
e. Results of operations and financial position of the company at the end of the second quarter.
f. Why a firm changed its auditors.
g. Details for the upcoming initial public offering of stock.
EXERCISE 2-6 Managers are responsible for ensuring fair and accurate financial reporting. Managers also have

Mechanisms to Monitor

Financial Reporting

inside information that can aid their estimates of future outcomes. Yet managers face incentives
to strategically report information in their best interests.

Required:

Assume a manager of a publicly traded company is intending to recognize revenues in an
inappropriate and fraudulent manner. Explain the penalty(ies) that can be imposed on a manager
by the monitoring and enforcement mechanisms in place to restrict such activity.
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There are various motivations for managers to make voluntary disclosures. Identify whether you
believe managers are likely to release the following information in the form of voluntary dis-
closure (examine each case independently):

a. Acompany plans to sell an underperforming division for a substantial loss in the second quarter of next year.

b. Acompany is experiencing disappointing sales and, as a result, expects to report disappointing earnings at the
end of this quarter.

c. Acompany plans to report especially strong earnings this quarter.
d. Management believes the consensus forecast of analysts is slightly higher than managers’ forecasts.
e. Management strongly believes the company is undervalued at its current stock price.

EXERCISE 2-7
Incentrves for

Voluntary Disclosure

Financial statements are a major source of information about a company. Forecasts, reports, and
recommendations from analysts are popular alternative sources of information.

Required:

a. Discuss the strengths of financial statement information for business decision makers.
b. Discuss the strengths of analyst forecast information for business decision makers.
c. Discuss how the two information sources in (&) and (b) are interrelated.

EXERCISE 2-8
Financial Statement
Information versus

Analysts’® Forecasts

Financial statements are inexorably moving to a model where all assets and liabilities will be mea-
sured on the basis of fair value rather than historical cost.

Required:
a. Discuss the conceptual differences between historical cost and fair value.
b. Discuss the merits and demerits of the two alternative measurement models.

c. What types of assets (or liabilities) more readily lend themselves to fair value measurements? Can we visualize
a scenario where all assets are measured using fair value?

d. What are the likely effects of adopting the fair value model on reported income?

EXERCISE 2-9
Historical Cost versus
Fair Value

a. ldentify at least two reasons why an accrual accounting income statement is more useful for analyzing business
performance than a cash flow based income statement.

b. Describe what would be reported on the asset side of a cash flow based balance sheet versus the asset side of
an accrual accounting balance sheet.

c. Astrength of accrual accounting is its relevance for decision making. The strength of cash flow information is
its reliability. Explain what makes accrual accounting more relevant and cash flows more reliable.

EXERCISE 2-10

Accrual Accounting
versus Cash Flows

Analysts produce forecasts of accounting earnings along with other forward-looking information.
This information has strengths and weaknesses versus financial statement information.
Required:

a. Discuss whether you believe analysts’ forecasts are more relevant for business decision making than financial
statement information.

b. Discuss whether you believe analysts’ forecasts are more reliable than financial statement information.

EXERCISE 2-11
Analyst Forecasts versus

Financial Statements
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EXERCISE 2-12
Accrual Accounting

Measurement Error

Accrual accounting requires estimates of future outcomes. For example, the reserve for bad debts
is a forecast of the amount of current receivables that will ultimately prove uncollectible.

Required:

Identify and explain three reasons why accounting information might deviate from the underly-
ing economic reality. Cite examples of transactions that might give rise to each of the reasons.

EXERCISE 2-13
Accounting for
Hidden Reserves

A former chairman of the SEC refers to hidden reserves on the balance sheet as “cookie-jar”
reserves. These reserves are built up in periods when earnings are strong and drawn down to
bolster earnings in periods when earnings are weak.

Required:

Reserves for (1) bad debts and (2) inventory, along with the (3) large accruals associated with
restructuring charges, are transactions that sometimes yield hidden reserves.

a. For each of these transactions, explain when and how a hidden reserve is created.
b. For each of these transactions, explain when and how a hidden reserve is drawn down to boost earnings.

EXERCISE 2-14
Banks and
Hidden Reserves

In the past decade, several large “money center” banks recorded huge additions Citicorp
to their loan loss reserve. For example, Citicorp recorded a one-time addition to

its loan loss reserve totaling about $3 billion. These additions to loan loss reserves led to large net
losses for these banks. While most analysts agree that additional reserves were warranted, many
speculated the banks recorded more reserve than necessary.

Required:

a. Why might a bank choose to record more loan loss reserve than necessary?
b. Explain how overstated loan loss reserves can be used to manage earnings in future years.

PROBLEMS

PROBLEM 2-1
Financial Statement
Analysis and
Standard Setting

Financial statement users often liken accounting standard setting to a political process. One user
made the following assertion: “My view s that the setting of accounting standards is as much a prod-
uct of political action as of flawless logic or empirical findings. Why? Because the setting of standards 15 a
soctal decision. Standards place restrictions on behavior; therefore, they must be accepted by the affected
parties. Acceptance may be forced or voluntary or some of both. In a democratic society, getting acceptance
15 an exceedingly complicated process that requires skillful marketing in a political arena.” Many parties
affected by proposed standards intervene to protect their own interests while disguising their
motivations as altruistic or theoretical. People often say, “If you like the answer, you'll love the
theory” It is also alleged that those who are regulated by the standard-setting process have ex-
cessive influence over the regulatory process. One FASB member declared: “The business com-
munity has much greater influence than it’s ever had over standard setting. I think it’s unhealthy.
It is the preparer community that is really being regulated in this process, and if we have those
being regulated having a dominant role in the regulatory process, that’s asking for major trouble.”

Required:
Discuss the relevance of the accounting standard-setting process to analysis of financial statements.

PROBLEM 2-2
Neutrality of
Measurements in
Financial Statements

Financial reporting has been likened to cartography:

Information cannot be neutral—it cannot therefore be reliable—if it is selected or pre-
sented for the purpose of producing some chosen effect on human behavior. It is this
quality of neutrality which makes a map reliable; and the essential nature of accounting,
I believe, is cartographic. Accounting is financial mapmaking. The better the map, the
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more completely it represents the complex phenomena that are being mapped. We do
not judge a map by the behavioral effects it produces. The distribution of natural wealth
or rainfall shown on a map may lead to population shifts or changes in industrial
location, which the government may like or dislike. That should be no concern of the
cartographer. We judge his map by how well it represents the facts. People can then
react to it as they will.

Required:

a. Explain why neutrality is such an important quality of financial statements.
b. ldentify examples of the lack of neutrality in accounting reports.

An editor of the Financial Analysts Journal reviewed an earlier edition of this book and made this
assertion:

Broadly speaking, accounting numbers are of two types: those that can be measured
and those that have to be estimated. Investors who feel that accounting values are more
real than market values should remember that, although the estimated numbers in the
accounting statements often have a greater impact, singly or together, than the mea-
sured numbers, accountants’ estimates are rarely based on any serious attempt by
accountants at business or economic judgment.

The main reason accountants shy away from precise statements of principle for the
determination of asset values is that neither they nor anyone else has yet come up with
principles that will consistently give values plausible enough that, if accounting state-
ments were based on these principles, users would take them seriously.

Required:
a. Describe what is meant by measurement in accounting.
b. According to this editor, what are the kinds of measurements investors want?

c. Discuss whether the objectives of accountants and investors regarding accounting measurement are
reconcilable.

PROBLEM 2-3
Analysts’ Information
Needs and Accounting
Measurements

An FASB member expressed the following view:

Are we going to set accounting standards in the private sector or not? . . . Part of the
answer depends on how the business community views accounting standards. Are they
rules of conduct, designed to restrain unsocial behavior and arbitrate conflicts of eco-
nomic interest? Or are they rules of measurement, designed to generalize and commu-
nicate as accurately as possible the complex results of economic events? . . . Rules of
conduct call for a political process. . . . Rules of measurement, on the other hand, call
for a research process of observation and experimentation. . . . Intellectually, the case is
compelling for viewing accounting as a measurement process. . . . But the history of
accounting standard setting has been dominated by the other view—that accounting
standards are rules of conduct. The FASB was created out of the ashes of predecessors
burned up in the fires of the resulting political process.

Required:

a. Discuss your views on the difference between “rules of conduct” and “rules of measurement.”

b. Explain how accounting standard setting is a political process. Identify arguments for and against viewing
accounting standard setting as political.

PROBLEM 2-4
Standard Setting and
Politics
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PROBLEM 2-5
Accounting in Society

Consider the following excerpt from the Financial Analysts Journal:

Strictly speaking, the objectives of financial reporting are the objectives of society and
not of accountants and auditors, as such. Similarly, society has objective law and
medicine—namely, justice and health for the people—which are not necessarily the ob-
jectives of lawyers and doctors, as such, in the conduct of their respective “business.”
In a variety of ways, society exerts pressure on a profession to act more nearly as if it
actively shared the objectives of society. Society’s pressure is to be measured by the de-
gree of accommodation on the part of the profession under pressure, and by the degree
of counterpressure applied by the profession. For example, doctors accommodate soci-
ety by getting better educations than otherwise and reducing incompetence in their
ranks. They apply counterpressure and gain protection by forming medical associations.

Required:

a.
b. Describe how the accounting profession has responded to these pressures. Could the profession have better

Describe ways in which society has brought pressure on accountants to better serve its needs.

responded?

PROBLEM 2-6

Conservatism

A standard setter recently made a private remark that conservatism was a “barbaric relic” that
violated the “neutrality” requirement of accounting information and that financial statements

would be far more informative without conservatism.

Required:

a.

What is conservatism? What are the reasons why conservatism continues to be dominant in financial state-

ments?

. Do you agree with the observation by the standard setter?
As an analyst would you prefer conservative accounting? Does your answer depend on your analysis objective?

For example, would you prefer conservative accounting if you were an equity analyst?

. Many regard conservative accounting as “high-quality” accounting. Do you agree with this statement? Provide

arguments for why you think conservative accounting increases or impedes accounting quality.

Academics refer to two forms of conservatism. What are they? Which form of conservatism do you think is more

useful for an analyst?

PROBLEM 2-17
Financial Reporting or
Financial Subterfuge

Consider the following claim from a business observer:

An accountant’s job is to conceal, not to reveal. An accountant is not asked to give out-
siders an accurate picture of what’s going on in a company. He is asked to transform the
figures on a company’s operations in such a way that it will be impossible to recreate
the original figures.

An income statement for a toy company doesn’t tell how many toys of various kinds
the company sold, or who the company’s best customers are. The balance sheet doesn’t
tell how many of each kind of toy the company has in inventory, or how much is owed
by each customer who is late in paying his bills.
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In general, anything that a manager uses to do his job will be of interest to some
stockholders, customers, creditors, or government agencies. Managerial accounting
differs from financial accounting only because the accountant has to hide some of the
facts and figures managers find useful. The accountant simply has to throw out most of
the facts and some of the figures that the managers use when he creates the financial
statements for outsiders.

The rules of accounting reflect this tension. Even if the accountant thought of
himself as working only for the good of society, he would conceal certain facts in the
reports he helps write. Since the accountant is actually working for the company, or
even for the management of the company, he conceals many facts that outsiders would
like to have revealed.

Required:
a. Discuss this observer's misgivings on the role of the accountant in financial reporting.
b. Discuss what type of omitted information the business observer is referring to.

Equity valuations in today’s market are arguably too high. Many analysts assert that price-to-
earnings ratios are so high as to constitute an irrational valuation “bubble” that is bound to burst
and drag valuations down. Skeptics are especially wary of the valuations for high-tech and Inter-
net companies. Proponents of the “new paradigm” argue that the unusually high price-to-
earnings ratios associated with many high-tech and Internet companies are justified because
modern business is fundamentally different. In fact, many believe these companies are still, on
average, undervalued. They argue that these companies have invested great sums in intangible as-
sets that will produce large future profits. Also, research and development costs are expensed.
This means they reduce income each period and are not reported as assets on the balance sheet.
Consequently, earnings appear lower than normal and this yields price-to-earnings ratios that ap-
pear unreasonably high.

Required:
Assess and critique the positions of both the skeptics and proponents of this new paradigm.

PROBLEM 2-8
Contemporary Valuation

In a discussion of corporate income, a user of financial statements makes the following allegation:
“One of the real problems with income is that you never really know what it is. The only way you
can find out is to liquidate a company and reduce everything to cash. Then you can subtract what
went into the company from what came out and the result is income. Until then, income is only
a product of accounting rituals”

Required:

a. Do you agree with the above statement? Explain. What problems do you foresee in measuring income in the
manner described?

b. What assumptions underlie periodic measurement of income under accrual accounting? Which income
approach do you think is more reasonable? Explain.

PROBLEM 2-9

Income Measurement
and Interpretation

According to an article in The Wall Street Journal, a European filmmaking P()]ygram
studio, Polygram, is considering funding movie production by selling secu-

rities. These securities will yield returns to investors based on the actual cash

flows of the movies that are financed from the sale of these securities.

PROBLEM 2-10
Specialized
Accounting

Information
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Required:

a. What information would you suggest the filmmakers provide to investors to encourage them to invest in the pro-
duction of a particular movie or movies (i.e., what information is relevant to your decision to invest in a movie)?

b. What kind of evidence can be included to support claims in the prospectus (i.e., what can maximize the
reliability of the information released)?

PROBLEM 2-11
Politics and

Promulgation of
Standards

The FASB in SEAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Options,” encourages (but does not
require) companies to recognize compensation expense based on the fair value of stock options
awarded to their employees and managers. Early drafts of this proposal required the recognition
of the fair value of the options. But the FASB met opposition from companies and chose to only
encourage the recognition of fair value. Recently, however, FASB has revised this standard (SE4S
123R) so as to require recognition of option compensation expense.

Required:
a. Discuss the role you believe the following parties should play in the accounting standard promulgation process:
(1) FASB (5) Companies (CEQs)
(2) SEC (6) Accounting firms
(3) AICPA (7) Investors
(4) Congress

b. Discuss which parties likely lobbied for the change from requiring expense recognition to only encouraging the
expensing of stock options.

PROBLEM 2-12
Relations between
Income, Cash Flow,
and Stock Price

CHECK
EPS performs best

The following information is extracted from the annual report of Lands’ Lands End
End (in millions, except per share data):

Fiscal year Year 9 Year 8 Year 7 Year 6 Year § Year 4
Net income $31.2 $64.2 $ 51.0 $30.6 $36.1 $43.7
Cash from (used by) operations 74.3 (26.9) 121.8 41.4 34.5 22.4
Net cash flow 0.03 (86.5) 75.7 11.8 (16.1) (1.2)
Free cash flow* 27.5 (74.6) 103.3 27.5 2.4 5.1
Market price per share (end of fiscal year) 32375 39.312 28375 14625  16.125  24.375
Common shares outstanding 30.1 31.0 324 33.7 34.8 35.9

*Defined as Cash flow from operations — Capital expenditures — Dividends.

Required:

a. Calculate and graph the following separate relations:
(1) Net income per share (EPS) and market
price per share
(2) Cash from operations per share and market
price per share

(3) Net cash flow per share and market price per share

(4) Free cash flow per share and market price per share

b. Which of the measures extracted from the annual report appear to best explain changes in stock price? Discuss
the implications of this for stock valuation.

c. Choose another company and prepare similar graphs. Do your observations from Lands’ End generalize?
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The following information is taken from Marsh Marsh Supermarkets  PROBLEM 2-13

Supermarkets annual report: Eamings
Management
During the first quarter, we made several decisions resulting in a $13 million charge to Strategies

earnings. A new accounting pronouncement, E4S 121, required the Company to take a
$7.5 million charge. E4S 121 dictates how companies are to account for the carrying
values of their assets. This rule affects all public and private companies.

The magnitude of this charge created a window of opportunity to address several
other issues that, in the Company’s best long term interest, needed to be resolved. We
amended our defined benefit retirement plan, and took significant reorganization and
other special charges. These charges, including E4S 121, totaled almost $13 million.
The result was a $7.1 million loss for the quarter and a small net loss for the year.
Although these were difficult decisions because of their short term impact, they will
have positive implications for years to come.

Marsh Supermarkets’ net income for the current and previous years are $8.6 million and $9.0 mil-
lion, respectively.
Required:

What earnings management strategy appears to have been used by Marsh Supermarkets in con-
junction with the E4S 121 charge (note, the $7.5 million charge from adoption of E4S 121 is not CHECK

avoidable)? Why do you think Marsh pursued this strategy? Big bath strategy
Emerson Electric is engaged in design, manufacture, and Emerson Electric  PROBLEM 2-14
sale of a broad range of electrical, electromechanical, Earnings

and electronic products and systems. The following shows Management
Emerson’s net income and net income before extraordinary Strategies

items for the past 20 years (in millions):

Net Income Net Income Net Income

hefore hefore hefore

Net Extraordinary Net Extraordinary Net Extraordinary

Year Income Items Year Income Items Year Income Items
Y1 $201.0 $201.0 Y8  $408.9 $408.9 Y15 § 7081 $ 708.1
Y2 237.7 237.7 Y9 467.2 467.2 Y16 788.5 904.4
Y3 273.3 273.3 Y10 528.8 528.8 Y17 907.7 929.0
Y4 300.1 300.1 Y11 588.0 588.0 Y18 1,018.5 1,018.5
Y5 302.9 302.9 Y12 613.2 613.2 Y19 1,121.9 1,121.9
Y6 349.2 349.2 Y13 631.9 631.9 Y20 1,228.6 1,228.6

Y7 401.1 401.1 Y14 662.9 662.9

Emerson has achieved consistent earnings growth for more than 160 straight quarters (more than
40 years).



CHECK
Income smoothing strategy
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Required:

a. What earnings strategy do you think Emerson has applied over the years to maintain its record of earnings growth?

b. Describe the extent you believe Emerson’s earnings record reflects business activities, excellent management,
and/or earnings management.

c. Describe how Emerson’s earnings strategy is applied in good years and bad.
d. Identify years where Emerson likely built hidden reserves and the years it probably drew upon hidden reserves.

PROBLEM 2-15
Usefulness of
Accrual
Accounting

A finance textbook likens accrual accounting information to “nail soup.” The recipe for nail soup
includes the usual soup ingredients such as broth and noodles, but it also includes nails. This
means with each spoonful of nail soup, one gets nails with broth and noodles. Accordingly, to eat
the soup, one must remove the nails from each spoonful. The textbook went on to say that
accountants include much valuable information in financial reports but one must remove the
accounting accruals (nails) to make the information useful.

Required:
Critique the analogy of accrual accounting to “nail soup”

PROBLEM 2-16
Relevance of Accruals

Consider the following: While accrual accounting information is imperfect, ignoring it and making
cash _flows the basis of all analysis and business decisions 1s like throwing the baby out with the bath
waler.

Required:
a. Do you agree or disagree with this statement? Explain.
b. How does accrual accounting provide superior information to cash flows?

c. What are the imperfections of accrual accounting? Is it possible for accrual accounting to depict economic
reality? Explain.

d. What is the prudent approach to analysis using accrual accounting information?

PROBLEM 2-17%
Earnings Quality

The following is an excerpt from a quarterly earnings
announcement by American Express:

American Express

American Express Reports Record Quarterly Net Income of $648 Million

QUARTER ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30
Percentage
($ millions except per share amounts) 20X9 20X8 Inc./(Dec.)
Net income $ 648 $ 574 13.0%
Net revenues $ 4879 $ 4342 12.4%
Per share net income (Basic) $ 145 $ 1.27 14.2%
Average common shares outstanding 446.0 451.6 (1.2%)

Return on average equity 25.3% 23.9%
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NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30

- Percentage
($ millions except per share amounts) 20X9 20X8 Inc./(Dec.)
Net income $ 1,869 $ 1,611 16.0%
Net revenues $14,211 $12,662 12.2%
Per share net income (Basic) $ 418 $ 3.53 18.4%
Average common shares outstanding 447.0 456.2 (2.0%)
Return on average equity 25.3% 23.9%

Due to a change in accounting rules, the company is required to capitalize software
costs rather than expense them as they occur. For the third quarter of 20X9, this
amounted to a pre-tax benefit of $68 million (net of amortization). Also, the
securitization of credit card receivables produced a gain of $55 million ($36 million
after tax) in the current quarter.

Required:

Evaluate and comment on both (z) the earnings quality and (%) the relative performance of
American Express in the most recent quarter relative to the same quarter of the prior fiscal
year.

CHECK
Adjust for unusual

items

CASES

Answer the following questions using the annual report of Colgate in Colgate CASE 2-1

Appendix A to this book. Analysis of

a. Who is responsible for the preparation and integrity of Colgate’s financial statements and notes? Where is this ~ C7&@te’ Statements
responsibility stated in the annual report?

b. In which note does Colgate report its significant accounting policies used to prepare financial statements?

c. What type of audit opinion is reported in its annual report and whose opinion is it?

d. Is any of the information in its annual report based on estimates? If so, where does Colgate discuss this?

Two potential methods of accounting for the cost of oil drilling are full cost and successful efforts. CASE 2-2

Under the full-cost method, a drilling company capitalizes costs both for successful wells and dry Industry Accounting

holes. This means it classifies all costs as assets on its balance sheet. A company charges these and Analysis:

costs against revenues as it extracts and sells the oil. Under the successful-¢fforts method, a company . . .~

expenses the costs of dry holes as they are incurred, resulting in immediate charges against earn-
ings. Costs of only successful wells are capitalized. Many small and midsized drilling companies
use the full-cost method and, as a result, millions of dollars of drilling costs appear as assets on
their balance sheets.

The SEC imposes a limit to full-cost accounting. Costs capitalized under this method cannot
exceed a ceiling defined as the present value of company reserves. Capitalized costs above the
ceiling are expensed. Oil companies, primarily smaller ones, have been successful in prevailing on
the SEC to keep the full-cost accounting method as an alternative even though the accounting
profession took a position in favor of the successful-efforts method. Because the imposition of the
ceiling rule occurred during a time of relatively high oil prices, the companies accepted it, confi-
dent that it would have no practical effect on them.

With a subsequent decline in oil prices, many companies found that drilling costs carried as assets
on their balance sheets exceeded the sharply lower ceilings. This meant they were faced with write-
offs. Oil companies, concerned about the effect that big write-offs would have on their ability to con-
duct business, began a fierce lobbying effort to change SEC accounting rules so as to avoid sizable
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write-offs that threatened to lower their earnings as well as their equity capital. The SEC staff sup-
ported a suspension of the rules because, they maintained, oil prices could rise and because compa-
nies would still be required to disclose the difference between the market value and book value of their
oil reserves. The proposal would have temporarily relaxed the rules pending the results of a study by
the SEC on whether to change or rescind the ceiling test. The proposal would have suspended the
requirement to use current prices when computing the ceiling amount in determining whether a
write-off of reserves is required. The SEC eventually rejected the proposal that would have enabled
250 of the nation’s oil and gas producing companies to postpone write-downs on the declining val-
ues of their oil and gas reserves while acknowledging that the impact of the decision could trigger de-
faults on bank loans. The SEC chairman said “the rules are not stretchable at a time of stress.”

Tenneco Co. found a way to cope with the SEC’s refusal to sanction postponement of the
write-offs. It announced a switch to successful-efforts accounting along with nearly $1 billion in
charges against prior years’ earnings. In effect, Tenneco would take the unamortized dry-hole
drilling costs currently on its balance sheet and apply them against prior years’ revenues. These
costs would affect prior year results only and would not show up as write-offs against currently
reported income.

Required:

a. Discuss what conclusions an analyst might derive from the evolution of accounting in the oil and gas industry.

b. Explain the potential effect Tenneco’s proposed change in accounting method would have on the reporting of its
operating results over the years.

CASE 2-3*
Earnings Quality and
Accounting Changes

Canada Steel Co. produces steel casting and metal fabrications for sale to manufacturers of heavy
construction machinery and agricultural equipment. Early in Year 3, the company’s president sent
the following memorandum to the financial vice president:

TO: Robert Kinkaid, Financial Vice President
FROM: Richard Johnson, President
SUBJECT: Accounting and Financial Policies

Fiscal Year 2 was a difficult year for us, and the recession is likely to continue into Year 3. While the entire
industry is suffering, we might be hurting our performance unnecessarily with accounting and business
policies that are not appropriate. Specifically:

(1) We depreciate most fixed assets (foundry equipment) over their estimated useful lives on the “tonnage-

of-production” method. Accelerated methods and shorter lives are used for income tax purposes.

A switch to straight-line for financial reporting purposes could (a) eliminate the deferred tax liability

on our balance sheet, and (b) leverage our profits if business picks up in Year 4.

Several years ago you convinced me to change from the FIFO to LIFO inventory method. Since

inflation is now down to a 4 percent annual rate, and balance sheet strength is important in our

current environment, | estimate we can increase shareholders’ equity by about $2.0 million, working
capital by $4.0 million, and Year 3 earnings by $0.5 million if we return to FIFO in Year 3. This
adjustment is real—these profits were earned by us over the past several years and should be
recognized.

(3) If we make the inventory change, our stock repurchase program can be continued. The same
shareholder who sold us 50,000 shares last year at $100 per share would like to sell another 20,000
shares at the same price. However, to obtain additional bank financing, we must maintain the current
ratio at 3:1 or better. It seems prudent to decrease our capitalization if return on assets is unsatisfactory
and our industry is declining. Also, interest rates are lower (11 percent prime) and we can save $60,000
after taxes annually once our $3.00 per share dividend is resumed.

—
(&)
—

These actions would favorably affect our profitability and liquidity ratios as shown in the prv forma income
statement and balance sheet data for Year 3 (§ millions).
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Year 3
Year 1 Year 2 Estimate
Net sales $ 50.6 $42.3 $29.0
Net income (loss) $ 2.0 $(5.7) $0.1
Net profit margin 4.0% — 0.3%
Dividends $ 0.7 $ 0.6 $ 0.0
Return on assets 1.2% — 0.4%
Return on equity 11.3% — 0.9%
Current assets $ 176 $14.8 $14.5
Current liabilities $ 6.6 $49 $45
Long-term debt $ 20 $ 6.1 $ 8.1
Shareholders’ equity $17.7 $11.4 $11.5
Shares outstanding (000s) 226.8 170.5 150.5
Per common share:
Book value $ 78.05 $66.70 $76.41
Market price range $42-$34 $65-$45 $62-$55*

*Year to date.

Please give me your reaction to my proposals as soon as possible.

Required

Assume you are Robert Kinkaid, the financial vice president. Appraise the president’s rationale for
each of the proposals. You should place special emphasis on how each accounting or business
decision affects earnings quality. Support your response with ratio analysis.

CHECK
Sig. incr. in debt-to-equity



A LOOK BACK

Chapters 1 and 2 presented an
overview of financial statement
analysis and financial reporting.

We showed how financial statements
report on financing, investing,

and operating activities. We also
introduced accounting analysis and
explained its importance for financial
statement analysis.

A LOOK AT THIS CHAPTER e

This chapter describes accounting
analysis of financing activities—

both creditor and equity financing. Our
analysis of creditor financing considers
both operating liabilities and financing
liabilities. Analysis of operating
liabilities includes extensive study of
postretirement benefits (which we
cover in the Appendix). Analysis of
financing liabilities focuses on topics
such as leasing and off-balance-sheet
financing, along with conventional
forms of debt financing. We also
analyze components of equity financing
and the relevance of book value.

A LOOK AHEAD

Chapters 4 and 5 extend our
accounting analysis to investing
activities. We analyze operating assets
such as current assets and property,
plant, and equipment, along with
investments in securities and
intercorporate acquisitions. Chapter 6
analyzes operating activities.
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CHAPTER THREE

ANALYZING FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

ANALYSIS OBJECTIVES
e Understand debt financing and evaluate its implications for
analysis.

® Analyze and interpret leases and explain their implications and
the adjustments to financial statements.

e Analyze contingent liability disclosures and describe their risks.

® |dentify off-balance-sheet financing and its consequences for
risk analysis.

e Explain capital stock and analyze and interpret its
distinguishing features.

® Describe retained earnings and their distribution through
dividends.

e Analyze and interpret liabilities at the edge of equity.

® Analyze postretirement disclosures and assess their
consequences for firm valuation and risk (Appendix).



Analysis Feature

Post-Enron World of SPEs

Enron used a financing technique
called special purpose entities
(SPEs) to conceal hundreds of
millions of dollars of debt from in-
vestors and to avoid recognition
of losses from its investments.
These entities were thinly capital-
ized shell companies. Enron utilized
SPEs to purchase assets at
inflated prices, which allowed it
to prop up earnings.

Even worse, Enron used SPEs
as counterparties for hedging
activities. Those SPEs issued guar-
antees to Enron to protect its in-
vestments from a value decline.
Since the SPEs were so thinly
capitalized and were managed by
Enron executives, Enron was
essentially insuring itself.

For the most part, SPEs have
been used for decades as a legiti-

mate financing technique and are
very much in use today. Many re-
tailers, for example, sell private
label credit card receivables to an
SPE that purchases them with
funds raised from the sale of

Effects of FIN 46 on
costs and viability of
SPEs are yet unclear.

bonds to the investing public. In-
vestors receive a quality invest-
ment and the company receives
immediate cash. More generally,
SPEs are an important financing
tool for companies such as Target,
Capital One, General Motors,
Citigroup, and Dell.

PREVIEW OF CHAPTER 3

However, Enron’s failure and
the resulting losses to investors
prompted cries for stricter regula-
tion. Congress responded with
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the
FASB with FIN 46. FIN 46 has
far-reaching effects as it requires
consolidation of certain SPEs
with the sponsoring company
(deemed to be the “primary bene-
ficiary”). This yields financial
statements that reflect both the
sponsoring company and its set of
SPEs.

Abuses, such as those perpet-
rated by Enron, are less likely
under these new accounting rules.
Still, their effects on the viability
and costs of SPEs as a legitimate
financing tool are yet unclear.

Business activities are financed with either liabilities or equity, or both. Liabilities are
financing obligations that require future payment of money, services, or other assets.
They are outsiders’ claims against a company’s present and future assets and resources.
Liabilities can be either financing or operating in nature and are usually senior to those
of equity holders. Financing liabilities are all forms of debt financing such as long-
term notes and bonds, short-term borrowings, and leases. Operating liabilities are
obligations that arise from operations such as trade creditors, and postretirement obliga-
tions. Liabilities are commonly reported as either current or noncurrent—usually
based on whether the obligation is due within one year or not. Equity refers to claims
of owners on the net assets of a company. Claims of owners are junior to creditors,
meaning they are residual claims to all assets once claims of creditors are satisfied.
Equity holders are exposed to the maximum risk associated with a company but also
are entitled to all residual returns of a company. Certain other securities, such as con-
vertible bonds, straddle the line separating liabilities and equity and represent a hybrid
form of financing. This chapter describes these different forms of financing, how com-
panies account and report for them, and their implications for analysis of financial
statements.
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Financial Statement Analysis

Analyzing Financing Activities

Contingencies Off-Balance- Postretirement
Debt and Sheet Shareholders’ Benefits
Financing Leases Commitments Financing Equity (Appendix)
Accounting Lease Analyzing Off-balance- Capital stock Pension
for debt accounting contingencies sheet Retained benefits
Debt-related and reporting Analyzing examples earnings Other
disclosures Analyzing commitments Off-balance- Liabilities at postretirement
Analyzing leases sheet analysis “edge” of benefits
debt financing Adjusting Special purpose equity Reporting and
SatEeiions financial entities (SPEs) Reporting under analy2|.ng
statements IFRS postretirement
benefits

=ananasDEBT FINANCING

Debt, or financial liabilities, refers to funds that a company has explicitly borrowed from
various providers of capital. The company may borrow directly from investors by issu-
ing securities such as bonds; such borrowing is called public debt. The company may
also borrow from financial institutions, such as banks, in the form of loans; such bor-
rowing is called prrvate debt. Debt always has explicit borrowing costs, typically through
payment of zuterest. This is why financial liabilities are also called zuterest-bearing liabili-
ties, which distinguishes them from operating liabilities such as accounts payables,
which in most cases do not have explicitly contracted interest tied to the borrowing.
The other important feature of debt—which distinguishes it from equity—is that it has a
fixed term at the end of which the debt will mature. That is, the borrowed amount, or
principal, must be repaid at maturity.

Debt that has terms exceeding a year is called /ong-term debt. Examples of long-term
debt are bonds, debentures, and notes issued to the public (public debt); and term loans
and long-term notes (private debt). Companies borrow for the long term to finance
long-term projects or to meet sustained needs for capital. On the balance sheet, long-
term debt is classified as a noncurrent liability. However, any portion of long-term debt
that matures within a year of the balance sheet date is classified as a current liability and
called current portion of long-term debt.

Companies also borrow money over the short term. In addition to its flexibility,
short-term borrowing offers lower interest rates than long-term debt. However, short-
term borrowing is riskier because of the need for repayment in the near term. Examples
of short-term borrowing are revolvers, discounted bills, and commercial paper. Short-
term debt is primarily used for financing working capital and other liquidity needs.
Short-term borrowing is classified as a current liability and appears on the balance sheet
as line items called bank borrowing, commercial paper, or short-term notes.

Revolving lines of credit (or revolvers, for short) refer to short-term borrowing from
banks that is used to finance working capital needs. A line of credit works somewhat like
a credit card. That is, a company can borrow only what it requires as long as it is within
the maximum borrowing limit and pays interest on only the amount borrowed. The
maximum borrowing limit is determined by the contracted maximum line of credit and
the value of existing current assets that serve as collateral for the loan. Two other forms
of short-term finance are worth mentioning. Sometimes, companies sell short-term
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promissory notes from third parties (such as customers) to banks for immediate cash be-
fore they become due, at a discount to the principal amount in the note. This is called 42/
discounting. Also, large and well-reputed companies issue short-term unsecured notes to
investors in the global credit markets. These notes are known as commercial paper.

Finally, an indirect form of long-term borrowing is leasing. Companies—especially in
certain industries such as airlines and retail-acquire a majority of their assets through
leases. Although often structured to look like a rental agreement, leases are a major
form of debt financing. We will examine leases in the next section of this chapter.

Accounting for Debt
Mechanics of Accounting for Long-Term Debt: An lllustration

Consider a company that issues bonds with a face value of $100,000 and a coupon rate of
6% payable annually for a fixed term of three years. Face value refers to the amount that the
company promises to return to lenders at the end of the term. Coupor rateis the contracted
rate at which the company agrees to pay interest and the dollar amount of such payment
is called the coupon payment. In our example, the coupon payment is $6,000 per year.

The effective interest rateis the rate that the market assigns to the bond at the time of its
issuance. This rate determines the present value of the bond at the time of issuance, which
equals the cash proceeds that the company receives from the bond issue. The effective in-
terest rate is determined by the market after considering factors such as the prevailing
risk-free interest rate and the bond’s term and riskiness. There needs to be no relation be-
tween the coupon rate and the effective interest rate. For example, companies issue zero
coupon bonds, where the only payment to the investors is the face value at the end of the
term. Such bonds are also present valued by the market at some effective interest rate.

To understand the mechanics of bonds and their accounting, we consider three dif-
ferent effective interest-rate scenarios: 6%, 3%, and 10%. Exhibit 3.1 illustrates these sce-
narios. First, consider the 6% interest-rate scenario. In this case, the present value of the
bond at issue—which is represented by Year 0—exactly equals $100,000.! Because the
company gets to raise exactly the face value, we say that the bonds were issued at par.
In this scenario, zuterest expense (Effective interest rate X Beginning of period present
value) also exactly equals the coupon payment of $6,000 (6% X $100,000) in each year.

Now consider the case where the effective interest rate is 3%. The present value at the
time of issue is now $108,486. Because the market values the bonds at their present value,
the company gets to issue the bonds above the face value of $100,000, or at a premium of
$8,486. Interest expense is now much lower than the coupon payment. For example, in
Year 1 it is $3,255 (3% X $108,486). Therefore, when the company pays the $6,000
coupon to the lenders, it is as if the company is also returning principal to the tune of
$2,745 ($6,000 — $3,255), which reduces the present value of the bond. We refer to this
$2,745 as amortization of bond premium. Note that the interest expense and the amortiza-
tion are not the same every year, but the two will always add up to the coupon payment.

When the interest rate is much higher than the coupon rate, then the mirror image of
the “premium” scenario unfolds. The present value at issue is $90,053. Therefore, the
company issues the bonds below face value or at a discount of $9,947. Every year,
interest expense is higher than the coupon payment, and so it is as if the company is
borrowing more every year, therefore increasing the present value of the bond. For
example, in Year 1 this notional borrowing—which we call amortization of bond discount—

is $3,005 ($9,005 — $6,000).

1.$100,000 is the present value of $6,000, $6,000, and $106,000 received one, two, and three years later, respectively,
discounted at 6%.
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Exhibit 3.1

Mechanics of Bond Accounting—An Illustration

Issued at Par

Interest Rate = 6%

Present Premium/
Year Coupon Value (Discount) Interest Amortization Total
0 100,000 0
1 6,000 100,000 0 6,000 0 6,000
2 6,000 100,000 0 6,000 0 6,000
3 _6,000 100,000 0 _6,000 0 _6,000
Total 18,000 18,000 0 18,000
Issued at Premium Interest Rate = 3%
Present Premium/
Year Coupon Value (Discount) Interest Amortization Total
0 108,486 8,486
1 6,000 105,740 5,740 3,255 2,745 6,000
2 6,000 102,913 2,913 3,172 2,828 6,000
3 6,000 100,000 0 3,087 2,913 6,000
Total 18,000 9,514 8,486 18,000
Issued at Discount Interest Rate = 10%
Present Premium/
Year Coupon Value (Discount) Interest Amortization Total
0 90,053 (9,947)
1 6,000 93,058 (6,942) 9,005 (3,005) 6,000
2 6,000 96,364 (3,636) 9,306 (3,306) 6,000
3 6,000 100,000 0 9,636 (3,636) 6,000
Total 18,000 27,947 (9,947) 18,000
Issued at Discount: Fair Value Accounting
Interest Fair Unrealized Total
Year Coupon Rate Value Interest Loss Expense
0 10% 90,053
1 6,000 1% 98,192 9,005 5,134 14,139
2 6,000 3% 102,913 6,873 3,847 10,721
3 6,000 100,000 3,087 0 3,087
Total 18,000 18,966 8,981 27,947
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Thus far, we have estimated present value using the market interest rate at the Ze of
zssue. In reality, however, bond prices fluctuate as interest rates change over time. The fazr
value of the bond is the present value of the bond discounted at the current interest rate,
rather than the rate at the time of issue. It happens to also equal the current market value
of the bond. For example, in our “discount” scenario, if the interest rate drops from 10%
to 7% at the end of Year 1, the fair value of the bond at Year 1 end would be $98,192
(present value of the remaining two coupon payments and face value discounted at 7%).
If the interest subsequently dropped to 3% by the end of Year 2, the fair value at Year 2
end would be $102,913 (present value of one remaining coupon payment and face value
discounted at 3%).

Accounting Treatment

We now examine the key features of accounting for long-term debt. First, long-term debt
is always reported on the balance sheet at present value, not at the face value. This present
value is known as amortized cost. For example, in the “discount” scenario of our illustration,
the balance sheet will show $90,053 in Year 0, $93,058 in Year 1 and so on. Second, the
income statement will reflect the interest expense and not the coupon payment. Again for
the “discount” scenario, interest expense will be $9,005 in Year 1, $9,306 in Year 2, and so
on. Third, the coupon payment of $6,000 is a cash outflow that reduces cash flow from
operating activities. Fourth, the amortization of bond discount—$3,005 in Year 1-gets
added to the carrying value of the bond so that the carrying value of the bond now reflects
the updated present value.? In case of premium, the amortization of the premium is sub-
tracted from the bond’s present value. The accrual accounting identity works in the fol-
lowing manner (the numbers below pertain to Year 1 for the “discount” scenario):

Interest expense = Cash outflow + Amortization of bond discount
(reduce equity) (reduce assets) (increase long-term debt)
($9,005) ($6,000) ($3,005)

These accounting rules are common to both US GAAP and IFRS. Similar rules also
apply to both public and private debt. However, differences between coupon and effec-
tive interest rates are rare in private debt, although they do happen occasionally. Be-
cause of this, amortized costs rarely differ from face values for private debt.

Unlike long-term debt, short-term debt is typically reported at face value. The rea-
soning behind reporting short-term debt at face value is that face values rarely diverge
from present values given the short-term nature of the debt.

Both US GAAP and IFRS encourage—but do not require—companies to report long-
term debt at fair value. When a company adopts fair value accounting, the balance sheet
recognizes the current fair value of the bond and all changes in the fair value of debt
during a period are included in net income as unrealized gain or loss on debt. As an il-
lustration, if interest rates drop from 10% to 7% in the “discount” scenario presented ear-
lier, the carrying value of debt in the balance sheet at the end of Year 1 is the fair value
of $8,192. An amount of $5,134 ($98,192 — [$90,053 + $9,005 — $6,000]) would be in-
cluded in Year 1’s net income as an unrealized loss. In addition to the interest expense
of $9,005 (10% x $90,053), this implies that a total expense of $14,139 would be
charged to Year 1’s income. If the interest rate drops further to 3% at the end of Year 2,
the carrying value (fair value) will be $102,913 and the total amount charged to Year 2’s
income would be $10,271, comprising interest expense of $6,873 (7% x $98,192) and

2 While the Year 1 present value of $93,058 is mechanically equal to Year 0 present value plus bond discount amortization, it is
also exactly the present value of receiving $6,000 and $106,000 one and two years later, respectively, discounted at 10%.

1317
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unrealized loss of $3,847 ($102,913 — [$98,192 + $6,873 — $6,000]). In Year 3, interest
expense of $3,087 (3% x 102,913) would be charged to income. Note that the total ex-
pense charged to income over the entire term under fair value accounting is $27,947,
which is exactly equal to that charged under the conventional accounting treatment.
However, the amounts charged in the individual years can vary.

Debt-Related Disclosures

Companies are required to report details regarding their long-term (and short-term)
debt in notes to the financial statements. In addition to explaining the amount recog-
nized on the balance sheet, the note disclosures provide other useful information. These
include information regarding anticipated future maturities of the debt, details of con-
tractual provisions such as collateral and covenants, unused balances in lines of credit,
and any other pertinent information relating to a company’s debt.

We report excerpts from the note disclosures of Alliance One in Exhibit 3.2, along
with an abridged income statement and balance sheet. The note consists of two basic
parts: (1) a tabular schedule that provides a breakdown of the outstanding debt reported
in the balance sheet, and (2) detailed commentary about its major debt issuances.

The 2011 balance sheet of Alliance One shows a total of $885 million in long-term
debt, of which $1 million is classified as a current liability as it is due within one year.
Current liabilities also include $231 million of notes payable to the bank. From the
notes, it can be seen that the long-term debt largely comprises the following: (1) a se-
nior secured “Revolver” of $148 million, (2) $612 million of 10% secured notes due in
2016, and (3) $115 million of 5%% convertible notes due in 2014. The $231 million in
short-term notes represents the extent to which foreign seasonal lines of credit have
been drawn (utilized). In addition to this, the schedule shows that there are an addi-
tional $695 million in available credit—$142 million from the “Revolver” and $553 mil-
lion from the foreign seasonal lines. Given the seasonal nature of Alliance One’s busi-
ness, it is possible that a fuller utilization of these lines will occur during peak season.

In addition to providing a detailed break-up of the outstanding and available debt,
there is a payment schedule that details the amounts of debt that mature in future years.
For Alliance One, the year ending March 2017 is a big year because $612 million of the
10% notes mature that fiscal year.

Additionally, the company also reports the fair value of its debt. In 2011, the fair
value of the debt was $905 million, which is greater than its amortized cost of $885 mil-
lion. The higher fair value primarily arises because of decreases in interest rates since the
inception of the loans.

The commentary about each type of debt provides details about when the debt was
taken, when it is due, its nature, and the contractual protections, such as guarantees, col-
lateral, and covenants. Exhibit 3.2 provides excerpts from this commentary. The most
important part of the commentary is that dealing with covenant restrictions. We will dis-
cuss these later.

Analyzing Debt Financing

Amortized Cost versus Face Value

Debt is typically reported on the balance sheet at amortized cost. This can differ from the
amount due at maturity (face value). For example, the face value of Alliance One’s 10% se-
nior notes is $635 million, while the carrying value on the balance sheet is only $612 mil-
lion. Assuming no other differences, this suggests that the face value of Alliance One’s
total long-term debt is $908 million, compared with amortized cost of $885 million.
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Debt Related Disclosures—Alliance One International Inc. (All numbers in $ million) Exhibit 3.2

ABBREVIATED INCOME STATEMENT ABBREVIATED BALANCE SHEET
For year ended March 31, 2010 2011 As of March 31, 2010 2011
Revenues 2,308 2,094 Current assets 1,383 1,317
Operating expenses 2,074 1,944 Noncurrent assets 528 _ 491
Debt retirement expenses 40 5 Total assets 1911 1,808
Interest expense 114 103

Interest income 5 7 Notes payable to bank 189 231
Tax provision (4) 107 Long-term debt—current 1
Net income _n _(72) Other current liability 281 238
Total current liability 470 470

Long-term debt 789 884

Other long-term liability 257 138
Equity 3% 316
Lol 1808

Note disclosures

The following table summarizes the Company’s debt financing as of March 31 of 2010 and 2011:

2010 201 PAYMENT SCHEDULE
Lines Interest Year Amount
Outstanding OQutstanding Available Rate Ended Due
Senior secured facility (Revolver) 148 142 3.1% 2012 1
Senior notes: 2013 155
10% due 2016 642 612 10.0% 2014 1
8%% due 2012 30 6 L 8.5% 2015 116
672 766 142 2016
Subordinated convertible notes 2017 612
5%% due 2014 115 115 5.5%
Other long-term debt 2 4 8.0%
Notes payable to banks @ ﬂ @ 3.5%
Total debt % H @
Long-term:
Current 1
Noncurrent @ ﬂ
789 885
Short-term 189 231
Total debt @ H

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt for 2011 (2010) are $885 and $905
million ($789 and $846 million), respectively.

Senior Secured Credit Facility (the “Revolver”)
In March 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with a syndicate of banks that provided for a senior

secured credit facility of a three and one-quarter year $270 million revolver (the “Revolver”) that initially accrued
(continued)
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EEEEEE® Debt Related Disclosures—Alliance One International Inc. (concluded)

interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 2.50%. The interest rate for the Revolver may increase or decrease according to a
consolidated interest coverage ratio pricing matrix. In 2009, the Company increased the Revolver to $290 million.
This agreement was amended several times, including to allow issuance of an additional $100 million of Senior
Notes. The maximum borrowing under the Revolver is the lesser of committed and working capital amount

Financial Covenants: Requirements of certain covenants and financial ratios under this agreement are as follows:

e aminimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.90 to 1.00 (in 2011: 1.65, 1.65, and 1.80
for the June, September, and December quarters);

e a maximum consolidated leverage ratio not more than that specified for each fiscal quarter as set forth in
a schedule (5.85 in March 2011, peaking to 7.50 in September 2011, and reducing to 4.75 by December
2012 and thereafter);

e a maximum consolidated total senior debt to working capital amount ratio of not more than 0.80 to 1.00; and

e maximum annual capital expenditures of $55 million during fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, and
$40 million per fiscal year thereafter.

The Company continuously monitors its compliance with the covenants. At March 31, 2011, and during the fiscal
year, the Company was in compliance with the covenants.

Senior Notes

In July 2009, the Company issued $570 million of 10% Senior Notes due 2016 (the “Senior Notes”) at a price of
95.1% of the face value. In August 2009, the Company issued an additional $100 million tranche of 10% Senior
Notes due 2016 at a price of 97.500% of the face value. These notes were guaranteed by assets of material
domestic subsidiaries. During 2011, the Company purchased $35 million of these notes on the open market. All
purchased securities were cancelled leaving $635 million of the 10% senior notes outstanding at March 31, 2011
(of which $23 amounts to discount at the time of issue).

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes

In July 2009 the Company issued $100 million of 5%% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the
“Convertible Notes”). On maturity, holders may surrender their Convertible Notes for conversion into shares of the
Company's common stock at the then-applicable conversion rate. The initial conversion rate is 198.8 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Convertible Notes. The conversion rate is subject to adjustments
based on certain events as described in the indenture governing the Convertible Notes.

Foreign Seasonal Lines of Credit

The Company finances its non-U.S. operations with uncommitted unsecured short-term seasonal lines of credit at
the local level. These operating lines are seasonal in nature, normally extending for a term of 180 to 270 days
corresponding to the tobacco crop cycle in that location. These facilities are typically uncommitted in that the
lenders have the right to cease making loans and demand repayment of loans at any time. These loans are
typically renewed at the outset of each tobacco season. As of March 31, 2011, the Company had approximately
$231 million drawn and outstanding with maximum capacity totaling $799 million.

Dividend Restrictions

Our senior credit agreement restricts our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions or restricted
payments based upon our consolidated net income and consolidated net loss since April 1, 2008, and the amount
of specified restricted investments we have made since that date. In addition, we must be in compliance with all
terms of the senior credit agreement, including the financial covenants, in order to pay dividends, repurchase
common stock, or make other distributions or restricted payments. In addition, the indenture governing our senior
notes contains similar restrictions and also prohibits the payment of dividends and other distributions if we fail to
satisfy a ratio of consolidated EBITDA to fixed charges of at least 2.0 to 1.0. At March 31, 2011, we did not satisfy
this fixed charge coverage ratio. We may from time to time not satisfy this ratio.
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Finance theory suggests that present values are more appropriate measures of future
cash commitments. While this is true, it must be noted that present values tend to un-
derestimate future cash commitments of a company. For example, although Alliance
One reports debt maturity of $612 million in fiscal 2017 relating to its 10% senior note,
the real cash commitment when this debt matures is its face value of $635 million. This
is because it is the face value that must be returned to the lender upon maturity. Many
credit analysts use the face value of debt when determining a company’s debt-equity or
coverage ratios because it measures the company’s debt-related commitments. Also, it is
important for an analyst to consider the face value of future maturing debt when prepar-
ing cash flow forecasts.

Face values do not diverge significantly from amortized cost as long as the coupon
rates and effective interest rates are similar. In the current era of low interest rates, com-
panies issue debt with coupon rates close to prevailing interest rates. However, during
high interest-rate environments, cash-strapped companies could issue debt with sub-
stantially lower coupon payments (sometimes, even zero coupon). In such cases, amor-
tized cost and face values can diverge significantly.

Fair Value Accounting

Fair value also reflects the present value of debt. However, fair values diverge from amor-
tized cost because they reflect current interest rates, unlike amortized cost, which reflects
interest rates at the time of issue. For example, Alliance One discloses that the fair value
of its total long-term debt is $905 million, which is higher than its amortized cost of
$885 million. Fair value accounting for debt is not currently required. However, US
GAAP and IFRS encourage companies to recognize the fair value of debt on the balance
sheet. At present, a number of financial institutions have chosen to report certain types
of debt at fair value.

Proponents of fair value extol its conceptual superiority over other measures, but an-
alysts are divided about its suitability for accounting for debt. Under normal conditions,
fair value measures the /iguidating value of the debt. This amount is useful if the company
plans to retire its debt forthwith. But fair values are less useful as a measure of debt that
is held to maturity. To understand this issue, let us return to the illustration presented in
Exhibit 3.1. At the end of Year 1, we report debt value in the balance sheet at $98,192 by
recognizing an unrealized loss of $5,134. However, note that this loss is only an gpportu-
nity Joss and not a real loss, unless the company retires its debt. This point is reinforced
when we examine the pattern of interest expense. For example, Year 3’s interest expense
in $3,087, at an assumed interest rate of 3%. The 3% rate, however, is only a notional rate
and not the real rate. The real interest rate on this bond is 10%, which was the rate at
which it was issued. Therefore, it is not clear whether fair value accounting improves the
accounting for debt when companies are expected to hold the debt until maturity.

Finally, applying fair value accounting to debt can cause transitory unrealized gains
or losses to creep into reported income. It is important for an analyst to identify these
items and remove them when estimating sustainable income. More crucially, it is pos-
sible for companies to recognize a gain when its own credit quality deteriorates! That
is, as a company’s creditworthiness declines, the market value of its debt will decrease.
Under fair value accounting, this will result in recording an unrealized gain in net in-
come. Recently, a number of banks have recorded such gains. It is important for an an-
alyst to exclude these gains when analyzing a company’s income.

Probably the only situation where fair value accounting for debt makes sense is for
financial institutions. Typically, banks have both assets and liabilities that are sensitive
to economy-wide interest-rate movements, and it makes sense to “match” the values of
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assets and liabilities by marking both to market. A bank that has properly matched the
maturity profile of its assets with those of its liabilities will have a stable debt-equity
ratio when both sides of its balance sheet are marked to market, even though its assets’
and liabilities’ values may both display volatility related to interest-rate movements.

Future Debt Retirement

It is important for an analyst to carefully examine the future debt payment schedule. At
the outset, this helps with cash flow forecasting. At a deeper level, an analyst has to
evaluate whether a company has the ability to repay its debt when it matures because
an inability to do so could potentially lead to bankruptcy. Typically, companies tend to
refinance maturing debt with fresh borrowing. However, an analyst cannot simply as-
sume that the debt will be refinanced, especially for companies that are not in good fi-
nancial health. Companies that are unable to refinance will often renegotiate with their
bankers to extend the debt’s maturity. Such renegotiations, however, involve significant
costs, typically in the form of higher interest rates or payment of various penalties.

Exhibit 3.2 suggests that Alliance One’s entire outstanding long-term debt (face value
of $908 million) matures approximately within the next five years. A quick inspection of
its income statement and balance sheet suggests that there is little possibility of repaying
all this debt with internally generated funds. Therefore the company will need to refi-
nance. The company, however, does not appear to be financially sound and has a lot of
debt on its balance sheet. Moreover, detailed reading of the notes reveals that the com-
pany is already in trouble with its lenders, who have imposed several restrictions on the
company’s operations. All of this suggests that the company may have trouble refinanc-
ing its debt in coming years.

Unutilized Credit Lines

Exhibit 3.2 reveals that Alliance One has $695 million of available credit lines. While this
may indicate that the company has the ability to increase its borrowing significantly, in
reality it is not so. All the available credit lines are in the form of short-term working cap-
ital finance. Therefore, these credit lines can be used only to specifically finance Alliance
One’s working capital needs. Accordingly, the company can borrow only to the extent
that it has current assets such as inventory and receivables. Besides, Alliance One’s busi-
ness is seasonal, and so it is possible that its working capital requirement could expand
significantly during peak seasons, such that it fully utilizes the available credit lines. An
analysis of the company’s quarterly reports will confirm this conjecture.

Protections

Lenders often have explicit contracts with borrowing companies which helps the lenders
protect the money they have loaned. Typically, there are three ways in which
lenders protect themselves: (1) seniority, (2) collateral, and (3) covenants. Information
in the notes to the annual report provides details about these protections. Understand-
ing the nature of these protections and their implications is important in analysis,
especially for firms that are in poor financial health.

Seniority

Senzority refers to the order in which different parties will be paid when a company’s
business is dissolved. Senior claims will be paid before junior claims. The seniority of
certain claims is predetermined by law. For example, government dues, such as taxes
payable, and employee dues, such as unpaid salaries, need to be settled before other
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claims are handled. Also, equity holders can be paid only after all other claims are fully
paid, and so common equity is the most junior of all claims. Within similar classes of
claims—for example, within the broad classes of creditors—seniority can be determined
explicitly by contractual provisions. For example, all the long-term debt of Alliance One
is senior, which suggests that these claims will get preference over other claims, such as
accounts payable. Among different types of debt, the $766 million of senior debt, which
is separately classified at top of the schedule in Exhibit 3.2, gets priority over the rest of
the debt that is reported lower in the schedule.

Security

Security or collateral refers to assets that are set aside during dissolution to specifically
satisfy a particular claim. A claim that is backed by collateral is called secured. In the
event of dissolution of the company, the owners of these particular claims can sell the
identified assets to satisfy their claims. The particular types of assets offered as collateral
are laid down in the lending contract. For example, short-term finance is usually secured
by current assets such as inventory. Alliance One’s senior credit facility (“Revolver”) is
secured by current and certain non-current assets.

Covenants

Lenders establish covenants to safeguard their investments. Covenants can be either af-
firmative or negative. Affirmative covenants specify actions that management needs to
take to keep the debt in good standing. An example of an affirmative covenant is the re-
quirement that the company must file audited financial statements that are in accor-
dance with GAAP within a specified time period. Failure to file audited financial state-
ments gives lenders the legal authority to ask for immediate repayment of their loans.

Negatrve covenants limit management behaviors that might be harmful to the lenders.
Such covenants typically consist of two parts: (1) constraints, which specify when a com-
pany has violated a covenant; and (2) penalties or restrictions that arise when a covenant
has been violated. Typically, violating a covenant is grounds for zec/nical default, which
provides lenders legal rights to demand immediate repayment of their debts. While
lenders rarely seek immediate repayment in practice, they may specify fresh conditions
and constraints on the company as part of the renegotiation that occurs during technical
default. Negative covenants may also impose restrictions on management behavior
when a violation occurs. Such restrictions may include restrictions on dividend payment,
restrictions on further borrowing, restrictions on issuing senior debt, restrictions on cap-
ital expenditures, and restrictions on mergers and acquisitions. The objective of such re-
strictions is to limit the dilution of net assets by constraining management’s ability to dis-
tribute assets to new or continuing shareholders or to new lenders. By doing this, current
lenders ensure that the money they have loaned to the company is protected.

The constraints that specify when a company has violated a covenant are typically
related to some form of financial health. Often these conditions are specified in terms of
financial statement information. The most popular constraints link the amount of bor-
rowing to various indicators of financial performance or financial position. Examples
are covenants that specify a minimum amount of retained earnings, maximum debt-to-
equity ratios, minimum coverage ratios, and maximum ratios of debt to EBITDA.
Whenever a company’s ratio crosses the minimum or maximum values specified, the
company is said to have violated the covenant.

Details of covenants are available in notes to the financial statements and also in the
debt agreements or the prospectus to the debt issue. For example, Alliance One’s senior
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credit facility (“Revolver”) has covenants that specify a set of constraints, including a
minimum interest coverage ratio, a maximum leverage (debt-to-equity) ratio, and a
maximum senior debt to working capital ratio. Also, a covenant restricts the company’s
capital expenditures to $55 million a year. The indenture provisions of Alliance One’s
senior public debt (10% senior debt) also has a covenant specified in terms of a mini-
mum ratio of EBITDA to fixed charges, which if violated will lead to the prohibition of
dividend payments. Currently, the company is in violation of this condition and so is
prohibited from paying dividends.

Covenants serve as early warning mechanisms to the lenders, so they can protect
their investments in a proactive manner. In other words, these covenants allow the
lenders to start monitoring and controlling the borrower at the earliest sign of trouble,
and hopefully well before things really start to deteriorate. In the worst-case scenario,
covenants allow the lender to demand immediate repayment of debt through technical
default. Covenant violations are costly for companies and their management, and so bor-
rowers will take actions, including managing earnings, to prevent covenant violations.

Analyzing Protections

It is important for an analyst to study the protections that are available to creditors and
to understand their implications. Analyzing protections is obviously important for
credit analysis. However, understanding their implications—especially those relating to
covenants—can also be important for equity analysis:

* Senior debt is less risky than junior debt because it gets paid first during company
dissolution. Obviously, this implies that senior claims will need to be considered
more favorably by a credit analyst than junior claims. However, two other issues
must be kept in mind. First, the presence of senior debt makes the junior debt more
risky than otherwise. This is because senior claimants will have the right to be paid
off first from the assets of the company. In the absence of seniority, the junior
claimants would also get to share in the payoffs. Second, certain debts like unpaid
taxes and wages get priority over all other claims. Therefore, even senior lenders
could suffer if a company has large unpaid taxes or wages.

e Secured debt is less risky because there are explicit assets (the collateral) that trans-
fer to the holders of the secured debt during company dissolution. Therefore, a
credit analyst needs to rate secured debt more favorably than unsecured debt. The
following points, however, must be considered. First, the safety of secured debt
crucially depends on the value of the collateralized assets. This fact became
painfully aware to all when the housing bubble burst in the United States in 2007.
Even well-secured mortgage debt became risky because the value of the collateral—
that is, housing values—collapsed. An analyst must be well aware of this issue. For
example, debt secured by inventory may not be protected if a firm is likely to go
bankrupt because there is no demand for its products. Second, unsecured debt be-
comes more risky in the presence of secured debt. This is because certain assets
(the collateral) are removed from the common pool of assets that are used to pay
common claims. Third, sometimes seniority—especially of the legal kind—can over-
ride security. For example, in 2009 the U.S. government forced even secured
lenders to incur losses so that the future postretirement benefits of General Motors’
employees could be protected.

e Paradoxically, secured debt typically carries higher interest rates than unsecured
debt, suggesting that it is more risky. This occurs because only the riskiest compa-
nies issue secured debt. In most cases, the presence of secured debt is an indicator
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that the company is in poor financial health and cannot afford the extremely high
interest rates that will be charged on its unsecured debt. Such is the case with
Alliance One International.

 Covenants tend to act as early warning mechanisms for lenders. Unlike seniority
and security, covenants usually protect the entire class of lenders. This is because
the violation of any particular covenant will trigger restrictions that generally tend
to protect most lender interests. The only exception is a technical default where
one particular lender may demand immediate repayment. But technical defaults
occur rarely, and in most cases lenders renegotiate lending terms after restricting
management activities. Covenant violations do, however, usually end up transfer-
ring wealth from shareholders to debt holders. This is because protecting lenders’
rights typically violates the rights of shareholders. For example, covenants that im-
pose dividend restrictions reduce shareholder payments. Because a covenant vio-
lation can be a destabilizing and potentially dangerous event for a company, ana-
lyzing covenants is an important task in analysis.

* Not only should an analyst keep track of actual covenant violations, but he or she
must also estimate covenant slack (or margn of safety), which is a measure of how
close a company is to violating its covenants. Covenant slack can be estimated by
calculating the particular ratios that are specified in the covenant using current
financial statement information and then comparing these values to the value that
will potentially trigger a violation.

IIIIIIILEASES

Leasing is a popular form of financing, especially in certain industries. A lease is a con-
tractual agreement between a /essor (owner) and a /essee (user). It gives a lessee the right
to use an asset, owned by the lessor, for the term of the lease. In return, the lessee makes
rental payments, called minimum lease payments (or MLP). Lease terms obligate the
lessee to make a series of payments over a specified future time period. Lease contracts
can be complex, and they vary in provisions relating to the lease term, the transfer of
ownership, and early termination.> Some leases are simply extended rental contracts,
such as a two-year computer lease. Others are similar to an outright sale with a built-in
financing plan, such as a 50-year lease of a building with automatic ownership transfer
at the end of the lease term.

The two alternative methods for lease accounting reflect the differ- Frequencies of Different
ences in lease contracts. A lease that transfers substantially all the benefits Lease Types—Lessee
and risks of ownership is accounted for as an asset acquisition and a Capital only  Neither

liability incurrence by the lessee. Similarly, the lessor treats such a lease as 1%
a sale and financing transaction. This type of lease is called a capital
lease. If classified as a capital lease, both the leased asset and the lease
obligation are recognized on the balance sheet. All other types of leases
are accounted for as operating leases. In the case of operating leases,  Both types Operating only
the lessee (lessor) accounts for the minimum lease payment as a rental 39% 559%
expense (revenue), and no asset or liability is recognized on the balance
sheet.

Lessees often structure a lease so that it can be accounted for as an operating lease
even when the economic characteristics of the lease are more in line with a capital

5%

3 Some leases are cancellable, but the majority of the long-term leases are noncancellable. The power of the lessee to cancel the
lease is an important factor determining the economic substance of the lease. We focus discussion on noncancellable leases.



146

Financial Statement Analysis

lease. By doing so, a lessee is engaging in off-balance-sheet financing. Off-balance-sheet
Jinancing refers to the fact that neither the leased asset nor its corresponding liability are
recorded on the balance sheet when a lease is accounted for as an operating lease even
though many of the benefits and risks of ownership are transferred to the lessee. The
decision to account for a lease as a capital or operating lease can significantly impact fi-
nancial statements. Analysts must take care to examine the economic characteristics of
a company’s leases and recast them in their analysis of the company when necessary.

Leasing has grown in frequency and magnitude. Estimates indicate that almost
one-third of plant asset financing is in the form of leasing. Leasing is the major form
of financing plant assets in the retail, airline, and trucking industries. Lease financing
is popular for several reasons. For one, sellers use leasing to promote sales by provid-
ing financing to buyers. Interest income from leasing is often a major source of
revenue to those sellers. In turn, leasing often is a convenient means for a buyer to
finance its asset purchases. Tax considerations also play a role in leasing. Namely,
overall tax payments can be reduced when ownership of the leased asset rests with
the party in the higher marginal tax bracket. Moreover, as described, leasing can be a
source of off-balance-sheet financing. Used in this way, leasing is said to wznzdow-dress
financial statements.

Our discussion of lease financing for the lessee begins with an explanation of the
effects of lease classification on both the income statement and balance sheet. Next, we
analyze lease disclosures with reference to those of Best Buy. We then provide a method
for recasting operating leases as capital leases for analysis purposes when the economic
characteristics support it. Our discussion also examines the impact of lease classification
on financial statements and the importance of recasting leases for financial statement
analysis. We limit our discussion to the analysis of leases for the lessee. Appendix 3A
provides an overview of lease accounting and analysis for the lessor.

Accounting and Reporting for Leases
Lease Classification and Reporting

A lessee (the party leasing the asset) classifies and accounts for a lease as a capital lease
if, at its inception, the lease meets azy of four criteria: (1) the lease transfers ownership
of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term; (2) the lease contains an
option to purchase the property at a bargain price; (3) the lease term is 75% or more of
the estimated economic life of the property; or (4) the present value of the minimum
lease payments (MLPs) at the beginning of the lease term is 90% or more of the fair
value of the leased property. A lease can be classified as an operating lease only when
none of these criteria are met. Companies often effectively structure leases so that they
can be classified as operating leases.

When a lease is classified as a capital lease, the lessee records it (both asset and lia-
bility) at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments over the
lease term (excluding executory costs such as insurance, maintenance, and taxes paid by
the lessor that are included in the MLP). The leased asset must be depreciated in a man-
ner consistent with the lessee’s normal depreciation policy. Likewise, interest expense is
accrued on the lease liability, just like any other interest-bearing liability. In accounting
for an operating lease, however, the lessee charges rentals (MLPs) to expense as they
are incurred; and no asset or liability is recognized on the balance sheet.

The accounting rules require that all lessees disclose, usually in notes to financial
statements: (1) future minimum lease payments separately for capital leases and
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operating leases for each of the five succeeding years and the total amount thereafter,
and (2) rental expense for each period that an income statement is reported.

Accounting for Leases—An Illustration

This section compares the effects of accounting for a lease as either a capital or an op-
erating lease. Specifically, we look at the effects on both the income statement and the
balance sheet of the lessee given the following information:

e A company leases an asset on January 1, 2005—it has no other assets or liabilities.

* Estimated economic life of the leased asset is five years with an expected salvage
value of zero at the end of five years. The company will depreciate this asset on a
straight-line basis over its economic life.

¢ The lease has a fixed noncancellable term of five years with annual minimum lease
payments of $2,505 paid at the end of each year.

¢ Interest rate on the lease is 8% per year.

We begin the analysis by preparing an amortization schedule for the leased asset
as shown in Exhibit 3.3. The initial step in preparing this schedule is to determine the
present (market) value of the leased asset (and the lease liability) on January 1,2005. Using
the interest tables near the end of the book, the present value is $10,000 (computed as
3.992 X $2,505). We then compute the interest and the principal amortization for each
year. Interest equals the beginning-year liability multiplied by the interest rate (for year
2005 it is $10,000 < 0.08). The principal amount is equal to the total payment less inter-
est (for year 2005 it is $2,505 — $800). The schedule reveals the interest pattern mimics
that of a fixed-payment mortgage with interest decreasing over time as the principal bal-
ance decreases. Next, we determine depreciation. Because this company uses straight
line, the depreciation expense is $2,000 per year (computed as $10,000/5 years). We now
have the necessary information to examine the effects of this lease transaction on both the
income statement and balance sheet for the two alternative lease accounting methods.

Lease Amortization Schedule Exhibit 3.3

INTEREST AND PRINCIPAL

COMPONENTS OF MLP

Beginning-Year Year-End
Year Liability Interest Principal Total Liahility
2005...... $10,000 $ 800 $ 1,705 $ 2,505 $8,295
2006. ... .. 8,295 664 1,841 2,505 6,454
2007 ...... 6,454 517 1,988 2,505 4,466
2008...... 4,466 358 2,147 2,505 2,319
2009...... 2,319 186 2,319 2,505 0
Totals .. ... $2,525 $10,000  $12,525

Let’s first look at the effects on the income statement. When a lease is accounted for
as an operating lease, the minimum lease payment is reported as a periodic rental ex-
pense. This implies a rental expense of $2,505 per year for this company. However,
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when a lease is accounted for as a capital lease, the company must recognize both peri-
odic interest expense (see the amortization schedule in Exhibit 3.3) and depreciation
expense ($2,000 per year in this case). Exhibit 3.4 summarizes the effects of this lease
transaction on the income statement for these two alternative methods. Over the entire
five-year period, total expense for both methods is identical. However, the capital lease
method reports more expense in the earlier years and less expense in later years. This is
due to declining interest expense over the lease term. Consequently, net income under
the capital lease method is lower (higher) than under the operating lease method in the
earlier (later) years of a lease.

Exhibit 3.4

Income Statement Effects of Alternative Lease Accounting Methods

OPERATING

LEASE CAPITAL LEASE

Rent Interest Depreciation Total
Year Expense Expense Expense Expense
2005 .... $ 2,505 $ 800 $ 2,000 $ 2,800
2006 .... 2,505 664 2,000 2,664
2007 .... 2,505 517 2,000 2,517
2008 .... 2,505 358 2,000 2,358
2009 .... 2,505 186 2,000 2,186
Totals.... $12,525 $2,525 $10,000 $12,525

We next examine the effects of alternative lease accounting methods on the balance
sheet. First, let’s consider the operating lease method. Because this company does not
have any other assets or liabilities, the balance sheet under the operating lease method
shows zero assets and liabilities at the beginning of the lease. At the end of the first
year, the company pays its MLP of $2,505, and cash is reduced by this amount to yield
a negative balance. Equity is reduced by the same amount because the MLP is
recorded as rent expense. This process continues each year until the lease expires. At
the end of the lease, the cumulative amount expensed, $12,525 (as reflected in equity),
is equal to the cumulative cash payment (as reflected in the negative cash balance).
This amount also equals the total MLP over the lease term as seen in Exhibit 3.3.

Let’s now examine the balance sheet effects under the capital lease method (see Ex-
hibit 3.5). To begin, note the balance sheet at the end of the lease term is identical under
both lease methods. This result shows that the net accounting effects under the two
methods are identical by the end of the lease. Still, there are major yearly differences be-
fore the end of the lease term. Most notable, at the inception of the lease, an asset and
liability equal to the present value of the lease ($10,000) is recognized under the capital
lease method. At the end of the first year (and every year), the negative cash balance re-
flects the MLP, which is identical under both lease methods—recall that alternative ac-
counting methods do not affect cash flows. For each year of the capital lease, the leased
asset and lease liability are not equal, except at inception and termination of the lease.
These differences occur because the leased asset declines by the amount of depreciation
($2,000 annually), while the lease liability declines by the amount of the principal
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amortization (for example, $1,705 in year 2005, per Exhibit 3.3). The decrease in equity
in year 2005 is $2,800, which is the total of depreciation and interest expense for the
period (see Exhibit 3.4). This process continues throughout the lease term. Note the
leased asset is always lower than the lease liability during the lease term. This occurs
because accumulated depreciation at any given time exceeds the cumulative principal

reduction.
Balance Sheet Effects of Capitalized Leases Exhibit 3.5
EEEEEENR
Month/Day/Year Cash Leased Asset Lease Liability Equity
1/1/2005......... $ 0 $10,000 $10,000 $ 0
12/31/2005. .. .. .. (2,505) 8,000 8,295 (2,800)
12/31/2006. . ... .. (5,010) 6,000 6,454 (5,464)
12/31/2007.. ... .. (7,515) 4,000 4,466 (7,981)
12/31/2008. .. .. .. (10,020) 2,000 2,319 (10,339)
12/31/2009. .. .... (12,525) 0 0 (12,525)

This illustration reveals the important impacts that alternative lease accounting
methods can have on financial statements. While the operating lease method is simpler,
the capital lease method is conceptually superior, both from a balance sheet and an in-
come statement perspective. From a balance sheet perspective, capital lease accounting
recognizes the benefits (assets) and obligations (liabilities) that arise from a lease trans-
action. In contrast, the operating lease method ignores these benefits and obligations
and fully reflects these impacts only by the end of the lease term. This means the
balance sheet under the operating lease method fails to reflect the lease assets and obli-
gations of the company.

Lease Disclosures

Accounting rules require a company with capital leases to report both leased assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Moreover, all companies must disclose future lease
commitments for both their capital and noncancellable operating leases. These disclo-
sures are useful for analysis purposes.

We will analyze the lease disclosures in the Best Buy Co., Inc., 2004 annual report. As
of its year-end, and despite the use of leasing as a financing alternative for many of its re-
tail locations, Best Buy reports a capital lease liability of only $16 million (versus $5.23
billion in total liabilities) on its balance sheet. As a result, only a small portion of its leased
properties are recorded on the balance sheet. Exhibit 3.6 reproduces the leasing footnote
from the annual report and is typical of leasing disclosures. Best Buy leases portions of
its corporate offices, essentially all of its retail locations, a majority of its distribution fa-
cilities, and some of its equipment. Lease terms generally range up to 20 years. In addi-
tion to rental payments, the leases also require Best Buy to pay executory costs (real es-
tate taxes, insurance, and maintenance). It is important to note that, in the present value
computations that follow, only the minimum lease payments over the base lease term
(not including renewal options), and not the executory costs, are considered.

The company classifies the vast majority of its leases as operating and provides a
schedule of future lease payments in its notes to the financial statements. Best Buy will
make $454 million in payments on its leases in 2005, $424 million in 2006, and so on.
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Exhibit 3.6 Lease Disclosures of Best Buy

EEEEEENR R
Lease Commitments

We lease portions of our corporate facilities and conduct the majority of our retail and distribution operations from
leased locations. The leases require payment of real estate taxes, insurance and common area maintenance, in
addition to rent. Most of the leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses, and certain store leases require
contingent rents based on specified percentages of revenue. Other leases contain convenants related to the
maintenance of financial ratios. Transaction costs associated with the sale and lease back of properties and any
related gain or loss are recognized over the period of the lease agreements. Proceeds from the sale and lease back
of properties are included in other current assets. Also, we lease certain equipment under noncancellable operating
and capital leases. The terms of our lease agreements generally range up to 20 years.

During fiscal 2004, we entered into a capital lease agreement totaling $26 for point-of-sale equipment used in
our retail stores. This lease was a noncash transaction and has been eliminated from our Consolidated Statement
of Cash Flows. The composition of rental expenses for all operating leases, net of sublease rental income, during the
past three fiscal years, including leases of property and equipment, was as follows:

($ millions) 2004 2003 2002
Minimum rentals ........................ $467 $439 $366
Contingentrentals ....................... 1 _1 1
Total rent expense for continuing operations ...  $468 $440 $367

The future minimum lease payments under our capital and operating leases, net of sublease rental income, by fiscal
year (not including contingent rentals) as of February 28, 2004, are as follows ($ millions):

Fiscal Year Capital Leases Operating Leases
2005, .. $14 $ 454
2006, ... . 3 424
2007 . .. — 391
2008, .. — 385
2009, ... — 379
Thereafter............ ... ... ... ... L 2,621
Subtotal ......... ... ...

Less: Imputed interest ....................

Present value of capital lease obligations . .. .. $16

Analyzing Leases

This section looks at the impact of operating versus capital leases for financial statement
analysis. It gives specific guidance on how to adjust the financial statements for operat-
ing leases that should be accounted for as capital leases.

Before embarking on a discussion of how to convert operating leases to capital
leases, it is important to note that the FASB and IASB are close to issuing a joint
standard that eliminates operating lease treatment. A draft version of this standard is ex-
pected to be ready soon, and a final version of the standard should be completed within
a year or two. Once this standard becomes effective, under both US GAAP and IFRS,
all leases will need to be accounted for as capital leases. This standard will eliminate one
of the most important forms of off-balance-sheet financing.
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Impact of Operating Leases

While accounting standards allow alternative methods to best reflect differences in the
economics underlying lease transactions, this discretion is too often misused by lessees
who structure lease contracts so that they can use the operating lease method. This
practice reduces the usefulness of financial statements. Moreover, because the propor-
tion of capital leases to operating leases varies across companies, lease accounting
affects our ability to compare different companies’ financial statements.

Lessees’ incentives to structure leases as operating leases relate to the impacts of
operating leases versus capital leases on both the balance sheet and the income state-
ment. These impacts on financial statements are summarized as follows:

e Operating leases understate liabilities by keeping lease financing oft the balance
sheet. Not only does this conceal liabilities from the balance sheet, it also positively
impacts solvency ratios (such as debt to equity) that are often used in credit analysis.

e Operating leases understate assets. This can inflate both return on investment and

asset turnover ratios.

e Operating leases delay recognition of expenses in comparison to capital leases.
This means operating leases overstate income in the early term of the lease but
understate income late in the lease term.

 Operating leases understate current liabilities by keeping the current portion of the
principal payment off the balance sheet. This inflates the current ratio and other

liquidity measures.

¢ Operating leases include interest with the lease rental (an operating expense). Con-
sequently, operating leases understate both operating income and interest expense.
This inflates interest coverage ratios such as times interest earned.

Analysis Research
E EEEEEN

Finance theory suggests that leases
and debt are perfect substitutes.
However, there is little empirical
evidence supporting this substitution
hypothesss. Indeed, evidence appears
to contradict this hypothesis.
Namely, companies with leases
carry a higher proportion of addi-
tional debt financing than those
without leases. This gives rise to the
so-called leasing puzzle. Further,
there is considerable variation across
companies on the extent of leasing
as a form of financing. What then
are the motivations for leasing?

One answer relates to taxes.
Ownership of an asset provides the
holder with tax benefits. This sug-
gests that the entity with the /zgher
marginal tax rate would hold owner-
ship of the asset to take advantage of

greater tax benefits. The entity with
the /ower marginal tax would lease
the asset. Empirical evidence sup-
ports this tax hypothesis. Other eco-
nomic factors that motivate leasing
include (1) an expected use period
that is less than the asset’s economic
life, (2) a lessor that has an advan-
tage in reselling the asset or has mar-
ket power to force buyers to lease,
and (3) an asset that is not special-
ized to the company or is not sensi-
tive to misuse.

Financial reporting factors also
explain the popularity of leasing
over other forms of debt financing.
While financial accounting and tax
reporting need not be identical, use
of operating leases for financial re-
ports creates unnecessary obstacles
when claiming capital lease benefits

MOTIVATIONS FOR LEASING

for tax purposes. This explains the
choice of capital leasing for some fi-
nancial reports. Still, the choice of
operating leasing seems largely dic-
tated by managers’ preference for
off-balance-sheet financing. Capital
leasing yields deterioration in sol-
vency ratios and creates difficulties
in raising additional capital. For ex-
ample, there is evidence that capital
leasing increases the tightness of
debt covenants and, therefore, man-
agers try to loosen debt covenants
with operating leases. While there is
some evidence that private debt
agreements reflect different lease
accounting choices, the preponder-
ance of the evidence suggests that
creditors do not fully compensate
for alternative lease accounting
methods.
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The ability of operating leases to positively affect key ratios used in credit and
profitability analysis provides a major incentive for lessees to pursue this source of off-
balance-sheet financing. Lessees also believe that classifying leases as operating leases
helps them meet debt covenants and improves their prospects for additional
financing.

Because of the impacts from lease classification on financial statements and ratios, an
analyst must make adjustments to financial statements prior to analysis. Many analysts
convert all operating leases to capital leases. Others are more selective. We suggest
reclassifying leases when necessary and caution against indiscriminate adjustments.
Namely, we recommend reclassification only when the lessee’s classification appears
inconsistent with the economic characteristics of the lease as explained next.

Converting Operating Leases to Capital Leases

This section provides a method for converting operating leases to capital leases. The
specific steps are illustrated in Exhibit 3.7 using data from Best Buy’s leasing note. It
must be emphasized that while this method provides reasonable estimates, it does not
precisely quantify all the effects of lease reclassification for financial statements.

Exhibit 3.7 Determining the Present Value of Projected Operating Lease Payments
e and Lease Amortization ($ millions)
Discount Present Lease Lease

Year Payment Factor Value Interest Obligation Balance
2004 $3,321
2005 $ 454 0.94518 $ 429 $193 $261 3,060
2006 424 0.89336 379 178 246 2,814
2007 391 0.84439 330 163 228 2,586
2008 385 0.79810 307 150 235 2,351
2009 379 0.75435 286 136 243 2,108
2010 379 0.71299 270 122 257 1,851
2011 379 0.67390 255 107 272 1,579
2012 379 0.63696 241 92 287 1,292
2013 379 0.60204 228 75 304 988
2014 379 0.56904 216 57 322 666
2015 379 0.53784 204 39 340 326
2016 347 0.50836 176 21 326 0
Totals $4.654 $3,321

The first step is to assess whether or not Best Buy’s classification of operating leases
is reasonable. To do this, we must estimate the length of the remaining period beyond
the five years disclosed in the notes—titled “Thereafter” in the Best Buy notes of
Exhibit 3.6. Specifically, we divide the reported MLP for the later years by the MLP for
the last year that is separately reported. For Best Buy, we divide the total MLP for the
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later years of $2.621 billion (for its 2004 operating leases) by the MLP reported in 2009,
or $379 million, to arrive at 6.9 years beyond 2004. Adding this number to the five years
already reported gives us an estimate of about 12 years for the remaining lease term.
These results suggest a need for us to reclassify Best Buy’s operating leases as capital
leases—that is, its 12-year commitment for operating leases is too long to ignore. In
particular, whenever the remaining lease period (commitments) is viewed as significant,
we need to capitalize the operating leases.

To convert operating leases to capital leases, we need to estimate the present value
of Best Buy’s operating lease liability. The process begins with an estimate of the inter-
est rate that we will use to discount the projected lease payments. Determining the
interest rate on operating leases is challenging. For companies that report both capital
and operating leases, we can estimate the implicit interest rate on the capital leases and
assume operating leases have a similar interest rate. The implicit rate on capital leases
can be inferred by trial and error and is equal to that interest rate that equates the pro-
jected capital lease payments with the present value of the capital leases, both of which
are disclosed in the leasing footnote.

Two problems can arise when inferring the interest rate from capital lease disclosures.
First, it is impossible to use this method for companies that do report capital lease details.
In such a case, we need to determine the yield on the company’s long-term debt or debt
with a similar risk profile and then use it as a proxy for the interest rate on operating
leases. A second problem can arise when the interest rates on capital and operating
leases are markedly different (this can arise when operating and capital leases are entered
into at different times when the interest rates are different). In this scenario, we need to
adjust the capital lease interest rate to better reflect the interest rate on operating leases.

Best Buy’s bond rating is BBB, which results in an effective 10-year borrowing cost of
about 5.8% in 2005. For the example that follows, we use 5.8% as a discount rate to de-
termine the present value of the projected operating lease payments. This analysis is
presented in Exhibit 3.7. Lease payments for 2005-2009 are provided in the leasing foot-
note as required. The estimated payments after 2009 are assumed equal to the 2009 pay-
ment and continue for the next seven years with a final lease payment of $347 million in
the 12th year (2016). Discounting these projected lease payments at 5.8% yields a
present value of $3.321 billion. This is the amount that should be added to Best Buy’s
reported liabilities.

The next step in our analysis is to compute the value of the operating lease asset. Re-
call that the asset value of a capital lease is always lower than its corresponding liability,
but how much lower is difficult to estimate because it depends on the length of the lease
term, the economic life of the asset, and the lessee’s depreciation policy. Consequently,
for analysis of operating leases, we assume that the leased asset value is equal to the
estimated liability. For Best Buy, this means both the leased asset and lease liability are
estimated at $3.321 billion for 2004. We also can split the operating lease liability into
its current and noncurrent components of $261 million and $3.06 billion, respectively.

Once we determine the operating lease liability and asset, we then must estimate the
impact of lease reclassification on reported income. There are two expenses relating to
capitalized leases—interest and depreciation. Interest expense is determined by applying
the interest rate to the present value of the lease (the lease liability). For Best Buy, this
is estimated at $193 million for 2005, or 5.8% of $3.321 billion (see Exhibit 3.7). Depre-
ciation expense is determined by dividing the value of the leasehold asset by the
remaining lease term. Assuming no residual value, depreciation of the $3.321 billion in
leased assets on a straight-line basis over the 12-year remaining lease term yields an
annual depreciation expense of $277 million. Total expense, then, is estimated at
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$470 million ($193 million + $277 million) for 2005, compared with $454 million in
projected rent expense, an increase of $16 million pretax.

Restating Financial Statements for
Lease Reclassification

Exhibit 3.8 shows the restated balance sheet and income statement for Best Buy before
and after operating lease reclassification using the results in Exhibit 3.7. The operating
lease reclassification has a limited effect on Best Buy’s 2004 income statement. Using
the calculations for 2005 depreciation and interest expense from Exhibit 3.7 Best Buy’s
2004 income statement can be recast as follows:

* Operating expenses decrease by $177 million (elimination of $454 million rent
expense reported in 2004 and addition of $277 million of depreciation expense)*

* Interest expense increases by $193 million (to $201 million)

* Net income decreases by $10 million [$16 million pretax X (1 — 0.35), the as-
sumed marginal corporate tax rate] in 2004.

Exhibit 3.8 Restated Balance Sheet after Converting Operating Leases to Capital Leases—
EEEEEEN Best Buy 2004 ($ mi”iDHS)
Income Statement Before After
Sales. ... .. $24 547 $24 547
Operating expenses. ..........coovvvvevnn.n. 23,243 23,066
Operating income before interest and taxes ... ... 1,304 1,481
Interest expense (income) . ................... 8 201
Incometaxes...........coooiiiiiii... 496 490
Income from continuing operations............. 800 790
Discontinued operations ..................... (95) (95)
Netincome ........... .. ... ... ..., $ 705 $ 695
Balance Sheet Before After Before After
Current assets .. .. .. $5,724 $ 5,724 Current liabilities............. $4501  § 4762
Fixed assets ........ 2,928 6,249 Long-term liabilities. .......... 729 3,789
Stockholders’ equity........... 3,422 3,422
Total assets ........ $8,652  $11,973 Total liabilities and equity . . . . .. $8,652  $11,973

* The $454 million of rent expense that is eliminated in this example is not equal to the $468 million of rent expense reported for 2004 in Best
Buy's leasing footnote (Exhibit 3.6). Replacing the actual rent expense would result in a more accurate elimination of current rent expense,
but would result in inequality between the rent expense that is eliminated from operating expense and the depreciation and interest
components that replace it. An alternative approach is to eliminate from current operating expense the projected minimum lease payments
in the lease disclosures from the prior year and to replace that amount with the projected depreciation and interest components computed
as of the beginning of the year. This approach also does not eliminate the current rent expense and, instead, presumes that only the
minimum lease payment (MLP) that is projected for the current year be eliminated under the assumption that the actual expense includes
contingent rentals that are not relevant for analysis. Implementation of this approach requires the capitalization of the leased asset and
liability for both the opening and the closing balance sheets, and, thus, requires examination of the lease footnote from both the prior and
current years. All approaches have strengths and weaknesses and all rely on some estimation, not only relating to the amount of rent
expense eliminated, but also with respect to the discount rate used to compute the capitalized leased asset and liability.
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The balance sheet impact is more substantial. Total assets and total liabilities both
increase markedly—by $3.321 billion at the end of 2004, which is the present value of
the operating lease liability. The increase in liabilities consists of increases in both
current liabilities ($261 million) and noncurrent liabilities ($3.06 billion).

Exhibit 3.9 shows selected ratios for Best Buy before and after lease reclassification.
The current ratio slightly declines from 1.27 to 1.20. However, reclassification adversely
affects Best Buy’s solvency ratios. Total debt to equity increases by 65% to 2.50, and the
long-term debt to equity ratio jumps from 0.21 to 1.11. Best Buy’s interest coverage
(times interest earned ratio) decreases from 163.0 (because it is recording minimal in-
terest expense prior to the reclassification) to 7.37, but it remains very strong even after
the operating lease adjustment.

Exhibit 3.9

Effect of Converting Operating Leases to Capital Leases on Key Ratios—Best Buy 2004

Financial Ratios Before After
Currentratio................. 1.27 1.20
Total debt to equity . ........... 1.53 2.50
Long-term debt to equity........ 0.21 1.11
Net income/Ending equity. ... ... 20.6% 20.3%
Net income/Ending assets. . ... .. 8.1% 5.8%
Times interest earned .......... 163.0 1.37

Return on ending equity is largely unaffected because of the small change in after-tax
income (meaning equity is not markedly affected by reclassification). Profitability com-
ponents, however, are significantly affected. Return on ending assets decreases from
8.1% to 5.8% due to the increase in reported assets and its consequent effect on total
asset turnover. Financial leverage has increased to offset this decrease, leaving return on
equity unchanged. Although ROE is unaffected, our inferences about how this return is
achieved are different. Following lease capitalization, Best Buy is seen as requiring
significantly more capital investment (resulting in lower turnover ratios), and is realiz-
ing its ROE as a result of a higher level of financial leverage than was apparent from its
unadjusted financial statements.

Analysis Research
EEEEEEDN

OPERATING LEASES AND RISK

Analysis research encourages capi-
talizing noncancellable operating
leases. The main impact of capital-
izing these operating leases is an
increase in the debt-to-equity and
similar ratios with a corresponding
increase in the company’s risk as-
sessment. An important question is
whether off-balance-sheet operating
leases actually do increase risk. Re-
search has examined this question

by assessing the effect of operating
leases on equsty risk, defined as vari-
ability in stock returns. Evidence
shows that the present value of
noncapitalized operating leases in-
creases equity risk from its impact
on both the debt to equity ratio and
the variability of return on assets
(ROA).

Analysis research also shows
that only the present value of future

MLPs impacts equity risk. Further,
it shows that the contingent fee
included in rental payments is not
considered by analysts. This evi-
dence favors the lease capitalization
method adopted by accounting
standards, instead of an alternative
method that involves multiplying
the lease rental payments by a
constant.
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»uusansCONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

Contingencies

Contingencies are potential gains and losses whose resolution depends on one or
more future events. Loss contingencies are potential claims on a company’s resources
and are known as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities can arise from
litigation, threat of expropriation, collectibility of receivables, claims arising from prod-

uct warranties or defects, guarantees of performance,

Frequency of Contingent Liabilities tax assessments, self-insured risks, and catastrophic

Other

1
Governmental ]
]

Tax

Insurance

losses of property.

A loss contingency must meet two conditions
before a company records it as a loss. First, it must be
probable that an asset will be impaired or a liability
incurred. Implicit in this condition is that it must
be probable that a future event will confirm the loss.

Environmental

| The second condition is the amount of loss must be

I reasonably estimable. Examples that usually meet these

Litigation

| two conditions are losses from uncollectible receiv-

0

WARRANTIES

GE recently reported
$1.3 billion in product
warranty liability and
$720 million in warranty
expense.

10

20 30 20 50 ables and the obligations related to product warranties.
Percent For these cases, both an estimated liability and a loss
are recorded in the financial statements.

If a company does not record a loss contingency because one or both of the condi-
tions are not met, the company must disclose the contingency in the notes when there
is at least a 7easonable possibility that it will incur a loss. Such a note reports the nature of
the contingency and offers an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss—or reports
that such an estimate cannot be made.

Consistent with conservatism in financial reporting, companies do not recognize
gain contingencies in financial statements. They can, however, disclose gain contingen-
cies in a note if the probability of realization is high.

Analyzing Contingent Liabilities

Reported contingent liabilities for items such as service guarantees and warranties are
estimates. Our analysis of these liabilities is only as accurate as the underlying estimates,
which companies often determine on the basis of prior experience or future expecta-
tions. We must exercise care in accepting management’s estimates for these and other
contingent liabilities. For instance, recall that Manville argued it had substantial defenses
to legal claims against it due to asbestos-related lawsuits until the year it declared
bankruptcy.

We also need to analyze note disclosures of all loss (and gain) contingencies. For
example, note disclosure of indirect guarantees of indebtedness, such as advancing
funds or covering fixed charges of another entity is important for our analysis. Note
disclosure for contingencies typically includes:

* A description of the contingent liability and the degree of risk.

* The potential amount of the contingency and how participation of others is
treated in determining risk exposure.

* The charges, if any, against income for the estimates of contingent losses.
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Our analysis must recognize that companies sometimes underestimate or fail to recog-
nize these liabilities.”> One example of disclosure for a contingent liability follows:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

There are various libel and other legal actions that have arisen in the ordinary course
of business and are now pending against the Company. Such actions are usually for
amounts greatly in excess of the payments, if any, that may be required to be made. It
is the opinion of management after reviewing such actions with counsel that the ulti-
mate liability which might result from such actions would not have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

—New York Times

Another example of a contingent liability involves frequent flyer mileage. Unredeemed
frequent flyer mileage entitles airline passengers to billions of miles of free travel.
Frequent flyer programs ensure customer loyalty and offer marketing benefits that are
not cost-free. Because realization of these liabilities is probable and can be estimated,
they must be recognized on the balance sheet and in the income statement.

Reserves for future losses are another type of contingency requiring our scrutiny.
Conservatism in accounting calls for companies to recognize losses as they determine
or foresee them. Still, companies tend, particularly in years of very poor performance, to
overestimate their contingent losses. This behavior is referred to as a 7g bat/ and often
includes recording losses from asset disposals, relocation, and plant closings. Overesti-
mating these losses shifts future costs to the current period and can serve as a means for
companies to manage or smooth income. Only in selected reports filed with the SEC
are details of these loss estimates (also called /oss 7eserves) sometimes disclosed, and even
here there is no set requirement for detailed disclosure. Despite this, our analysis should
attempt to obtain details of loss reserves by category and amount.

Two sources of useful information are (1) note disclosures in financial statements and
(2) information in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section. Also, under
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, only a few categories of anticipated losses are tax
deductible. Accordingly, a third source of information is analysis of deferred taxes. This
analysis can reveal undisclosed provisions for future losses, because any undeductible
losses should appear in the adjustments for deferred (prepaid) taxes. We also must
remember that loss reserves do not alter risk exposure, have no cash flow consequences,
and do not provide an alternative to insurance.

Cigna, a property and casualty insurer, shows us how tenuous the reserve estimation
process is. In a recent year, Cigna claimed it could look back on 10 years of a very sta-
ble pattern of claims (insurance reserves are designed to provide funds for claims).
However, in the very next year, the incidence and severity of claims worsened. Cigna
claimed that the year was an aberration and it did not increase reserves for future
claims. Yet within two years, Cigna announced a more than $1 billion charge to income
to bring insurance reserves to proper levels with claims. Consequently, Cigna’s reserves
for these earlier years were obviously understated and its net income overstated.

The auditor’s report gives us another perspective on contingencies. Still, auditors
exhibit an inability to express an opinion on the outcome of contingencies. For example,

5 Astudy found that of 126 lawsuits lost by publicly traded companies, nearly 40% were not disclosed in years preceding the loss.
The implication is that companies are reluctant to disclose pending litigation, even when the risk of loss due to litigation is high.
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FLYER DEBT
American Airlines
estimates its 2011
year-end frequent-flyer
liabilities at $1.6 billion.

ECO COPS
Contingent valuation is

a means of measuring
environmental contingent
liabilities. In this case
people are surveyed and
asked to assign value to
environmental damage.

DIFFERENCES
Managers and auditors
often differ on whether
a contingency should be
recorded, disclosed, or
ignored.
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the auditor’s report for the years involving the Cigna case described above was unquali-
fied. Another typical example, when they do comment on contingencies, is from the au-
ditor’s report of Harsco shown here:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

The Company is subject to the Government exercising an additional option under a
certain contract. If the Government exercises this option, additional losses could be
incurred by the Company. Also, the Company has filed or is in the process of filing var-
ious claims against the Government relating to certain contracts. The ultimate out-
come of these matters cannot presently be determined. Accordingly, no provision for
such potential additional losses or recognition of possible recovery from such claims
(other than relating to the Federal Excise Tax and related claims) has been reflected in
the accompanying financial statements.

Notice the intentional ambiguity of this auditor’s report.

Banks especially are exposed to large contingent losses that they often underesti-
mate or confine to note disclosure. One common example relates to losses on interna-
tional loans where evidence points to impairments of assets, but banks and their
auditors fail to properly disclose the impact. Another example is off-balance-sheet
commitments of banks. These include such diverse commitments as standby letters of
credit, municipal bond and commercial paper guarantees, currency swaps, and foreign
exchange contracts. Unlike loans, these commitments are promises banks expect
(but are not certain) they will not have to bear. Banks do not effectively report these
commitments in financial statements. This further increases the danger of not fully
identifying risk exposures of banks.

Frequency of Commitments
Other

Licensing agreements

Commitments

Commitments are potential claims against a com-
H pany’s resources due to future performance under con-
1 tract. They are not recognized in financial statements
Acquisition related [ since events such as the signing of an executory con-
] tract or issuance of a purchase order is not a completed
transaction. Additional examples are long-term non-
cancellable contracts to purchase products or services

|

Sales agreements

Employment contracts

Debt covenant restrictions ]

Capital expenditures ] at specified prices and purchase contracts for fixed
Purchase Comm'tme”t5—=—=—| assets calling for payments during construction. An
0 10 20 30 40 50 example ofa commitment for Intermec Co. is shown
Percent here:
ANALYSIS EXCERPT

The Company signed a patent license agreement with its former principal supplier of hand-
held laser scanning devices. This agreement provides that the Company may manufacture
and sell certain laser scanning products of its own design and that the Company pay min-
imum royalties and purchase minimum quantities of other products from that supplier.
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A lease agreement is also, in many cases, a form of commitment.

All commitments call for disclosure of important factors surrounding their obliga-
tions including the amounts, conditions, and timing. An example of how far-reaching
the commitments can be is illustrated in the following note from Wells Fargo:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities. In the normal course of business, there are
various commitments outstanding and contingent liabilities that are properly not re-
flected in the accompanying financial statements. Losses, if any, resulting from these
commitments are not anticipated to be material. The approximate amounts of such
commitments are summarized below ($ in millions):

Standby letters of credit ............... .. ... ... $ 2,400
Commercial and similar letters of credit ................. 400
Commitments to extend credit* ........................ 17,300
Commitments to purchase futures and forward contracts .... 5,000
Commitments to purchase foreign and U.S. currencies . ... .. 1,500

*Excludes credit card and other revolving credit loans.

Standby letters of credit include approximately $400 million of participations
purchased and are net of approximately $300 million of participations sold. Standby
letters of credit are issued to cover performance obligations, including those which
back financial instruments (financial guarantees).

suununsOFF-BALANCE-SHEET FINANCING

Off-balance-sheet financing refers to the nonrecording of certain financing obli-
gations. We have already examined transactions that fit this mold (operating leases). In
addition to leases, there are other off-balance-sheet financing arrangements ranging from
the simple to the highly complex. These arrangements are part of an ever-changing land-
scape, where as one accounting requirement is brought in to better reflect the obligations
from a specific off-balance-sheet financing transaction, new and innovative means are
devised to take its place.

Off-Balance-Sheet Examples

One way to finance property, plant, and equipment is to have an outside party acquire
them while a company agrees to use the assets and provide funds sufficient to service
the debt. Examples of these arrangements are purchase agreements and through-put
agreements, where a company agrees to purchase output from or run a specified
amount of goods through a processing facility, and zake-or-pay arrangements, where a
company guarantees to pay for a specified quantity of goods whether needed or not.
A variation on these arrangements involves creating separate entities and then pro-
viding financing not to exceed 50% ownership—such as joint ventures or limited part-
nerships. Companies carry these activities as an investment and do not consolidate
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them with the company’s financial statements. This means they are excluded from
liabilities. Consider the following two practices:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Avis Rent-A-Car set up a separate trust to borrow money to finance the purchase of
automobiles that it then leased to Avis for its rental fleet. Because the trust is separate
from Avis, the debt of about $400 million is kept off the balance sheet. The chief
accounting officer proclaimed: “One of the big advantages of off-balance-sheet financ-
ing is that it permits us to make other borrowings from banks for operating capital that
we could not otherwise obtain.” Two major competitors, Hertz and National Car Rental,
bought rather than leased their rental cars.

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Oil companies often resort to less-than-50%-owned joint ventures as a means to raise
money for building and operating pipelines. While the debt service is the ultimate re-
sponsibility of the oil company, its notes simply report that the company might have to
advance funds to help the pipeline joint venture meet its debt obligations if sufficient
crude oil needed to generate the necessary funds is not shipped.

Also, many retailers sell receivables arising from proprietary credit cards to trusts that
they establish for this purpose. The trusts raise funds for these purchases by selling
bonds that are repaid from the cash collected.

Special Purpose Entities

Special purpose entities (SPE), now made infamous in the wake of Enron’s bankruptcy,
have been a legitimate financing mechanism for decades and are an integral part of cor-
porate finance today. The concept is straightforward:

e An SPE is formed by the sponsoring company and is capitalized with equity in-
vestment, some of which must be from independent third parties.

 The SPE leverages this equity investment with borrowings from the credit markets
and purchases earning assets from or for the sponsoring company.

e The cash flow from the earning assets is used to repay the debt and provide a
return to the equity investors.

Some examples:

* A company sells accounts receivable to the SPE. These receivables may arise, for
example, from the company’s proprietary credit card that it offers its customers to
attempt to ensure their future patronage (e.g., the Target credit card). The company re-
moves the receivables from its balance sheet and receives cash that can be invested in
other earning assets. The SPE collateralizes bonds that it sells in the credit markets with
the receivables and uses the cash to purchase additional receivables on an ongoing basis
as the company’s credit card portfolio grows. This process is called securitization. Con-
sumer finance companies like Capital One are significant issuers of receivable-backed
bonds. Exhibit 3.10 provides an illustration of the flow of funds in this use of SPEs.

A company desires to construct a manufacturing facility. It executes a contract to pur-
chase output from the plant. An SPE uses the contract and the property to collateralize
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Illustration of SPE Transaction to Sell Accounts Receivable

Security
— interest in
Receivables receivables
Sponsoring -1 Special Purpose >
Company < Entity (SPE) |- Bond Market
Cash Cash
N——

Exhibit 3.10

bonds that it sells to finance the plant’s construction. The company obtains the benefits of
the manufacturing plant, but does not recognize either the asset or the liability on its balance
sheet since executory contracts (commitments) are not recorded under GAAP and are also
not considered derivatives that would require balance sheet recognition (see Chapter 5).

* A company desires to construct an office building, but does not want to record either
the asset or the liability on its balance sheet. An SPE agrees to finance and construct the
building and lease it to the company under an operating lease, called a synthetic lease. If
structured properly, neither the leased asset nor the lease obligation are reflected on the
company’s balance sheet.

There are two primary reasons for the popularity of SPEs:

1. SPEs may provide a lower-cost financing alternative than borrowing from the
credit markets directly. This is because the activities of the SPE are restricted
and, as a result, investors purchase a well-secured cash flow stream that is not
subject to the range of business risks inherent in providing capital directly to the
sponsoring company.

2. Under present GAAP, so long as the SPE is properly structured, the SPE is
accounted for as a separate entity, unconsolidated with the sponsoring company
(see Chapter 5 for a discussion of consolidations). The company thus is able to
use SPEs to achieve off-balance-sheet transactions to remove assets, liabilities,
or both from its balance sheet. Because the company continues to realize the
economic benefits of the transactions, operating performance ratios (like return
on assets, asset turnover ratios, leverage ratios, and so on) improve significantly.

US GAAP guidance relating to the accounting for SPEs and the rules for their con-
solidation with the sponsoring company is provided in ASC 810 and ASC 860. At issue
is defining when “control” of one entity over another is established, especially when the
SPE does not issue common stock.

Many SPEs are not corporations and do not have stock ownership. For these enti-
ties, control is conferred via legal documents rather than stock ownership, and the typ-
ical 50% stock ownership threshold for consolidation does not apply. The FASB now
classifies these SPEs as variable interest entities (VIEs) if either the total equity at
risk is insufficient to finance its operations (usually less than 10% of assets) or the VIE
lacks any one of the following: (1) the ability to make decisions, (2) the obligation to
absorb losses, or (3) the right to receive returns. In this case, the VIE is consolidated
with that entity that has the ability to make decisions, the obligation to absorb losses,
and the right to receive returns (called the “Primary Beneficiary”). Consolidation re-
sults in the adding together of the financial statements of the Primary Beneficiary and
the VIE, thus eliminating any perceived benefits resulting from off-balance-sheet treat-
ment of the VIE.

We close our discussion of SPEs with four examples of their use.

FUTURE GAAP
Regulators continue to
debate the reporting
standards for
consolidation.
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Case of Capital One. We begin with Capital One Financial Corporation, the consumer
finance company with $53.7 billion in total assets, consisting mostly of consumer loans
and credit card receivables. Capital One uses SPEs in the form of trusts to purchase
portions of its consumer loan portfolio. The trusts, in turn, finance the purchase by sell-
ing bonds collateralized by the receivables.

Capital One manages nearly $80 billion in consumer loans, yet only $38 billion is
reported on its balance sheet. The other $42 billion have been sold to the trust
(SPE). In 2004, Capital One reported a net increase in reported consumer loans of
$19 billion. It also reported cash inflows of $11 billion relating to the securitization
of these loans.

Capital One is an example of a company using SPEs for a legitimate financial pur-
pose and with full disclosure. Receivables are removed from the balance sheet only
when the SPE has been properly structured with sufficient third-party equity, when
Capital One has sold the assets without recourse, meaning that it is relieved of all risk
of loss on the receivables, and when it has relinquished all control over the SPE (a qual-
ifying special purpose entity). In this case, the transfer of the receivables can be recog-
nized as a sale, with the resulting gain (loss) recognized in the income statement and the
assets removed from the balance sheet.

Capital One fully discloses its off-balance-sheet financing activities so that analysts
can consider their effects in the evaluation of the company’s financial condition.
Excerpts from the annual report of Capital One follow.

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Off-Balance-Sheet Securitizations. The Company actively engages in off-balance-sheet
securitization transactions of loans for funding purposes. The Company receives the pro-
ceeds from third-party investors for securities issued from the Company’s securitization
vehicles which are collateralized by transferred receivables from the Company’s portfo-
lio. Securities outstanding totaling $41.2 billion as of December 31, 2004, represent
undivided interests in the pools of consumer loan receivables that are sold in under-
written offerings or in private placement transactions. The securitization of consumer
loans has been a significant source of liquidity for the Company. The Company believes
that it has the ability to continue to utilize off-balance-sheet securitization arrange-
ments as a source of liquidity; however, a significant reduction or termination of the
Company'’s off-balance-sheet securitizations could require the Company to draw down
existing liquidity and/or to obtain additional funding through the issuance of secured
borrowings or unsecured debt, the raising of additional deposits or the slowing of asset
growth to offset or to satisfy liquidity needs.

Off-balance-sheet securitizations involve the transfer of pools of consumer loan
receivables by the Company to one or more third-party trusts or qualified special pur-
pose entities in transactions that are accounted for as sales in accordance with SFAS
140. Certain undivided interests in the pool of consumer loan receivables are sold to in-
vestors as asset-backed securities in public underwritten offerings or private placement
transactions. The proceeds from off-balance-sheet securitizations are distributed by
the trusts to the Company as consideration for the consumer loan receivables trans-
ferred. Each new off-balance-sheet securitization results in the removal of consumer
loan principal receivables equal to the sold undivided interests in the pool from the
Company'’s consolidated balance sheet (“off-balance-sheet loans”), the recognition of
certain retained residual interests and a gain on the sale. The remaining undivided

(continued)
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ANALYSIS EXCERPT (concluded)

interests in principal receivables of the pool, as well as the unpaid billed finance
charge and fee receivables related to the Company’s undivided interest in the princi-
pal receivables are retained by the Company and recorded as consumer loans on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amounts of the remaining undivided interests fluc-
tuate as the accountholders make principal payments and incur new charges on the
selected accounts. The amount of retained consumer loan receivables was $10.3 bil-
lion and $8.3 billion as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Case of eBay. eBay constructed office facilities in San Jose, California, at a total cost
of $126.4 million in 2000. The property was owned by a separate entity, eBay Realty
Trust, and leased to eBay. The structure of this transaction (called a “synthetic lease”)
was unique in that it allowed eBay to be the lessee of an operating lease for financial
reporting purposes, but the owner of the property for federal tax purposes, thus allow-
ing it to treat as deductions both the interest on the lease and the depreciation of the
property. These synthetic leases became increasingly popular because they provided
off-balance-sheet financing yet allowed the organization to retain all of the tax bene-
fits of ownership.

eBay Realty Trust was formed with a nominal investment. It then agreed to construct
a building for eBay, and to lease the property to eBay upon completion. Financing of
the building came from lenders, with Chase Manhattan Bank serving as agent. The loan
was secured by a mortgage on the property and an assignment of the lease. In addition,
eBay agreed to place $126.4 million in a cash collateral account and also guaranteed the
owner-lessor a minimum residual amount upon termination of the lease and sale of the
property.

Synthetic leases now increasingly fall under the purview of SPE accounting and
these entities are now classified as VIEs, thus requiring consolidation. eBay discusses
the pending effects of the adoption of the SPE accounting in its 2002 10-K and the ul-
timate consolidation of the VIE in its 2004 10-K, excerpts of which are provided in
Exhibit 3.11. Consolidation resulted in the addition of $126.4 million of property and
$122.5 million of debt to eBay’s balance sheet, together with a noncontrolling interest
of $3.9 million representing the investment by noncontrolling shareholders.

Case of Dell. Dell provides financing for the purchase of its computers in the form of
loans and leases. Rather than provide this financing in-house, Dell entered into a joint
venture (Dell Financial Services or DFS) with CIT, the consumer finance company,
which provides the financing and splits the profit with Dell. By virtue of the joint ven-
ture agreement, Dell did not control this joint venture despite its 70% economic inter-
est and, consequently, did not consolidate it in its financial statements. This entity was
subsequently deemed to be a variable interest entity (VIE), however, and, as a result,
Dell is now required to consolidate DFS in its financial statements. Excerpts from Dell’s
10-K footnote relating to Dell Financial Services are provided in Exhibit 3.12.
Interestingly, as described at the end of its footnote, Dell has renegotiated its joint
venture agreement to allow it to sell finance receivables to a new “unconsolidated quali-
fying special purpose entity” (QSPE). QSPEs are SPEs that are structured in order
to be exempt from the accounting requirements and are, therefore, not required to be
consolidated. The QSPE structure requires an independent, financially solvent entity
with total control over the purchased assets. The transfers are, therefore, viewed as
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Exhibit 3.11 eBay Lease Footnotes

mEmmERE 2002 10-K: On March 1, 2000, we entered into a five-year lease for general office facilities located in San Jose,

California. This five-year lease is commonly referred to as a synthetic lease because it represents a form of
off-balance-sheet financing under which an unrelated third-party funds 100% of the costs of the acquisition of
the property and leases the asset to us as lessee. . . . In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or FASB, issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, or FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” This
interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” addresses
consolidation by business enterprises of certain variable interest entities where there is a controlling financial
interest in a variable interest entity or where the variable interest entity does not have sufficient equity at risk
to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. . . . We expect that
the adoption of FIN 46 will require us to include our San Jose facilities lease and potentially certain investments
in our Consolidated Financial Statements effective July 1, 2003.

2004 10-K: In accordance with the provisions of FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” we have included
our San Jose corporate headquarters lease arrangement in our consolidated financial statements effective July 1, 2003.
Under this accounting standard, our balance sheet at December 31, 2003 and 2004, reflects additions for land and
buildings totaling $126.4 million, lease obligations of $122.5 million and non-controlling minority interests of
$3.9 million. Our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2003, reflects the reclassification
of lease payments on our San Jose corporate headquarters from operating expense to interest expense, beginning with
quarters following our adoption of FIN46 onJuly 1, 2003, a $5.4 million after-tax charge for cumulative depreciation for
periods from lease inception through June 30, 2003, and incremental depreciation expense of approximately $400,000,
net of tax, per quarter for periods after June 30, 2003. We have adopted the provisions of FIN 46 prospectively fromJuly 1,
2003, and as a result, have not restated prior periods. The cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle
arising from the adoption of FIN 46 has been reflected in netincome in 2003.

a sale to an independent party, with a consequent removal of the assets from the
balance sheet and recognition of a gain (loss) on sale. As companies begin to realize the
adverse effects of consolidation under the accounting rules, many more may be estab-
lishing QSPE:s as an alternative to VIEs in order to preserve off-balance-sheet treatment
of the asset transfers.

Case of Enron. Our fourth example, Enron, demonstrates the misuse of special pur-
pose entities. According to its CFO, Enron’s substantial growth could not be sustained
through issuing common stock because of near-term dilution and also the company
could not increase its financial leverage through debt issuance for fear of jeopardizing its
credit rating. As a result, the company sought to conceal massive amounts of debt and
to significantly overstate its earnings with SPEs.

Enron’s hedge of its investment in Rhythms NetConnections was the first of several

pEEEmEE such SPEs that the company established in order to avoid recognition of asset im-

EQ%LT.ERMS pairments and serves as an appropriate example of the misuse of this financial
Investment banks including technigue. Enron invested $10 milli.on ($1.85 per shar§).in Rhythms _in 1.995_5. The
CFSB and Merrill Lynch following year, Rhythms went public. Enron was prohibited from selling its invest-
earned tens of millions ment due to a prior agreement and wished to shelter its $300 million unrealized gain
of dollars helping Enron from potential loss.

§:i(;elt'1)tblijlliogﬁ_0;t1t(r)]llars Although the transaction is quite complicated, in essence, Enron formed an SPE and
in debt by selling the

company’s off-balance- capitalized it with its own stock, covered by forward contracts to preserve the value of
sheet partnerships to its investment from potential decline. The SPE, in turn, acted as the counterparty (an in-
institutional investors. surance company) to hedge Enron’s investment in Rhythms and to protect the company
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Financial Services—Dell Exhibit 3.12

Dell is currently a partner in DFS, a joint venture with CIT. The joint venture allows Dell to provide its customers with mEmmmEw

various financing alternatives while CIT usually provides the financing for the transaction between DFS and the
customer for certain transactions. Dell recognized revenue from the sale of products pursuant to loan and lease
financing transactions of $5.6 billion, $4.5 billion, and $3.6 billion during fiscal 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

Dell currently owns a 70% equity interest in DFS. During the third quarter of fiscal 2004. Dell began consolidating
DFS’s financial results due to the adoption of FIN 46R. FIN 46R provides that if an entity is the primary beneficiary of
aVariable Interest Entity (“VIE”), the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the VIE should be consolidated in
the entity’s financial statements. Based on the guidance in FIN 46R, Dell concluded that DFS is a VIE and Dell is the
primary beneficiary of DFS’s expected cash flows. Prior to consolidating DFS’s financial results, Dell’s investment in
DFS was accounted for under the equity method because the company historically did not exercise control over DFS.
Accordingly, the consolidation of DFS had no impact on Dell’s net income or earnings per share. CIT's equity ownership
in the net assets of DFS as of January 28, 2005, was $13 million, which is recorded as minority interest and included
in other non-current liabilities on Dell's consolidated statement of financial position. The consolidation did not alter
the partnership agreement or risk sharing arrangement between Dell and CIT.

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, Dell and CIT executed an agreement that extended the term of the joint
venture to January 29, 2010, and modified certain terms of the relationship. Prior to execution of the extension
agreement, CIT provided all of the financing for transactions between DFS and the customer. The extension
agreement also gives Dell the right, but not the obligation, to participate in such financings beginning in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2005. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. Dell began selling certain loan and lease finance
receivables to an unconsolidated qualifying special purpose entity that is wholly owned by Dell. The qualifying
special purpose entity is a separate legal entity with assets and liabilities separate from those of Dell. The
qualifying special purpose entity has entered into a financing arrangement with a multiseller conduit that in turn
issues asset-backed debt securities to the capital markets. Transfers of financing receivables are recorded in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities. The sale of these loan and lease financing receivables did not have a material impact
on Dell's consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows for fiscal 2005.

from a possible decline in its value. If the investment declined in value, Enron, theoreti-
cally, would be able to call on the guarantee issued by the SPE to make up the loss.

If this transaction was conducted with a third party with sufficient equity of its own,
Enron would have effectively hedged its investment and would not be required to re-
port a loss if the investment declined in value. As structured, however, the SPE had no
outside equity of its own and its assets consisted solely of Enron stock. The hedge
was a sham. Furthermore, Enron took the position that these SPEs did not need to be
consolidated in its annual report. This meant that any liabilities of the SPE would not
be reflected on Enron’s consolidated balance sheet.

Consolidation rules require that the SPEs be truly independent in order to avoid
consolidation. That means that they should be capitalized with outside equity and
effective control should remain with outside parties. Enron violated both of these
requirements. First, in many cases Enron guaranteed the investment of its “outside”
investors. That meant that the investors did not have the required risk of loss. And
second, the management of the SPEs was often Enron employees with outside in-
vestors not serving in a management capacity. In the restatement of its 1997-2000
financial statements in the third quarter of 2001, Enron consolidated the SPEs. The
effect was to recognize on-balance-sheet hundreds of millions of dollars of debt, to
record asset impairments of approximately $1 billion, and to reduce stockholders’
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equity by $1.2 billion. The restatement eroded investor confidence and triggered vio-
lations of debt covenants that ultimately resulted in the bankruptcy of the company.
How much could investors have learned about these SPE activities from Enron’s an-
nual report? Exhibit 3.13 contains an excerpt from Enron’s 2000 annual report, the year
before its bankruptcy. The only mention of the SPEs was in a related party footnote.
Enron described the hedging of its investment (merchant) portfolio and revealed that
the SPEs had been capitalized with Enron common stock. It also disclosed that the
managing partner of the SPE was an executive of Enron and highlighted the disclosures
in a separate “Related Party” footnote. In hindsight, the disclosures proved more signif-
icant than they first appeared. Analysts are now paying much more attention to these
details following the billions of dollars of losses that resulted from Enron’s collapse.

Exhibit 3.13 Enron Related Party Transactions Footnote

EmEmmR= In 2000 and 1999, Enron entered into transactions with limited partnerships (the Related Party) whose general

partner's managing member is a senior officer of Enron. The limited partners of the Related Party are unrelated to
Enron. Management believes that the terms of the transactions with the Related Party were reasonable compared
to those which could have been negotiated with unrelated third parties.

In 2000, Enron entered into transactions with the Related Party to hedge certain merchant investments and
other assets. As part of the transactions, Enron (i) contributed to newly-formed entities (the Entities) assets valued
at approximately $1.2 billion, including $150 million in Enron notes payable, 3.7 million restricted shares of
outstanding Enron common stock and the right to receive up to 18.0 million shares of outstanding Enron common
stock in March 2003 (subject to certain conditions) and (ii) transferred to the Entities assets valued at
approximately $309 million, including a $50 million note payable and an investment in an entity that indirectly
holds warrants convertible into common stock of an Enron equity method investee. In return, Enron received
economic interests in the Entities, $309 million in notes receivable, of which $259 million is recorded at Enron’s
carryover basis of zero, and a special distribution from the Entities in the form of $1.2 billion in notes receivable,
subject to changes in the principal for amounts payable by Enron in connection with the execution of additional
derivative instruments. Cash in these Entities of $172.6 million is invested in Enron demand notes. In addition,
Enron paid $123 million to purchase share-settled options from the Entities on 21.7 million shares of Enron
common stock. The Entities paid Enron $10.7 million to terminate the share-settled options on 14.6 million shares
of Enron common stock outstanding. In late 2000, Enron entered into share-settled collar arrangements with the
entities on 15.4 million shares of Enron common stock. Such arrangements will be accounted for as equity
transactions when settled.

In 2000, Enron entered into derivative transactions with the Entities with a combined notional amount of
approximately $2.1 billion to hedge certain merchant investments and other assets. Enron’s notes receivable
balance was reduced by $36 million as a result of premiums owed on derivative transactions. Enron recognized
revenues of approximately $500 million related to the subsequent change in the market value of these derivatives,
which offset market value changes of certain merchant investments and price risk management activities. In
addition, Enron recognized $44.5 million and $14.1 million of interest income and interest expense, respectively, on
the notes receivable from and payable to the Entities.

«ausaasSHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Equity refers to owner (shareholder) financing of a company. It is viewed as reflecting
the claims of owners on the net assets of the company. Holders of equity securities
are typically subordinate to creditors, meaning that creditors’ claims are settled first.
Also, typically variation exists across equity holders on seniority for claims on net assets.
Equity holders are exposed to the maximum risk associated with a company. At the
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same time, they have the maximum return possibilities as they are entitled to all returns
once creditors are covered.

Our analysis of equity must take into account several measurement and reporting
standards for shareholders’ equity. Such analysis would include:

e Classifying and distinguishing among major sources of equity financing.

¢ Examining rights for classes of shareholders and their priorities in liquidation.

e Evaluating legal restrictions for distribution of equity.

* Reviewing contractual, legal, and other restrictions on distribution of retained earnings.

 Assessing terms and provisions of convertible securities, stock options, and other
arrangements involving potential issuance of shares.

It is important for us to distinguish between liability and equity instruments given
their differences in risks and returns. This is especially crucial when financial instruments
have characteristics of both. Some of the more difficult questions we must confront are:

e Is a financial instrument such as mandatory redeemable preferred stock or a put
option on a company’s common stock—obligating a company to redeem it at a
specified amount—a liability or equity instrument?

e Is a financial instrument such as a stock purchase warrant or an employee stock
option—obligating a company to issue its stock at specified amounts—a liability or
equity instrument?

e Is a right to issue or repurchase a company’s stock at specified amounts an asset or
equity instrument?

e Is a financial instrument having features of both liabilities and equity sufficiently
different from both to warrant separate presentation? If yes, what are the criteria ~ GLOBAL

for this presentation? Countries vary in
preference given to

The following sections help us answer these and other issues confronting our analysis  creditors vs. shareholders;
of financial statements. We will return to these questions at other points in the book to ~ for example, Germany,
further describe the analysis implications. This section first considers capital stock and ~ France, and Japan .
then retained earnings—the two major components of equity. pistoricall give preference

to shareholders.
Capital Stock
Reporting of Capital Stock

Reporting of capital stock includes an explanation of changes in the number of capital ®"®®E == ==
shares. This information is disclosed in the financial statements or related notes. The =~ MERGER-DADDY
following partial list shows reasons for changes in capital stock, separated according to ~ The biggest-ever merger

. was America Online Inc.’s
increases and decreases. o :
$166 billion, all-stock bid

Sources of increases in capital stock outstanding: for Time Warner, Inc.
AOL-Time Warner

¢ Issuances of stock. subsequently wrote off over

¢ Conversion of debentures and preferred stock. $93 billion of goodwill

* Issuances pursuant to stock dividends and splits. recognized in the merger.

e Issuances of stock in acquisitions and mergers.
e Issuances pursuant to stock options and warrants exercised.

Sources of decreases in capital stock outstanding:

¢ Purchases and retirements of stock.
e Stock buybacks.
¢ Reverse stock splits.
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MERGER
DISCLOSURE

New accounting rules
require companies to
explain in more detail

why they are making an
acquisition. They must
tell what assets, including
intangible ones such as
goodwill and patents, they

are getting for their money.

Financial Statement Analysis

Another important aspect of our analysis of capital stock is the evaluation of the
options held by others that, when exercised, cause the number of shares outstanding to
increase and thus dilute ownership. These options include:

* Conversion rights of debentures and preferred stock into common.

* Warrants entitling holders to exchange them for stock under specified conditions.

e Stock options with compensation and bonus plans calling for issuances of capital
stock over a period of time at fixed prices—examples are qualified stock option
plans and employee stock ownership plans.

* Commitments to issue capital stock—an example is merger agreements calling for
additional consideration contingent on the occurrence of an event such as achiev-
ing a specific earnings level.

The importance of analyzing these disclosures is to alert us to the potential increase in
the number of shares outstanding. The extent of dilution in earnings and book value per
share depends on factors like the amount received or other rights given up when con-
verting securities. We must recognize that dilution is a real cost for a company—a cost
that is given little formal recognition in financial statements. We examine the impact of
dilution on earnings per share in Appendix A to Chapter 6.

Contributed Capital. Contributed (or paid-in) capital is the total financing received
from shareholders in return for capital shares. Contributed capital is usually divided into
two parts. One part is assigned to the par or stated value of capital shares: common
and/or preferred stock (if stock is no-par, then it is assigned the total financing). The
remainder is reported as contributed (or paid-in) capital in excess of par or stated
value (also called additional paid-in capital). When combined, these accounts reflect
the amounts paid in by shareholders for financing business activities. Other accounts in
the contributed capital section of shareholders’ equity arise from charges or credits from
a variety of capital transactions, including (1) sale of treasury stock, (2) capital changes
arising from business combinations, (3) capital donations, often shown separately as
donated capital, (4) stock issuance costs and merger expenses, and (5) capitalization of
retained earnings by means of stock dividends.

Treasury Stock. Treasury stock (or buybacks) are the shares of a company’s stock
reacquired after having been previously issued and fully paid for. Acquisition of treasury
stock by a company reduces both assets and shareholders’ equity. Consistent with this
transaction, treasury stock is not an asset, it is a contra-equity account (negative equity).
Treasury stock is typically recorded at cosz, and the most common method of presenta-
tion is to deduct treasury stock cost from the total of shareholders’ equity. When com-
panies record treasury stock at par, they typically report it as a contra to (reduction of)
its related class of stock.

Classification of Capital Stock

Capital stock are shares issued to equity holders in return for assets and services.
There are two basic types of capital stock: preferred and common. There also are a
number of different variations within each of these two classes of stock.

Preferred Stock. Preferred stock is a special class of stock possessing preferences or
features not enjoyed by common stock. The more typical features attached to preferred
stock include:

e Dividend distribution preferences including participating and cumulative features.
e Liquidation priorities—especially important since the discrepancy between par and
liquidation value of preferred stock can be substantial. For example, Johnson
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Controls issued preferred stock with a par value of $1 and a liquidation value of
$51.20.

* Convertibility (redemption) into common stock—the SEC requires separate pre-
sentation of these shares when preferred stock possesses characteristics of debt
(such as redemption requirements).

* Nonvoting rights—which can change with changes in items such as arrearages in
dividends.

e Call provisions—usually protecting preferred shareholders against premature
redemption (call premiums often decrease over time).

While preferred shareholders are usually senior to common shareholders, the pre-
ferred shareholders’ rights to dividends are usually fixed. However, their dividend rights
can be cumulative, meaning they are entitled to arrearages (prior years) of dividends be-
fore common shareholders receive any dividends.

Among preferred stock classes, we find a variety of preferences relating to dividend
and liquidation rights. These features, and the fixed nature of their dividends, often give
preferred stock the appearance of liabilities. An important distinction between preferred
shareholders and creditors is that preferred stockholders are typically not entitled to
demand redemption of their shares. Nevertheless, some preferred stocks possess set
redemption dates that can include sinking funds—funds accumulated for expected
repayment. Characteristics of preferred stock that would make them more akin to com-
mon stock include dividend participation rights, voting rights, and rights of conversion
into common stock. Preferred stock often has a par value, but it need not be the amount
at which it was originally issued.

Common Stock. Common stock is a class of stock representing ownership interest
and bearing ultimate risks and rewards of company performance. Common stock
represents residual interests—having no preference, but reaping residual net income
and absorbing net losses. Common stock can carry a par value; if not, it is usually as-
signed a stated value. The par value of common stock is a matter of legal and historical
significance—it usually is unimportant for modern financial statement analysis.

There is sometimes more than one class of common stock for major companies. The
distinctions between common stock classes typically are differences in dividend, voting,
or other rights.

Analyzing Capital Stock

Items that constitute shareholders’ equity usually do not have a marked effect on income
determination and, as a consequence, do not seriously impact analysis of income. The
more relevant information for analysis relates to the composition of capital accounts and
to their applicable restrictions. Composition of equity is important because of provisions
that can affect residual rights of common shares and, accordingly, the rights, risks, and
returns of equity investors. Such provisions include dividend participation rights, con-
version rights, and a variety of options and conditions that characterize complex securi-
ties frequently issued under merger agreements—most of which dilute common equity. It
is important that we reconstruct and explain changes in these capital accounts.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE MONEY MANAGER

You are searching for an investment opportunity. You narrow your search to a company
with two different securities: common stock and 10% preferred stock. The returns for
both securities (including dividends and price appreciation) in the past few years are
consistently around 10%. In which security do you invest?
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Retained Earnings

Retained earnings are the earned capital of a company. The retained earnings
account reflects the accumulation of undistributed earnings (net income) of a company
since its inception. This contrasts with the capital stock and additional paid-in capital
accounts that constitute capital contributed by shareholders. Retained earnings are the
primary source of dividend distributions to shareholders. While some states permit dis-
tributions to shareholders from additional paid-in capital, these distributions represent
capital (not earnings) distributions.

Cash and Stock Dividends

A cash dividend is a distribution of cash to shareholders. It is the most common form
of dividend and, once declared, is a liability of a company. Another form of dividend is
the drvidend 1n kind, or property dividend. These dividends are payable in the assets of
a company, in goods, or in the stock of another corporation. Such dividends are valued
at the market value of the assets distributed.

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Ranchers Exploration and Development Corp. distributed a dividend in kind using gold
bars. Also, Dresser Industries paid a dividend in kind with “a distribution of one
INDRESCO share for every five shares of the Company’s common stock.”

A stock dividend is a distribution of a company’s own shares to shareholders on a
pro rata basis. It represents, in effect, a permanent capitalization of earnings. Sharehold-
ers receive additional shares in return for reallocation of retained earnings to capital ac-
counts. Accounting for smal (or ordinary) stock drvidends, typically less than 20% to 25%
of shares outstanding, requires the stock dividend be valued at its market value on the
date of declaration. Large stock dividends (or “split-ups effected in the form of a dividend”),
typically exceeding 25% of shares outstanding, require that the stock dividend be valued
at the par value of shares issued. We must not be misled into attaching substantive value
to stock dividends. Companies sometimes encourage such inferences for their own self-
interests as shown here:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

Wickes Companies announced a stock dividend “in lieu of the quarterly cash divi-
dend.” Its management asserted this stock “dividend continues Wickes' 88-year
record of uninterrupted dividend payments.”

Spin-0ffs and Split-0ffs

Companies often divest subsidiaries, either in an outright sale or as a distribution to
shareholders. The sale of a subsidiary is accounted for just like the sale of any other
asset: a gain (loss) on the sale is recognized for the difference between the consideration
received and the book value of the subsidiary investment. Distributions of subsidiary
stock to shareholders can take one of two forms:

Spin-off, the distribution of subsidiary stock to shareholders as a dividend; assets
(investment in subsidiary) are reduced, as are retained earnings.
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Split-off, the exchange of subsidiary stock owned by the company for shares in
the company owned by the shareholders; assets (investment in subsidiary) are
reduced and the stock received from the shareholders is treated as treasury
stock.

If these transactions affect shareholders on a pro rata basis (equally), the investment in
the subsidiary is distributed at book value. For non-pro rata distributions, the invest-
ment is first written up to market value, resulting in a gain on the distribution, and the
market value of the investment is distributed to shareholders.

To illustrate, AT&T split off the Wireless subsidiary as a separate company via an
exchange of the wireless subsidiary stock owned by AT&T for shares in AT&T owned by
its shareholders. Since the exchange was a non-pro rata distribution, the shares were
written up to market value prior to the exchange, resulting in a gain of $13.5 billion as re-
ported below:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

On July 9, 2001, AT&T completed the split-off of AT&T Wireless as a separate, in-
dependently traded company. All AT&T Wireless Group tracking stock was converted
into AT&T Wireless common stock on a one-for-one basis, and 1.136 million shares
of AT&T Wireless common stock held by AT&T were distributed to AT&T common
shareowners on a basis of 1.609 shares of AT&T Wireless for each AT&T share
outstanding. AT&T common shareowners received whole shares of AT&T Wireless
common stock and cash payments for fractional shares. The IRS ruled that the trans-
action qualified as tax-free for AT&T and its shareowners for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, with the exception of cash received for fractional shares. The split-off of
AT&T Wireless resulted in a tax-free noncash gain on disposition of discontinued
operations of $13.5 billion, which represented the difference between the fair value
of the AT&T Wireless tracking stock at the date of the split-off and AT&T’s book value
of AT&T Wireless.

AT&T next spun off its Broadband subsidiary in connection with its acquisition by
Comcast. The spin-off was effected as a non-pro rata distribution to shareholders and,
consequently, was recorded at fair market value, resulting in a gain of $1.3 billion as
reported here:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

On November 18, 2002, AT&T spun-off AT&T Broadband, which was comprised pri-
marily of the AT&T Broadband segment, to AT&T shareowners. The Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) ruled that the transaction qualified as tax-free for AT&T and our share-
owners for U.S. federal income tax purposes, with the exception of cash received for
fractional shares. In connection with the non-pro rata spin-off of AT&T Broadband,
AT&T wrote up the net assets of AT&T Broadband to fair value. This resulted in a non-
cash gain on disposition of $1.3 billion, which represented the difference between
the fair value of the AT&T Broadband business at the date of the spin-off and AT&T'’s
book value of AT&T Broadband, net of certain charges triggered by the spin-off and
their related income tax effect. These charges included compensation expense due
to accelerated vesting of stock options, as well as the enhancement of certain in-
centive plans.
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In both of these cases, the transactions with AT&T shareholders were non-pro rata,
meaning that different groups of AT&T shareholders were treated differently. Had these
transactions been effected on a pro rata basis (all shareholders receiving their pro rata
share of the distribution), the subsidiary stock would have been distributed at book
value and no gain would have been recognized. Our analysis must be cognizant of these
noncash, transitory gains when evaluating income.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Certain changes in the carrying value of assets and liabilities (unrealized gains or losses)
are not included as part of net income. Instead, they are separately included as part of
other comprehensive tncome, which is then added to net income to determine compresiensive
1ncome. Some of the items included in other comprehensive income are:

 Unrealized gain or loss from marketable securities classified as Available-for-
Sale.

e Unrealized gain or loss on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting.

e Pension and OPEB adjustments.

* Foreign exchange translation adjustments.

Under US GAAP and IFRS, other comprehensive income is accumulated over time
and shown separately from retained earnings but as part of shareholders equity under
the heading accumulated other comprehensive income. Although they are shown
separately, under most circumstances for analysis purposes accumulated other compre-
hensive income can be treated as part of retained earnings. Refer to Chapter 6 for more
details about comprehensive income.

ANALYSIS VIEWPOINT ... YOU ARE THE SHAREHOLDER

You own common stock in a company. This company’s stock price doubled in the past
12 months, and it is currently selling at $66. Today, the company announces a
3-for-1 “stock split effected in the form of a dividend.” How do you interpret this
announcement?

Book Value per Share
Computation of Book Value per Share

Book value per share is the per share amount resulting from a company’s liquidation
at amounts reported on its balance sheet. Book value is conventional terminology refer-
ring to net asset value—that is, total assets reduced by claims against them. The book
value of common stock is equal to the total assets less liabilities and claims of securities
senior to common stock (such as preferred stock) at amounts reported on the balance
sheet (but can also include unbooked claims of senior securities). A simple means of
computing book value is to add up the common stock equity accounts and reduce this
total by any senior claims not reflected in the balance sheet (including preferred stock
dividend arrearages, liquidation premiums, or other asset preferences to which pre-
ferred shares are entitled).
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The shareholders’ equity section of Kimberly Corp. for periods ending in Years 4
and 5 is reproduced here as an example of the measurement of book value per share:

Year 5 Year 4

Preferred stock, 7% cumulative, par value $100

(authorized 4,000,000 shares; outstanding 3,602,811 shares) ........ $ 360,281,100 $ 360,281,100
Common stock, par value $16.67 (authorized 90,000,000 shares;

outstanding 54,138,137 shares at December 31, Year 5, and

54,129,987 shares at December 31, Year4)....................... 902,302,283 902,166,450
Retained earnings. ... 2,362,279,244 2,220,298,288
Total shareholders’ equity . . ..........o. oo, $3,624,862,627 $3,482,745,838

Note: Preferred stock is nonparticipating and callable at 105. Dividends for Year 5 are in arrears.

Our calculation of book value per share for both common and preferred stock at the
end of Year 5 follows:

Preferred Common Total

Preferred stock™ (at $100 par) ................... $360,281,100 $ 360,281,100
Dividends inarrears (7%)....................... 25,219,677 25,219,677
Commonstock. ............... ... ... ..., $ 902,302,283 902,302,283
Retained earnings (net of amount attributed to

dividend inarrears) ............ .. ... ... 2,337,059,567 2,337,059,567
Total ... $385,500,777 $3,239,361,850 $3,624,862,627
Divided by number of shares outstanding........... 3,602,811 54,138,137
Book value pershare........................... $ 107.00 $ 59.84

*The call premium does not normally enter into computation of book value per share because the call provision is at the option
of the company.

Relevance of Book Value per Share

Book value plays an important role in analysis of financial statements. Applications can
include the following:

* Book value, with potential adjustments, is frequently used in assessing merger terms.

¢ Analysis of companies composed of mainly liquid assets (finance, investment,
insurance, and banking institutions) relies extensively on book values.

 Analysis of high-grade bonds and preferred stock attaches considerable impor-
tance to asset coverage.

These applications must recognize the accounting considerations entering into the
computation of book value per share such as the following:

e Carrying values of assets, particularly long-lived assets like property, plant, and
equipment, are usually reported at cost and can markedly differ from market values.

¢ Internally generated intangible assets often are not reflected in book value, nor are
contingent assets with a reasonable probability of occurrence.
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Also, other adjustments often are necessary. For example, if preferred stock has charac-
teristics of debt, it is appropriate to treat it as debt at the prevailing interest rate. In short,
book value is a valuable analytical tool, but we must apply it with discrimination and
understanding.

Liabilities at the “Edge” of Equity
Convertible Debt

Sometimes, companies issue debt that can be converted into equity shares at maturity.
Such debt is called convertible debt. Convertible debt is the classic hybrid security as it is
a combination of features of both debt and equity. Usually, convertible debt allows the
holder an option to convert at a fixed price. Therefore, conversion will occur only if the
share price is higher than the conversion price at maturity. If it is not, the debt holders
can ask for repayment of principal.

Current accounting rules under both US GAAP (ASC 470-20) and IFRS (IAS 32)
recognize the mixed nature of convertible debt. Specifically, companies issuing con-
vertible debt must separately account for the liability (debt) and equity (conversion
option) components on the date of the issue. The amount allocated to the liability is
estimated by determining the fair value of a pure debt security that is similar in every
other respect to the convertible security. Once the liability amount is estimated, the
amount allocated to equity is simply the residual value of the convertible security.

We clarify with an example. Consider a company that issues 1 million 10-year con-
vertible bonds with a face value of $100 and a coupon rate of 3%. Each bond allows the
holder to purchase four shares of the company at maturity. A pure bond with a similar
maturity and risk profile is expected to have an effective interest rate of 8%. The pro-
ceeds from this issue amounted to $105 million.

To estimate the value of the equity and the debt components, we first need to de-
termine the value of the pure bond with a similar maturity and coupon. Note the
coupon payment per bond is $3 per year and maturity is 10 years. Given an effective
interest rate of 8%, the present value of this bond is $66.45. Therefore, the amount
allocated to the liability will be $66.45 million, and the discount on the bond issue will
amount to $33.55 million ($100 million — $66.45 million). This discount is amortized
over the bond’s term in a similar manner as illustrated in Exhibit 3.1. Since the
proceeds from the bond issue come to $105 million, the premium of $38.55 million
($105 million — $66.45 million) is attributable to the equity component, assuming no
deferred tax effects.

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

In March 2007, Xilinx Inc. issued $1 billion of 3.125% convertible subordinated
debentures due in March 2037. The debentures were convertible at a rate of 32.076
shares of common stock for every $1,000 principal amount of the debentures, at an
effective conversion price of $31.18 per share of common stock. The company re-
ceived $980 million from the issue after paying $20 million in issue costs. In 2009,
the company repurchased $310.36 million face value of the debt at a price of
$193.2 million, resulting in $689.64 million of remaining face value.

In fiscal 2010, Xilinx Inc. retrospectively applied the new standard (ASC 470-20)
to its convertible bond issue and split the carrying amount into the debt and equity

(continued)
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ANALYSIS EXCERPT (concluded)

components. At the year-end on April 3, 2010, Xilinx had accounted for the bond in
the following manner (in $ millions):

Principal amount of debt 689.64
Less unamortized discount 335.69
Carrying value of debt 353.95 | Amounts reported on the balance sheet. Note that
| the unamortized discount is allocated to equity and
Carrying value of equity component 229.51 | deferred tax liability on the balance sheet.
Deferred tax liability 106.18
335.69

Companies sometimes issue bonds with attached warrants on the company’s equity.
Warrants entitle the holder to buy the underlying stock of the issuer at a fixed exercise
price until the expiration date, similar to a call option. This is different from convertible
debt because the bonds and the warrants are separate securities, and the holder can sell
the warrants or the debt separately. The accounting treatment for warrants is similar to
that for convertible bonds. That is, the bonds are accounted for as debt and the warrants
as equity at their respective fair values on the date of issue.

Redeemable Preferred Stock

Analysts must be alert for equity securities (typically preferred stock) that possess
mandatory redemption provisions making them more akin to debt than equity. These
securities require a company to pay funds at specific dates. A true equity security does
not impose such requirements. Examples of these securities, under the guise of preferred
stock, exist for many companies. Tenneco’s annual report refers to its preferred stock
redemption provision as follows:

ANALYSIS EXCERPT

The aggregate maturities applicable to preferred stock issues outstanding at
December 31, 2001, are none for 2002, $10 million for 2003, and $23 million for
each of 2004, 2005, and 2006.

The SEC asserts that redeemable preferred stocks are different from conventional
equity capital and should 70 be included in shareholders’ equity nor combined with
nonredeemable equity securities. The SEC also requires disclosure of redemption
terms and five-year maturity data. Accounting standards require disclosure of redemp-
tion requirements of redeemable stock for each of the five years subsequent to the bal-
ance sheet date. Companies whose shares are not publicly traded are not subject to
SEC requirements and can continue to report redeemable preferred stock as equity.
Still, our analysis should treat them for what they are—an obligation to pay cash at a
future date.

Minority Interest

A company may own a controlling share (usually more than 50%), but not all, of the
equity of another company. The company that owns the controlling share is called a
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parent and the company that is thus owned a partially owned subsidiary. Minority
interest (also called noncontrolling interest) refers to the portion of the partially owned
subsidiary’s shareholders’ equity that belongs to the minority (outside) shareholders. It
is truly an intermediate capital form. Because it does not belong to the parent com-
pany’s shareholders, it cannot be regarded as part of the parent company’s share-
holders’ equity. However, even though it belongs to outsiders, it is in the nature of
shareholders’ equity and therefore cannot also be classified as a liability.

Parent companies are required to comsolidate the subsidiary’s financial statements in
their own. In the consolidated statements, the assets and liabilities (and the revenues
and expenses) of the subsidiary are aggregated with that of the parent. When the sub-
sidiary is partially owned, shareholders’ equity cannot be aggregated, because the entire
subsidiary’s equity does not belong to the parent. Accordingly, US GAAP and IFRS re-
quire companies to report minority interest in the consolidated balance sheet as a sep-
arate line item that is not part of parent shareholders’ equity. However, most companies
do report minority interest as part of Z#z/ equity. In a similar manner, the proportion of
the net income of a partially owned subsidiary that belongs to the minority sharehold-
ers is shown in the consolidated income statement as a separate line item called mzzor-
1ty interest (or noncontrolling interest).

Exhibit 3.14 presents an example of how minority (noncontrolling) interest is re-
ported both in the balance sheet and the income statement.

Exhibit 3.14 Bristol-Myers Squibb: Reporting Minority Interests
EEEEEENR
Balance Sheet Income Statement
$ millions $ millions
Equity:
Common stock, par value 220 Net earnings 5,260
Capital in excess of par value 3,114 Net earnings attributable to
Retained earnings 33,069 Noncontrolling Interest 1,551
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,045) Net earnings attributable to
T k 17,402 . . P,
reasury stock at cost {17.402) Bristol-Myers Squibb Company 3,709
Total Bristol-Myers Squibb shareholders’ equity 15,956 I
Noncontrolling interest (89)
Total equity 15,867

Whether one needs to include or exclude minority interest depends on the analy-
sis objective. For example, if we wish to determine the ROCE of the shareholders of
a company, we must exclude minority interest both in the numerator (income) and
denominator (equity) of the ratio. But if the objective is to compute the ROCE of the
combined business entities that comprise a company, then we should include
minority interest in the computation. In the example in Exhibit 3.14, ROCE of
the Bristol-Myers Squibb shareholders is 23% ($3,709 + $15,956), but ROCE of the
combined businesses of Bristol-Myers Squibb and its subsidiaries is 33% ($5,260 +
$15,867).
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»aunsasSHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY REPORTING
UNDER IFRS

Shareholders’ equity reporting requirements under IFRS are somewhat different from
US GAAP and need some discussion. Broadly, IFRS identifies three categories of share-
holders’ equity: issued capital, reserves, and accumulated profits/losses (retained earn-
ings). However, it allows considerable latitude in how the line items within sharehold-
ers’ equity are reported, and so there is a wide variation in practice. Broadly, the
following common patterns can be observed:

o Share capital is reported as a separate line item.

e Most companies report refarned earnings, but a few include retained earnings in
reserves.

e Reserves includes accumulated other comprehensive income, option compensa-
tion, share premium, and in some cases even retained earnings.

o Minority interest (noncontrolling interest) is shown separately from the parent com-
pany’s shareholders’ equity but is included as part of total equity.

¢ Some companies report detailed components on the balance sheet, while others
report only aggregates for each category.

Exhibit 3.15 provides examples of reporting shareholders’ equity under IFRS. Note
the inconsistency in terminology and grouping. The China Eastern Airlines example is
particularly interesting. The company includes accumulated losses (retained earnings),
accumulated comprehensive income items (revaluation reserve, hedging reserve), capi-
tal reserves, and share premium together under “Reserves” The aggregation of con-
tributed capital (share premium) along with earned capital items, such as accumulated
losses, is questionable.

Reporting Shareholders Equity under IFRS Exhibit 3.15
EEEEEENR
GERDAU SA (BRAZIL) CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES (CHINA) DEUTSCHE BANK (GERMANY)
(in million R$) 2009 (in million RMB) 2009 | (in million €) 2009
Equity Equity Equity
Capital 14,184 Share capital 9,582 Common shares 1,589
Treasury stock (125) Reserves (8,347) Additional paid-in capital 14,830
Legal reserves 200 Equity attributable to Retained earnings 24,056
Stock options 10 equity holders of the Treasury shares (48)
Retained earnings 5,796 company 1,235 Net gains (losses) not recognized
Other reserves (1,558) Minority interests 442 in income statement (3,780)
Equity attributable to Total equity 1,677 | Total shareholders’ equity 36,647
shareholders of parent 18,507 Minority interest 1,322
Noncontrolling interests 3,497 Total equity 37,969
Total equity 22,004

As an analyst, we need to be cognizant of the differences between how US GAAP
and IFRS report shareholders’ equity. It is also important to understand the diversity in
practice when making comparisons across companies.
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«x::«APPENDIX 3A: LEASE ACCOUNTING AND
ANALYSIS—LESSOR

Many manufacturing companies lease their products rather then sell them outright.
Examples are IBM and Caterpillar. Other companies, like General Electric, act as fi-
nancial intermediaries, purchasing the assets from manufacturers and leasing them to
the ultimate user. Leasing has become an important ingredient in the sales of products
and is now also a significant factor in the analysis of financial statements. This appendix
briefly describes the accounting and analysis of leases from the perspective of a lessor.
The accounting for leases by the lessor is similar to that for lessees. With minor excep-
tions, the lessor categorizes the lease as operating or capital to parallel the classification
by the lessee. If classified as an operating lease, the leased asset remains on the lessor’s
balance sheet, and the rent payments are treated as income when received. The lessor
continues to record depreciation expense on the leased asset. The difference between
the rent income and the depreciation expense is the lessor’s profit on the lease.

If the lease is classified as capital, the lessor removes the leased asset from its balance
sheet and records a receivable equal to the sum of the expected minimum lease pay-
ments. The difference between the receivable and the asset removed from the balance
sheet is classified as a liability, unearned income, which is reduced and recorded as
earned income periodically over the life of the lease. Two types of leases are important
from the lessor’s point of view:

1. Sales-type lease. In this case, the cost of the leased asset is different from its fair
market value at the date it is leased. This situation might arise, for example, with
a company like IBM that manufactures computers and leases them to its cus-
tomers. In this case, accountants take the view that the asset has been sold and
IBM has entered into a subsequent financing transaction with the lessee. As a
result, IBM records a sale, cost of goods sold, and gross profit at the time the lease
is executed. IBM, therefore, records gross profit upon the lease of the computer
and lease revenue over the life of the lease equal to its unearned revenue when the
lease is signed. Furthermore, since the leased asset has been removed from the
balance sheet, IBM no longer records depreciation expense.

2. Direct financing lease. Companies like General Electric Capital Corporation
engage in direct financing leases. In this case, GECC is acting like a bank. It pur-
chases the asset from the manufacturer and leases it directly to the customer. In
this case, the value of the lease (present value of the lease payments receivable) is
equal to the cost of the asset purchased and no sale or gross profit is recorded. In-
stead, GECC recognizes lease income gradually over the life of the lease.

ANALYSIS IMPLICATIONS

The analysis implications of leasing are similar to those involving any extension of
credit. Be aware of the risks inherent in any extension of credit. An analysis of the ade-
quacy of the reserve for uncollectible lease receivables in comparison with the loss ex-
perience of the lessor is required. And second, recognize that lease receivables will be
collected over a period of years and compare the average life of the lease portfolio with
that of the company’s liabilities. That is, it is inappropriate to finance fixed-rate leases of
intermediate duration with short-term floating-rate debt.
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Lessors often package service contracts with leases to gain additional revenue. Under
GAAP, income from the service contract must be recognized ratably over the life of the
contract. In an effort to boost current period sales and profits, companies have at-
tempted to accelerate the revenue recognition from service contracts by recording rel-
atively more of the initial contract in the lease itself, thus increasing sales and gross
profit and reducing the future payments under the service contract. Xerox is a company
challenged by the SEC for this practice. Analysts must be aware of this possibility and
examine carefully the relative components of lease income and service revenue mix in
the company’s total sales.

SALE-LEASEBACK

A sale-leaseback transaction involves the sale of an owned asset and execution of a
lease on the same asset. Companies often use sale-leasebacks to free up cash from
existing assets, primarily real estate. Generally, any profit realized on the value of the
asset sold must be deferred and recognized over the life of the lease as a reduction of
lease expense.

«««:sAPPENDIX 3B: POSTRETIREMENT
BENEFITS

Employers often provide benefits to their employees after retirement. These post-
retirement benefits come in two forms: (1) pension benefits, where the employer
promises monetary benefits to the employee after retirement, and (2) other post-
retirement employee benefits (OPEB), where the employer provides other (usually
nonmonetary) benefits after retirement—primarily health care and life insurance. The
two types of benefits pose conceptually similar challenges for accounting and analysis.
Current accounting standards require that the costs of providing postretirement bene-
fits be recognized when the employee is in active service, rather than when the benefits
are actually paid. The estimated present value of accrued benefits is reported as a liabil-
ity for the employer. Because of the uncertainty regarding the timing and magnitude
of these benefits, postretirement costs (and liabilities) need to be estimated based on
actuarial assumptions regarding life expectancy, employee turnover, compensation
growth rates, health care costs, expected rates of return, and interest rates.

Pensions and other postretirement benefits make up a major part of many companies’
liabilities. Moreover, pensions constitute a large portion of the economy’s savings and
investments. Current estimates are that pension plans, with assets exceeding $4 trillion
cover nearly 50 million individuals. Also, pension funds control about 25% of the value
of NYSE stocks, and account for nearly one-third of daily trading volume. While some-
what smaller in magnitude, OPEB, in particular health care costs, is also an important
component of companies’ employee costs. About one-third of U.S. workers participate
in postretirement health care plans, with a total unfunded liability in the $2 trillion
range. Both pension and OPEB liabilities are likely to grow because of changing demo-
graphics and increased life expectancy.

Pension plans have been in the news over the past several years. During the early part
of this decade, falling interest rates and the bear market resulted in a perfect storm for pen-
sion plans, resulting in what was dubbed the “pensions crisis” The pension plans of many
companies became severely underfunded, and in a number of cases (e.g., United Airlines),
companies filed for bankruptcy stating that it was not possible for them to meet their
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pension obligations. Pension accounting was implicated in precipitating this crisis by not
highlighting this problem on a timely basis. Accordingly, the FASB has reformed pension
accounting, and current rules under both US GAAP (ASC 715) and IFRS (IAS 19)
appear to, at least in part, fix the problems with pension accounting.

We first explain the accounting for pensions and other postretirement benefits sepa-
rately, and then jointly discuss disclosure requirements and analysis implications.

PENSION BENEFITS

Pension accounting requires an understanding of the economics underlying pension
transactions. Consequently, we first discuss the nature of pension transactions and the
economics underlying pension accounting before discussing pension accounting
requirements.

Nature of Pension Obligations

Pension commitments by companies are formalized through pension plans. A pension
plan is an agreement by the employer to provide pension benefits to the employee, and
it involves three entities: the employer, who contributes to the plan; the employee, who
derives benefits; and the pension fund. The pension fund is independent of the em-
ployer and is administered by zustees. The pension fund receives contributions, invests
them in an appropriate manner, and disburses pension benefits to employees. This
pension plan process is diagrammed in Exhibit 3B.1.

Exhibit 3B. 1 Elements of the Pension Process
EEEEEER

Employer > Pension | Employee
Fund

Contributions lT Benefits

(Disbursements)

Investments and Returns

Pension plans precisely specify the benefits and the rights and responsibilities of the
employer and employee. Pension plans can be divided into two basic categories.
Defined benefit plans specify the amount of pension beznefits that the employer
promises to provide to retirees. Under defined benefit plans, the employer bears the risk
of pension fund performance. Defined contribution plans specify the amount of pen-
sion contributions that the employer makes to the pension plan. In this case, the actual
amount of pension benefits to retirees depends on the pension fund performance. Under
defined contribution plans, the enzployee bears the risk of pension fund performance.

In both plans, employee benefits are usually determined through a formula linked to
employee wages. Defined contribution plans zmmediately obligate the employer to pay

EEEEEE® some fixed proportion of the employees’ current compensation, whereas defined bene-
POSTGAME fit plans require the employer to periodically pay the employee a predetermined sum of
Major league baseball money affer retrrement until the employee’s death.

playrirs n?ed only pliy a Pension payments are also affected by vesting provisions. Vesting is an employee’s
quarter of a season to

receive some pension. right to per.lsioln bepeﬁts regardless of whether the employee remains with the company
A fully vested MLB pension or not. This right is usually conferred after the employee has served some minimum
exceeds $125,000 a year. specified period with the employer.
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Once the pension liability is determined, funding the expense becomes a manage-
rial decision for defined benefit plans that is influenced by legal and tax considerations.
Tax law specifies minimum funding requirements to ensure the security of retirees’
benefits. It also has tax deductibility limitations for overfunded pension plans. Minimum
funding requirements also exist under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
(ERISA). A company has the option to fund the plan exactly (by providing assets to the
plan trustee that equal the pension liability) or it can overfund or underfund the plan.

We focus attention on defined benefit plans because of the challenge they pose to
analysis of financial statements.® Exhibit 3B.2 depicts the time line for a simple defined
benefit plan. This case involves a single employee who is expected to retire in 15 years
and is paid an annual fixed pension of $20,000 for 10 years after retirement. The discount
(interest) rate is assumed to be 8% per year. We also assume the employer exactly funds
the plan. While a simplification, this exhibit reflects the economics underlying defined
pension plans. These plans involve current investments by the employer for future pay-
ments of benefits to the employee. The challenges for accounting are estimating the em-
ployer’s pension plan liability and determining the pension expense (cost) for the period,
which is different from the funding (actual contributions made) by the employer. For this
purpose, accountants rely on assumptions made by specialists known as actuaries.

181

Pension Accumulation and Disbursement for a Defined Benefits Plan

Annual payments into the )
fund required to accumulate Annual benefits of $20,000

i aid to employee for
to $134'200 in 15 Funds required at P plc))/ years
years with a employee’s retirement:
discount rate

Present value of 10

of 8% per payments of $20,000 per
annum annum with a discount
rate of 8% per annum
Contributions = Benefits =

$4,942 per annum $134,200 $20,000 per annum
~+—15 years —» ~¢—— 10 years —»
Preretirement Retirement Postretirement

Exhibit 3B.2

Economics of Pension Accounting

The challenge in accounting for defined benefit plans is that accounting estimates of li-
abilities and expenses need to be created for cash payments that may occur many years
into the future. We will briefly discuss the underlying economic issues that affect pen-
sion accounting. Appendix 3C provides a detailed explanation of pension accounting
with a comprehensive example.

Refer back to the example in Exhibit 3B.2. If the employer needs to pay $20,000 per
year for 10 years after retirement, he or she needs to have funds to the tune of $134,200
on the date of retirement. How do we arrive at this sum? It is the present value of
$20,000 paid each year for the next 10 years at a discount (interest) rate of 8%. (Refer to
Table 4 of the “Interest Tables” at the rear of this book for details of how to compute the
present value of an annuity.) Therefore, the employer’s obligation (or liability) on the
date of retirement is $134,200. We can extend this logic to determine the employer’s

6 Accounting for, and analysis of, defined contribution plans is straightforward. That is, the periodic contribution by the
employer is recognized as an expense in the period when it is due. There are no other liabilities of serious note.
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obligation during the prior 15 years. For example, what is the employer’s obligation at
the start of the accumulation period, that is, 15 years before retirement? It is $42,305,
which is the present value of $134,200 payable 15 years hence discounted at 8% per
year. (Refer to Table 2 of the “Interest Tables” at the rear of this book for how to
compute present value.) Therefore, the employer’s liability at the start of the 15-year
accumulation period is $42,305. We refer to this as the pension obligation.

Now consider what happens a year later. At the start of the second year (which is also
the end of the first year), the employer’s pension obligation has increased to $45,690,
which is the present value of $134,200 due 14 years later. Note that the pension obligation
has increased by $3,655 ($45,960 — $42,305) because of passage of time; we refer to this
increase in the pension obligation as the interest cost. Meanwhile the employer has
made contributions of $4,942 into the plan (see Exhibit 3B.2). Because these contribu-
tions are invested in the capital markets, we refer to these contributed (and invested) funds
as the plan assets. The net obligation of the employer, therefore, is $41,018, which is the
difference between the pension obligation ($45,960) and the plan assets ($4,942). We refer
to the net assets of the pension plan (i.e., Plan assets — Pension obligation) as the funded
status. Because the obligation is more than the asset value, the plan is said to be under

Junded. If the asset value exceeds the obligation, the funded status is said to be overfinded.

Now examine what happens yet another year later, that is, after two years of accumu-
lation. The pension obligation is now $49,345 (present value of $134,200 payable in
13 years), resulting in interest cost for the year of $3,385. What about the employer’s plan
assets? Two events happen on the assets’ side. First, the employer makes another contri-
bution of $4,942. Second, the contribution made at the end of the first year earns a return
of $395 (8% X $4,942). We call this return the return on plan assets.” Therefore, the
plan assets at the end of the second year are equal to $10,279 (84,942 + $4,942 + $395)
and the funded status is now underfunded to the tune of $39,066 ($49,345 — $10,279).
From an accounting point, it is evident that the funded status of $39,066 should appear as
a liability in the balance sheet. What about the income statement effect? The net pension
cost for the year is $2,990 (interest cost of $3,385 less return on plan assets of $395).

In reality, of course, pension plans are much more complex than that depicted in this ex-
ample. For example, pension benefits payable to employees in typical defined benefit plans
are proportional to the years of service that the employee puts with the employer. Because
of this, the employer’s obligation increases with every additional year of employee service
(independent of the present value effect represented by interest cost), giving rise to another
component of the pension cost called service cost. Service cost is the most important
component of pension cost because pension costs arise only through employee service, in
the absence of employee service, there is no obligation to pay pensions.

Additionally, the actuarial assumptions underlying the computation of the pension
obligation—there are many, such as discount or interest rate, compensation growth
rates, life expectancy, employee turnover—are subject to change, giving rise to large
swings in the value of the pension obligation. These changes give rise to nonrecurring
components of pension cost called actuarial gain or loss. To complicate matters fur-
ther, pension contracts are renegotiated with employees, resulting in retroactive bene-
fits, which give rise to another type of nonrecurring expense called prior service cost.
Finally, it should be noted that returns on capital markets can be volatile, and therefore
the actual return on plan assets can fluctuate over time. For all these reasons, the true
economic pension cost can be volatile over time. As we will see later, much of the

7 For simplicity, in this example we assume that the return on plan assets is equal to the discount rate. In reality, the return on
plan assets can differ from the discount rate (usually the long-term return on plan assets is higher than the discount rate).
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complexity in pension accounting arises from attempts to dampen volatility in the pen-
sion cost included in net income.

Finally, we need to understand how actual cash inflows and outflows from the plan
affect the funded status. The major cash inflow into the plan comes through employer
contributions, which understandably increase plan asset values. The major cash outflows
from the plan are benefit payments to retired employees. Benefit payments reduce both
plan assets (because cash has been paid from the plan assets) and the pension obligation
(because part of the promised payments to the employees have been made) by exactly the
same amount. Therefore, benefit payments do not affect the net funded status of the plan.

Pension Accounting Requirements

The current accounting rules for postretirement benefits (ASC 715 for US GAAP and
IAS 19 under IFRS) are very similar for both pensions and OPEBs. Therefore, we will
focus our discussion on pension accounting alone. One major focus of pension ac-
counting is obtaining a stable measure of pension expense. Accordingly, the pension ex-
pense included in net income—called the net periodic pension cost—excludes volatile
components of the pension cost (such as actuarial gains/losses, prior service cost or ac-
tual returns on plan asset) from net income, by delaying their recognition through a
process of deferral and amortization. The balance sheet, however, reports the exact eco-
nomic position of the pension plans—that is, its funded status. To articulate the balance
sheet with the income statement, the amounts that are deferred are included in o#/er
comprehensive income for the period, and accumulate as accumulated other comprehensive
income in shareholders’ equity. (Please refer to Chapter 6 for a detailed discussion of
comprehensive income.) Exhibit 3B.3 provides an overview of current pension ac-
counting. However, the reader is encouraged to refer to Appendix 3C for a deeper un-
derstanding of both the economics of pension plans and the pension accounting rules.

Recognized Status on the Balance Sheet

Current pension accounting recognizes the funded status of the pension plans on the bal-
ance sheet. The funded status is the difference between the current market value of the
pension plan assets and the pension obligation. The pension obligation definition used is
the projected benefit obligation or PBO. The PBO is based on estzmated employee
compensation at the retirement date (rather than current compensation), which is esti-
mated using assumptions regarding compensation growth rates. Refer to Appendix 3C
for details of PBO computation. Two details need to be noted with regard to reported sta-
tus on the balance sheet. First, pension assets and obligations are netted against each
other (as funded status) rather than separately reported both as an asset and a cor-
responding liability. Second, companies do not report the funded status of pension plans
as a separate line item on the balance sheet. Instead, the funded status is embedded in var-
ious assets and liabilities.

Recognized Pension Cost

As noted earlier, the recognized pension cost included in net income (i.e., the net peri-
odic pension cost) is a smoothed version of the actual economic pension cost for the
period. The smoothing process deférs (i.e., delays recognizing) volatile, one-time items
such as actuarial gains or losses and prior service cost. Also, instead of recognizing the
actual return on plan assets (which can be volatile), an expected return on plan
assets—which is an estimate of the long-term return on the plan assets—is recognized in
reported pension expense. The difference between the actual and expected return is also
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Exhibit 3B.3

Overview of Pension Economics and Accounting

Balance Sheet

Economic Reported
Plan assets . Plan assets
. L No difference . L
— Pension obligation |- | — Pension obligation
= Funded status = Funded status

Accumulated other |
comprehensive
income

Income Statement
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Service cost
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Actual return on
plan assets

+|Actuarial gain/loss

+|Prior service cost
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other comprehensive income)

Service cost
+ Interest cost

4L

= Pension cost

Deferral — Expected return on
* |
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| Amortization for the year Net gain/loss
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Deferral for the year
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= Net periodic pension cost
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deferred. These deferred amounts are gradually recognized in income through a process
of amortization. Accordingly, the net periodic pension cost includes service cost, interest
cost, expected return on plan assets, and amortization of deferred items.

Articulation of Balance Sheet and Income Statement Effects

Because all changes to the funded status (which is recognized in the balance sheet) are not
included in the recognized pension cost, the balance sheet and income statement effects of
pensions will not articulate. To articulate the two effects, the net deferral for the period (i.e.,
the amount deferred less the amount amortized) is included in ot%er comprehensive income for
the period, while the cumulative net deferral is included in accumulated other comprehen-
stve income, which is a component of shareholders’ equity. Therefore, the smoothing process
adopted by current pension accounting allows the volatile components of pension expense
to directly transfer to shareholders’ equity without affecting the period’s net income.

OTHER POSTRETIREMENT
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Other postretirement employee benefits (OPEB) are certain other benefits provided by
employers to retirees and their designated dependents. The primary constituent of OPEB
is health care benefits. In addition, companies provide life insurance and, in rare cases,
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housing assistance. The underlying economics and therefore the accounting treatment
for OPEB are very similar to those for pensions. Specifically, as with pensions, (1) OPEB
costs are recognized when incurred rather than when actually paid out; (2) assets of the
OPEB plan are offset against the OPEB obligation (which is called the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation or APBO) and the funded status is reported on the bal-
ance sheet as a liability or an asset as the case may be; (3) the net periodic other
postretirement benefit cost that is charged to a period’s net income excludes volatile
components, so actuarial gains and losses, prior service costs, and the excess of actual re-
turn over expected return on plan assets are deferred and subsequently amortized; and
(4) the income statement and balance sheet amounts are reconciled by including the net
deferrals for a period in other comprehensive income, which accumulates in the balance
sheet as accumulated other comprehensive income.
While OPEBs pose accounting challenges similar to those posed by pensions,
there are some major differences. One difference is funding. Both because no legal re-
quirements exist for OPEB (in contrast with ERISA requirements for pensions) and
because funding them is not tax deductible (unlike pension contributions, which are), sssmm=®=
few companies specifically fund these postretirement liabilities. While companies back ~ HEALTH GAIN
these obligations with assets on their balance sheets, the OPEB fund’s trustees have  Technology affects
no control over these assets. Another major difference is that OPEBs are often in the  postretirement benefit
form of promised services, such as health care benefits, rather than monetary com-  assumptions. Forexample,
. . . . .. . . . life expectancy at birth
pensation. Accordingly, estimating these benefit obligations is especially difficult and | 4 “yeciern world grew
requires a different set of actuarial assumptions. For example, trends in health care  from 45 years in 1900 to
cost and the extent of Medicare usage affect estimates of health care obligations. over 75 years in 2000.

REPORTING OF POSTRETIREMENT
BENEFITS

Companies do not report either the funded status in the balance sheet or the postre-
tirement benefit cost in the income statement. However, current rules specify extensive
disclosures in footnotes, including details about economic and reported amounts relat-
ing to the funded status and the postretirement benefit cost, details about actuarial as-
sumptions, and other relevant information.

Exhibit 3B.4 shows excerpts from the postretirement benefits footnote of AMR Corpo-
ration (American Airlines). AMR reports details for both pensions and OPEBs in identical
formats. The note consists of five main parts: (1) an explanation of the reported position in
the balance sheet, (2) details of net periodic benefit costs, (3) information regarding actuar-
ial and other assumptions, (4) information regarding asset allocation and funding policies,
and (5) expected future contributions and benefit payments. Recognize that while a single
set of numbers is reported for pension and for OPEB plans, in reality these numbers are
aggregations of many different plans. In our discussion, we shall primarily refer to the total
amounts—that is, the sum of those pertaining to pension and OPEBs.

The information regarding the reported amounts in the balance sheet consists of two
parts: (1) the movement in the postretirement benefit plans’ assets and obligation and
the determination of the funded status, and (2) how the postretirement benefits are re-
ported in the balance sheet, including that relating to accumulated other comprehen-
sive income. In 2011, AMR reports funded status of $9,353 million underfunded for its
postretirement plans. This is exactly the amount recognized in the balance sheet, of
which $149 million is classified as a current liability and the remaining $9,204 million is
included in long-term liabilities.

The cumulative deferred amounts, net gain or loss—which are the sum of actuarial
gains/losses and the difference between actual and expected return on plan assets that
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Exhibit 3B.4 Excerpts from Postretirement Benefits Footnote—AMR Corporation
EEEEEENR
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the pension and OPEB obligations and fair value of plan assets for the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 and a statement of funded status on those dates ($ millions):
PENSION OPEB TOTAL
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at January1 ........... 12,968 12,003 3,097 2,827 16,065 14,830
Servicecost ...l 386 366 61 60 447 426
Interestcost ......... ... ... L 757 137 174 165 931 902
Plan amendments (prior service cost) .. ... 0 1 (3) (78) (3) (77)
Actuarial (gains) losses ................ 1,237 442 (63) 263 1,174 705
Benefits payments .................... (780) (581) (144) (140) (924) (721)
Benefit obligation at December 31 .......... 14,568 12,968 3,122 3,097 17,690 16,065
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at January 1 ..... 1,773 7,051 234 206 8,007 7,257
Actual returnon planassets . ............ 614 837 (6) 17 608 854
Employer contributions ................. 525 466 121 151 646 617
Benefits paid ........................ (780) (581) (144) (140) (924) (721)
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 ... .. 8,132 7,773 205 234 8,337 8,007
Funded statusofplan .................... (6,436) (5,195) (2,917) (2,863) (9,353) (8,058)
Current liability . ...................... (2) (8) (147) (173) (149) (181)
Long-term liability .................... (6,434) (5,187) (2,770) (2,690) (9,204) (7,877)
(6,436) (5,195) (2,917) (2,863) (9,353) (8,058)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):
Prior service credit (cost) ................. (68) (81) 179 205 111 124
Net gain (loss) .......................... (4,179) (3,052) 181 128 (3,998) (2,924)
(4,247) (3,133) 360 333 (3,887) (2,800)
The following table provides components of the net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 ($ millions):
PENSION OPEB TOTAL
2011 2010 201 2010 2011 2010
Servicecost .. ... 386 366 61 60 447 426
Interestcost ......... ... ...l 757 137 174 165 931 902
Expected return on plan assets ............. (657) (593) (20) (18) (677) (611)
Amortization of prior service cost ........... 13 13 (28) (19) (15) (6)
Amortization of net (gain) loss ............. 154 154 _(9) (10) 145 144
Net periodic benefitcost.................. 653 677 178 178 831 855
(continued)
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Excerpts from Postretirement Benefits Footnote—AMR Corporation (concluded) EEEEEESR

PENSION OPEB

Weighted Average Actuarial Assumptions 2011 2010 2011 2010
Discountrate ........ ... . 5.20% 5.80% 4.89% 5.69%
Compensation growthrate ........................... 3.78% 3.78% 3.78% 3.78%
Expected returnon planassets ........................ 8.50% 8.50% 8.50% 8.50%
Health care costtrend ............... ... ... ... .... 7.50% 8.00%

OPEB OBLIGATION OPEB REPORTED COST

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Impact of 1% change in assumed health care rate ($ million) 248 (251) 20 (22)

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s estimate of the long-term rate of return on plan assets was 8.25% based on the target asset allocation.
Expected returns on longer duration bonds are based on yields to maturity of the bonds held at year-end. Expected returns on other assets are based
on a combination of long-term historical returns, actual returns on plan assets achieved over the last 10 years, current and expected market
conditions, and expected value to be generated through active management, currency overlay, and securities lending programs. The Company’s
annualized ten-year rate of return on plan assets as of December 31, 2011, was approximately 8.58%.

The Company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, by asset category, are as follows:

2011 2010 Target
Long-durationbonds ................. 38% 36% 35%
US.stocks ......................... 21% 22% 25%
International stocks .................. 21% 23% 19%
Emerging market stocks ............... 3% 3% 8%
Alternative (private) investments ........ 13% 11% 9%
Cash equivalents and other investments .. 3% 4% 4%

100% 100% 100%

Each asset class is actively managed and, historically, the plans’ assets have produced returns, net of management fees, in excess of the expected
rate of return over the last 10 years. Stocks and emerging market bonds are used to provide diversification and are expected to generate higher
returns over the long term than longer-duration U.S. bonds. Public stocks are managed using a value investment approach in order to participate
in the returns generated by stocks in the long term, while reducing year-over-year volatility. Longer-duration U.S. bonds are used to partially hedge
the assets from declines in interest rates. Alternative (private) investments are used to provide expected returns in excess of the public markets
over the long term. Additionally, the Company engages currency overlay managers in an attempt to increase returns by protecting non-U.S.-dollar
denominated assets from a rise in the relative value of the U.S. dollar. The Company also participates in securities lending programs to generate
additional income by loaning plan assets to borrowers on a fully collateralized basis. These programs are subject to market risk.

The Company is required to make minimum contributions to its defined benefit pension plans under the minimum funding requirements of ERISA,
the Pension Funding Equity Act of 2004, and the Pension Protection Act of 2006. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, AMR contributed $6.5 million
to its defined benefit pension plans on January 13, 2012, to cover the post-petition period of November 29, 2011, to December 31, 2011. As a result
of only contributing the post-petition portion of the required contribution, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation filed a lien against certain
assets of the Company. The Company’s 2012 contribution to its defined benefit pension plans is subject to the Chapter 11 proceedings.

The following is an estimate of future benefit payments that also reflect future service ($ million):

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017-2021
Pension 513 687 733 813 823 5,337
OPEB 147 155 162 168 178 1,071
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are added together and deferred collectively—and prior service cost are included in
shareholders’ equity as part of accumulated other comprehensive income. Typically, all the
numbers in accumulated comprehensive income are reported on an afler-tax basis.
However, as we will see later, AMR is an exception. In 2011, the ending balance in ac-
cumulated comprehensive income is negative $3,887 million (where negative denotes a
reduction in shareholders’ equity), of which a positive $111 million is accumulated prior
service cost and a negative $3,998 million is accumulated net gain or loss.

The beginning and ending funded status are reconciled through explanation of changes
to both the obligation and the plan assets. The change in the postretirement benefits obli-
gation is explained by economic recurring and nonrecurring costs less benefits paid. In
2011, AMR’s gross postretirement benefits cost (Service cost + Interest cost + Actuarial
gain + Prior service cost) increased the pension obligation by $2,549 million. The pension
obligation decreased by the amount of benefits paid ($924 million), resulting in a net
increase of $1,625 million (from $16,065 million to $17,690 million). Turning to the plan
assets, AMR’s actual return on the pension assets was $608 million. In addition, AMR con-
tributed $646 million to the pension plan. However, $924 million of benefits were paid out,
resulting in a net increase of $330 million (from $8,007 million to $8,337 million) in plan
assets. Only a small part of the $1,625 million increase in the obligation was offset by the
$330 million increase in plan assets, resulting in a net decrease in funded status of $1,295
million (from $8,058 million underfunded to $9,353 million underfunded).

AMR also explains how the net periodic benefit cost (i.e., the reported cost) is deter-
mined. As illustrated in Exhibit 3B.4, reported postretirement expense includes recurring
costs (service cost and interest cost), less the expected return on plan assets plus amorti-
zation of deferred nonrecurring items. In 2011, AMR’s total service and interest cost are
$447 million and $931 million, respectively, while its expected return on pension plan as-
sets is $677 million. There are two amortization items: prior service cost of $(15) million
and net (gain) loss of $145 million. The sum of all these gives the 2011 net periodic ben-
efit pension cost of $831 million. This is the amount that is charged to the current year’s
net income, although it does not appear as a separate line item on the income statement.

The footnote also provides a host of additional qualitative and quantitative informa-
tion. We begin by examining some of the important actuarial assumptions underlying
the computation of the pension and the OPEB benefit obligations and periodic benefit
cost. In 2011, AMR decreased its assumption regarding discount rate to 5.2% (from
5.8%), maintained its compensation growth assumption at 3.78%, and maintained its ex-
pected return on plan assets at 8.5%. Finally, AMR decreased its assumption regarding
the health care cost trend rate to 7.5% in 2011 (from 8.0% in 2010). The note also pro-
vides sensitivity analysis regarding how changes in the health care cost trend assump-
tion would affect the OPEB obligation and the reported OPEB cost. Finally, the note
provides explanations for AMR’s actuarial assumption choices.

The next section of the footnote provides information about AMR’s plan asset allo-
cations. AMR allocates 38% of its portfolio to bonds and 45% to equity securities, of
which 24% are allocated to international markets. Finally, 13% of its assets comprise pri-
vate investments and AMR holds 3% of its pension assets in cash and cash equivalents.
The target allocations are 35% bonds, 52% equity securities, 9% alternative (private) in-
vestments, and 4% in cash and cash equivalents. Therefore, the current allocation ap-
pears to underweight equity investments compared to the target allocation. AMR also
provides some description of how it manages its investments and notes that its actual
investment returns have exceeded expectations.

The final part of the note provides information regarding AMR’s anticipated contri-
butions and estimated benefit payments. For example, AMR discloses that its expected



Chapter Three | Analyzing Financing Activities 189

contributions to its pension and OPEB plans in 2012 are subject to Chapter 11 bank-
ruptcy proceedings. As a result, AMR does not disclose the amount of expected contri-
butions for 2012. In addition, a table of anticipated benefit payments over the next 10 years
is provided. AMR’s anticipated benefit payments over the next 10 years are expected to
be almost $9 billion for pensions and slightly less than $2 billion for OPEBs.

ANALYZING POSTRETIREMENT
BENEFITS

Analysis of postretirement benefit disclosures is an important task, both because of the
magnitude of these obligations and because of the complexity of the accounting. We
provide a five-step procedure for analyzing postretirement benefits: (1) determine and
reconcile the reported and economic benefit cost, (2) make necessary adjustments to
financial statements, (3) evaluate actuarial assumptions and their effects on financial
statements, (4) examine pension risk exposure, and (5) consider the cash flow implica-
tions of postretirement benefit plans.

Reconciling Economic and Reported Numbers

Exhibit 3B.5 provides reconciliation between economic and reported benefit costs sepa-
rately for pensions, OPEBs, and in total. For brevity we will only discuss the total num-
bers. The economic benefit cost for AMR is $1,944 million. Recall that this amount cap-
tures all changes to the funded status of the plans other than benefit payments and
contributions. It includes both recurring costs, such as service cost ($447 million) and
interest cost ($931 million), and nonrecurring costs, such as actuarial loss ($1,174 million).
It also includes the actual return on plan assets ($608 million) as an offset to these costs.
In comparison, the net periodic benefit cost (which is the reported expense included in
net income) is only $831 million. The difference between the two arises because, when
determining the net periodic benefit cost: (1) the nonrecurring actuarial gain of $1,174 mil-
lion is excluded; (2) expected return on plan assets ($677 million) is used in place of actual
return on plan assets ($608 million); and (3) amortization of net gain (—$145 million) and
prior service cost ($15 million) are included. Together this creates a net deferral of $1,110
million for the year. Note this deferral is in the form of a cost (a reduction in income).
The net deferrals for every year are included in other comprehensive income for the
year, and they accumulate as part of accumulated other comprehensive income (which
is part of shareholders’ equity). Exhibit 3B.5 also shows the movement in accumulated
comprehensive income (that is part of shareholders’ equity) that is related to postretire-
ment benefits. For 2011, the opening balance in accumulated other comprehensive
income related to postretirement benefits is negative $2,800 million (negative implies a
reduction in shareholders’ equity). When we add the total deferral of $1,110 million for
the year to this opening balance we get a closing balance of negative $3,910 million. The
reported closing balance in accumulated other comprehensive income is negative $3,887
million. This amount is close to our estimated amount of $3,910 million, yet there is a
discrepancy of $23 million. In its Statement of Comprehensive Income, AMR reports a
net charge to other comprehensive income of $1,086 related to postretirement benefits.
Notice that this amount also differs from the net deferrals to the tune of $24 million.8

8 Examination of the components suggests this discrepancy primarily relates to the net gain/loss related to the OPEB plans,
which has a discrepancy of $25 million. The other discrepancies of $1 million could be attributable to rounding errors.
It is difficult to exactly pinpoint the reason for this discrepancy, but it could relate to some unusual item, such as a tax
adjustment, that has not been reported as part of the postretirement benefits footnote.
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Exhibit 3B.5 Reconciling Economic and Reported Numbers (AMR Corporation) ($ million)
EEEEEER
Economic and Reported Postretirement Cost—2011

PENSION OPEB TOTAL
Net Net Net
Economic  Deferral  Reported Economic Deferral Reported Economic Deferral Reported
Service cost 386 386 61 61 447 447
Interest cost 757 757 174 174 931 931
Return on plan assets (614) 43 (657) 6 26 (20) (608) 69 (677)
Actuarial (gain) loss 1,237 1,237 (63) (63) 1,174 1,174
Plan ammendment (PSC) (3) (3)
Amortization:
Net gain/loss (154) 154 9 (9) (145) 145
Prior service cost (13) i L ﬁ @ 15 (15)
Total 1,766 1,113 653 178 (3) 17 1,944 1,110 831

Economic and Recognized Amounts on Balance Sheet—2011 and 2010

2011 2010
Pension OPEB Total Pension OPEB Total
Plan assets 8,132 205 8,337 1,773 234 8,007
Benefit obligation 14,568 3,122 17,690 12,968 3,097 16,065

Funded status (economic)  (6,436) (2,917) (9,353) (5,195) (2,863) (8,058)

Reconciling Movement in Cumulative Net Deferrals During 2011

PENSION OPEB TOTAL
Net Gain/ Prior Net Gain/ Prior Net Gain/ Prior
Loss Service Cost  Total Loss  Service Cost Total Loss  Service Cost Total
Opening balance (3,052) (81) (3,133) 128 205 333 (2,924) 124 (2,800)
Net deferral during 2011 (1,126) 13 (1,113) 28 (25) 3 (1,098) (12) (1,110)
Unexplained (1) L (1) ﬁ ﬂ ﬁ 24 ﬂ 23
Closing balance (4,179) (68) (4,247) 181 179 360 (3,998) 11 (3,887)

The total deferral of $1,110 million is on a pretax basis. For a typical company, only
the affer-tax component of this deferral is included in the other comprehensive income
(and consequently transferred to accumulated other comprehensive income). The tax
portion will be adjusted to deferred taxes. AMR is an exception. The reason why the
pretax deferral is included in other comprehensive income is that AMR has filed for
bankruptcy and therefore is not providing for income taxes.

Finally, it must be noted that the balance sheet exactly reports the net economic po-
sition (funded status) of the postretirement benefit plans. In 2011, this amount is a net
liability of $9,353, of which $149 million is included in current liabilities and $9,204 mil-
lion is included in noncurrent liabilities.
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Adjusting the Income Statement and Balance Sheet

The funded status reflects the true economic position of the plan. Therefore, it is the ap-
propriate measure of the postretirement benefit plans’ net assets. Because the funded sta-
tus is reported on the balance sheet, ostensibly no adjustments are required. Recall that
the funded status is determined using the projected benefit obligation (PBO), which is
determined using the expected wages of employees az the time of retirement. An employer,
however, is legally liable for the present value of future benefit payments based only on
current wages. This obligation is termed the accumulated benefit obligation, or ABO, and is
typically smaller in magnitude than the PBO. To the extent an analyst is interested in
evaluating the Aguidating value of the company, the funded status determined by using
the ABO is a better measure. Unfortunately, companies are not required to disclose the
ABO, and so most companies do not. This implies that an analyst must at least concede
that the pension obligation is overstated when determining the company’s liquidating
value and make subjective downward adjustments to this obligation.

An analyst must also assess whether the proper balance sheet preparation is the net-
ting of plan assets against its obligations (as currently reported) or the reporting of the
plan assets and the obligation separately as an asset and a liability. This issue is more
than one of mere presentation. For example, if plan assets are not netted against liabili-
ties, AMR’s total debt to equity and long-term debt-to-equity ratios would be signifi-
cantly larger. Proper presentation depends on the underlying economics of the benefit
plans. One argument is that the employer’s liability is only to the extent of underfund-
ing and that the employer has no control over the benefit fund’s assets, which are ad-
ministered by independent trustees. This argument favors netting the fund’s assets
against its obligation. The counterargument is that, because the employer bears all the
risk with respect to the pension assets, they should not be netted against the obligation.

At first glance, it seems that the appropriate cost to be reflected in the income state-
ment is the economic benefit cost. The economic benefit cost, however, includes
volatile and transitory components such as actuarial gains or losses. For this reason, cur-
rent accounting rules defer these transitory items and include a smoothed version of the
pension expense in net income. In addition, the volatility of the economic benefit cost
is so large than it can often mask the underlying operating profitability of the company
if it is included in income. Thus, if the objective of the analysis is determining the
period’s operating profitability or estimating the company’s sustainable earnings, the
reported pension cost is the more appropriate measure.

The economic benefit cost, however, is the correct measure of the postretirement
benefit plans’ economic income, which is a measure of the change in shareholder wealth
over a period. The economic benefit cost is therefore reflected as part of compre-
hensive income, which is the accountants’ measure of economic income. Refer to
Chapter 6 for alternative income definitions and how accountants measure different
types of income.

A separate issue is whether the postretirement benefit cost is part of a company’s op-
erating income. Presumably, postretirement benefits are an integral part of employee
compensation, which is operating in nature. Therefore, a case can be made for includ-
ing the postretirement benefit cost entirely in operating income. However, deeper
analysis reveals that not all components of the postretirement benefit cost are operating
in nature. Certainly, service cost and related nonrecurring components such as prior
service cost are operating in nature. But interest cost, return on plan assets, and related
nonrecurring components, such as net gain or loss, are financing in nature and should
not be includ